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PART I

We refer to Highwoods Properties, Inc. as the “Camp’ Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership as t@p&rating Partnership,” the Compasyommon stock .
“Common Stock” or “Common Shares,” the Company’'sf@imred stock as “Preferred Stock” or “Preferrecir®h,” the Operating Partnerstiptommon partnerst
interests as “Common Units,” the Operating Partmipts preferred partnership interests as “Prefetdeds” and inservice properties (excluding rental residentiat)ric
which the Company and/or the Operating Partnershi title and 100.0% ownership rights as the “Wh@wned Properties.” References to “we” and “ooréan th
Company and the Operating Partnership, collectjuaijess the context indicates otherwise.

The Company is a fully-integrated, self-administieesnd self-managed equity real estate investmast ({REIT”). The Common Stock is traded on the New \
Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “HIWIhe Company conducts virtually all of its activitithrough the Operating Partnership and is its geteral partne
The partnership agreement provides that the Opegr&artnership will assume and pay when due, ortreise the Company for payment of, all costs ampeeses relatir
to the ownership and operations of, or for the Eeng the Operating Partnership. The partnergigpeement further provides that all expenses o€thrapany are deem
to be incurred for the benefit of the Operatingtifenship.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

We are one of the largest owners and operatorsubfirban office, industrial and retail properties the Southeastern and Midwestern United State
December 31, 2009, we:

- wholly owned 307 in-service office, industrial aredail properties, encompassing approximately &7lBon rentable square feet, and 96 rental redidénnits;

« owned an interest (50.0% or less) in 7Gawvice office and industrial properties, encomipasapproximately 7.8 million rentable square feste office proper
under development, 53 acres of development land4d®drental residential units, including a 12.5%eiast in a 261,000 square foot office property et
directly by the Company and thus is included in @@mpany’s Consolidated Financial Statements, btiintluded in the Operating PartnerskiConsolidate
Financial Statements. Five of thesesarvice office properties, encompassing 618,00€abdm square feet, are consolidated as more febgribed in Notes 3,
and 9 to our Consolidated Financial Stateme

« wholly owned 581 acres of undeveloped land, appnaiely 490 acres of which are considered core hg#i defined as properties expected to be
indefinitely, and which are suitable to develop @mpgmately 7.9 million rentable square feet of offiand industrial spac

« were developing three wholly owned properties casipy approximately 0.5 million square feet thatreveecently completed but had not achieved staiitin:
and

« owned 40 for-sale residential condominiums throagionsolidated, majority-owned joint venture.

At December 31, 2009, the Company owned all ofRteferred Units and 70.9 million, or 94.8%, of tBemmon Units. Limited partners (including one offianc
two directors of the Company) own the remainingrBiion Common Units. Generally, the OperatingtRarship is obligated to redeem each Common Urifieteque:
of the holder thereof for cash equal to the valuen® share of Common Stock based on the averathe aharket price for the 10 trading days immedjgpeeceding th
notice date of such redemption provided that then@amny, at its option, may elect to acquire any siommon Units presented for redemption for casbra share «
Common Stock. The Common Units owned by the Compaeyot redeemable.

The Company was incorporated in Maryland in 199%e Dperating Partnership was formed in North Caaolh 1994. Our executive offices are located &0
Smoketree Court, Suite 600, Raleigh, NC 27604 ,camdelephone number is (919) 872-4924. We mairdtfines in each of our primary markets, exceptdakaélle, SC.

Our business is the operation, acquisition and Idpweent of rental real estate properties. We opeoéftce, industrial, retail and residential prapes. There are 1
material intersegment transactions. See Note 18 to our Consetidanancial Statements for a summary of the reartdl other revenues, net operating income ands
for each reportable segment.




In addition to this Annual Report, we file or fushiquarterly and current reports, proxy stateman¢sother information with the Securities and ExgfeaCommissic
(“SEC"). All documents that the Company files or furnishethvihe SEC are made available as soon as reasopsdtticable free of charge on our corporate we|
which is http://www.highwoods.com. The information our website is not and should not be considpagtiof this Annual Report and is not incorporatgdeference i
this document. You may also read and copy any deatithat we file or furnish at the public referefeilities of the SEC at 100 F. Street, N.E., RotB80, Washingto
DC 20549. Please call the SEC at (800) 732-0330uither information about the public referenceilfaes. These documents also may be accessedghrthe SEC:
interactive data electronic applications on the 3B@ebsite, which is http://www.sec.gov. In additignu can read similar information about us atdffiees of the NYSI
at 20 Broad Street, New York, NY 10005.

During 2009, the Company filed unqualified Sect8¥BA certifications with the NYSE. The Company dhel Operating Partnership have also filed the CE©GFC
certifications required by Sections 302 and 906hefSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to Ameual Report.

Customers

The following table sets forth information concemithe 20 largest customers of our Wholly OwnecpPrites at December 31, 2009:

Percent Weighted
of Total Average
Annualized Annualized Remaining
Rental Cash Rental Cash Rental Lease Term
Customer Square Feet Revenue() Revenue() in Years
(in thousands)
Federal Government 1,901,65 $ 38,75( 8.8<% 8.1
AT&T 768,57¢ 14,67¢ 3.37 4.2
PricewaterhouseCoopers 400,17¢ 11,53 2.6E 2.7
State of Georgia 375,10! 8,22 1.8¢ 7.5
Healthways 290,68¢ 7,49( 1.72 12t
T-Mobile USA 207,51° 6,04 1.3¢ 3.¢
Metropolitan Life Insurance 296,59! 5,95: 1.37 8.C
BB&T 267,46: 4,541 1.04 3.€
Lockton Companies 160,56: 4,42¢ 1.0Z 5.2
Syniverse Technologies, Inc. 198,75( 4,201 0.9¢ 6.8
RBC Bank 164,27: 4,08¢ 0.94 17.C
Fluor Enterprises, Inc. 209,47: 3,76: 0.8€ 2.1
SCI Services 162,78¢ 3,641 0.8 (26
HCA Corporation 180,16« 3,62( 0.8: 4.5
Volvo 249,13¢ 3,35¢ 0.77 4.5
Jacol's Engineering Group, Inc. 181,79 3,07¢ 0.71 5.7
Vanderbilt University 144,61: 3,05¢ 0.7¢ 5.8
Wells Fargo/Wachovia 125,99! 3,01: 0.6¢ 1.€
Lifepoint Corporate Services 139,62! 2,89 0.6€ 1.€
Icon Clinical Research 102,64 2,49: 0.57 2.C
Total 6,527,59. $ 138,83: 31.87, 6.4
(D) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reetahue (base rent plus additional rent basedefettel of operating expenses, excluding straligietrent) for th:

month of December 2009 multiplied by :




Business and Operating Strategy
Our Strategic Plan focuses on:
« owning high-quality, differentiated real estateeassn the best submarkets in our primary marlestd;
« maintaining a conservative, flexible balance smétt ample liquidity to meet our funding needs.

Execution of our Plan includes (1) growing net @pielg income at our existing properties throughcemtrated leasing, asset management and custoraeeseffort:
and (2) developing properties in infill locationsdsacquiring strategic properties that are acoedtMongterm earnings and stockholder value. While we omch@perate
limited number of industrial, retail and residehfi@operties, our operating results depend heawilysuccessfully leasing and operating our officgpprties. Econom
growth in Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and Tessee is and will continue to be an important deteative factor in predicting our future operatirgsults. OL
portfolio has changed significantly over the pase fyears and now consists of a higher mix of Clasand B properties, which are generally expectedutperforn
competitive properties in our core markets. We hapmsitioned our portfolio primarily by selling m@ore properties and developing properties ifililecations. Ou
real estate professionals are seasoned and gtkd. Our senior leadership team has signifiegpéerience and maintains important relationshigh wiarket participan
in each of our primary markets. Our focus in 204.6oi lease and operate our existing portfolio &xc#fely and efficiently as possible and acquinel @evelop addition
real estate assets that improve the overall quafigur portfolio and generate attractive returmerghe long-term for our stockholders.

Customer Service-Oriented Organization. We provide a complete line of real estate sesviteour customers. We believe that ouhause leasing and as
management, development, acquisition, and congiruatanagement services allow us to respond toriduey demands of our existing and potential custdmase. W
provide our customers with cost-effective servisesh as build-tesuit construction and space modification, includieigant improvements and expansions. In additta
breadth of our capabilities and resources provigesvith market information not generally availablée believe that operating efficiencies achievadufh our fully
integrated organization and the strength of ouariz@ sheet also provide a competitive advantagetimg our lease rates and pricing other servicesaddition, ou
relationships with our customers may lead to dgvelent projects when these customers seek new space.

Capital Recycling Program.Our strategy has been to focus our real estateitaiin markets where we believe our extensiwaldnowledge and conservative
flexible balance sheet give us a competitive acdagambver other real estate developers and operdtmsugh our capital recycling program, we gergrseek to:

- selectively dispose of non-core properties no lorgesidered to be core holdings primarily dueotzation, age, quality and overall strategic fit;

« engage in the development of office, industrial atider real estate projects in existing or new gaplgic markets, primarily in suburban fil-and centra
business district locations; a

« acquire selective office and industrial propertiesexisting markets that enhance our franchise areiw geographic markets at prices that offer atitra longterm
returns for our stockholder

Our capital recycling activities benefit from owchl market presence and knowledge. Because oisiafivofficers and staff have significant real éstaxperience
their respective markets, we believe that we aebetter position to evaluate capital recyclinganunities than many of our competitors.

Conservative and Flexible Balance SheetWe are committed to maintaining a conservativeé #exible balance sheet that allows us to cagiéatn favorabl
development and acquisition opportunities as theseaOur balance sheet also allows us to prodgtassure our existing and prospective customexswie are able
fund tenant improvements and maintain our propestehigh standards.




We expect to meet our short- and long-term liqyidgéquirements through a combination of any onmore of:

« cash flow from operating activities;

« borrowings under our credit facilities;

« the issuance of unsecured debt;

« the issuance of secured debt;

« the issuance of equity securities by the Compart@@Operating Partnership; and
« the disposition of non-core assets.

Geographic Diversification. We do not believe that our operations are sigaifily dependent upon any particular geographiketai oday, including our vario
joint ventures, our portfolio consists primarily affice and industrial properties throughout theitBeastern United States, retail and office progeih Kansas City, M
and office, retail and residential properties irsD&oines, IA.

Competition

Our properties compete for customers with similaperties located in our markets primarily on tkesib of location, rent, services provided and tesigh, qualit
and condition of the facilities. We also compet¢hwather REITs, financial institutions, pension dsn partnerships, individual investors and othelnenwattempting |
acquire, develop and operate properties.

Employees
At December 31, 2009, the Company had 407 employpéeghich 405 were also employees of the Operd@adnership.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities involves variowsksi Investors should carefully consider the foltaywisk factors in conjunction with the other imiwation containe
in this Annual Report before trading in our sedesit If any of these risks actually occur, our hass, operating results, prospects and financraiton could be harmed.

Adverse economic conditions in our suburban Southetern markets that negatively impact the demand foroffice space, such as rising unemployment, m
result in lower occupancy and rental rates for oumportfolio, which would result in lower net income. While we own and operate a limited number of stdal, retai
and residential properties, our operating resufsedd heavily on successfully leasing and operatimgsuburban office properties. Economic growtd amploymer
levels in Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and Tessee are and will continue to be important deteativie factors in predicting our future operatiegults.

Key components affecting our rental and other raesrinclude average occupancy and rental ratesageeoccupancy generally increases during timésfoving
economic growth, as our ability to lease spaceanép vacancies that occur upon the expirationgisfirg leases. Average occupancy generally dezltheing times ¢
slower economic growth and decreasing office emplent because new vacancies tend to outpace oty abillease space. In addition, the timing of des ir
occupancy levels tends to lag the timing of changesverall economic activity and employment levélge expect a slight decline in total occupancR®10 primarily
related to anticipated declines in occupancy in iogustrial portfolio, which would likely reduce n&al revenues from our same property portfolio. Bdditiona
information regarding our average occupancy anthteate trends over the past five years, see “BerRroperties — Wholly Owned Propertiesgt forth in this Annui
Report. A further indicator of the predictability foture revenues is the expected lease expiratbosir portfolio. As a result, in addition to s@&kto increase our avere
occupancy by leasing current vacant space, weralsi concentrate our leasing efforts on renewiagds on expiring space. For more information reggrdur leas
expirations, see “Item 2. Properties — Lease Exipima” set forth in this Annual Report. Whether or not cemtal revenue tracks average occupancy propaitjodepend
upon whether rents under new leases signed arerhighHower than the rents under the previous kdsawer rental revenues resulting from lower ageraccupancy
lower rental rates with respect to our same prgpasttfolio will generally reduce our net incomeless offset by the impact of any newly acquiredeveloped properti
or lower variable operating expenses, general dntdrastrative expenses and/or interest expense.




An oversupply of space in our Southeastern marketa/ould typically cause rental rates and occupancie® decline, making it more difficult for us to leag
space at attractive rental rates, if at all. Undeveloped land in many of the Southeastern aetgrika which we operate is generally more readilgilable and les
expensive than in higher barrier¢otry markets such as New York, Chicago, Boston,Bancisco and Los Angeles. As a result, evemduiimes of positive econon
growth, our competitors could construct new buitginhat would compete with our properties. Any saeérsupply could result in lower occupancy andakrates in ot
portfolio, which would have a negative impact om mental revenues.

In order to maintain the quality of our properties and successfully compete against other propertiesie periodically must spend money to maintain, repa
and renovate our properties, which reduces our casflows . If our properties are not as attractive to custsrin terms of rent, services, condition or lomata:
properties owned by our competitors, we could losgtomers or suffer lower rental rates. As a reswdt may from time to time be required to make iiggmt capita
expenditures to maintain the competitiveness ofproperties. There can be no assurances that amyesgenditures would result in higher occupancyigher rente
rates or deter existing customers from relocatingroperties owned by our competitors.

Our operating results and financial condition couldbe adversely affected by financial difficulties eperienced by a major customer, or by a number of sailer
customers, including bankruptcies, insolvencies ogeneral downturns in business The success of our investments and stability wf aperations depend on
financial stability of our customers. A defaulttermination by a significant customer on its lepagments to us would cause us to lose the revesageiated with sut
lease. In the event of a customer default or batkyy we may experience delays in enforcing ouhtsgas landlord and may incur substantial costgratecting ou
investment and réeasing the property. If a customer defaults oteominates a significant lease, we may be unablease the property for the rent previously recs
These events could reduce our net income.

To relet space to an existing customer or attract aew customer to occupy space, we may incur sigruéint costs in the process, including potential
substantial tenant improvements, broker commissionand lease incentives Approximately 10:5% of our revenues at the beginning of any pdeicyear are subje
to leases that expire by the end of that year. fesalt, in addition to seeking to increase ourage occupancy by leasing current vacant space/swemust concentre
our leasing efforts on renewing leases on expisipgce. To entice customers to renew existing leassgn new leases, we may be required to makstautial leasin
capital expenditures. In addition, if market relmase declined since the time the expiring leaseaexasuted, the terms of any new lease likely voll Ine as favorable to
as the terms of the expiring lease, thereby redyitia rental revenue earned from that space.

Costs of complying with governmental laws and regations may reduce our net income All real property and the operations conductedresl property al
subject to federal, state and local laws and reiguls relating to environmental protection and horhaalth and safety. Some of these laws and regogaimay impos
joint and several liability on customers, owneroperators for the costs to investigate or remediahtaminated properties, regardless of faulttwether the acts caus
the contamination were legal. In addition, the pneg of hazardous substances, or the failure fpepljoremediate these substances, may hinder dlity ab sell, rent o
pledge such property as collateral for future bamgs.

Compliance with new laws or regulations or strigteerpretation of existing laws may require udrtour significant expenditures. Future laws or ftagans ma
impose significant environmental liability. Additially, our customersperations, operations in the vicinity of our prdfss, such as the presence of underground st
tanks, or activities of unrelated third parties nadfect our properties. In addition, there are masi local, state and federal fire, health, fisdety and similar regulatio
with which we may be required to comply and whicaynsubject us to liability in the form of fines damages for noncompliance. Any expenditures, foretamages v
must pay would reduce our net income. Proposedl&gn to address climate change could increabty aind other costs of operating our propertigsch, if not offse
by rising rental income, would reduce our net ineom




Discovery of previously undetected environmentalljhazardous conditions may decrease our revenues atichit our ability to make distributions . Undel
various federal, state and local environmental laws regulations, a current or previous propertyi@wor operator may be liable for the cost to reenov remedial
hazardous or toxic substances on such propertyseTbests could be significant. Such laws often seplaability whether or not the owner or operataeWw of, or wa
responsible for, the presence of such hazardousxar substances. Environmental laws also may impestrictions on the manner in which property rbayused ¢
businesses may be operated, and these restrictiapsrequire significant expenditures or prevenfrom entering into leases with prospective custarthat may t
impacted by such laws. Environmental laws provide $anctions for noncompliance and may be enfolmgdjovernmental agencies or private parties. Gt
environmental laws and common law principles cooddused to impose liability for release of and expe to hazardous substances, including asbestaaining
materials. Third parties may seek recovery front peaperty owners or operators for personal injaryproperty damage associated with exposure tasete hazardo
substances. The cost of defending against clainislafity, of complying with environmental regutaty requirements, of remediating any contaminatexperty, or o
paying personal injury claims could reduce ourinedbme.

Our operating results may suffer if costs of operang our properties, such as real estate taxes, Uties, insurance, maintenance and other costs, ridaster
than our ability to increase rental revenues While we receive additional rent from our custosnhat is based on recovering a portion of opegatixpenses, increas
operating expenses will negatively impact our rgrating income. Our revenues and expense recewagesubject to longeéerm leases and may not be quickly incre
sufficient to recover an increase in operating<asid expenses. Furthermore, most of the costsiagwith owning and operating a property arenemessarily reduc
when circumstances such as market factors and ddimpecause a reduction in rental revenues fromftoperty. Increases in same property operatipgreses woul
reduce our net income unless offset by the impbaahy newly acquired or developed properties ordogeneral and administrative expenses and/oesitexpense.

Recent and future acquisitions and development pragties may fail to perform in accordance with our epectations and may require renovation an
development costs exceeding our estimatds.the normal course of business, we typically ezt potential acquisitions, enter into rfaneing letters of intent, and mi
at any time, enter into contracts to acquire addél properties. Acquired properties may fail tofpen in accordance with our expectations due &séeip risk, renovatio
cost risks and other factors. In addition, the vation and improvement costs we incur in bringingaaquired property up to market standards mayegkoer estimate
We may not have the financial resources to makalslei acquisitions or renovations on favorable seamat all.

In addition to acquisitions, we periodically coreidleveloping and constructing properties. Risksaated with development and construction acésitnclude:

« the unavailability of favorable construction andp@ermanent financing;

« construction costs exceeding original estimates;

« construction and lease-up delays resulting in med debt service expense and construction costs; a

« lower than anticipated occupancy rates and rerdasnaivly completed property causing a propertyetaifprofitable or less profitable than originalstimated.

Development activities are also subject to riskatireg to our ability to obtain, or delays in oltiig, all necessary zoning, lande, building, occupancy and ot
required governmental and utility company authdiizes.

llliquidity of real estate investments and the taxeffect of dispositions could significantly impede wr ability to sell assets or respond to favorable madverse
changes in the performance of our propertiesBecause real estate investments are relativedpiti our ability to promptly sell one or more peoties in our portfolio i
response to changing economic, financial and imvest conditions is limited. In addition, we havsignificant amount of mortgage debt under whichwaild incu
significant prepayment penalties if such loans vpetie off in connection with the sale of the ungieg real estate assets.




We intend to continue to sell some of our propsriethe future as part of our capital recyclinggram. However, we cannot predict whether we vellable to se
any property for the price or on the terms set &yon whether the price or other terms offered Ipyospective purchaser would be acceptable to esaMb cannot pred
the length of time needed to find a willing purabiaand close the sale of a property.

Certain of our properties have low tax bases radaid their estimated current fair values, and ediogly, the sale of such assets would generatgfiignt taxabl
gains unless we sold such properties in a tax-dEfezxchange under Section 1031 of the InternabRew Code or another tax-free or tieferred transaction. For
exchange to qualify for tadeferred treatment under Section 1031, the netepdx from the sale of a property must be held bgsanow agent until applied toward
purchase of real estate qualifying for gain defef@aen the competition for properties meeting westment criteria, there could be a delay investing such procee
Any delay in using the reinvestment proceeds taimeqdditional income producing assets would redua net income.

Because holders of our Common Units, including onef our officers and two of our directors, may suffe adverse tax consequences upon the sale of som
our properties, they may seek to influence us nobtsell certain properties even if such a sale woultherwise be in our best interest Holders of Common Units m
suffer adverse tax consequences upon the saletafrcproperties. Therefore, holders of Common §Jritcluding one of our officers and two of oureditors, may ha
different objectives than the Company'’s stockhaldegarding the appropriate pricing and timing pfapertys sale. Although the Company is the sole generah@ao
the Operating Partnership and has the exclusiveéityt to sell any of our Wholly Owned Propertiefficers and directors who hold Common Units magks® influenc
the Company not to sell certain properties evesudéh sale might be financially advantageous tokstmiders, creditors, bondholders or our businesswalole or influenc
the Company to enter into tax deferred exchang#stive proceeds of such sales when such a reingastmight not otherwise be in our best interest.

The value of our joint venture investments could badversely affected if we are unable to work effeistely with our partners or our partners become unalte to
satisfy their financial obligations. Instead of owning properties directly, we haveams cases invested, and may continue to investpastner or a caenturer with on
or more third parties. Under certain circumstandeis, type of investment may involve risks not athise present, including the possibility that atpar or coventure
might be unable to fund its obligations or mightédusiness interests or goals inconsistent witk.Also, such a partner or eenturer may take action contrary to
requests or contrary to provisions in our joint tuee agreements that could harm us. In additiomesof our joint ventures are managed on a dayatpbasis by ol
partners, and we have only limited influence ondperating decisions. The success of our invessrienthose joint ventures is heavily dependenthendperating ar
financial expertise of our partners. If we wansédl our interests in any of our joint ventureselieve that the properties in the joint venturewti be sold, we may not
able to do so in a timely manner or at all, andpantner(s) may not cooperate with our desirescwhould harm us.

Our insurance coverage on our properties may be irdequate.We carry insurance on all of our properties, inglgdnsurance for liability, fire, windstorms, flde
earthquakes and business interruption. Insurancganies, however, limit coverage against certgiesyof losses, such as losses due to terroristrestsed windstorm
earthquakes and toxic mold. Thus, we may not haserance coverage, or sufficient insurance coveaggnst certain types of losses and/or thereleajecreases in t
insurance coverage available. Should an uninsuresidr a loss in excess of our insured limits qceer could lose all or a portion of the capital have invested in
property or properties, as well as the anticipdtedre revenue from the property or propertiesarf/ of our properties were to experience a catalsttaoss, it coul
disrupt our operations, delay revenue and resubirge expenses to repair or rebuild the prop&tich events could adversely affect our operatisgltg and financii
condition.

Our use of debt to finance our operations could hav a material adverse effect on our cash flow and dity to make distributions. We are subject to ris
associated with debt financing, such as the sefiicy of cash flow to meet required payment oblayej ability to comply with financial ratios anchet covenants and t
availability of capital to refinance existing indetiness or fund important business initiativestdases in interest rates on our variable ratewebld increase our intere
cost. If we fail to comply with the financial raiand other covenants under our credit facilitress,would likely not be able to borrow any furthen@unts under sui
facilities, which could adversely affect our alyiltb fund our operations, and our lenders couleékcate outstanding debt.
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We generally do not intend to reserve funds toeeatkisting secured or unsecured debt upon matWiy may not be able to repay, refinance or extemdor all o
our debt at maturity or upon any acceleration.nly aefinancing is done at higher interest rates, itttreased interest expense could adversely aftectash flow ar
ability to pay distributions. Any such refinancioguld also impose tighter financial ratios and ot@venants that restrict our ability to take agsithat could otherwise
in our best interest, such as funding new develapraetivity, making opportunistic acquisitions, veghasing our securities or paying distributiofisvé do not meet o
mortgage financing obligations, any properties segusuch indebtedness could be foreclosed on,iwtoeild have a material adverse effect on our lashand ability tc
pay distributions.

From time to time, we depend on our unsecured vawplcredit facility for working capital purposeadfor the shorterm funding of our development and acquisi
activity and, in certain instances, the repaymémtioer debt upon maturity. Our ability to borrowder the revolving credit facility also allows wsduickly capitalize o
accretive opportunities at shderm interest rates. If our lenders default untieirtobligations under the revolving credit fagildr we become unable to borrow additic
funds under the facility for any reason, we woulrbquired to seek alternative equity or debt ehpithich could be more costly and adversely immast financia
condition. If such alternative capital were unaailé, we may not be able to make new investmemtsanld have difficulty repaying other debt.

The Company may be subject to taxation as a regulagorporation if it fails to maintain its REIT statu s, whichcould also have a material adverse effect on t
Company’s stockholders and on the Operating Partneship. The Company is subject to adverse consequencéegaifs to continue to qualify as a REIT for fedk
income tax purposes. While the Company intendspgraie in a manner that will allow it to continwequalify as a REIT, we cannot provide any asswearhat it wil
remain qualified as such in the future, which wodde particularly adverse consequences to the @oygstockholders. Many of the requirements for taxa#is a REI
are highly technical and complex and depend upoiows factual matters and circumstances that mapaentirely within our control. For example, toadjfy as a REIT
at least 95.0% of the Compasygross income must come from certain sourcesatieatemized in the REIT tax laws. The fact th& @ompany holds virtually all of t
assets through the Operating Partnership and litsidiaries further complicates the applicationi# REIT requirements. Even a technical or inadnémeistake coul
jeopardize the Compa’s REIT status. Furthermore, Congress and the IRfBitnchange the tax laws and regulations and thesaught issue new rulings that mak
more difficult, or impossible, for the Company tmain qualified as a REIT. If the Company failgjtalify as a REIT, it would be subject to federadlame tax at regul
corporate rates and would, therefore, have leds @aailable for investments or payment of princigadl interest to our creditors or bondholders. Shants would likel
have a significant adverse effect on our operagsglts and financial condition.

Cash distributions reduce the amount of cash that auld otherwise be available for other business pumgses, including funding debt maturities or future
growth initiatives. For the Company to maintain its qualification aRREIT, it must annually distribute to its stockhalslet least 90% of ordinary taxable inco
excluding net capital gains. Under temporary IR§ulations, for 2010 and 2011, distributions canpaé partially using a REIT's freelyadable stock so long
stockholders have the option of receiving at 16886 of the total distribution in cash. In additi@ithough capital gains are not required to beibisted to maintain REI
status, capital gains, if any, that are generasegaat of our capital recycling program are subfectederal and state income tax unless such gamslistributed to tt
Companys stockholders. Cash distributions made to stocldrslto maintain REIT status or to distribute othise taxable capital gains limit our ability to actulate
capital for other business purposes, including fibgdebt maturities or growth initiatives.

Because provisions contained in Maryland law, the @mpany’s charter and its bylaws may have an anti-teeover effect, the Companys stockholders may b
prevented from receiving a “control premium” for the Common Stock.Provisions contained in the Compasycharter and bylaws as well as Maryland ge
corporation law may have anti-takeover effects thedfy, defer or prevent a takeover attempt, aatetly prevent stockholders of the Company fromivetg a “contro
premium”for their shares. For example, these provisions dedgr or prevent tender offers for the Common IStacpurchases of large blocks of the Common Stthak
limiting the opportunities for the Company’s stoolders to receive a premium for their Common Stoe&r thenprevailing market prices. These provisions incltitk
following:
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« Ownership limit . The Company’s charter prohibits direct, indirectconstructive ownership by any person or entitynore than 9.8% of the Company’
outstanding capital stock. Any attempt to own @nsfer shares of the Compasycapital stock in excess of the ownership limitheut the consent of t
Compan's Board of Directors will be voic

« Preferred Stock. The Companys charter authorizes its Board of Directors to ésBueferred Stock in one or more classes and &blest the preferences ¢
rights of any class of Preferred Stock issued. &tagions can be taken without stockholder approMag issuance of Preferred Stock could have tfested!
delaying or preventing someone from taking cordfdhe Company, even if a change in control wereunbest interes

« Maryland control share acquisition statute. Marylands control share acquisition statute applies toGbmpany, which means that persons, entities otee
groups that acquire more than 20% of the CommonkSttay not be able to vote such excess shares gedain circumstances if such shares were acqun
one or more transactions not approved by at lea-thirds of the outstanding Common Stock held byntisiested stockholder

« Maryland unsolicited takeover statute.Under Maryland law, the Company’s Board of Direstoould adopt various arttikeover provisions without the cons
of stockholders. The adoption of such measuresdcdisicourage offers for the Company or make aniaitiumn of the Company more difficult, even wher
acquisition would be in the best interest of iteckholders

« Anti-takeover protections of Operating Partnership agrement . Upon a change in control of the Company, thengaship agreement of the Opera
Partnership requires certain acquirers to mairdaainmbrella partnership real estate investment (fUSREIT”) structure with terms at least as favorable tc
limited partners as are currently in place. Fotanse, the acquirer would be required to presemeelimited partner’s right to continue to hold tdeferre(
partnership interests that are redeemable for alagibck of the acquirer. Exceptions would requfre approval of twdhirds of the limited partners of t
Operating Partnership (other than the Company)s@h@ovisions may make a change of control traiashvolving the Company more complicated
therefore might decrease the likelihood of suctaasaction occurring, even if such a transactionldbe in the best interest of the Com(’s stockholders

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Wholly Owned Properties

The following table sets forth information about ®iholly Owned Properties:

December 31, 200! December 31, 200:
Percent Percent
Rentable Leased/ Pre- Rentable Leased/ Pre-
Square Feet Leased Square Feet Leased
In-Service:
Office 20,445,00 88.£% 19,556,00 90.2%
Industrial 6,463,001 87.4 6,467,00! 92.€
Retail 869,00( 98.C 1,350,001 94.€
Total or Weighted Average(y), 3) 27,777,00 88.6y, __27,373,00 91.Cop
Development:
Completec—Not Stabilized (2)
Office 301,00( 46.(% 665,00( 64.2%
Industrial 200,00( 50.C — —
Total or Weighted Average() 501,00( 47 oy 665,00( 64.205
In Process
Office — — 358,00( 65.7%
Industrial — — 200,00( 50.C
Total or Weighted Average — — 558,00( 60.195
Total:
Office 20,746,00 20,579,00
Industrial 6,663,001 6,667,00!
Retail 869,00( 1,350,001
Total (1), 3), (4) 28,278,00 28,596,00
1) Excludes 96 rental residential uni
2) We consider a development project to be stabiligezh the earlier of the original projected stahtlian date or the date such project is at least 86&apied. Al

of these properties were placed in service at Deeed1, 2009 as reflected in our Consolidated FiizuStatements
3) Excludes 618,000 square feet of office propertiddexember 31, 2009 and 2008 that are owned byotidaged joint ventures

4) Excludes 40 completed t-sale residential condominiums at December 31, 20@9are owned by a consolidated, majority ownént penture.
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The following table summarizes the net changesjirage footage in our in-service Wholly Owned Prtipsrduring the past three years:

Years Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
(rentable square feet in thousands

Office, Industrial and Retail Properties:

Dispositions (550) (744) (1,179
Developments Placed-Service 751 1,38( 93C
Redevelopment/Other (17) (12) 3
Acquisitions 22C 13¢ =

Net Change in Square Footage of -Service Wholly Owned Properties 404 76C (239

The following table sets forth information about auservice Wholly Owned Properties by segment landeographic location at December 31, 2009:

Percentage of Annualized Cash Rental Revent

Rentable (€]
Square Fee:  Occupancy Office Industrial Retail Total

Raleigh, NC 4,194,00! 83.6% 15.% — — 15.9%
Tampa, FL 2,878,001 90.¢ 15.2 — — 15.2
Atlanta, GA 5,653,00! 90.4 11.2 3.5% — 15.1
Nashville, TN 2,938,001 95.1 13.1 — — 13.1
Kansas City, MO 1,508,001 92.¢ 34 — 6.8% 10.2
Piedmont Triad, NC 5,482,001 82.2 6.C 2.¢ — 8.¢
Richmond, VA 2,229,001 93.2 8.¢ — — 8.9
Memphis, TN 1,582,001 91.t 7.C — — 7.C
Greenville, SC 897,00( 88.t 38 — — 3.3
Orlando, FL 416,00( 94.4 2.2 — — 2.3
Total (2) 27,777,00 88.£0, 86.40, 6.8y 6.80s 100.(op
@) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reewahue (base rent plus additional rent basedefettel of operating expenses, excluding straligietrent) for th:

month of December 2009 multiplied by :

2) Excludes 618,000 square feet of office propertiesed by consolidated joint venturt
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The following table sets forth operating informati@about our in-service Wholly Owned Propertiestfar past five years:

Annualized
Cash Rent Pel
Average Square Foot
Occupancy (€]
2005 85.(% $ 14.9¢
2006 88.5% $ 15.8¢
2007 90.2% $ 16.27
2008 91.2% $ 17.1¢
2009 88.2% $ 17.5:
1) Annualized Cash Rent Per Square Foot is casfalrrevenue (base rent plus additional rent basettie level of operating expenses, excludinggditdine rent

for the month of December of the respective yedltiptied by 12, divided by total occupied squaretimge.
Land Held for Development

We wholly owned 581 acres of development land atebrber 31, 2009. We estimate that we can develpmzinately 7.9 million square feet of office amdlustria
space on the 490 acres that we consider core, teong-holdings for our future development needs. @imt ventures owned 53 acres of development lai
December 31, 2009. We are currently developingdO®square feet of build-tsuit office space on 11.6 acres of land in oneuwfjoint ventures. Our development lan
zoned and available for office and industrial depehent, and nearly all of the land has utility &sftructure in place. We believe that our commdycizdned an
unencumbered land in existing business parks gisesdevelopment advantage over other commerebéstate development companies in many of our etsirk

We consider 91 acres of our wholly owned develogrieerd at December 31, 2009 to be romme assets that are not necessary for our forelseleaure developme
needs. We intend to dispose of such nore development land through sales to third paxiecontributions to joint ventures. Approximatdiy acres with a net bo
value of $1.2 million are under contract to be said are included in real estate and other assetisheld for sale in our Consolidated Balance SheBecember 31, 20
and 2008.
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Other Properties

The following table sets forth information about stabilized inservice properties in which we own an interest@%®or less) by segment and by geographic loc
at December 31, 2009:

Percentage of Annualized Cash Rental Reveni(1)

Rentable Multi -
Market Square Feet ~ Occupancy Office Industrial Retail Family Total

Des Moines, A2 2,506,001 87.2% 26.8% 4.1% 0.7% 3.2% 34.%%
Orlando, FL 1,853,00! 87.2 28.€ — — — 28.€
Atlanta, GA 835,00!( 73.2 9.1 — — — 9.1
Kansas City, MC(3) 719,00( 82.C 10.2 — — — 10.2
Raleigh, NC 814,00( 91.¢ (26 — — — 7.€
Richmond, VA(@4) 413,00( 100.( 4.8 — — — 4.8
Piedmont Triad, NC 258,00( 60.7 21 — — — 21
Tampa, FL(5) 205,00( 94.2 2.C — — — 2.C
Charlotte, NC 148,00( 100.( 0.7 — — — 0.7
Total 7,751,000 86.0os 91.%, 4.1g, 0.7 3.3y, 100.(oy
@) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reeahue (base rent plus additional rent basedefettel of operating expenses, excluding straligietrent) for th:

month of December 2009 multiplied by :
) Rentable square feet and occupancy excludes 4it@néisl units, which were 91.9% occupied at Decenii, 2009
?3) Includes a 12.5% interest in a 261,000 sqi@oebuilding that is included in the CompasyConsolidated Financial Statements, but not iredud the Operatir

Partnershi’s Consolidated Financial Statemel
4) We own a 50.0% interest in this joint venture whiglkonsolidated (see Notes 3 and 9 to our CorstelitiFinancial Statement
5) We own a 20.0% interest in this joint venture whigkonsolidated (see Notes 3 and 7 to our CoreselitiFinancial Statement

We also owned an approximate 86.0% economic irtténes consolidated affiliate that owns 40 fale residential condominiums located in Raleigi, &
December 31, 2009.

Lease Expirations

The following tables set forth scheduled lease raxipins for existing leases at our in-service awmthgleted —not stabilized Wholly Owned Properties
December 31, 2009:
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Office Properties(1):

Percentage Percent of
of Leased Annualized
Rentable Square Average Annual Cash Renta
Square Feet Footage Annualized Cash Cash Rental Revenue
Subject to Representec Rental Revenue Rate Per Square Representec
Expiring by Expiring Under Expiring Foot for by Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Leases Leases?2) Expirations Leases?2)
($ in thousands)
2010(3) 2,251,73 12.2% $ 44,89 $ 19.9¢ 11.9%
2011 2,465,34. 13.t 49,96¢ 20.21% 13.2
2012 2,480,32. 13.€ 53,45¢ 21.5¢ 14.2
2013 2,404,55! 13.2 52,53] 21.8¢ 14.C
2014 2,369,35! 13.C 49,47 20.8¢ 13.1
2015 1,591,62 8.7 29,79: 18.7: 7.€
2016 1,023,76' 5.€ 19,26¢ 18.82 5.1
2017 1,078,541 5.¢ 20,69¢ 19.1¢ 5.5
2018 637,84: 35 14,33: 22.41% 3.8
2019 439,92: 24 8,45¢ 19.22 2.2
Thereafter 1,511,55; 8.3 33,41¢ 22.11 8.€
18,254,56 100.Gop $ 376,27 $ 20.61 100.(oy
Industrial Properties:
Percentage Percent of
of Leased Annualized
Rentable Square Average Annual Cash Renta
Square Feet Footage Annualized Cash Cash Rental Revenue
Subject to Representec Rental Revenue Rate Per Square Representet
Expiring by Expiring Under Expiring Foot for by Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Leases Leases?2) Expirations Leases?2)
($ in thousands)
2010(4) 928,97 16.2% $ 3,74C $ 4.0¢ 12.5%
2011 903,34« 15.7 5,241 5.8C 17.€
2012 778,95: 13.E 3,85: 4.9t 12.¢
2013 625,03¢ 10.€ 3,82¢ 6.12 12.¢
2014 851,48! 14.¢ 4,A47; 5.2E 15.C
2015 421,14¢ 7.3 1,671 3.9¢ 5.€
2016 264,59° 4.€ 1,08¢ 4.1C 3.€
2017 61,60( 1.1 584 9.4¢ 2.C
2018 71,88¢ 1.2 251 3.4¢ 0.8
2019 121,47( 2.1 257 2.1z 0.¢
Thereafter 722,62¢ 12.€ 4,87¢ 6.7 16.2
5,751,11! 100.Gop $ 29,86¢ $ 5.1¢ 100.(g4
Q) Excludes properties held by consolidated joint vesg.
2) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reet@hue (base rent plus additional rent basedetetrel of operating expenses, excluding straligietrent) for th
month of December 2009 multiplied by :
?3) Includes 61,000 square feet of leases that arenoordl-to-month basis, which represent 0.3% of total annedlizash rental revent
4) Includes 50,000 square feet of leases that arenoong-to-month basis, which represent less than 0.1% of aotaualized cash rental reven

17




Retail Properties:

Percentage Percent of
of Leased Annualized
Rentable Square Average Annual Cash Renta
Square Feet Footage Annualized Cash Cash Rental Revenue
Subject to Representec Rental Revenue Rate Per Square Representec
Expiring by Expiring Under Expiring Foot for by Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Leases Leases1) Expirations Leases1)
($ in thousands)
2010(2) 79,63¢ 9.4% $ 2,20z $ 27.6¢ 7.5%
2011 74,45° 8.7 1,72¢ 23.1¢ 5.8
2012 90,75« 10.7 3,651 40.3( 12.4
2013 47,02° 5.5 2,19( 46.57 7.4
2014 41,01« 4.8 2,061 50.2¢ 7.C
2015 69,33 8.1 3,35¢ 48.41] 11.4
2016 59,88¢ 7.C 2,53¢ 42.4C 8.€
2017 110,80: 13.C 2,55¢ 23.0¢ 8.€
2018 45,97t 5.4 2,01( 43.7: 6.8
2019 87,53( 10.2 2,547 29.1( 8.€
Thereafter 144,80( 17.1 4,691 32.4( 15.¢
851,21! 100.(o5 $ 29,53( $ 34.6¢ 100.(g4
Total (3):
Percentage Percent of
of Leased Annualized
Rentable Square Average Annual Cash Renta
Square Feet Footage Annualized Cash Cash Rental Revenue
Subject to Representec Rental Revenue Rate Per Square Representec
Expiring by Expiring Under Expiring Foot for by Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Leases Leases(1) Expirations Leases(1)
($ in thousands)
2010(4) 3,260,341 13.1% $ 50,83t $ 15.5¢ 11.7%
2011 3,443,14. 13.¢ 56,93( 16.5: 13.1
2012 3,350,03! 13.t 60,96¢ 18.2( 13.¢
2013 3,076,62 12.4 58,55¢ 19.0: 13.2
2014 3,261,85: 13.1 56,00 17.17 12.¢
2015 2,082,101 8.4 34,82t 16.7: 8.C
2016 1,348,25: 5.4 22,88¢ 16.9¢ &
2017 1,250,94. 5.C 23,83 19.0¢ 5.5
2018 755,70:. 3.C 16,59: 21.9¢ 3.8
2019 648,92- 2.€ 11,26( 17.3¢ 2.€
Thereafter 2,378,97 9.€ 42,98¢ 18.07 9.¢
24,856,89 100.Gop $ 435,67t $ 17.5¢ 100.(oy
1) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reet@hue (base rent plus additional rent basedetetrel of operating expenses, excluding straligietrent) for th
month of December 2009 multiplied by :
2) Includes 11,000 square feet of leases that arenoong-to-month basis, which represent less than 0.1% of aotaualized cash rental reven
3) Excludes properties held by consolidated joint uess.
4) Includes 122,000 square feet of leases that aeemontl-to-month basis, which represent 0.3% of total annedlizash rental revent
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time a party to a variety ajdeproceedings, claims and assessments arisitigeiordinary course of our business. We regulasbess th
liabilities and contingencies in connection witlegle matters based on the latest information aveil&or those matters where it is probable thatesee incurred or wi
incur a loss and the loss or range of loss carasonably estimated, the estimated loss is acemgdharged to income in our Consolidated Finar8talements. In oth
instances, because of the uncertainties relatbdttothe probable outcome and amount or rangessf Bpreasonable estimate of liability, if any,rmtrbe made. Based
the current expected outcome of such matters, nbrleese proceedings, claims or assessments istexpto have a material adverse effect on our kssinfinancie
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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ITEM X. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The Company is the sole general partner of the @jogr Partnership. The following table sets fortformation with respect to the Company’s executiffeers:

Name Age Position and Background
Edward J. Fritsch 51 Director, President and {Ohiecutive Officer.

Mr. Fritsch has been a director since January 208i.Fritsch became our chief executive officed ahai
of the investment committee of our board of direxton July 1, 2004 and our president in Decemb8B.
Prior to that, Mr. Fritsch was our chief operatioificer from January 1998 to July 2004 and was G
president and secretary from June 1994 to Jan@8§. Mr. Fritsch joined our predecessor in 1982 &a¢
a partner of that entity at the time of our inifmiblic offering in June 1994. Mr. Fritsch is a nm@m of the
National Association of Real Estate Investment ®uf‘NAREIT”) Board of Governors and au
committee member, past chair of the University aftN Carolina Board of Visitors, trustee of the th
Carolina Symphony, director and president of the GMof the Triangle, director of Capital Associe
Industries, Inc. and member of Wachovia’'s CentegiBnal Advisory Board.

Michael E. Harris 60 Executive Vice President &tdef Operating Officer.

Mr. Harris became chief operating officer in Ju§02. Prior to that, Mr. Harris was a senior vicegilen
and was responsible for our operations in Memplashville, Kansas City and Charlotte. Mr. Harriss
executive vice president of Crocker Realty Trusbmpto its merger with us in 1996. Before joiningoCke!
Realty Trust, Mr. Harris served as senior vice ide#, general counsel and chief financial officé
Towermarc Corporation, a privately owned real est#velopment firm. Mr. Harris is a member of
executive committee of the Urban Land Institutdriangle Chapter and is past president of the La
Alpha International Land Economics Society.

Terry L. Stevens 61 Senior Vice President anc&efOfinancial Officer.

Prior to joining us in December 2003, Mr. Steveras\executive vice president, chief financial offieec
trustee for Crown American Realty Trust, a publiEIR Before joining Crown American Realty Trt
Mr. Stevens was director of financial systems dewelent at AlliedSignal, Inc., a large muti@tiona
manufacturer. Mr. Stevens was also an audit pawtitbr Price Waterhouse for approximately seven y.
Mr. Stevens currently serves as trustee, chairm#mecAudit Committee and member of the Investnaamt
Finance Committee of First Potomac Realty Trugyblic REIT. Mr. Stevens is a member of the Aman
and the Pennsylvania Institutes of Certified PuBlicountants.

Jeffrey D. Miller 39 Vice President, General Ceelnand Secretary.
Prior to joining us in March 2007, Mr. Miller waspartner with DLA Piper US, LLP, where he practi
since 2005. Previously, he was a partner with AlsfoBird LLP, where he practiced from 1997. Hi
admitted to practice in North Carolina. Mr. Millearrently serves as lead independent director dfelrta
Financial Corp., a public-traded mortgage REI

20




Nam
W. Brian Reames

D

Age
46

Position and Background

Senior Vice President anddredgiManager.
Mr. Reames became senior vice president and relgisamager in August 2004. Mr. Reames manage
Nashville division and oversees the operations wf Memphis and Greenville divisions. Prior to t
Mr. Reames was vice president responsible for tlashhille division, a position he held since 1¢
Mr. Reames was a partner at Eakin & Smith, In&Naahvillebased office real estate firm, from 1989
its merger with us in 1996. Mr. Reames is a pasthMidle chapter President of the National Assooiaii
Industrial and Office Properties. He is currentiyvsng on the Board of Directors of H.G. Hill Real
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK, RELAT ED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

The following table sets forth the quarterly higiddow stock prices per share reported on the N¥BEhe quarters indicated and the dividends paidshare durir
such quarter:

2009 2008
Quarter Ended High Low Dividend High Low Dividend
March 31 $ 2747 $ 155 $ 0.42t $ 32.3¢ $ 26.61 $ 0.42¢
June 3( 26.8¢ 19.7¢ 0.42¢ 37.3¢ 31.4Z 0.42¢
September 3 34.0¢ 19.3¢ 0.42¢ 37.9¢ 29.8¢ 0.42¢
December 3: 35.2¢ 26.6( 0.42¢ 34.2¢ 15.5¢ 0.42¢

On December 31, 2009, the last reported stock mfitke Common Stock on the NYSE was $33.35 pereshad the Company had 1,056 common stockhold
record. There is no public trading market for th@r@non Units. On December 31, 2009, the Operatimn@ahip had 120 holders of record of Common Ugitker tha
the Company). At December 31, 2009, there were #ilBon shares of Common Stock outstanding and rBiBion Common Units outstanding not owned by
Company.

Because the Company is a REIT, the partnershipeagget requires the Operating Partnership to diggikt least enough cash for the Company to betallistribut
to its stockholders at least 90.0% of its REIT &aincome, excluding capital gains. Under tempol&S regulations, for 2010 and 2011, distributi@mas be pai
partially using a REIT's freely-tradable stock sad as stockholders have the option of receivirgast 10% of the total distribution in cash. Skerfi 1A. Risk Factors
Cash distributions reduce the amount of cash tlatdvwtherwise be available for other business gegp, including funding debt maturities or futurevgth initiatives.”

We generally expect to use cash flows from opegadictivities to fund distributions. The followingdtors will affect such cash flows and, accordingifluence th
decisions of the Company’s Board of Directors rdgay distributions:

« debt service requirements after taking into accaleftt covenants and the repayment and restructofiegrtain indebtedness and the availability oéralative
sources of debt and equity capital and their impaabur ability to refinance existing debt and growv business

scheduled increases in base rents of existingdease
« changes in rents attributable to the renewal dftang leases or replacement leases;

« changes in occupancy rates at existing propentidsaecution of leases for newly acquired or dgyedoproperties;

operating expenses and capital replacement needss; a
« expected cash flows from financing and investiniyaes.

The following stock price performance graph compahe performance of our Common Stock to the S&P, 8t Russell 2000 and the FTSE NAREIT Equity F
Index. The stock price performance graph assumesvastment of $100 in our Common Stock and thedhindices on December 31, 2004 and further asstime
reinvestment of all dividends. Equity REITs areidedl as those that derive more than 75.0% of themme from equity investments in real estate asSéte FTS
NAREIT Equity REIT Index includes all REITs listexh the NYSE, the American Stock Exchange or the NAQ National Market System. Stock price performais
not necessarily indicative of future results.
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Total Return Performance
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Highwoods Properties, In 109.17 164.3¢ 123.8: 122.0¢ 159.1¢
S&P 500 104.9: 121.4¢ 128.1¢ 80.7¢ 102.1:
Russell 2000 104.5¢ 123.7¢ 121.8: 80.6¢ 102.5¢
FTSE NAREIT Equity REIT Inde: 112.1¢ 151.4¢ 127.7: 79.5% 101.7¢

The performance graph above is being furnishedaas gf this Annual Report solely in accordance wiiile requirement under Rule 13&)(9) to furnish th
Companys stockholders with such information and, therefisenot deemed to be filed, or incorporated byenmefice in any filing, by the Company or the Opeag
Partnership under the Securities Act of 1933 oiSeeurities Exchange Act of 1934.

During 2009, cash dividends on Common Stock tot&led0 per share, $0.01 of which represented retucapital and $0.60 represented capital gaingfwme ta
purposes. The minimum dividend per share of Com8tock required for the Company to maintain its RE#dtus was $0.89 per share in 2009.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company éskan aggregate of 74,107 shares of Common Stduslders of Common Units in the Operating Partriprapor
the redemption of a like number of Common Unitpiivate offerings exempt from the registration riegnents pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securiigs Each of th
holders of Common Units was an accredited investaler Rule 501 of the Securities Act. The resalsush shares was registered by the Company unee3eburitie
Act.

The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment and Sterkh@se Plan (“DRIP"under which holders of Common Stock may elect tomatically reinvest the

dividends in additional shares of Common Stock aratke optional cash payments for additional shaféSoonmon Stock. The Company may elect to satishyDRIF
obligations by issuing additional shares of Comr8twck or causing the DRIP administrator to purct@semmon Stock in the open market.
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The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plangnirto which employees generally may contribptéow25.0% of their cash compensation for the paseto
Common Stock. At the end of each three-month afteperiod, each participastaccount balance, which includes accrued divideisdapplied to acquire shares
Common Stock at a cost that is calculated at 8mD8be lower of the average closing price on theSEYon the five consecutive days preceding the dimgtof the quart:
or the five days preceding the last day of the tguar

Information about the Company’s equity compensafians and other related stockholder matters isrpurated herein by reference to the Comparigrox)
Statement to be filed in connection with its anmaakting of stockholders to be held on May 13, 2010
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The operating results of the Company for the yeaded December 31, 2008, 2007, 2006 and 2005 temrerevised from previously reported amounts tecefr
discontinued operations the operations for thosgpgties sold or held for sale in 2009 which qigdiffor discontinued operations presentation ared rétroactiv
accounting modifications described in Note 1 to @@mpanys Consolidated Financial Statements. The informaitiothe following table should be read in conjuom
with the Company’s audited Consolidated Financi@teSnents and related notes and Managemddiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord dResults ¢
Operations included herein ($ in thousands, exgepshare data):

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Rental and other revenues $ 454,02¢ $ 450,29: $ 418,40¢ $ 391,55¢ $ 370,16¢
Income from continuing operations $ 37,81C $ 10,48¢ $ 52,05¢ $ 32,67C $ 23,02¢
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availabléor common

stockholders $ 29,28: $ (1,459 $ 33,05 $ 12,077 $ (7,599
Net income $ 61,69. $ 35,61( $ 97,09 $ 57,527 $ 65,73¢
Net income available for common stockholder $ 51,77¢ $ 22,08C $ 74,98: $ 34,87¢ $ 30,94¢
Earnings per common share- basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdlecommon

stockholder: $ 04: $ (0.09 $ 0.5¢ $ 02z $ (0.19
Net income $ 0.7¢ $ 037 $ 132 $ 0.64 $ 0.57
Earnings per common share- diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon

stockholder: $ 04: % (0.09 $ 0.5¢ $ 02z $ (0.19
Net income $ 0.7¢ $ 037 $ 131 $ 0.6z $ 0.57
Dividends declared and paid per common shar $ 1.7¢ $ 1.7¢ $ 1.7¢ $ 1.7¢ $ 1.7¢C

December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Total assets $ 2,887,10. $ 2,946,171 $ 2,926,95' $ 2,84485. $ 2,908,97:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,469,15 $ 1,604,68" $ 164198 $ 1,465,12' $ 1,471,611
Financing obligations $ 37,70¢ $ 34,17: $ 35,07: $ 35,53( $ 34,15¢
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The operating results of the Operating Partnerfrithe years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 200€@05 have been revised from previously repaatadunts t
reflect in discontinued operations the operatiamgtiose properties sold or held for sale in 200&ctv qualified for discontinued operations prestoteand the retroacti
accounting modifications described in Note 1 to @merating Partnership’Consolidated Financial Statements. The informaitiothe following table should be reac
conjunction with the Operating Partnership’s awdliteonsolidated Financial Statements and relatedsnahd Managemest'Discussion and Analysis of Finan
Condition and Results of Operations included hef@iim thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Rental and other revenues $ 454,02t $ 450,29: $ 418,40¢ $ 391,55 $ 370,38:
Income from continuing operations $ 37,75¢ $ 10,35¢ $ 51,31« $ 32,47: $ 22,69¢
Income/(loss) from continuing operationsavailable for common

unitholders $ 31,037 $ (1,599 $ 34,87 $ 13,00: $ (8,81))
Net income $ 61,64( $ 35,48: $ 94,89t $ 56,91 $ 65,252
Net income available for common unitholders $ 54,921 $ 23,53( $ 78,45¢ $ 37,44: $ 33,74:
Earnings per common unit- basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdblecommon unitholder $ 04: $ (0.09 $ 057 $ 02z $ (0.15)
Net income $ 077 $ 037 $ 1.2¢ $ 0.6z $ 0.57
Earnings per common unit— diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdblecommon unitholder $ 04: % (0.09 $ 057 $ 021 % (0.15)
Net income $ 077 $ 037 $ 1.2 $ 0.61 $ 0.57
Distributions declared and paid per commorunit $ 17C¢ $ 1.7C $ 17C $ 17C $ 1.7¢C

December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
2,885,731 $ 2,944,851 $ 2,925,80: $ 2,837,64! $ 2,901,85!
1,469,15' $ 1,604,68" $ 1,641,98 $ 1,464,261 $ 1,471,611
37,70t $ 34,17¢ $ 35,07: $ 35,53( $ 34,15¢

Total assets
Mortgages and notes payal
Financing obligations

LR
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is a fully integrated, self-administeaed self-managed equity REIT that provides legsimanagement, development, construction and otistomer
related services for our properties and for thiadips. The Company conducts virtually all of itsivties through the Operating Partnership. The@png Partnership
managed by the Company, its sole general partneDekember 31, 2009, we owned or had an interes27in inservice office, industrial and retail propert
encompassing approximately 35.5 million square &t 514 rental residential units, which include$2a6% interest in a 261,000 square foot officepprty directh
owned by the Company and thus is included in then@my's Consolidated Financial Statements, butimditided in the Operating PartnersksifZonsolidated Financ
Statements. As of that date, we also owned or hadterest in development land and other propettieter development as described under “ltem 1.ri&ss’ and ftem
2. Properties."We are based in Raleigh, NC, and our properties dawklopment land are located in Florida, Georfpaa, Maryland, Mississippi, Missouri, No
Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia.

You should read the following discussion and analiysconjunction with the accompanying Consolidaénancial Statements and related notes contaitssavher
herein.

DiSCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-L OOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Annual Report maytain forwardiooking statements. Such statements include, iticpdar, statements about our plans, strate
and prospects under this section and under thargedtem 1. Business.” You can identify forwardeking statements by our use of forwdodking terminology such .
“may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,”“continue” or other similar words. Although we believe that qlans, intentions and expectations reflected r
suggested by such forwaloleking statements are reasonable, we cannot agsuréhat our plans, intentions or expectations té achieved. When considering s
forward{ooking statements, you should keep in mind théo¥ahg important factors that could cause our dcteaults to differ materially from those containiedany
forward-looking statement:

- the financial condition of our customers could derate;

« we may not be able to lease or release seconda@mmespace, defined as previously occupied sgatebiecomes available for lease, quickly or onaasrabl
terms as old lease

« we may not be able to lease our newly constructiddibgs as quickly or on as favorable terms aginéilly anticipated,;
- we may not be able to complete development, ad@urisreinvestment, disposition or joint venturejpcts as quickly or on as favorable terms as ipatied;

- development activity by our competitors in our &rig markets could result in an excessive supplpfti€e, industrial and retail properties relatitecustome
demand

« our Southeastern and Midwestern United States rtsankay suffer declines in economic growth;
« unanticipated increases in interest rates coulet@se our debt service costs;

« we may not be able to meet our liquidity requiretaear obtain capital on favorable terms to fund working capital needs and growth initiatives oré¢pay o
refinance outstanding debt upon maturity;

« the Company could lose key executive officers.
This list of risks and uncertainties, however,a$ imtended to be exhaustive. You should also retie other cautionary statements we make in “ltédmBusiness — Risk
Factors” set forth in this Annual Report. Givengbeincertainties, you should not place undue reiam forward-looking statements. We undertakebiigation to

publicly release the results of any revisions &sthforward-looking statements to reflect any figwvents or circumstances or to reflect the ocoog®f unanticipated
events.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Our Strategic Plan focuses on:
« owning high-quality, differentiated real estateedssn the best submarkets in our primary marlaetd;
« maintaining a conservative, flexible balance shatt ample liquidity to meet our funding needs.

Execution of our Plan includes (1) growing net @pieig income at our existing properties throughcemtrated leasing, asset management and custoraeeseffort:
and (2) developing properties in infill locationsdeacquiring strategic properties that are acaedtongterm earnings and stockholder value. While we omch @perate
limited number of industrial, retail and residehpaoperties, our operating results depend heawilysuccessfully leasing and operating our offiogpprties. Econom
growth in Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and Tessee is and will continue to be an important deteative factor in predicting our future operatirgsults. OL
portfolio has changed significantly over the paseé fyears and now consists of a higher mix of Clasand B properties, which are generally expectedutperforn
competitive properties in our core markets. We hagmsitioned our portfolio primarily by selling m@ore properties and developing properties ifiliilecations. Ou
real estate professionals are seasoned and ®gtkd. Our senior leadership team has signifiegpérience and maintains important relationshighk wiarket participan
in each of our primary markets. Our focus in 204.6oi lease and operate our existing portfolio &c#fely and efficiently as possible and acquinel develop addition
real estate assets that improve the overall quafigur portfolio and generate attractive returmerghe long-term for our stockholders.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of 2009 to 2008
Rental and Other Revenues

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatisere modestly higher in 2009 as compared to 20arily due to the contribution of developmenopertie:
placed in service in 2008 and 2009, the acquistmfithe PennMarc building in Memphis, TN and tR€@ Cypress building in Tampa, FL and higher averagtal rate
partly offset by lower revenues in our same prgoppadrtfolio caused by lower average occupancy 6920

Average occupancy of our portfolio, particularlyirstrial assets, declined in 2009. We expect ageoagupancy to continue to decline in the firstesalvquarters «
2010 as a result of continued high unemploymerglg\Approximately 1@5% of our revenues at the beginning of any pdeticyear are subject to leases that expit
the end of that year. The federal government'srdmution to our revenues has increased signifigaotler the past five years from lomerm leases with high renev
probabilities. Overall, we expect 2010 rental atiteorevenues, adjusted for any discontinued ojpastn 2010, to increase over 2009 due to higlkerame rental rates
the portfolio, the full year contribution of acqitisns made and development projects deliveredhdu2009, partly offset by lower occupancy levels.

Operating Expenses

Rental property and other expenses were modegilyehiin 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily due ighdr expenses from the contribution of developi
properties placed in service in 2008 and 2009 attguisitions of the PennMarc building in Memphi&y @nd the 4200 Cypress building in Tampa, FL, pavffset by
lower expenses in our same property portfolio. Téuction in our same property operating expensiscts managemesst’efforts to reduce operating expenses.
overall reduction in same property operating expsgas partly offset by higher real estate taxelsuditity rate increases. We expect real estatedand utility rates
continue to increase in 2010.

Operating margin, defined as rental and other resetess rental property and other expenses exgrassa percentage of rental and other revenusssligatly lowe
at 63.8% in 2009 as compared to 64.1% in 2008.
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Depreciation and amortization was 5.1% higher i@28s compared to 2008 primarily due to higher egption and amortization from development propsrplace
in service in 2008 and 2009 and the acquisitiorth®PennMarc building in Memphis, TN and the 423@ress building in Tampa, FL.

We recorded impairments of $13.5 million in 2009 &32.8 million in 2008 on assets located in Winssalem and Greensboro, NC. The 2009 impairmentec:ia
12 office properties, 11 of which were previoustypiired in 2008, six industrial properties and tetil properties. Impairments can arise from a oenof factors whic
are subject to change; accordingly, we may be redquo take additional impairment charges in thark

General and administrative expenses were 3.6% low2009 as compared to 2008, primarily due to logadaries, benefits and incentive compensatiortljnem
reduced headcount and lower expenses from unsticcesyvelopment projects. Partly offsetting thiscamse was an increase from the year-gear- change in ti
valuation adjustment of deferred compensation lii&s under our nomualified deferred compensation plan and lowertedipation of development and leasing costs
anticipate continued reductions in general and atitnative expenses in 2010 due to full year effexftheadcount reductions implemented in 2008 @@9 2nd lowe
incentive compensation costs.

Other Income

Other income was $5.7 million higher in 2009 as pared to 2008, primarily due to the year-oyeer change in the valuation adjustment of marketséxcurities he
under our non-qualified deferred compensation plamprable cash settlement of a real estalated legal claim and gains on the extinguishneérttertain outstandir
bonds.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was 11.7% lower in 2009 as cordgar@008, primarily due to lower average outstagdiorrowings during 2009 mostly due to the apfilicaoi
proceeds of our sales of Common Stock in Septei2®@8 and June 2009 to pay down debt and lower gedsarrowing rates on our floating rate debt, pasffset by
lower capitalized interest resulting from decreadedelopment in process. We anticipate interes¢es@ will increase in 2010 due to higher rateswrfloating rate dek
higher fees on our new revolving credit facilityglmer amortization of deferred financing costs &wler capitalized interest. Average outstandingrdwings may als
increase depending on the net amount of propegyisitions and dispositions, which would also i interest expenses in 2010.

Gainson For-Sale Residential Condominiums

In 2009 and 2008, gains on for-sale residentiatloamniums aggregated $0.9 million and $5.6 millicespectively, resulting from sales of majoritytned residenti.
condominiums and related forfeitures of earnesteyateposits. Our partnerinterest in these gains was $(0.5) million ang $iillion, respectively, and was recorde:
noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliat&ur partner will receive a preferred return of thet profits from the joint venture once the pargnhave receive
distributions equal to their equity plus a 12.0%umne on their equity. Our partner’s preferred ratuf any, is determinable only after all units @@d. Our partneg’
estimated economic interest decreased from 25%eaember 31, 2008 to 14% at December 31, 2009 debanges in the projected timing of sales and edlg@ain
resulting in the allocation of a loss to the parsi@on-controlling interest. We have 38 feale residential condominiums as of February 3020¥e anticipate these
condominiums will be sold over the course of 206 2011.

Discontinued Operations
The Company classified income of $23.9 million ##5.1 million as discontinued operations in 2006 2008, respectively. These amounts relate to ilBn

square feet of office, industrial and retail properties and 13 rental residential units soldeld for sale during 2009 and 2008, and includegan the sale of the
properties of $21.5 million and $18.5 million inGMand 2008, respectively.
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Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling I nterests in the Operating Partnership; Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling I nterests in Consolidated Affiliates

The Companys net income attributable to noncontrolling intésea the Operating Partnership was $1.6 millioghler in 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily du
higher income from continuing operations, aftef@gmed equity distributions, of the Operating Parghip.

Net income attributable to consolidated affiliateas $2.0 million lower in 2009 as compared to 2@@Bnarily due to lower gains on faale residenti
condominiums.

Dividends on Preferred Equity

Dividends on preferred equity were 31.6% lower®2 as compared to 2008 due to the retirement®83&illion of preferred equity in 2008.
Comparison of 2008 to 2007
Rental and Other Revenues

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatisare 7.6% higher in 2008 as compared to 2007gpifiyndue to the contribution from development perdje:
placed in service in 2007 and 2008, higher avecagepancy and higher average rental rates.

Operating Expenses

Rental property and other expenses were 8.2% high208 as compared to 2007 primarily due to garieflationary increases in certain operating egess, whic
include utility costs, insurance, real estate tazafaries, and benefits, and from expenses oflalewvent properties placed in service in 2007 ar@B20

Operating margin was slightly lower at 64.1% in @& compared to 64.3% in 2007.
Depreciation and amortization was 5.4% higher i8&8s compared to 2007 primarily from developmeaperties placed in service in 2007 and 2008.

We recorded impairments of $32.8 million in 2008ated to 11 office properties and one land parc&VinstonSalem, NC. We recorded an impairment of .
million in 2007 related to one land parcel.

General and administrative expenses were 8.5% law@008 as compared to 2007 primarily due to loaedit and legal fees and lower deferred compemn
expense caused by an decrease in the value of mlalkaecurities held under our nqualified deferred compensation plan, partiallysetfby higher compensation c«
including short and long-term incentive compensatio
Interest Expense

Contractual interest expense was relatively uncedrig 2008 as compared to 2007 primarily due te@ehse in weighted average interest rates onaodisg dek
and lower capitalized interest resulting from dasel development in process, offset by an incrieaeerage borrowings.

Gains on Disposition of Property; Gains on For-Sale Residential Condominiums; Gain from Property Insurance Settlement; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated

Affiliates

Gains on disposition of property not classifiediasontinued operations were $0.8 million in 2008pared to $20.6 in 2007 and primarily relate talldisposition:
Gains are dependent on the specific assets sstdribcal cost basis and other factors, and can signjificantly from period to period.

In 2008, gains on for-sale residential condominiwaggregating $5.6 million resulted from sales ofarigy-owned condominiums and related forfeitures of esl

money deposits. Our partner’s interest in thesespaias $1.3 million and was recorded as noncoirtgoihterests in consolidated affiliates. Thereaveo gains on fosale
residential condominiums in 2007.
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In 2007, we recorded a $4.1 million gain from fimation of a prior year insurance claim relatedtwricane damage sustained by one of our officpentees locate
in southeastern Florida.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates @@sed $7.2 million from 2007 to 2008 primarily diwethe sale of 332 rental residential units ane foffice
properties in unconsolidated joint ventures. Equntgarnings of unconsolidated affiliates in thee@ping Partnership does not include the Commahg.5% interest in
261,000 square foot office property owned direbihthe Company.

Discontinued Operations

The Company classified income of $25.1 million &#5.0 million as discontinued operations in 2008 2007, respectively. These amounts relate to 2l
square feet of office, industrial and retail properties and 13 rental residential units soltield for sale during 2009, 2008 and 2007, and delnet gains on the sale
these properties of $18.5 million and $34.5 millior2006 and 2007, respectively.

During 2007, the Company recorded $1.5 million ieame from the release of an uncertain tax lighilfthis item did not relate to the Operating Panthim's
operations and is thus not recorded in the Opegr&artnership’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net I ncome Attributable to Noncontrolling I nterestsin the Operating Partnership; Net |ncome Attributable to Noncontrolling I nterestsin Consolidated Affiliates

The Companys net income attributable to noncontrolling intésen the Operating Partnership was $4.1 milliowdo in 2008 as compared to 2007 primarily du
lower income from continuing operations, after preéd equity distributions, of the Operating Pansh#p.

Net income attributable to consolidated affiliatgas $1.4 million higher in 2008 as compared to 2@@imarily due to higher gains on feele residenti
condominiums.

Dividends on Preferred Equity

Dividends on preferred equity were 37.5% lower @®& as compared to 2007 due to the retirement 3B3%illion and $62.0 million of preferred equity 2008 an
2007, respectively.
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LiQuiDiTY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview
Our goal is to maintain a conservative and flexiiédance sheet with access to multiple sourcesbf d@nd equity capital and sufficient availabilityder our cred
facilities. We generally use rents received froratemers to fund our operating expenses, capitarefures and distributions. To fund property asijioins, developme
activity or building renovations and repay debt mpoaturity, we may use current cash balancesasséts, obtain new debt and/or issue equity. Catrginerally consis
of mortgage debt, unsecured debt securities amdwinrgs under our secured and unsecured credittiesi
Statements of Cash Flows

We report and analyze our cash flows based on tipgractivities, investing activities and financimagtivities. The following table sets forth the nbas in th
Company’s cash flows from 2008 to 2009 ($ in thowgis:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 Change
Cash Provided By Operating Activiti $ 189,12( $ 157,82! $ 31,29¢
Cash (Used In) Investing Activitie (61,829 (134,34)) 72,51¢
Cash (Used In) Financing Activitie (117,354 (12,86%) (104,49
Total Cash Flows $ 9,94: $ 10,61: $ (675

In calculating cash flow from operating activitiekpreciation and amortization, which are mash expenses, are added back to net income. Asult,rwe hav
historically generated a positive amount of casimfloperating activities. From period to period,icllew from operations depends primarily upon ctem@ our ne
income, as discussed more fully above under “ResflOperations,thanges in receivables and payables, and net @ulitir decreases in our overall portfolio, wl
affect the amount of depreciation and amortizatéirpense.

Cash used in or provided by investing activitiesiegally relates to capitalized costs incurred feasing and major building improvements and our iséen,
development, disposition and joint venture actividyring periods of significant net acquisition &rddevelopment activity, our cash used in suckesting activities wi
generally exceed cash provided by investing aasitwhich typically consists of cash received uplom sale of properties and distributions of cagitam our join
ventures.

Cash used in or provided by financing activitiesieally relates to distributions, incurrence angaganent of debt and issuances, repurchases or ptides o
Common Stock, Common Units and Preferred Stockdissussed previously, we use a significant amotirduo cash to fund distributions. Whether or not ke
increases in the outstanding balances of debt gl@iperiod depends generally upon the net effecuofacquisition, disposition, development and tj@i@enture activity
We generally use our revolving credit facility feorking capital purposes, which means that durimggiven period, in order to minimize interest expe, we may reco
significant repayments and borrowings under ouolkgrg credit facility.

The increase of $31.3 million in cash provided Ipemting activities of the Company in 2009 compare@008 was primarily the result of the net insen th
change in operating assets and liabilities as asetash flows from net income as adjusted for absimgdepreciation and amortization, impairmenassets held for us
gains on disposition of property, gains on disposibf forsale residential condominiums and distributionsafings from unconsolidated affiliates. We expmt
provided by operating activities to be slightly lemin 2010 due to lower anticipated net income ltegufrom lower average occupancy at our same gntypportfolio an
higher interest expense.

The decrease of $72.5 million in cash used in itingsctivities in 2009 compared to 2008 was prilpadhe result of lower capital expenditures, higheoceeds frol
dispositions of real estate assets, and lower iborimns to unconsolidated affiliates partly offést lower proceeds from disposition of feate residential condominiui
and reductions in changes in restricted cash amet atvesting activities. We currently expect cashkd in investing activities to be higher in 2088rt 2009 resulting fro
an expected increase in net acquisition activity.
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The increase of $104.5 million in cash used inririag activities in 2009 compared to 2008 was prilpaghe result of higher net reductions in delgher commo
dividends resulting from an increase in the numiifeshares of Common Stock outstanding and lowerpneteeds from the sale of Common Stock, offsetolmer
redemptions/repurchases of Preferred Stock andrlpregerred dividends from a decrease in Prefegtedk outstanding. We expect cash used in finanaatiyities to b
lower in 2010 from expected borrowings or saleadtdfitional Common Stock to fund an expected in@@aset acquisition activity.

Capitalization
The following table sets forth the Company’s cdizgdion (in thousands, except per share amounts):

December 31

2009 2008
Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book" $ 1,469,15 $ 1,604,68!
Financing obligations $ 37,70¢ $ 34,17¢
Preferred Stock, at liquidation value $ 81,59 $ 81,59:
Common Stock outstanding 71,28t 63,572
Common Units outstanding (not owned by the Comp 3,891 4,067

Per share stock price at year end $ 33.3t $ 27.3¢
Market value of Common Stock and Common U $ 2,507,121 $ 1,850,60:
Total market capitalization $ 4,09557: $ 3,571,05

Based on our total market capitalization of appmately $4.1 billion at December 31, 2009 (basedhenDecember 31, 2009 per share stock price of3538n(
assuming the redemption for shares of Common Stbdke approximate 3.9 million Common Units not @dnby the Company), our mortgages and notes pe
represented 36% of our total market capitalization.

Mortgages and notes payable at December 31, 2082ovaprised of $720.7 million of secured indebtedneith a weighted average interest rate of 6.2066$748..
million of unsecured indebtedness with a weightedrage interest rate of 5.41%. At December 31, 2009 outstanding mortgages and notes payable iaaddin¢
obligations were secured by real estate assetsanidggregate undepreciated book value of appraeiyn®l.2 billion.

Current and Future Cash Needs

Rental and other revenues are our principal soofrfends to meet our short-term liquidity requirertse Other sources of funds for shtatm liquidity needs incluc
available working capital and borrowings under existing revolving credit facility and revolving estruction credit facility (which had $398.4 milliand $28.3 millio
of availability, respectively, at February 3, 201Qur shortterm liquidity requirements primarily consist ofeypting expenses, interest and principal amortimadin ou
debt, distributions and capital expenditures, ideig building improvement costs, tenant improvemasgts and lease commissions. Building improvemargscapite
costs not related to a specific customer to maingaisting buildings. Tenant improvements are th&t<required to customize space for the specdfeia of customers
spaces other than in new development projects. Wieiate that our available cash and cash equitgland cash provided by operating activities, togrewith cas
available from borrowings under our credit facd#tj will be adequate to meet our short-term liquicBquirements.

Our longterm liquidity uses generally consist of the retient or refinancing of debt upon maturity (incluglimortgage debt, our revolving and constructiortlit
facilities, term loans and other unsecured debtjding of existing and new building developmentanrd infrastructure projects and funding acquissiof buildings an
development land. Excluding capital expenditures l&msing costs and tenant improvements and fomabmbuilding improvements, our expected future
expenditures for started and/or committed new agrakent projects were approximately $5.0 millioatember 31, 2009. Additionally, we may, from titogime, retir
some or all of our remaining outstanding Prefe®¢ack and/or unsecured debt securities throughmptiens, open market repurchases, privately negetiacquisitior
or otherwise.
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We expect to meet our liquidity needs through algioation of:
« cash flow from operating activities;
« borrowings under our credit facilities;
« the issuance of unsecured debt;
« the issuance of secured debt;
« the issuance of equity securities by the Comparni@Operating Partnership; and
« the disposition of non-core assets.
Distributions

To maintain its qualification as a REIT, the Comypanust pay dividends to stockholders that are @$tl©0.0% of its annual REIT taxable income, excdgade
capital gains. The ComparsyREIT taxable income, as determined by the fedaxalaws, does not equal its net income underwatarg principles generally acceptec
the United States (“GAAP”). Under temporary IRSukgions, for 2010 and 2011, distributions can b&l partially using a REIT’s freelfradable stock so long
stockholders have the option of receiving at 16886 of the total distribution in cash. In additi@ithough capital gains are not required to beidisted to maintain REI
status, capital gains, if any, that are generategaat of our capital recycling program are subjecfederal and state income tax unless such gamgslistributed 1
stockholders. The partnership agreement require®gierating Partnership to distribute at least ghaash for the Company to be able to pay suclleinds.

Cash distributions reduce the amount of cash thatldvotherwise be available for other business gsep, including funding debt maturities or futurevgh
initiatives. The amount of future distributions thell be made is at the discretion of the Compargbard of Directors. For a discussion of the fectbat will influenc
decisions of the Board of Directors regarding distions, see “ltem 5. Market for Registran€ommon Stock, Related Stockholder Matters angetsBurchases of Equ
Securities.”

Financing Activity

In 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 million ofl25% unsecured notes and retired the remaining.3Xfillion principal amount of a twoanched secured loan.
also obtained a $20.0 million, three-year unsecteedh loan, a $115.0 million, six and a half-yeaciged loan and a $47.3 million, seysar secured loan. We a
repurchased $8.2 million principal amount of unsedwnotes due 2017.

In 2009, we obtained a new $400.0 million unsecuexdlving credit facility, which replaced our pieusly existing revolving credit facility. Our nesgvolving credi
facility is scheduled to mature on February 21,28fd includes an accordion feature that allowsfoadditional $50.0 million of borrowing capacitybject to addition
lender commitments. Assuming we continue to haveetlpublicly announced ratings from the creditngtagencies, the interest rate and facility feeeurmdir revolvini
credit facility are based on the lower of the twghlest publicly announced ratings. Based on oureatircredit ratings, the interest rate is LIBORspR90 basis points a
the annual facility fee is 60 basis points. We expe use our new revolving credit facility for vikamg capital purposes and for the shiatm funding of our developme
and acquisition activity and, in certain instandbs, repayment of other debt. Continuing abilityotarow under the revolving credit facility allows to quickly capitaliz
on strategic opportunities at sheetm interest rates. There were no amounts outistganohder our revolving credit facility at Decemt8dr, 2009 and February 3, 2010
December 31, 2009 and February 3, 2010, we hadnllian and $1.6 million, respectively, of outsting letters of credit, which reduces the avaiiabibn our revolvin
credit facility. As a result, the unused capacifyoor revolving credit facility at December 31, 20@nd February 3, 2010 was $398.3 million and $B38illion,
respectively.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility,which $41.7 million was outstanding at December2ID9, is initially scheduled to mature on Decenfife 201C

Assuming no defaults have occurred, we have optiomsxtend the maturity date for two successiveywa periods. The interest rate is LIBOR plus 88idpoints. Ot
secured construction facility had $28.3 millionaeilability at December 31, 2009 and February0d,02
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We regularly evaluate the financial condition oé tlenders that participate in our credit facilitiesing publicly available information. Based onstheview, w:
currently expect our lenders, which are major foiahinstitutions, to perform their obligations wdur existing facilities.

Covenant Compliance

We are currently in compliance with all debt covetsaand requirements. Although we expect to rermagompliance with these covenants and ratios foeast th
next year, depending upon our future operatinggoerénce, property and financing transactions antbigé economic conditions, we cannot assure youvieawill
continue to be in compliance.

Our revolving credit facility, $137.5 million bartkrm loan due in February 2011 and $20.0 millionkogerm loan due in March 2012 also require usotmy with
customary operating covenants and various finame@irements, including a requirement that we ma&ina ratio of total liabilities to total assetwe, as defined in tl
respective agreements, of no more than 60%. Tesgtavalue depends upon the effective economidati@ption rate (after deducting capital expendifjrused 1
determine the value of our buildings. Dependingrugeneral economic conditions, the lenders havediod faith right to unilaterally increase the ¢alzation rate by u
to 25 basis points once in any twelventh period. The lenders have not previously @gedcthis right. Any such increase in capitalizatiates, without a correspond
reduction in total liabilities, could make it madéficult for us to maintain a ratio of total lidities to total asset value of no more than 60%ictvicould have an advel
effect on our ability to borrow additional fundsdan the revolving credit facility. If we were toilféo make a payment when due with respect to drguoother obligatior
with aggregate unpaid principal of $10.0 milliondasuch failure remains uncured for more than 18@&dthe lenders under our credit facility couldvide notice of the
intent to accelerate all amounts due thereundeonlm event of default on the revolving credit ifacithe lenders having at least 66.7% of theltotanmitments und
the revolving credit facility can accelerate allrfmavings then outstanding, and we could be pro&ibifrom borrowing any further amounts under ouroheng credi
facility, which would adversely affect our ability fund our operations.

The Operating Partnership has $390.9 million ppatiamount of 2017 bonds outstanding and $200.0omiprincipal amount of 2018 bonds outstandinge
indenture that governs these outstanding notesresqus to comply with customary operating covesantd various financial ratios, including a requieat that w
maintain unencumbered assets of at least 200% ofistanding unsecured debt. The trustee or thdehoof at least 25% in principal amount of eitheries of bonds ¢
accelerate the principal amount of such series wrdten notice of a default that remains uncurkdreé60 days.

We may not be able to repay, refinance or exterydaarall of our debt at maturity or upon any accatien. If any refinancing is done at higher intgreates, th
increased interest expense could adversely afiactash flow and ability to pay distributions. Aeyich refinancing could also impose tighter finah@éios and othe
covenants that restrict our ability to take actitmest could otherwise be in our best interest, asfunding new development activity, making oppoigtic acquisition:
repurchasing our securities or paying distributions
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth a summary regarding known contractual obligations, including regdirinterest payments for those items that aredstdrearing, .
December 31, 2009 ($ in thousands):

Amounts due during years ending December 3:

Total 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter

Mortgages and Notes Payable

Principal payment(1) $ 146915 $ 52,86( $ 149,34« $ 240,21+ $ 242,78. $ 34,66 $ 749,29:

Interest payment 455,70! 84,901 82,12¢ 67,06¢ 58,49! 49,16¢ 113,94
Financing Obligations:

SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligatir 12,23( — — — — 12,23( —

Tax increment financing bor 15,37« 1,11¢ 1,19: 1,277 1,36t 1,46( 8,96:

Repurchase obligatic 4,25( 4,25( — — — — —

Capitalized ground lease obligatic 1,191 — — — — — 1,191

Interest on financing obligatior(2) 6,801 1,11% 1,042 962 88C 791 2,00¢
Capitalized Lease Obligations 244 12z 10z 19 — — —
Purchase Obligations:

Completion contract(3) 6,72¢ 6,72¢ — — — — —
Operating Lease Obligations:

Operating ground leas 36,867 1,11C 1,12¢ 1,15C 1,171 1,19:¢ 31,11«
Other Long Term Obligations (in accounts payable, accrue

expenses and other liabilitie:

DLF | obligation 1,944 55€ 567 57¢ 24z — —

KC Orlando guarantee 12¢ 97 32 — — — —
Total $ 201061' $ 152,86! $ 23553 $ 311,26¢ $ 304,93! $ 99,507 $ 906,50¢
1) This payment schedule does not reflect twc-year extension options related to outstanding ansoom our $70.0 million secured construction fagil
2) This amount does not include interest on tReHBN Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation, whicannot be reasonably estimated for future peridte

interest expense on this financing obligation was $nillion, $1.6 million and $2.6 million in 2002008 and 2007, respectively. See Note 7 to ousGlatate
Financial Statement

?3) This amount is defined as payments to be made wnnieent contracts for various construction prage

The interest payments due on mortgages and noyeblgaare based on the stated rates for the fiaexddebt and on the rates in effect at Decembe2@®19 for th:
variable rate debt. The weighted average inter@st on the fixed and variable rate debt was 6.6 B54%, respectively, at December 31, 2009. Falitiana
information about our mortgages and notes payableNote 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements

For additional information about our financing galtions, see Note 7 to our Consolidated Finand&tkeShents. For additional information about purehalsligations
operating lease obligations and other long terngabbns reflected in our Consolidated Balance 8heee Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Stetesn

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
As discussed in Note 1 to our Consolidated Findi8ti@ements, we generally account for our inveatsin less than majority owned joint venturestmanships ar

limited liability companies using the equity methds a result, the assets and liabilities and #wmults of operations of these joint ventures areimduded in ou
Consolidated Financial Statements, other thanwastment in unconsolidated affiliates and equitgannings of unconsolidated affiliates.
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At December 31, 2009, our unconsolidated joint wesg had $801.8 million of total assets and $6&@I8on of total liabilities. At December 31, 2008ur weighte
average equity interest based on the total aséé¢fese unconsolidated joint ventures was 36.9%irigL2009, these unconsolidated joint venturesezhf9.7 million ¢
aggregate net income, of which our share, aftectmge accounting and other adjustments relatedattagement and leasing fees, was $5.4 million. Editiana
information about our unconsolidated joint ventacgvity, see Note 3 to our Consolidated FinanSiatements.

At December 31, 2009, our unconsolidated joint wezet had $594.1 million of outstanding mortgaget.d€be following table sets forth the scheduledurities o
the Company'’s proportionate share of the outstandébt of its unconsolidated joint ventures at Daoer 31, 2009 ($ in thousands):

2010 $ 10,34:
2011 6,29¢
2012 40,25:
2013 23,61¢
2014 61,61(
Thereafter 96,43:

$ 23855 ()

@) This amount includes $1.5 million related to théstanding debt of a 261,000 square foot office prop the equity interest in which is owned dirgdtly the
Company, and thus is included in the Company’s Glideted Financial Statements, but is not includ@ethe Operating PartnershgpConsolidated Financ
Statements

All of this joint venture debt is norecourse to us except (1) in the case of custormacgptions pertaining to such matters as misustirafs, environment
conditions and material misrepresentations anth(®e guarantees set forth in the following tallen(thousands):

Maximum Accrual at
Potential December 31,
Guarantee Type Entity Location Maturity Date Obligation 2009
Indirect debi Three Fountain Des Moines 8/2019 $ 1,71¢ $ 38t
Debt RRHWoods/ DCF Des Moines 712014 $ 1,33¢ $ 49
Debt RRHWoods Des Moines 11/2011 $ 2,79 $ 15
Indirect debr RRHWoods Des Moines 9/2015 $ 3,112 $ 24t

Financing Arrangements
- SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP (“Harborview”)

Our joint venture partner in Harborview has thentigp put its 80.0% equity interest in the joinntre to us in exchange for cash at any time dutiegoneyeal
period commencing September 11, 2014. The valiken80.0% equity interest will be determined attthee that our partner elects to exercise its ity if ever, base
upon the then fair market value of Harborview $BSsets and liabilities, less 3.0%, which amowa# intended to cover the normal costs of a safsaetion. Because
the put option, this transaction is accounted foa déinancing transaction. Accordingly, the asd&tbilities and operations related to HarborvielaZR, the property own
by Harborview LP remain in our Consolidated Finah8tatements.

As a result, we have established a financing obtigeequal to the net equity contributed by theeotbartner. At the end of each reporting period,liblance of tt
financing obligation is adjusted to equal the geeaf the original financing obligation or the cemt fair value of the put option discussed abowes financing obligatior
net of payments made to our joint venture partiseadjusted by a related valuation allowance actawuhich is being amortized prospectively througip@mber 2014
interest expense on financing obligation. The Yaiue of the put option was $12.2 million and $1&@lion at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respegtivtditionally,
the net income from the operations before depiieaiaif Harborview Plaza allocable to the 80.0% mpartis recorded as interest expense on financifigation. We
continue to depreciate the property and recordfalhe depreciation on our books. At such timehesgut option expires or is otherwise terminated,will record th:
transaction as a sale and recognize gain on sale.
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- Tax Increment Financing Bond

In connection with tax increment financing for ctiostion of a public garage related to a wholly ednoffice building, we are obligated to pay fixguesia
assessments over a 26ar period ending in 2019. The net present vafubese assessments, discounted at 6.93% at tbptioic of the obligation, which represents
interest rate on the underlying bond financingeisorded as a financing obligation in our ConsaédaBalance Sheets. We receive special tax reveanproperty te
rebates recorded in interest and other income,wdie intended, but not guaranteed, to providesuagay the special assessments. We acquirechtieglying bond in
privately negotiated transaction in the fourth gesaof 2007.

- Repurchase Obligation

In connection with the disposition in the fourthaguer of 2009 of a building located in Raleigh, Ni&& buyer had a limited right to put the buildiogus in exchang
for the sales price plus certain costs if we hashbenable to satisfy a certain paogtsing requirement by March 1, 2010. Accordinghg assets, liabilities and operati
of the building remain in our Consolidated Finah&tatements during this contingency period. WésBatl this postlosing requirement in the first quarter of 201@
accordingly, have met the requirements to recardmapleted sale in the first quarter of 2010.

- Capitalized Ground Lease Obligation

The capitalized ground lease obligation represantsbligation to the lessor of land on which westarcted a building. We are obligated to make fipagments t
the lessor through October 2022 and the leasegee\or fixed price purchase options in the nimttl tenth years of the lease. We intend to exethis@urchase option
order to prevent an economic penalty related toreging the building to the lessor at the expiratidrthe lease. The net present value of the fixedal payments a
purchase option through the ninth year was caledlat the inception of the lease using a discoat® of 7.1%. The assets and liabilities under tygtal lease a
recorded at the lower of the present value of mimmease payments or the fair value. The liabditgretes into interest expense for the differemte/den the interest ri
on the financing obligation and the fixed paymefitse accretion will continue until the liability egls the purchase option of the land in the nirtéryof the lease.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, weroav funds at a combination of fixed and variatdees. Borrowings under our revolving credit fagilitonstructio
facility and bank term loans bear interest at \@eaates. Our long-term debt, which consists ofised and unsecured lotgrm financings and the issuance of unsec
debt securities, typically bears interest at fixatbs although some loans bear interest at varrabds. Our interest rate risk management objective to limit the impa
of interest rate changes on earnings and cash #odgo lower our overall borrowing costs. To achithese objectives, from time to time, we ent& interest rate hed
contracts such as collars, swaps, caps and tremkragreements in order to mitigate our interas risk with respect to various debt instrumews.do not hold or iss!
these derivative contracts for trading or specuggpiurposes. The interest rate on all of our véegiadte debt is generally adjusted at one or threeth intervals, subject
settlements under these interest rate hedge ctsitiée also enter into treasury lock or similareggnents from time to time in order to limit our egpre to an increase
interest rates with respect to future debt offesint December 31, 2009, we have no outstandirggeast rate hedge contracts.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conftymvith GAAP requires us to make estimates and raptions that affect the reported amounts of asapt
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liggls at the date of the financial statements dredréported amounts of revenues and expensesgaeporting perior
Actual results could differ from our estimates.

The policies used in the preparation of our Codstéid Financial Statements are described in Ndte dur Consolidated Financial Statements for thar yande
December 31, 2009. However, certain of our sigaificaccounting policies contain an increased leffassumptions used or estimates made in detergnth&ir impact i
our Consolidated Financial Statements. Managemastréviewed and determined the appropriatenessirotritical accounting policies and estimates vilttle audi
committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.
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We consider our critical accounting estimates tthiose used in the determination of the reportedusnts and disclosure related to the following:
« Real estate and related assets;

« Impairment of long-lived assets and investmentsiconsolidated affiliates;

« Sales of real estate;

« Allowance for doubtful accounts; and

« Rental and other revenues.

Real Estate and Related Assets

Real estate and related assets are recorded arubstated at cost less accumulated depreci&®iemovations, replacements and other expendituegsrttprove ¢
extend the life of assets are capitalized and dégieel over their estimated useful lives. Expendgufor ordinary maintenance and repairs are chargesxpense .
incurred. Depreciation is computed using the shialige method over the estimated useful life of 4@rgefor buildings and depreciable land infrastriettosts, 15 yee
for building improvements and five to seven yearsféirniture, fixtures and equipment. Tenant imgnments are amortized using the straigig-method over initial fixe
terms of the respective leases, which generallyrare three to 10 years.

Expenditures directly related to the developmerd aanstruction of real estate assets are includedet real estate assets and are stated at deépdecias!
Development expenditures include menstruction costs essential to the developmemtraerties, development and construction costerést costs, real estate ta
salaries and related costs and other costs inculuedg the period of development. Interest anceottarrying costs are capitalized until the buiidis ready for it
intended use, but not later than one year fromatiess of major construction activity. We consideca@nstruction project as substantially completed ezady for it
intended use upon the completion of tenant imprarem We cease capitalization on the portion thatubstantially completed and occupied or heldlaviai foi
occupancy, and capitalize only those costs assabtigith the portion under construction.

Expenditures directly related to the leasing ofperties are included in deferred leasing costsaardstated at amortized cost. All leasing commissieaid to thir
parties for new leases or lease renewals are tapdalnternal leasing costs include primarily qguemsation, benefits and other costs, such as fegslrelated to leasi
activities, which are incurred in connection withceessfully securing leases of properties. Capédlieasing costs are amortized on a strdightbasis over the initi
fixed terms of the respective leases, which gelyeaa¢ from three to 10 years. Estimated costga@ls unsuccessful activities are expensed asreatu

We record liabilities for the performance of assdirement activities when the obligation to pemfiosuch activities is unconditional, whether or tieg timing o
method of settlement of the obligation may be comdal on a future event.

Upon the acquisition of real estate assets, wesadhe fair value of acquired tangible assets agdand, buildings and tenant improvements, intaagissets such
above and below market leases, acquireglace leases and other identified intangible asseisassumed liabilities. We assess and consigerdlae based on estima
cash flow projections that utilize discount andt¢apitalization rates as well as available mark&irmation. The fair value of the tangible assetswfacquired proper
considers the value of the property as if it weseant.

The above and below market rate portions of leasgsired in connection with property acquisitions gecorded in prepaid expenses and other assetsaocount
payable, accrued expenses and other liabilitiéisedt fair value. Fair value is calculated as thespnt value of the difference between (1) therectual amounts to be pi
pursuant to each in-place lease and (2) our estiiatair market lease rates for each corresponifisglace lease, using a discount rate that refleegittks associati
with the leases acquired and measured over a pegoal to the remaining term of the lease for abunaeket leases and the initial term plus the tefrmny belowmarke
fixed rate renewal options for below-market lea3é® capitalized aboverarket lease values are amortized as a reductibas# rental revenue over the remaining tel
the respective leases and the accrued betanket lease values are amortized as an incredseseorental revenue over the remaining term ofdbpective leases and
below market option periods.
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In-place leases acquired are recorded at their fhievia net real estate assets and are amortizddpgeciation and amortization expense over the irengaterm o
the respective lease. The value of in-place lesskased on our evaluation of the specific charmties of each customey’lease. Factors considered include estima
carrying costs during hypothetical expected lagseeriods, current market conditions and costsxecute similar leases. In estimating carrying ssose include re
estate taxes, insurance and other operating expanseestimates of lost rentals at market rataéagltine expected leasg periods, depending on local market conditi
In estimating costs to execute similar leases, evisider tenant improvements, leasing commissioddemyal and other related expenses.

The value of a customer relationship is based anowarall relationship with the respective custonfeactors considered include the customeredit quality an
expectations of lease renewals. The value of aomest relationship is amortized to depreciation anmbrtization expense over the initial term and semewal perioc
defined in the respective leases.

Real estate and other assets are classified adil@uigassets held for use or as Idivgd assets held for sale. Real estate is clasksifs held for sale when we belie’
sale is probable. We believe a sale is probablenwie execute a legally enforceable contract ongedtrat have been approved by the CompmBgard, or a committ:
thereof, and the probable buyemue diligence investigation period, if any, hapieed. This determination requires us to makengstiés and assumptions, incluc
assessing the probability that potential salestations may or may not occur. Actual results califfér from those assumptions.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Investments irUnconsolidated Affiliates

With respect to assets classified as held for ifi®¥ents or changes in circumstances, such agnifisant decline in occupancy, change in our desiign of an ass
as a core or nooere holding or market value less than cost, intditaat the carrying value may be impaired, an impent analysis is performed. Such analysis consi
determining whether the assetarrying amount will be recovered from its undistted estimated future operating and residual fltagls. These cash flows are estim:
based on a number of assumptions that are subjeconomic and market uncertainties including, agnathers, demand for space, competition for custspmhanges
market rental rates, costs to operate each propertyexpected ownership periods. If the carryimguant of a held for use asset exceeds the surs ahdiscounted futu
operating and residual cash flows, an impairmesg le recorded for the difference between estimi@iedalue of the asset and the carrying amourd.gé&herally estima
the fair value of assets held for use by usingalieted cash flow analysis. In some instances, &ggranformation may be available and is used idit@h to the
discounted cash flow analysis. As the factors usagknerating these cash flows are difficult todiceand are subject to future events that may alte assumptions, t
discounted and/or undiscounted future operatingrasiiual cash flows estimated by us in our impairtranalyses or those established by appraisalnoiaye achieve
and we may be required to recognize future impaitrfesses on our properties held for use.

We record assets held for sale at the lower ot#reying amount or estimated fair value. Fair vadfi@ssets held for sale is equal to the estimatemntracted sal
price with a potential buyer, less costs to selle Tnpairment loss is the amount by which the ¢éaggmount exceeds the estimated fair value.

We analyze our investments in unconsolidated afé for impairment. Such analysis consists ofraeténg whether an expected loss in market valuen
investment is other than a temporary by evaludtiegength of time and the extent to which the maxalue has been less than cost, the financialiton and neatermr
prospects of the investee, and our intent andtyahdi retain our investment for a period of timdfisient to allow for any anticipated recovery inarket value. As tt
factors used in this analysis are difficult to peé@dnd are subject to future events that may alterassumptions, we may be required to recognized impairment loss
on our investments in unconsolidated affiliates.

Sales of Real Estate
For sales transactions meeting the requirementfufioprofit recognition, the related assets arabilities are removed from the balance sheet aaddbultant gain
loss is recorded in the period the transactionedofor sales transactions with continuing involeetrafter the sale, if the continuing involvemerithvthe property i

limited by the terms of the sales contract, prigfitecognized at the time of sale and is reducethbymaximum exposure to loss related to the naifithe continuin
involvement. Sales to entities in which we haveeaeive an interest are accounted for using pasdiel accounting.
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For transactions that do not meet the criteriaafsale, we evaluate the nature of the continuimglvement, including put and call provisions, iepent, and accot
for the transaction as a financing arrangemenfjtpsharing arrangement, leasing arrangement or otteenate method of accounting, rather than ase &alsed on tl
nature and extent of the continuing involvemenm8dransactions may have numerous forms of comtinuivolvement. In those cases, we determine wiriethod i:
most appropriate based on the substance of theatrdon.

If we have an obligation to repurchase the propattg higher price or at a future indeterminableiegsuch as fair market value), or we guaranteergturn of th
buyer’s investment or a return on that investment foextended period, we account for such transactiam fasancing arrangement. For transactions treasefinancini
arrangements, we record the amounts received fnerbuyer as a financing obligation and continuketep the property and related accounts recordedri€onsolidate
Financial Statements. The results of operatiornth@fproperty, net of expenses other than depreniadire reflected as interest expense on the fingrabligation. If th:
transaction includes an obligation or option tourepase the asset at a higher price, additionatest is recorded to accrete the liability to tyeurchase price. For optic
or obligations to repurchase the asset at fair etar&lue at the end of each reporting period, tartze of the liability is adjusted to equal thertfturrent fair value to t
extent fair value exceeds the original financingjgattion. The corresponding debit or credit is melea to a related discount account and the revdgsmbunt is amortize
over the expected term until termination of thei@mpbr obligation. If it is unlikely such option ivbe exercised, the transaction is accounted foleu the deposit meth
or profit-sharing method. If we have an obligation or optiorrepurchase at a lower price, the transacticcedunted for as a leasing arrangement. At such dsn
repurchase obligation expires, a sale is recordddjain recognized.

If we retain an interest in the buyer and providgain rent guarantees or other forms of suppodrevithe maximum exposure to loss exceeds the waiagccount fc
such transaction as a profit-sharing arrangement.ti@gnsactions treated as profit-sharing arrangeseve record a profgharing obligation for the amount of eqt
contributed by the other partner and continue &pkibie property and related accounts recordedriiConsolidated Financial Statements. The resultgpefations of tr
property, net of expenses other than depreciatiom allocated to the other partner for its pergmtaterest and reflected as “co-venture expeiseur Consolidate
Financial Statements. In future periods, a saledéerded and profit is recognized when the remgimraximum exposure to loss is reduced below theuainof gair
deferred.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowancaifeounts that may become uncollectible in the &t@ur total receivables balance related to outoocosrs i
comprised primarily of rents and operating cosbveties as well as accrued straiihe rents receivable. We regularly evaluate theqadcy of our allowance for doubt
accounts. The evaluation primarily consists of@exng past due account balances and considerirgfaotors as the credit quality of our customestdrical trends of tt
customer and changes in customer payment termstidwhlly, with respect to customers in bankruptey, estimate the expected recovery through bangyupaims an
increase the allowance for amounts deemed uncibliectf our assumptions regarding the collectapitif accounts receivable and accrued straligletrents receivab
prove incorrect, we could experience write-off@o€ounts receivable or accrued straight-line nexdsivable in excess of our allowance for doutdftdounts.

Rental and Other Revenues

Rental revenue is recognized on a stralgig-basis over the terms of the respective lealgis. means that, with respect to a particulardeastual amounts billed
accordance with the lease during any given periag e higher or lower than the amount of rentaenere recognized for the period. Straifhe rental revenue
commenced when the customer assumes control déalsed premises. Accrued straight-line rents retdérepresents the amount by which stralgtetrental revent
exceeds rents currently billed in accordance vasé agreements. Termination fees are recognizedersue when the following four conditions are :naefully execute
lease termination agreement has been deliveredgustemer has vacated the space; the amount &ée¢hie determinable; and collectability of the ieeeasonably assurt
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Property operating cost recoveries from customss{ reimbursements”) are determined on a calepdar and a lease-gase basis. The most common type
cost reimbursements in our leases are common aegatenance (“CAM”) and real estate taxes, for whibke customer pays its prata share of operating ¢
administrative expenses and real estate taxescese)f a base year. The computation of properyadipg cost recovery income from customers is dermgnd involve
numerous judgments, including the interpretatioteofns and other customer lease provisions. Leagesot uniform in dealing with such cost reimbureats and the
are many variations in the computation. Many custanmake monthly fixed payments of CAM, real estai@s and other cost reimbursement items. We adnoom:
related to these payments each month. We makeeglyasiccrual adjustments, positive or negativegdst recovery income to adjust the recorded amawntsir bes
estimate of the final annual amounts to be billed eollected with respect to the cost reimbursemeiiter the end of the calendar year, we compath €ustomes fina
cost reimbursements and, after considering amaaitsby the customer during the year, issue aobitiredit for the appropriate amount to the custorfibe difference
between the amounts billed less previously recepadanents and the accrual adjustment are recosletteases or decreases to cost recovery incorae thie final bill:
are prepared, which occurs during the first hathef subsequent year.

Funbps FRom OPERATIONS (“FFO”)

The Company believes that FFO and FFO per sharbeareficial to management and investors and areriapt indicators of the performance of any eq&&iT.
Because FFO and FFO per share calculations exsluztefactors as depreciation and amortization afestate assets and gains or losses from satggerdting real este
assets, which can vary among owners of identicsgtasn similar conditions based on historical @stounting and useful life estimates, they fat#itcomparisons
operating performance between periods and betw#er ®EITs. Management believes that historicat emsounting for real estate assets in accordariite ®AAP
implicitly assumes that the value of real estatetssdiminishes predictably over time. Since retdte values have historically risen or fallen withrket conditions, mal
industry investors and analysts have consideregitbgentation of operating results for real estat@panies that use historical cost accounting tanbefficient on .
standalone basis. As a result, management belibe¢gthe use of FFO and FFO per share, togethdr tvé required GAAP presentations, provide a mampiete
understanding of the Compasyperformance relative to its competitors and aerinformed and appropriate basis on which to maé@sgbns involving operatin
financing and investing activities.

FFO and FFO per share are MBAAP financial measures and therefore do not regmesset income or net income per share as defiggdAAP. Net income and r
income per share as defined by GAAP are the mdsvast measures in determining the Compamyperating performance because FFO and FFO peg siwude
adjustments that investors may deem subjective) ascadding back expenses such as depreciatiomraodization. Furthermore, FFO per share does apictl the
amount that accrues directly to the stockholdbesiefit. Accordingly, FFO and FFO per share showider be considered as alternatives to net incanmetoincome pe
share as indicators of the Company’s operatingopadince.

The Company’s presentation of FFO is consistertt WEO as defined by the National Association of|IEesgate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT"\hich is calculate
as follows:

« Net income/(loss) computed in accordance with GA
« Less dividends to holders of Preferred Stock assl éxcess of Preferred Stock redemption cost @reying value;
« Less net income attributable to noncontrolling iegts;
« Plus depreciation and amortization of real estasets,;

« Less gains, or plus losses, from sales of depriec@i®rating properties (but excluding impairmersskes) and excluding items that are classifieck@aardinan
items under GAAP
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« Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated peshigs and joint ventures (to reflect funds froneigtions on the same basis); and

« Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation and &raion and gains/(losses) on sales, relatedsooditinued operations.

In calculating FFO, the Company adds back net irecattributable to noncontrolling interests in thee@ating Partnership, which the Company believesisister
with standard industry practice for REITs that @perthrough an UPREIT structure. The Company bedidhat it is important to present FFO on ac@sverted bas
since all of the Common Units not owned by the Canmypare redeemable on a one-for-one basis forsléitss Common Stock.

Other REITs may not define FFO in accordance withdurrent NAREIT definition or may interpret therent NAREIT definition differently than we do.

The Company’s FFO and FFO per share are summarizbd following table ($ in thousands, except glesire amounts):

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Per Per Per
Amount Share Amount Share Amount Share
Funds from operations:
Net income $ 61,69 $ 35,61 $ 97,09t
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteseim the Operating Partnerst (3,199 (1,577 (5,677
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteseim consolidated affiliate (11 (2,047 (679)
Dividends on preferred stot (6,70¢) (9,809 (13,477
Excess of preferred stock redemption/repurchaseovescarrying value — (108) (2,285
Net income available for common stockhold 51,77¢ $ 0.7€ 22,08 $ 0.37 74,98 $ 1.31
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a: 129,15( 1.7¢ 122,72¢ 1.9¢ 115,92: 1.8¢
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable proper (127) — (12¢€) — (3,957) (0.0€)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interastthe Operating Partnerst 3,197 — 1,57 — 5,671 —
Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a: 12,83¢ 0.1¢ 12,75: 0.2C 13,43¢ 0.21
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable proper (781 (0.01) — — (7,15¢) (0.19)
Discontinued operation
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a: 83t 0.01 2,947 0.0t 5,62¢ 0.0¢
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable proper (21,849 (0.30) (18,48f) (0.29) (34,86)) (0.57)
Release of uncertain tax liability — — — — (1,477) (0.02)
Funds from operations $ l75,04f $ 2.4% $ 143,47: $ 2.2€ $ 168,09‘ $ 2.72
Weighted average shares outstandin() (2) __ 12,01 ___ 6349 __ 6178
Q) Includes assumed conversion of all potentiallytdieiCommon Stock equivalen

2) Weighted average shares outstanding for the yemtsdeDecember 31, 2008 and 2007 have been revisedgreviously reported amounts to include ourl
number of restricted shares, as disclosed in Natetle Consolidated Financial Stateme
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The effects of potential changes in interest ratesdiscussed below. Our market risk discussioludies “forward-looking statementsihd represents an estimat:
possible changes in fair value or future earnihgs would occur assuming hypothetical future movemsnén interest rates. Actual future results mdfedimaterially fron
those presented. See “Item 7. Management's Dismussid Analysis of Financial Condition and Resaft©perations — Liguidity and Capital Resourcestl the Notes
Consolidated Financial Statements for a descripgifosur accounting policies and other informatiefated to these financial instruments.

To meet in part our long-term liquidity requiremgnive borrow funds at a combination of fixed andalde rates. Our debt consists of secured andcunse long
term financings, unsecured debt securities, loaascaedit facilities, which typically bear interest fixed rates although some loans bear interega@able rates. O
interest rate risk management objectives are td time impact of interest rate changes on earnargs cash flows and to lower our overall borrowimmgts. To achie\
these objectives, from time to time we enter imi@iiest rate hedge contracts such as collars, swaps and treasury lock agreements in order tigaé our interest rs
risk with respect to various debt instruments. Waegally do not hold or issue these derivative remts for trading or speculative purposes.

At December 31, 2009, we had $1,270 million of dixate debt outstanding. The estimated aggregateméaket value of this debt at December 31, 2083 %1,24
million. If interest rates had been 100 basis momgher, the aggregate fair market value of owgdirate debt at December 31, 2009 would have approximately $54.
million lower. If interest rates had been 100 basimts lower, the aggregate fair market valuewffixed rate debt at December 31, 2009 would Hzeen approximate
$57.7 million higher.

At December 31, 2009, we had $199.2 million of ablé rate debt outstanding. The estimated aggrdgatenarket value of this debt at December 31,20
$194.0 million. If the weighted average interesé ran this variable rate debt had been 100 basigspeigher or lower during the 12 months endededgwer 31, 2009, o
interest expense relating to this debt would ha@ehsed or increased by approximately $2.0 million

We have no outstanding hedge contracts at DeceBih@009.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See page 52 for Index to Consolidated Financiak8tants of Highwoods Properties, Inc. and Highwd®edalty Limited Partnership.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
GENERAL

The purpose of this section is to discuss our afstand procedures. The statements in this seotipresent the conclusions of Edward J. Fritsch,Gbmpanys
President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”), ahetry L. Stevens, the Company’s Senior Vice Pregided Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”).

The CEO and CFO evaluations of our controls andeqmtares include a review of the controls’ objectimed design, the controishplementation by us and the efl
of the controls on the information generated fag irssthis Annual Report. We seek to identify dat@rs, control problems or acts of fraud and caenfthat appropria
corrective action, including process improvemeistsindertaken. Our controls and procedures areesislmated on an ongoing basis by or through theving:

« activities undertaken and reports issued by emgowad third parties responsible for testing otarival control over financial reporting;

« quarterly sub-certifications by representativesrfrappropriate business and accounting functiorssipport the CEO’s and CF®évaluations of our controls &
procedures

« other personnel in our finance and accounting argéion;
« members of our internal disclosure committee; and
« members of the audit committee of the Company’'ss@0é Directors.

We do not expect that our controls and proceduitgrevent all errors and all fraud. A control $s®, no matter how well conceived and operated pcavide onl
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the ljgeaif the control system are met. Further, th&eigieof controls and procedures must reflect thot flaat there a
resource constraints, and the benefits of contraist be considered relative to their costs. Becafighe inherent limitations in all control systenmo evaluation ¢
controls can provide absolute assurance that affrabissues and instances of fraud, if any, hagenbdetected. These inherent limitations include réalities the
judgments in decisic-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can obegause of a simple error or mistake. Additionadigntrols can be circumvented by
individual acts of some persons, by collusion ob twv more people, or by management override ottmrol. The design of any system of controls asbased in ps
upon certain assumptions about the likelihood @direl events, and there can be no assurance thatesign will succeed in achieving its stated gemider all potentii
future conditions.

M ANAGEMENT 'S ANNUAL REPORT ON THE COMPANY’S INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Company is required to establish and maintaiermal control over financial reporting designedprovide reasonable assurance regarding the itiliabf
financial reporting and the preparation of finahattements for external purposes in accordante @AAP. Internal control over financial reportimgcludes thos
policies and procedures that:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that in resisle detail accurately and fairly reflect trangawt and dispositions of assets;

« provide reasonable assurance that transaction®eseded as necessary to permit preparation ofdiadstatements in accordance with GAAP, and rthegipt:
and expenditures are being made only in accordaitbeauthorizations of management and directors;

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wselisposition of assets that could have a matefiact or
the financial statement

Under the supervision of the Company’s CEO and GF©¢conducted an evaluation of the effectivenegh®iCompanys internal control over financial reporting

December 31, 2009 based on the criteria establishétternal Control —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpong Organizations of the Treadv
Commission.
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We have concluded that, at December 31, 2009, tvep@nys internal control over financial reporting waseeffve. Deloitte & Touche LLP, our indepenc
registered public accounting firm, has issued thg@station report, which is included below, oa #ifectiveness of the Compasyhternal control over financial reporti
at December 31, 2009.

MANAGEMENT 'S ANNUAL REPORT ON THE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP'S INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Operating Partnership is also required to &stalnd maintain internal control over financiaporting designed to provide reasonable assuragarding th
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with GAAP.

Under the supervision of the Company’s CEO and GF©¢onducted an evaluation of the effectivenesh®Operating Partnershépinternal control over financ
reporting at December 31, 2009 based on the aitsiablished in Internal Control #ategrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of t
Treadway Commission.

We have concluded that, at December 31, 2009, gezafing Partnership’internal control over financial reporting waseetfve. SEC rules do not require us to ok
an attestation report of Deloitte & Touche LLP be effectiveness of the Operating Partnership&rival control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited the internal control over financgdorting of Highwoods Properties, Inc. and subsiés (the "Company") as of December 31, 2009¢thas
criteria established itnternal Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatminthe Treadway Commission. The Compe
management is responsible for maintaining effecimternal control over financial reporting and fts assessment of the effectiveness of internairebaver financie
reporting, included in the accompanying ManagenseAtinual Report on The Compasyinternal Control Over Financial Reporting. Oesponsibility is to express
opinion on the Company's internal control over fiicial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staisdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@q@nited States). Those standards require tleaphar
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarahout whether effective internal control ovefinial reporting was maintained in all materialpexss. Our auc
included obtaining an understanding of internaltadrover financial reporting, assessing the risitta material weakness exists, testing and ewaduttie design ar
operating effectiveness of internal control basedhe assessed risk, and performing such otheegures as we considered necessary in the circucestaiWe believ
that our audit provides a reasonable basis foopimion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed by, or under the supenvefi the company's principal executive and ppatfinancia
officers, or persons performing similar functiomsid effected by the company's board of directomnagement, and other personnel to provide reasrmasiuranc
regarding the reliability of financial reportingcithe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with generally accestedunting principles
A company's internal control over financial repogtiincludes those policies and procedures thapétjain to the maintenance of records that, inaralsle detai
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions digpositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideveasonable assurance that transactions arelegcas necessary
permit preparation of financial statements in adaace with generally accepted accounting princjpdesl that receipts and expenditures of the compa@ypeing mac
only in accordance with authorizations of managenaen directors of the company; and (3) providesoeable assurance regarding prevention or timetgctien o
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef tbompany's assets that could have a materiak ffethe financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal tcohover financial reporting, including the posstig of collusion or improper management overridiecontrols
material misstatements due to error or fraud maybeoprevented or detected on a timely basis. ,Alsojections of any evaluation of the effectivenes$ the intern:
control over financial reporting to future periodi®e subject to the risk that the controls may bexamdequate because of changes in condition$adrtie degree
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritatate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all malerespects, effective internal control over fic&l reporting as of December 31, 2009, basedherctiteri
established innternal Control — Integrated Frameworssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdz# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated financial shatets an
financial statement schedules as of and for the geded December 31, 2009 of the Company and portrdated February 11, 2010 expressed an uncdatifpinion o
those financial statements and financial staterseimédules.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 11, 2010

a7




CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There were no changes in the Comparigternal control over financial reporting duritige fourth quarter of 2009 that materially affe¢tedare reasonably likely
materially affect, the Company’s internal contrgeofinancial reporting. There were also no chanigeke Operating Partnershipinternal control over financial report
during the fourth quarter of 2009 that materiaffgeted, or are reasonably likely to materiallyegtf, the Operating Partnership’s internal contx@rdinancial reporting.

DiscLosuRE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

SEC rules also require us to maintain disclosurgrots and procedures that are designed to ensaténformation required to be disclosed in ourwairand periodi
reports filed with the SEC is recorded, processedimarized and reported within the time periodgifipd in the SEC’s rules and forms. As definedRule 13a15(e’
under the Exchange Act, disclosure controls andgztores include, without limitation, controls amdgedures designed to ensure that information reduo be disclos¢
by us is accumulated and communicated to our manage including the Comparg’CEO and CFO, to allow timely decisions regardiaguired disclosure. T
Company’s CEO and CFO believe that the Compauysclosure controls and procedures were effectivihe end of the period covered by this Annugbdre The

Company’s CEO and CFO also believe that the Opeya®artnershifg disclosure controls and procedures were effeetitbe end of the period covered by this An
Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE
Information about the Company’s executive officarsl directors and the code of ethics that apptiethé Companyg chief executive officer and senior finan
officers, which is posted on our website, is inaogted herein by reference to the Companytoxy Statement to be filed in connection with annual meeting
stockholders to be held on May 13, 2010. See Itenm Xart | of this Annual Report for biographicalfarmation regarding the Compasyéxecutive officers. TI
Company is the sole general partner of the Opey&artnership.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information about the compensation of the Compadyactors and executive officers is incorporatecein by reference to the CompasifProxy Statement to be fil
in connection with its annual meeting of stockhodd® be held on May 13, 2010.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTER S

Information about the beneficial ownership of Conmfitock and the Company’s equity compensation pkmscorporated herein by reference to the Commny
Proxy Statement to be filed in connection withaitsual meeting of stockholders to be held on May2030.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information about certain relationships and reldtadsactions and the independence of the Compadlitgstors is incorporated herein by referencened@ompanye
Proxy Statement to be filed in connection withaitsiual meeting of stockholders to be held on Mgy2030.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information about fees paid to and services pravioye our independent registered public accountirg fs incorporated herein by reference to the Camyfs Prox)
Statement to be filed in connection with its anmaakting of stockholders to be held on May 13, 2010
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reference is made to the Index of Financial Stat¢snen page 52 for a list of the consolidated fananstatements of Highwoods Properties, Inc. amghiood:
Realty Limited Partnership included in this report.

ExHIBITS
Exhibit
Number Description
3.1 Amended and Restated Charter of the Company (@isepart of the Compa’s Current Report on Forn-K dated May 15, 200¢
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (fitedaat of the Compar’'s Current Report on Forn-K dated May 15, 200¢
4 Indenture among the Operating Partnership, the @agnpnd First Union National Bank of North Caroluf@ted as of December 1, 1996 (file:
part of the Operating Partners’'s Current Report on Forn-K dated December 2, 199
10.1 Second Restated Agreement of Limited Partnerstapeddas of January 1, 2000, of the Operating Pattipe (filed as part of the Company’
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20
10.2 Amendment No. 1, dated as of July 22, 2004, to Skeond Restated Agreement of Limited Partnershapeddas of January 1, 2000, of
Operating Partnership (filed as part of the Com’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20
10.3 2009 Lon-Term Equity Incentive Plan (filed as part of thengmny's Current Report on For8-K dated May 13, 200¢
10.4 Form of warrants to purchase Common Stock of theizmy issued to former shareholders of Associatgult@l Properties, Inc. (filed as pan
the Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 19
10.5 Credit Agreement, dated as of December 21, 200&nlyamong the Company, the Operating Partnersiuifttee Subsidiaries named therein
the Lenders named therein (filed as part of the @om’s Current Report on Forn-K dated December 21, 200
10.6 Highwoods Properties, Inc. Retirement Plan, efiecds of March 1, 2006 (filed as part of the ConygmQuarterly Report on Form 1Q-for the
quarter ended September 30, 2C
10.7 Amended and Restated Executive Supplemental Em@oygreement, dated as of April 13, 2007, betwbenCompany and Edward J. Frit
(filed as part of the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20
10.8 Amended and Restated Executive Supplemental Empoy/#greement, dated as of April 13, 2007, betwtbenCompany and Michael E. Ha
(filed as part of the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20
10.9 Amended and Restated Executive Supplemental Emgoy#greement, dated as of April 13, 2007, betwddenCompany and Terry L. Stew
(filed as part of the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20
10.10 Amended and Restated Executive Supplemental Em@oyigreement, dated as of April 13, 2007, betwidenCompany and Jeffrey D. Mil
(filed as part of the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20
121 Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Comg
12.2 Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Opegafartnershij
21 Schedule of subsidiari¢
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP for Highwoods Pedjes, Inc
23.2 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP for Highwoods Rgdlimited Partnershij
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Exhibit
Number

Description

31.1
31.2
313
31.4
32.1
32.2
32.3
324

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimm 53
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2GD2G08 54
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Yearsfkcember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2 55
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the Yearsdfiidecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2 56
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2 58
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 60
Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing 10€
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2GD2G08 10¢
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Yearse#kcember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2 10¢
Consolidated Statements of Capital for the YeardeHDecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2 11C
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2009, 2008 and z 111
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem fINIE
Schedule Il 157
Schedule Il 15¢

All other schedules are omitted because they ateapplicable or because the required informatiomaduded in our Consolidated Financial Statememtsiote:
thereto.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Highwoods Properties, Inc. and susgi (the "Company") as of December 31, 2009 63
and the related consolidated statements of incexpgty, and cash flows for each of the three y@athe period ended December 31, 2009. Our autfitsiacluded th
financial statement schedules listed in the Indextem 15. These financial statements and finanstatement schedules are the responsibility of Gbenpany'
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion the financial statements and financiakstent schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighamio(United States). Those standards require tegtlar
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout whether the financial statements are ffeeaterial misstatement. An audit includes exangnion a test bas
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurgifinancial statements. An audit also includeseasing the accounting principles used and signifiestimates ma
by management, as well as evaluating the overahfiial statement presentation. We believe thatiodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, timaricial position of Highwoods Properties, Inc. autbsidiaries ¢
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the resultiadf bperations and their cash flows for each efttiree years in the period ended December 31, 20@®nformity
with accounting principles generally accepted i thnited States of America. Also, in our opinisach financial statement schedules, when considereslation to th
basic consolidated financial statements takenvalsade, present fairly, in all material respect® thformation set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the Company's internal contuar
financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, basedthe criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Frameworssued by the Committee of Sponso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and eport dated February 11, 2010 expressed an unigdatipinion on the Company's internal control ofreancia
reporting.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 11, 2010
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31

2009 2008
Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land $ 350,53 $ 352,00!
Buildings and tenant improvemet 2,880,63: 2,815,96'
Development in proces — 61,93¢
Land held for developmel 104,14¢ 98,94¢
3,335,31 3,328,851
Less-accumulated depreciatic (781,079 (712,83)
Net real estate asse 2,554,24. 2,616,01!
For-sale residential condominiur 12,93t 24,28
Real estate and other assets, net, held fol 5,031 5,09¢
Cash and cash equivalel 23,69¢ 13,755
Restricted cas 6,841 2,25¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,810 $h@81, respectivel 21,06¢ 23,681
Notes receivable, net of allowance of $698 and $a&pectively 3,14: 3,60z
Accrued straigl-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $2,448 $2,082, respective 82,60( 79,70¢
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 66,077 67,72%
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdatad amortization of $52,129 and $52,494, respelst 73,517 72,99:
Prepaid expenses and other as 37,94, 37,04¢
Total Assets $ 2,887,10 $ 2,946,17'
Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership and Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,469,15! $ 1,604,68!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritied 117,32¢ 135,60
Financing obligation 37,70¢ 34,17:
Total Liabilities 1,624,18' 1,774,46:
Commitments and Contingenci
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr: 129,76¢ 111,27¢
Equity:
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 awtbdrshares
8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable PreferreceSi{equidation preference $1,000 per share),2®,(
shares issued and outstand 29,09: 29,09:
8.000% Series B Cumulative Redeemable PreferreteSifiiquidation preference $25 per share), 2,100,C
shares issued and outstand 52,50( 52,50(
Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdishares
71,285,303 and 63,571,705 shares issued and odlitste 71< 63€
Additional paic-in capital 1,751,39 1,616,09:
Distributions in excess of net earnir (701,93) (639,287
Accumulated other comprehensive | (3.:81)) (4.795
Total Stockholder Equity 1,127,961 1,054,24:
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia 5,18¢ 6,17¢
Total Equity 1,133,14. 1,060,42.
Total Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in ti@perating Partnership and Equ $ 2,887,10 $ 2,946,17

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Income

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of assets held for L
General and administratiy
Total operating expens
Interest expense
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligation

Other income:
Interest and other income
Gains on debt extinguishment

Income/(loss) from continuing operations before digosition of property and condominiums, insurance
settlement and equity in earnings of unconsolidatedffiliates
Gains on disposition of proper
Gains on fc-sale residential condominiur
Gain from property insurance settlem
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income from continuing operations

Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operatic
Net gains on disposition of discontinued operat
Release of uncertain tax liability

Net income
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteéseim the Operating Partnerst
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteseim consolidated affiliate
Dividends on preferred stot

Excess of preferred stock redemption/repurchaseoves carrying valu
Net income available for common stockholder

Earnings per common share- basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon stockholdel

Income from discontinued operations available funmon stockholder
Net income available for common stockhold
Weighted average Common Shares outstar— basic

Earnings per common share- diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon stockholdel

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholder
Net income available for common stockhold
Weighted average Common Shares outstan- diluted

Dividends declared and paid per common s

Net income available for common stockholders
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon stockholdel
Income from discontinued operations available funmon stockholder

Net income available for common stockhold

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
454,02( $ 450,29: $ 418,40
164,25t 161,85: 149,51
131,04 124,67 118,34:
13,51 32,84¢ 78¢
36,68: 38,04: 41,57(
345,50: 357,41 310,21
81,08: 92,85¢ 93,97t

2,76( 2,71¢ 2,41F
2,13( 2,91¢ 3,93(
86,87 98,49; 100,32(
8,26¢ 3,82t 6,38¢
1,281 — —
9,55( 3,82 6,38:
31,20: (1,790 14,25t
26€ 781 20,56:
922 5,61 —
— — 4,12¢
5,421 5,87¢ 13,11
37,81( 10,48 52,05¢
2,41¢ 6,63¢ 9,09¢
21,46¢ 18,48t 34,47
— — 1,47¢
23,88¢ 25,12 45,04(
61,69 35,61( 97,09
(3,197 (1,577 (5,679
11) (2,04) (679)
(6,709) (9,809 (13,479
— (108 (2,285)
51,77¢ $ 22,08( $ 74,98:
0.4: $ 0.09 $ 0.5¢
0.3: 0.4¢ 0.74
0.7¢ $ 0.37 $ 1.3:
67,97 59,32( 56,92¢
0.4: $ 0.09 $ 0.5¢
0.3: 0.4¢ 0.7¢
0.7¢ $ 0.37 $ 1.31
72,07¢ 59,32( 61,78:
1.7C $ 1.7C $ 1.7C
29,28 $ (1,459 $ 33,05:
22,49¢ 23,53¢ 41,93:
51,77¢ $ 22,08( $ 74,98:




Balance at December 31, 2006,
previously reported

Cumulative change from adoption of new
accounting principle (see Note

Balance at December 31, 2006, as adjust

Cumulative change from measurement of
uncertain tax liability

Issuances of Common Stock, |

Conversions of Common Units to Commor

Stock
Dividends on Common Stoc
Dividends on Preferred Sto

Adjustments to noncontrolling interests in t

Operating Partnersh

Contributions from noncontrolling interests

consolidated affiliate
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in
consolidated affiliate
Issuances of restricted stock,
Redemptions/repurchases of Preferred S
Shar-based compensation expel
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolli
interests in the Operating Partners
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolli
interests in consolidated affiliat
Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensive incor
Total comprehensive incon
Balance at December 31, 2007, as adjust
Issuances of Common Stock, |

Conversions of Common Units to Commor

Stock
Dividends on Common Stoc
Dividends on Preferred Sto

Adjustments to noncontrolling interests in t

Operating Partnersh

Contributions from noncontrolling interests

consolidated affiliate
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in
consolidated affiliate
Issuances of restricted stock,
Redemptions/repurchases of Preferred S
Shar-based compensation expel
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolli
interests in the Operating Partners
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolli
interests in consolidated affiliat
Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensive lo
Total comprehensive incon
Balance at December 31, 2008, as adjust

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Equity

(in thousands, except share amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 200

Accumulated Non- Distri-
Number Other Controlling butions
of Additional Compre- Interests in  in Excess
Common Common Series A SeriesB  Paid-In hensive  Consolidatec of Net
Shares Stock  Preferred Preferred  Capital Loss Affiliates Earnings Total
56,211,14 $ 56z $ 104,94' $ 92,50 $ 1,449,33 $ (1,515 $ — $ (538,099 $ 1,107,73.
— — — —  (116,07) — 2,871 — (113,200
56,211,14 56z 104,94! 92,50( 1,333,26! (1,515 2,871 (538,09¢) 994,53:
— — — — — — — (1,429 (1,429
692,28: 7 — — 7,06( — — — 7,067
55,83¢ 1 — — 2,16¢ — — — 2,16€
_ _ — — = — — (96,554 (96,559
— — — — — — — (13,477 (23,477
— — — — 42,60! — — — 42,60:
— — — — — — 5,651 — 5,651
— — — — — — (2,409 — (2,409
207,92¢ — — — — — — — —
— — (22,009 (40,000 2,031 — — (2,28¢) (62,25¢)
— — — 5,02¢ — — — 5,031
_ — — — — — — (5,67)) (5,670
— — — — — — 67¢ (679) —
— — — — — — — 97,09t 97,09t
_ — — _ — 577 — — 577
97,67:
57,167,19 572 82,93 52,50( 1,392,15. (93¢) 6,80¢ (561,099 972,93t
6,171,62 62 — — 209,92: — — — 209,98
66,81« 1 — — 2,021 — — — 2,022
— — — — — — — (100,269 (100,26
— — — — — — — (9,809 (9,809
— — — — 3,82¢ — — — 3,82¢
— — — — — — 62¢ — 62F
— — — — — — (3,299 — (3,299
166,07 — — — — — — — —
— — (53,84 — 1,45¢ — — (10€) (52,499
— — — 6,71¢€ — — — 6,717
— — — — — — — (1,577) (1,577
_ _ — — — — 2,041 (2,047 —
— — — — — — — 35,61( 35,61(
_ — — — — (3,859 — — 3,859
31,75¢
63,571,70. $ 63€ $ 29,09: $ 52,50 $ 1,616,09. $ (4,792 $ 6,17¢ $ (639,28) $ 1,060,42.

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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Balance at December 31, 2008, as adjust
Issuances of Common Stock, |

Conversions of Common Units to Commor

Stock
Dividends on Common Stoc
Dividends on Preferred Sto

Adjustments to noncontrolling interests in t

Operating Partnersh
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in
consolidated affiliate
Issuances of restricted stock,
Shar-based compensation expel
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolli
interests in the Operating Partners
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolli
interests in consolidated affiliat
Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensive incor
Total comprehensive incon

Balance at December 31, 20C

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Equity — Continued

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated Non- Distri-
Number Other Controlling butions
of Additional Compre- Interests in  in Excess
Common Common Series A SeriesB  Paid-In hensive  Consolidatec of Net
Shares Stock  Preferred Preferred  Capital Loss Affiliates Earnings Total
63,571,70 63€ 29,09: 52,50( 1,616,09: (4,797) 6,17¢ (639,28) 1,060,42:
7,296,811 73 — — 150,86¢ — — — 150,94:
176,04: 2 — — 5,58¢ — — — 5,591
— — — — — — — (114,429 (114,429
— — — — — — — (6,70%) (6,70%)
— — — — (27,71) — — — (27,717
— — — — — (1,009 — (1,009
240,74( — — — — — — — —
— 2 — — 6,56¢ — — — 6,567
— — — — — — — (3,197) (3,19%)
— — — — — — 11 (11) —
_ — — - — — — 61,69 61,694
_ — — _ — 981 — — 981
62,67¢
71,285,30. $ 71z $ 29,09: $ 52,500 $ 1,751,39/ $ (3814 $ 518: $ (701,934 $ 1,133,14

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Operating activities:
Net income $ 61,69 $ 35,61( $ 97,09t
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation 116,81¢ 112,29¢ 109,54¢
Amortization of lease commissions 15,06¢ 15,32: 14,31¢
Amortization of lease incentives 1,11C 1,041 962
Shar-based compensation expense 6,561 6,717 5,031
Amortization of deferred financing costs 2,76( 2,71¢ 2,41¢
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive/l@scome) (249) 181 577
Impairment of assets held for L 13,51¢ 32,84¢ 78¢
Gains on debt extinguishme (2,287 — —
Gains on disposition of property (21,739 (19,26¢€) (55,039
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur (922) (5,617 —
Gain from property insurance settlement — — (4,128
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia (5,427) (5,87¢) (13,110
Release of uncertain tax liability — — (1,429
Changes in financing obligations 392 80 454
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &fiés 4,18( 5,99/ 4,462
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 33€ (1,876 481
Prepaid expenses and other as (2,629 (352) (2,152
Accrued straigl-line rents receivabl (4,037 (5,969 (7,41%
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritiied 2,951 (16,03) 8,80¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 189,12( 157,82 161,66:
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists (151,48) (231,42) (287,49)
Net proceeds from disposition of real estate a: 77,28t 64,85¢ 144,64¢
Net proceeds from property insurance settler — — 4,94(
Net proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur 12,19¢ 27,14 —
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated aties 3,95¢ 3,21« 19,25¢
Net repayments of notes receivable 45¢ 1,62¢ 2,91¢
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliates (952) (12,747 (4,716
Changes in restricted cash and other investingities (3,289 12,98: (30,259
Net cash used in investing activiti (61,829 (134,349 (150,709
Financing activities:
Dividends on Common Stoc (114,429 (100,269 (96,559
Redemptions/repurchases of Preferred S — (52,499 (62,25€)
Dividends on Preferred Stock (6,708 (9,809 (13,477
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in the&dgating Partnershi (6,832 (6,67¢) (7,164
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates (1,009 (3,299 (2,409
Net proceeds from the issuance of Common S 150,94: 209,98: 7,067
Repurchase of Common Units from noncontrolling riesés — (3,299 (27,469
Borrowings on revolving credit facility 128,00( 462,18: 399,80(
Repayments on revolving credit facility (291,000 (526,98 (545,50()
Borrowings on mortgages and notes pay: 217,21t 192,30( 424,43
Repayments of mortgages and notes pay (188,507 (173,259 (101,970
Borrowings on financing obligations 4,18¢ — —
Payments on financing obligations (1,049 (977) (913
Contributions from noncontrolling interests in colidated affiliates — 62E 5,651
Additions to deferred financing cos (8,176) (900 (3,755
Net cash used in financing activiti (117,359 (12,867) (24,509
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis. 9,94 10,61° (13,550
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the g 13,75i 3,14( 16,69(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $ 23,69¢ $ 1375' $ 3,14(

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Continued
(in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitaliza@ludes cash distributions to owners of sold priogs accounted for
financing arrangements of $486, $1,579 and $2,a48309, 2008 and 2007, respective

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéthfincing activities:

Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges

Conversion of Common Units to Common St

Changes in accrued capital expenditures

Write-off of fully depreciated real estate assets

Write-off of fully amortized deferred financing and leagicosts

Unrealized gains/(losses) on marketable secutitéd in our no-qualified deferred compensation pl
Mark-to-market adjustment to noncontrolling interests i @perating Partnersh

Assumption of mortgages payable to acquire reatestsset

Issuance of Common Units to acquire real estakets

Unrealized gains/(losses) on tax increment finagtiond

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

85,42: $ 97,51¢ $ 88,86

Years Ended December 31

Ll e e e e o

2009 2008 2007
937 $ (1,379 $ —
5,591 $ 2,02: $ 2,16¢

(19,09 $ (7,839 $ (11,869
33,00 $§ 34,63 $ 18,34

19,19 $ 14,70t $ 9,70¢
1497 $  (217) $ (12¢)
27,717 $ (3820 $ 42,60
— 8 8,34¢ $ —
— % 6,32 $ —

29t $ (2,659 $ —




HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)
1.  DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc., together with its cdidsted subsidiaries (the “Company”), is a fulltegrated, self-administered and sei&naged equity real est
investment trust (“REIT"that operates in the Southeastern and Midwesteited)States. The Company conducts virtually alit®factivities through Highwoods Ree
Limited Partnership (the “Operating Partnership”).

The Company is the sole general partner of the &iper Partnership. At December 31, 2009, the Coypmavned all of the Preferred Units and 70.9 milliar
94.8%, of the Common Units in the Operating Pashigr Limited partners, including one officer angbtdirectors of the Company, own the remaining rBifion
Common Units. In the event the Company issues shafrd€ommon Stock, the proceeds of the issuanceariibuted to the Operating Partnership in exgeafol
additional Common Units. Generally, the Operatigtiership is required to redeem each Common Wititearequest of the holder thereof for cash etp#he value ¢
one share of the CompasyCommon Stock, $.01 par value, based on the aweratpe market price for the 10 trading days imiaiedy preceding the notice date of s
redemption, provided that the Company at its opti@y elect to acquire any such Common Units presefur redemption for cash or one share of CommntorkS The
Common Units owned by the Company are not redeemahiring 2009, the Company redeemed 176,042 Conwnits for a like number of shares of Common Stdo
June 2009, the Company issued in a public offeaipgroximately 7.0 million shares of Common Stockret proceeds of $144.1 million. The net impacthis offering
and the redemptions discussed above was to inctbas@ercentage of Common Units owned by the Comngeom 94.0% at December 31, 2008 to 94.8°
December 31, 2009.

At December 31, 2009, the Company and/or the Oipegr&tartnership wholly owned: 307 gervice office, industrial and retail propertieemprising 27.8 milliol
square feet; 96 rental residential units; 581 aofamdeveloped land suitable for future developmehwhich 490 acres are considered core holdiagsd; an addition
three office and industrial properties that arsenvice but not yet stabilized and 40 for-sale comdiums (which are owned through a consolidategipnity-owned join
venture). In addition, we owned interests (50.0%ess) in 70 irservice office and industrial properties, one affiroperty under development, 53 acres of undeee
land suitable for future development and 418 rergaldential units, which includes a 12.5% inteliest 261,000 square foot office property direailyned by th
Company and thus is included in the Company’s Clafeted Financial Statements, but not includechin®perating PartnershgpConsolidated Financial Statements.
of the 50.0% or less owned in-service office prtipsrare consolidated as more fully described belod/in Notes 3, 7 and 9 to our Consolidated FisStatements.

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepiarednformity with accounting principles generagcepted in the United States (“GAAPQur Consolidate
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2008 was revisedgdrewmously reported amounts to reflect in reahesand other assets, net, held for sale thosegiep held for sale
December 31, 2009 and the retroactive accountindjfioations described below. The Consolidated $tetets of Income for the years ended December 318 26d 200
were also revised from previously reported amotmteflect in discontinued operations the operatifur those properties sold or held for sale dugif@9 which qualifie
for discontinued operations presentation and threaetive accounting modifications described below.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per siire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued

Beginning in the first quarter of 2009, we wereuiegd to present noncontrolling interests, defiasdhe portion of equity in a subsidiary not atttéble directly c
indirectly to the parent, as a separate componeatuity in the Consolidated Balance Sheets sulieeixisting requirements for the classificatiord aneasurement
redeemable securities. Additionally, we were rezplito modify the presentation of net income byilaiting earnings and other comprehensive incometdrolling ant
noncontrolling interests. These accounting change® required to be retroactively applied for atipds presented. Below are the steps we have t&enresult
retroactively applying these changes to previousported amounts:

« We have reclassified the noncontrolling interests éamsolidated affiliates from the mezzanine sectibnoor Consolidated Balance Sheet to equity.
reclassification totaled $6.2 million, $6.8 milliamd $2.9 million at December 31, 2008, 2007 ar@b2€espectively

« We no longer deduct net income attributable to patrolling interests in consolidated affiliates ahd Operating Partnership when determining neirme As .
result, net income for the years ended Decembe2@®18 and 2007 increased $3.6 million and $6.4ionillrespectively, from the previously reported amts
The adoption of these requirements had no effectunmet income available for common stockholdersur earnings per common she

« We have adjusted noncontrolling interests in theer@ping Partnership so that the carrying value Isqiee greater of historical cost or redemptiornueaan:
continue to present it in the mezzanine sectiorowf Consolidated Balance Sheets because the noaltiogt interest holders may compel the Opere
Partnership, at their discretion, to redeem the @omUnits, as previously discussed. We record ffeebto this adjustment through additional paidzapita
since distributions are in excess of earnings. Assalt, noncontrolling interests in the Operatfaytnership at December 31, 2008 increased $43liénmfrom
the previously reported amount. Additional paideapital at December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006easmd/(decreased) by $45.6 million, $55.9 milliow
$(116.1) million, respectively, from the previousgported amount:

Beginning in the first quarter of 2009, we also eveequired to include our total number of restdc€@ommon Shares outstanding in the calculation eifjlatec
average Common Shares outstanding, basic and dliliteall periods presented. As a result, for year ended December 31, 2008, weighted average Ganghare
outstanding, basic and diluted, are 516,725 and7253shares higher than previously reported, res@be. For the year ended December 31, 2007, wetjlaverag
Common Shares outstanding, basic and diluted, 8&@2 and 234,511 shares higher than previouplyried, respectively. Basic earnings per commonesfua each ¢
the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was Bw@r than previously reported. Diluted earnipgs common share for the year ended December B8, 2@
$0.01 lower than previously reported and dilutechiees per common share for the year ended Dece8Ihe&007 was unchanged from the previously redateount.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include ther&ing Partnership, wholly owned subsidiaries tlwode subsidiaries in which we own a majority ngtinteres
with the ability to control operations of the subaties and where no substantive participatingtsigin substantive kick out rights have been gratdetie noncontrollin
interests. We consolidate partnerships, joint vegtiand limited liability companies when we contifeé major operating and financial policies of gmity throug!
majority ownership or in our capacity as generatrga or managing member. In addition, we constdidhose entities deemed to be variable interd#tesnin which wi
are determined to be the primary beneficiary. At&sber 31, 2009, we had involvement with no emtitleat we deemed to be variable interest entifiélssignificant
intercompany transactions and accounts have beaimated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesmémtaccordance with GAAP requires us to make edémand assumptions that affect the amounts ezportthe
consolidated financial statements and accompanyaes. Actual results could differ from those esties.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per siire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued
Real Estate and Related Assets

Real estate and related assets are recorded arubstated at cost less accumulated depreci&®iemovations, replacements and other expendituegsrtiprove ¢
extend the life of assets are capitalized and dégiesl over their estimated useful lives. Expendgufor ordinary maintenance and repairs are chargesxpense .
incurred. Depreciation is computed using the shialige method over the estimated useful life of 4@rgefor buildings and depreciable land infrastreettosts, 15 yee
for building improvements and five to seven yearsféirniture, fixtures and equipment. Tenant imgnments are amortized using the straigig-method over initial fixe
terms of the respective leases, which generallyrare three to 10 years.

Expenditures directly related to the developmerd aanstruction of real estate assets are includedet real estate assets and are stated at ddépdecias!
Development expenditures include menstruction costs essential to the developmemtraerties, development and construction costerést costs, real estate ta
salaries and related costs and other costs inculuedg the period of development. Interest anceottarrying costs are capitalized until the buiidis ready for it
intended use, but not later than one year fromatiess of major construction activity. We consideca@nstruction project as substantially completed ezady for it
intended use upon the completion of tenant imprarem We cease capitalization on the portion thatubstantially completed and occupied or heldlaviai foi
occupancy, and capitalize only those costs assabtisith the portion under construction.

Expenditures directly related to the leasing ofperties are included in deferred leasing costsaardstated at amortized cost. All leasing commissieaid to thir
parties for new leases or lease renewals are tapdalnternal leasing costs include primarily qguemsation, benefits and other costs, such as fegslrelated to leasi
activities, which are incurred in connection withceessfully securing leases of properties. Capédlieasing costs are amortized on a strdightbasis over the initi
fixed terms of the respective leases, which gelyeaa¢ from three to 10 years. Estimated costga@ls unsuccessful activities are expensed asreatu

We record liabilities for the performance of assdirement activities when the obligation to pemfiosuch activities is unconditional, whether or tieg timing o
method of settlement of the obligation may be comdal on a future event.

Upon the acquisition of real estate assets, wesadhe fair value of acquired tangible assets agdand, buildings and tenant improvements, intaagissets such
above and below market leases, acquireglace leases and other identified intangible assedsassumed liabilities. We assess and consigerdlae based on estima
cash flow projections that utilize discount andtapitalization rates as well as available mark&irmation. The fair value of the tangible assetswfacquired proper
considers the value of the property as if it weseant.

The above and below market rate portions of leasgsired in connection with property acquisitions gecorded in prepaid expenses and other assetsaocount
payable, accrued expenses and other liabilitiéisedt fair value. Fair value is calculated as thespnt value of the difference between (1) therectual amounts to be pi
pursuant to each in-place lease and (2) our estiiatair market lease rates for each corresponifisglace lease, using a discount rate that refleegittks associati
with the leases acquired and measured over a pegodal to the remaining term of the lease for abunaeket leases and the initial term plus the tefmny belowmarke
fixed rate renewal options for below-market lea3é® capitalized aboverarket lease values are amortized as a reductibas# rental revenue over the remaining tel
the respective leases and the accrued betanket lease values are amortized as an incredsestorental revenue over the remaining term ofdbpective leases and
below market option periods.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per siire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued

In-place leases acquired are recorded at their fhievia net real estate assets and are amortizddpgeciation and amortization expense over the irengaterm o
the respective lease. The value of in-place lesskased on our evaluation of the specific charmties of each customey’lease. Factors considered include estima
carrying costs during hypothetical expected lagseeriods, current market conditions and costsxecute similar leases. In estimating carrying ssose include re
estate taxes, insurance and other operating expanseestimates of lost rentals at market rataéagltine expected leasg periods, depending on local market conditi
In estimating costs to execute similar leases, evisider tenant improvements, leasing commissioddeal and other related expenses.

The value of a customer relationship is based anowarall relationship with the respective custonfeactors considered include the customeredit quality an
expectations of lease renewals. The value of aomest relationship is amortized to depreciation antbrtization expense over the initial term and eemewal perioc
defined in the respective leases.

Real estate and other assets are classified adil@ugassets held for use and as ldinge assets held for sale. Real estate is claskis held for sale when we beli
a sale is probable. We believe a sale is probabEnwe execute a legally enforceable contract mnst¢hat have been approved by the CompaByard, or a committ:
thereof, and the probable buyemue diligence investigation period, if any, hapieed. This determination requires us to makengsiés and assumptions, incluc
assessing the probability that potential salestations may or may not occur. Actual results califfér from those assumptions.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Investments irUnconsolidated Affiliates

With respect to assets classified as held for ifi®¥ents or changes in circumstances, such agnifisant decline in occupancy, change in our design of an ass
as a core or nooere holding or market value less than cost, intditaat the carrying value may be impaired, an impent analysis is performed. Such analysis consi
determining whether the assetarrying amount will be recovered from its undistted estimated future operating and residual flagls. These cash flows are estim:
based on a number of assumptions that are subjeconomic and market uncertainties including, agnathers, demand for space, competition for custsjmhanges
market rental rates, costs to operate each propertyexpected ownership periods. If the carryimguant of a held for use asset exceeds the surs ahdiscounted futu
operating and residual cash flows, an impairmesg le recorded for the difference between estimi@iedalue of the asset and the carrying amourd.g&herally estima
the fair value of assets held for use by usingalisted cash flow analysis. In some instances, &granformation may be available and is used idit@h to the
discounted cash flow analysis. As the factors usagknerating these cash flows are difficult todiceand are subject to future events that may alte assumptions, t
discounted and/or undiscounted future operatingrasiiual cash flows estimated by us in our impairtranalyses or those established by appraisalnoiaye achieve
and we may be required to recognize future impaitrfesses on our properties held for use.

We record assets held for sale at the lower ot#reying amount or estimated fair value. Fair vadfi@ssets held for sale is equal to the estimatemntracted sal
price with a potential buyer, less costs to selle Tnpairment loss, if any, is the amount by whiwh carrying amount exceeds the estimated fairevalu
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per siire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued

We analyze our investments in unconsolidated afé for impairment. Such analysis consists ofradetéeng whether an expected loss in market valuen
investment is other than a temporary by evaluatiegength of time and the extent to which the maualue has been less than cost, the financialiton and neaterm
prospects of the investee, and our intent andtyahdi retain our investment for a period of timdfisient to allow for any anticipated recovery inarket value. As tt
factors used in this analysis are difficult to pcé@énd are subject to future events that may alterassumptions, we may be required to recoguized impairment loss
on our investments in unconsolidated affiliates.

Sales of Real Estate

For sales transactions meeting the requirementiligorofit recognition, the related assets arabilities are removed from the balance sheet aeddbultant gain
loss is recorded in the period the transactionedo&or sales transactions with continuing involeetrafter the sale, if the continuing involvemerithwthe property i
limited by the terms of the sales contract, prigfitecognized at the time of sale and is reducethbymaximum exposure to loss related to the naifithe continuin
involvement. Sales to entities in which we haveeaeive an interest are accounted for using pasdi@l accounting.

For transactions that do not meet the criterisafsale, we evaluate the nature of the continuimgltement, including put and call provisions, iepent, and accot
for the transaction as a financing arrangemenfjtpsharing arrangement, leasing arrangement or otteenate method of accounting, rather than ase &alsed on tl
nature and extent of the continuing involvemenm8dransactions may have numerous forms of comtinuivolvement. In those cases, we determine wiriethod i:
most appropriate based on the substance of theairdon.

If we have an obligation to repurchase the propatts higher price or at a future indeterminablei@dsuch as fair market value), or we guaranteeré¢turn of th
buyer’s investment or a return on that investment foextended period, we account for such transactiam fasancing arrangement. For transactions treasefinancini
arrangements, we record the amounts received fnerbuyer as a financing obligation and continuketep the property and related accounts recordedri€onsolidate
Financial Statements. The results of operatiornth@fproperty, net of expenses other than depreniadire reflected as interest expense on the fingrobligation. If th
transaction includes an obligation or option tourepase the asset at a higher price, additionatest is recorded to accrete the liability to tyeurchase price. For optic
or obligations to repurchase the asset at fair staréllue at the end of each reporting period, #larize of the liability is adjusted to equal thertlturrent fair value to t
extent fair value exceeds the original financindjgattion. The corresponding debit or credit is meleal to a related discount account and the revdgsmbunt is amortize
over the expected term until termination of thei@mpbr obligation. If it is unlikely such option ivbe exercised, the transaction is accounted foleu the deposit meth
or profit-sharing method. If we have an obligation or optiorrepurchase at a lower price, the transacticcedunted for as a leasing arrangement. At such dsn
repurchase obligation expires, a sale is recordddjain recognized.

If we retain an interest in the buyer and provideain rent guarantees or other forms of suppogrelthe maximum exposure to loss exceeds thegaiaccount fc
such transaction as a profit-sharing arrangement.ti@gnsactions treated as profit-sharing arrangeseve record a profgharing obligation for the amount of eqt
contributed by the other partner and continue &pkibie property and related accounts recordedriiConsolidated Financial Statements. The resultgpefations of tr
property, net of expenses other than depreciatiom allocated to the other partner for its pergmtaterest and reflected as “co-venture expeiseur Consolidate
Financial Statements. In future periods, a saledsrded and profit is recognized when the remgimraximum exposure to loss is reduced below theuamaof gair
deferred.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowanceaifeounts that may become uncollectible in the &t@ur total receivables balance related to outoocosrs i
comprised primarily of rents and operating cosbveties as well as accrued straiihe rents receivable. We regularly evaluate theqadcy of our allowance for doubt
accounts. The evaluation primarily consists of@exng past due account balances and considerifgfaotors as the credit quality of our customestdrical trends of tt
customer and changes in customer payment termstidwhlly, with respect to customers in bankruptes, estimate the expected recovery through bangyugaims an
increase the allowance for amounts deemed uncibliectf our assumptions regarding the collectapitif accounts receivable and accrued straligletrents receivab
prove incorrect, we could experience write-off@o€ounts receivable or accrued straight-line nexdsivable in excess of our allowance for doutdftdounts.

Rental and Other Revenues

Rental revenue is recognized on a stralgig-basis over the terms of the respective lealegis. means that, with respect to a particulardeastual amounts billed
accordance with the lease during any given periag e higher or lower than the amount of rentaenere recognized for the period. Straifhe rental revenue
commenced when the customer assumes control dédlsed premises. Accrued straight-line rents retdérepresents the amount by which stralgtetrental revent
exceeds rents currently billed in accordance vasé agreements. Termination fees are recognizedersue when the following four conditions are :naefully execute
lease termination agreement has been delivered¢ustemer has vacated the space; the amount &éelie determinable; and collectability of the ieeeasonably assurt

Property operating cost recoveries from customerglatermined on a calendar year and leaskedse basis. The most common types of cost reiratnests in ot
leases are CAM and real estate taxes, for whicletlstéomer pays its pn@ata share of operating and administrative expeasdgeal estate taxes in excess of a base
The computation of property operating cost recowecpme from customers is complex and involves mooe judgments, including the interpretation ofrterand othe
customer lease provisions. Leases are not unifarmiealing with such cost reimbursements and thexereny variations in the computation. Many custamaaki
monthly fixed payments of CAM, real estate taxed ather cost reimbursement items. We accrue inaeta¢ed to these payments each month. We makeeglyaaitcrue
adjustments, positive or negative, to cost recowecpme to adjust the recorded amounts to our é&tinate of the final annual amounts to be billed eollected wit
respect to the cost reimbursements. After the drileocalendar year, we compute each custasrfaral cost reimbursements and, after consideaimgunts paid by tl
customer during the year, issue a bill or creditlfie appropriate amount to the customer. The rdiffees between the amounts billed less previoeslgived payments a
the accrual adjustment are recorded as increasdscoeases to cost recovery income when the fifialdve prepared, which occurs during the firdf bathe subseque
year.

Discontinued Operations

Properties that are sold or classified as heldséde are classified as discontinued operationsigiedvthat (1) the operations and cash flows ofptteperty will be
eliminated from our ongoing operations and (2) vikk ot have any significant continuing involvementthe operations of the property after it is sdfderest expense
included in discontinued operations if the reldtsah securing the sold property is to be paid ofigssumed by the buyer in connection with the $atbe property is sol
to a joint venture in which we retain an interéise property will not be accounted for as a disicwd operation due to our significant ongoing ries¢ in the operatio
through our joint venture interest. If we are ne¢al to provide property management, leasing amatteer services for the property owner after the,stile proper
generally will be accounted for as a discontinupdration because the expected cash flows relatedrtmanagement and leasing activities generallynet be significar
in comparison to the cash flows from the propertgro sale.

65




HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per siire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued
Lease Incentives

Lease incentive costs, which are payments madeda behalf of a customer as an incentive to digri¢ase, are capitalized in deferred leasing @stsamortized ¢
a straight-line basis over the respective leasageas a reduction of rental revenues.

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

We account for our investments in less than majanitned joint ventures, partnerships and limitetbility companies using the equity method of actimgnwhen ou
interests represent a general partnership intbrgssubstantive participating rights or substantiigk out rights have been granted to the limitedtpers or when o
interests do not represent a general partnerstépesst and we do not control the major operatirdyfarancial policies of the entity. These investiiseare initially recorde
at cost, as investments in unconsolidated affsiatend are subsequently adjusted for our shararafrgs and cash contributions and distributiortsthie extent our cc
basis at formation of the joint venture is differéman the basis reflected at the joint venturelethe basis difference is amortized over the difehe related assets ¢
included in our share of equity in earnings of ursmidated affiliates.

From time to time, we may contribute real estage®sto a joint venture in exchange for a comhomatif cash and an equity interest in the venturesukch instance
we assess whether we have continuing involvemetiterjoint venture and account for the transacéiocording to the nature and extent of such invokmmif the sale
price is reasonably assured and we are not reqtdredpport the operations of the property orétated obligations to an extent greater than oapgrtionate interest,
gain is recognized to the extent of the third pamiyestors interest and we account for our interest in et jventure using the equity method. If theseecidt have nc
been met, the transaction is accounted for asanding or profitsharing arrangement, leasing arrangement or ofternate method of accounting other than
completed sale.

Additionally, our joint ventures will frequently bmw funds on their own behalf to finance the asiign of, and/or leverage the return upon, thepprtes bein
acquired by the joint ventures or to build or acguadditional buildings. Such borrowings are tyfljjcan a nonrecourse or limited recourse basis. We generatiyna
liable for the debts of our joint ventures, excepthe extent of our equity investment, unless waeehdirectly guaranteed any of that debt (see Bptén most cases, \
and/or our joint venture partners are requiredgtee to customary limited exceptions on non-reeioans.

Cash Equivalents

We consider highly liquid investments with an ongji maturity of three months or less when purchasdx cash equivalents.
Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash deposits thaegadlyl restricted or held by third parties on oehdlf. It includes security deposits from salestiamts on forsale
residential condominiums, construction-related @ss; property disposition proceeds set aside arsijdated or intended to fund future tdeferred exchanges

qualifying real estate investments, escrows andrves for debt service, real estate taxes and gyopesurance established pursuant to certain ragegfinancin
arrangements, and deposits given to lenders tocunglver secured properties, if any.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued
Income Taxes

We have elected and expect to continue to quadifip &EIT under Sections 856 through 860 of thermaleRevenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).
corporate REIT is a legal entity that holds reahtesassets and, through the payment of dividemdtotkholders, is generally permitted to reducevmid the payment
federal and state income taxes at the corporaés. [€e maintain qualification as a REIT, we areuieed to pay dividends to our stockholders equattieast 90.0% of o
annual REIT taxable income, excluding capital gairsder temporary IRS regulations, for 2010 and12@stributions can be paid partially using a RElffeely-tradabls
stock so long as stockholders have the optionagiveng at least 10% of the total distribution ashb.

We conduct certain business activities throughxalitee REIT subsidiary, as permitted under the Cdde taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to fedarad stat
income taxes on its taxable income. We record pions for income taxes based on its income recegnfar financial statement purposes, including éffects o
temporary differences between such income andrtteiat recognized for tax purposes.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our custmsn At December 31, 2009, the wholly owned propertdefined as iservice properties (excluding rer
residential units) to which we have title and 106.6wnership rights (“Wholly Owned Propertiesijere leased to 1,719 customers in nine primary iggdgc location:
The geographic locations that comprise greater 1a®% of our annualized cash rental revenue aleigka NC, Tampa, FL, Atlanta, GA, Nashville, TNdaKansas Cit
MO. Our customers engage in a wide variety of lesses. No single customer of the Wholly Owned Rtigsegenerated more than 10% of our consolidaggdnue
during 2009.

We maintain our cash and cash equivalents andestrigted cash at financial or other intermediastitutions. The combined account balances at iestitution ma
exceed FDIC insurance coverage and, as a reseiflg iha concentration of credit risk related t@ants on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coeera

Derivative Financial Instruments

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, weroav funds at a combination of fixed and variatdees. Borrowings under our revolving credit fagilitonstructio
facility and bank term loans bear interest at \@eaates. Our long-term debt, which consists ofised and unsecured lotgrm financings and the issuance of unsec
debt securities, typically bears interest at fixatbs although some loans bear interest at varrabds. Our interest rate risk management objective to limit the impa
of interest rate changes on earnings and cash #odgo lower our overall borrowing costs. To achithese objectives, from time to time, we ent& interest rate hed
contracts such as collars, swaps, caps and trekmikragreements in order to mitigate our interas risk with respect to various debt instrumevts.do not hold or iss!
these derivative contracts for trading or specuggpiurposes. The interest rate on all of our véegiadte debt is generally adjusted at one or threeth intervals, subject
settlements under these interest rate hedge ctstiée also enter into treasury lock and similareagents from time to time in order to limit oupesure to an increa
in interest rates with respect to future debt a@figs.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued

Our objective in using interest rate hedge corgraetto add stability to interest expense and marag exposure to interest rate fluctuations. Tooawplish thi:
objective, we sometimes use interest rate swaps@of our interest rate risk management stratedgrest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedgelse the receij
of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty inhexge for making fixedate payments over the life of the agreements witkxchange of the underlying notio
amount. The effective portion of changes in the ¥alue of derivatives designated and that qual&ycash flow hedges is recorded in Accumulated rGZbenprehensiu
Loss and is subsequently reclassified into intezgpense in the period that the hedged forecastaddction affects earnings. We do not hold theseative contracts fi
trading or speculative purposes and generally dohage any derivatives that are not designatedeagés. Interest rate hedge contracts typicallyatord provisio
whereby if we default on any of our indebtedness cauld also be declared in default on our hedgéracts.

We are exposed to certain losses in the event pperormance by the counterparty under any outsigndedge contracts. We expect the counterpartych
generally is a major financial institution, to parh fully under any such contracts. However, if aoynterparty were to default on its obligation &nen interest ra
hedge contract, we could be required to pay tHedtés on our debt, even if such rates were irgxof the rate in the contract.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividingnumme available for common stockholders by tleéghted Common Shares outstandirmsic. Diluted earning
per share is computed by dividing net income ali&&lgo common stockholders plus noncontrollingriegs in the Operating Partnership by the weigltechmon Shar¢
outstanding — basic plus the dilutive effect ofiops$, warrants and convertible securities outstagdncluding Common Units, using the treasury lstoethod.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Beginning in the first quarter of 2010, we will keguired to perform an ongoing assessment to deterwhether each entity in which we have an equitgrest is

variable interest entity that should be consolidafequalitative factors indicate we have the coliitng interest. This accounting change is requirede retroactive!
applied for all periods presented. The adoptiothisf new requirement is not expected to have anmhtmpact on our financial statements.
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2. REAL ESTATE ASSETS
Acquisitions

In 2009, we acquired a 220,000 square foot offigiédding in Tampa, FL for a total investment of $24million, including approximately $2.4 million dfuilding
improvements and other costs related to this aitiuis In 2008, we acquired a 135,000 square fdfite building in Memphis, TN in exchange for 188/6Commo
Units and the assumption of $7.8 million of 8.1586wed debt, both of which were recorded at fdinevaf $6.3 million and $8.4 million, respectively. 2007, we mac
no significant acquisitions.

Dispositions

In 2009, we sold 517,000 square feet of wore retail and office properties for gross proceeid$78.2 million and recorded gains of $21.7 inill A 30,000 squa
foot office property disposition for $4.2 millionag accounted for as a financing arrangement asildeddn Note 7. In 2008, we sold 744,000 square feet of office
industrial properties for gross proceeds of appnately $56.8 million and recorded net gains of $1million. We also sold 38 acres of noare land for gross s¢
proceeds of $9.2 million and recorded a net gai®8 million. In 2007, we sold 1,240,000 squaret fef office and industrial properties for grossqeeds of $113
million and recorded gains of $34.7 million. Weaaold 133 acres of non-core land for gross salegeds of $37.4 million and recorded gains of $i6ilBon.

Impairments

We recorded impairment of assets held for use éocat WinstonSalem and Greensboro, NC of $13.5 million in 2009 $32.8 million in 2008. The 2009 impairm
related to 12 office properties, 11 of which werevously impaired in 2008, six industrial propesgtiand two retail properties. We recorded an impzit of $0.8 milliol
in 2007 related to one land parcel. Impairments @ase from a number of factors which are subjecthiange; accordingly, we may be required to takditiana
impairment charges in the future.

Development

We currently have two office properties and oneustdal property recently completed, but not yabgized, aggregating 501,000 square feet. We déBtabilized”
as the earlier of the original projected stabilmatdate or the date such project is at least 96%umied. The aggregate cost, including leasing cissions, of thes
properties currently is expected to be $69.2 nrillichen fully leased, of which $64.2 million had beacurred at December 31, 2009. The dollar wedlaecrage pre
leasing of these properties was approximately 48@eaember 31, 2009. The components of these giepere included in land, building and tenant iovements ar
deferred financing and leasing costs in our Codatdid Balance Sheet at December 31, 2009.
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We have retained equity interests ranging from %0t6 50.0% in various joint ventures with unrelabedestors. We account for these unconsolidatatiaaéfs usin
the equity method of accounting. As a result, theets and liabilities of these joint ventures fdricki we use the equity method of accounting areimzdtided in ou

Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates consistethe following at December 31, 2009:

Ownership

Joint Venture Location of Properties Interest

Board of Trade Investment Comps Kansas City, MC 49.00%
Kessinger/Hunter, LL( Kansas City, MC 26.50%
4600 Madison Associates, LL Kansas City, MC 12.50%
Plaza Colonnade, LL: Kansas City, MC 50.00%
Dallas County Partners |, LL Des Moines, IA 50.00%
Dallas County Partners Il, LL Des Moines, 1A 50.00%
Dallas County Partners IIl, LL: Des Moines, IA 50.00%
Fountain Thret Des Moines, 1A 50.00%
RRHWoods, LLC Des Moines, 1A 50.00%
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LL(C Atlanta, GA; Charlotte, NC; Greensboro, NC; Raleiyi; Orlando, FL 22.81%
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L Atlanta, GA; Greensboro, NC; Orlando, 42.93%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, LL! Atlanta, GA 40.00%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Land, LL Atlanta, GA 40.00%
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC Orlando, FL 40.00%
Concourse Center Associates, L Greensboro, N( 50.00%
Highwoods DLF Forum, LL(C Raleigh, NC 25.00%
HIW Development B, LLC Charlotte, NC 10.00%
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued

Combined summarized financial information for oncansolidated affiliates is as follows:

December 31

2009 2008
Balance Sheets
Assets:
Real estate assets, | $ 683,25 $ 718,97
All other assets, ne¢ 118,51 115,68t
Total Assets $ 801,77( $ 834,66!
Liabilities and Partners’ or Shareholders Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal(1) $ 594,08: $ 616,14!
All other liabilities 32,85¢ 33,54¢
Partner’ or shareholde’ equity 174,83: 184,97:
Total Liabilities and Partne’ or Shareholde’ Equity $ 801.77( $ 834,66
Our share of historical partn’ or shareholde’ equity $ 34,63, $ 37,328
Net excess of cost of investments over the net atke of underlying net ass¢_2) 19,03¢ 18,72:
Carrying value of investments in unconsolidatediafés, net of negative investment balances inetlith other liabilitie«(3) $ 53,66¢ $ 56,04«
Our share of unconsolidated r1-recourse mortgage de(1) $ 238,55! $ 246,68t
1) Our share of future principal payments, includingpatization, due on mortgages and notes payalibdeetmber 31, 2009 is as follov
2010 $ 10,34:
2011 6,29¢
2012 40,25:
2013 23,61¢
2014 61,61(
Thereafter 96,43t

All of this joint venture debt is narcourse to us except (1) in the case of custorargptions pertaining to such matters as misudarafs, environment

conditions and material misrepresentations and2yantees (see Note

2) This amount represents the aggregate differenceeleet our historical cost basis and the basis fteflieat the joint venture level, which is typicatlgpreciate

over the life of the related asset. In additionfaia acquisition, transaction and other costs nm@tybe reflected in net assets at the joint veriawel.

?3) During the third quarter of 2006, three of our Dédsines joint ventures made cash distributions aggfieg $17.0 million in connection with a debt nefincing
We received 50.0% of such distributions. As a itestithese distributions, our investment accourthise joint ventures became negative. Althougméve dek
is nonfecourse, we and our partner have guaranteed désérand have contractual obligations to supperfdmt ventures, as discussed in Note 8. We rex
the distributions as a reduction of our investmastount and included the resulting negative investrbalances of $12.4 million and $11.7 millionaiccount
payable, accrued expenses and other liabilitiesiimConsolidated Balance Sheets at December 39, &) 2008, respectivel
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Income Statements
Rental and other revenues $ 149,85¢ $ 161,59 $ 143,59:
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 72,34« 79,647 62,19«
Depreciation and amortizatic 35,531 34,70z 30,89¢
Interest expens 35,24t 36,117 34,25¢
Total expense 143,12¢ 150,46¢ 127,34¢
Income before disposition of properties 6,73( 11,127 16,24¢
Gains on disposition of properti 2,96: — 20,62
Net income $ 9,69: $ 11,127 $ 36,86¢
Our share of:
Net income(1) $ 5421 $ 587¢ $ 13,11(
Depreciation and amortization of real estate as $ 12,83¢ $ 12,75 $ 13,43¢
Interest expens $ 14,07: $ 14,58° $ 14,41F
Net gain on disposition of depreciable propet $ 58z $ — 3 7,15¢
1) Our share of net income differs from our wegghaverage ownership percentage in the joint vestmet income due to our purchase accounting and

adjustments related primarily to management argiigeees
The following summarizes additional informationateld to certain of our unconsolidated affiliates:
- Kessinger/Hunter, LLC
Kessinger/Hunter, LLC, which is managed by ourj@i@nture partner, previously provided property agagment, leasing, brokerage and certain constructiate
services to certain of our Wholly Owned ProperireKansas City, MO. These services were reducedsty only leasingelated services in 2009. Kessinger/Hunter,
received $0.5 million, $2.6 million and $3.8 millidrom us for these services in 2009, 2008 and 2@ pectively.
- Highwoods DLF 98/29, LLC (“DLF I")

At the formation of this joint venture, our partreantributed excess cash to the venture that vaishdited to us under the joint venture agreeméMesare required
repay this excess cash to our partner over timdisasissed in Note 8.

In 2009, DLF | sold a property for gross proceeti$iatl.8 million and recorded a gain of $3.4 millisie recorded $0.8 million as our proportionaterstud this gai
through equity in earnings of unconsolidated aftéds in 2009.

In 2007, DLF | sold five properties to a third pafor gross proceeds of $34.2 million and recordeghin of $9.3 million related to this sale. Weareied $2.1 millio

as our proportionate share of this gain throughtggu earnings of unconsolidated affiliates in Z0@lso, DLF | acquired Eola Park Centre, a 167,6Q0are foot offic
building in Orlando, FL, for $39.3 million and obtad a $27.7 million loan secured by the property.
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued
- Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L.P. (“DLF 1I")

In 2009, DLF Il sold one property for gross proceefl$7.1 million and recorded an impairment charb®0.5 million. We recorded $0.2 million as ouoportionat
share of this impairment charge through equityamings of unconsolidated affiliates in 2009.

- Highwoods-DLF Forum, LLC (“DLF Forum™)

In 2008, we contributed $12.3 million to this jowenture for a 25% ownership interest. The joimtuee acquired The Forum, a 635,000 square foateoffark i
Raleigh, NC, for approximately $113 million and abed a $67.5 million loan secured by the property.

- HIW -KC Orlando, LLC (“KC Orlando”)

We made certain commitments to this joint ventisediscussed in Note 8 at the time of the formatiehich reduced our gain on the partial sale. Inehent the
unused commitments expire, we record additionaigyan disposition of property as a component obrime from continuing operations due to our signiftceontinuing
involvement with the joint venture.

- HIW Development B, LLC

In 2009, we contributed $0.3 million to this joiménture for a 10% ownership interest. Simultanewitk the formation, this joint venture acquired dafor $3.
million to be used for development. This joint wanetis constructing a build-teuit office property in Charlotte, NC for which wall receive customary development fe

- Weston Lakeside, LLC

In 2007, Weston Lakeside, LLC, an unconsolidatédiis€ in which we had a 50.0% ownership interasstid 332 rental residential units located in tredeigsh, NC
metropolitan area to a third party for gross prdseef $45.0 million and paid off all of the outstiimy debt and various development related costs. jdimt ventur
recorded a gain of $11.3 million in 2007 relatedtis sale. We recorded $5.0 million as our prdpogte share through equity in earnings of uncodatgd affiliates i
2007. Our share of the gain was less than 50.0%adoer joint venture partner’s preferred returritesdeveloper. We received aggregate net disioisiof $6.2 million.

- Other Activities

We receive development, management and leasingdessrvices provided to certain of our joint wanets. These fees are recognized as income to teatet ou

respective joint venture partnerinterest in rental and other revenues. In thesyeaded December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we mzeah$2.1 million, $2.1 million ar
$2.2 million, respectively, of development, managatrand leasing fees from our unconsolidated jentures.
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued

Consolidated Affiliates
The following summarizes our consolidated affilgate
- Highwoods-Markel Associates, LLC (“Markel”)

We have a 50.0% ownership interest in Markel. Wee the manager and leasing agent for Masketoperties located in Richmond, VA and receivet@man
management and leasing fee¥Ve consolidate Markel since we are the generahpand control the major operating and financallcies of the joint venture. Tl
organizational documents of Markel require thetgrib be liquidated through the sale of its assgisn reaching December 31, 2100. As controllindresy we have ¢
obligation to cause this propertyvning entity to distribute proceeds of liquidatitnthe noncontrolling interest partner in theseiglly owned properties only if the r
proceeds received by the entity from the sale of assets warrant a distribution as determined leyafireement. We estimate the value of noncontgoiliieres
distributions would have been approximately $12iion had the entity been liquidated at Decembkr2009. This estimated settlement value is basgti®fair value ¢
the underlying properties which is based on a numob@ssumptions that are subject to economic aarkeh uncertainties including, among others, denfandpace
competition for customers, changes in market reatals and costs to operate each property. Ifritig/'ss underlying assets are worth less than the uridgrliabilities or
the date of such liquidation, we would have nogstion to remit any consideration to the noncofitrglinterest holder.

- SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP (“Harborview”)

We have a 20.0% interest in Harborview. We arentl@ager and leasing agent for Harborvieptoperty located in Tampa, FL and receive custpnmmanageme
and leasing fees. As further described in Natewe account for this joint venture as a finanadbgjgation since our partner has the right toimuinterest back to us in t
future.

- Plaza Residential, LLC (“Plaza Residential”)

In 2007, through our taxable REIT subsidiary, wetdbuted $10.6 million for a majority owned intsten Plaza Residential, which was formed to dgvelnd se
139 forsale residential condominiums constructed aboveffice tower being developed by us in Raleigh, NOZir partner has a 7.0% ownership interest in tire
venture, performed development services for thet jeénture for a market development fee, guarand®@@o of the construction financing and will reeeB5.0% of th
net profits from the joint venture once the parsnleave received distributions equal to their egpltis a 12.0% return on their equity. We consoédais joint ventur
since we own the majority interest. We have esgchatur net economic interest through the completiothis project to be approximately 86.0% at Deben81, 200
and have recorded our partner’s noncontrollingré@geaccordingly. Our estimate of our partner’snetoic ownership, which is impacted by our partegreferred retur
decreased from 25% at December 31, 2008 to 14%eerBber 31, 2009 due to changes in our assumpgtated primarily to projected timing of sales astimated n
gains.
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued

Forsale residential condominiums in our ConsolidatealaBce Sheets include completed, but unsold, comdem inventory owned by Plaza Residentia
December 31, 2009 and 2008. We initially recorctigts of deposits as other liabilities in our Cditeded Balance Sheets in accordance with the depeshod. We the
record completed sales when units close and thainémg net cash is received. We recognize forfeitfrearnest money deposits into income when edtith claim th
forfeited deposit upon legal default. During 2001 2008, we received $13.0 million and $28.6 miljicespectively, in gross revenues and recordedd®hilion anc
$23.0 million, respectively, of cost of goods séddm condominium sales activity. Net gains on $ate residential condominiums in our Consolidatéate®nents ¢
Income include gains on the sale of f@le residential condominiums and forfeitures ahest money deposits of $0.3 million and $0.6 wmillirespectively, for the ye
ended December 31, 2009. Gains on for-sale resdestindominiums in our Consolidated Statement mfome include gains on the sale of $ale residenti
condominiums and forfeitures of earnest money déepo$ $4.4 million and $1.2 million, respectivelfpr the year ended December 31, 2008. We had dlo gains ¢
forfeitures in 2007.

4. DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had deferreahding costs of $16.8 million and $14.7 million, pestively, with accumulated amortization of $4.3lion anc
$7.8 million, respectively. At December 31, 2009 @008, we had deferred leasing costs of $108.Bomiand $110.8 million, respectively, with relatadcumulate
amortization of $47.6 million and $44.7 million,spectively. Aggregate amortization expense (induttedepreciation and amortization and amortizatibrdeferre:
financing costs) for the years ended December @19,22008 and 2007 was $17.8 million, $18.0 millard $16.7 million, respectively. Aggregate amattin of leas
incentives (included in rental and other reven@i@sihe years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and a6 $1.1 million, $1.0 million and $1.0 milliorgspectively.

The following table sets forth scheduled future eimation for deferred financing and leasing cat®ecember 31, 2009:

Years Ending December 31, Amortization
2010 $ 17,46¢
2011 14,86¢
2012 12,22
2013 8,50«
2014 6,051
Thereaftel 14,40¢
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5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE
Our consolidated mortgages and notes payable ¢arigise following:

December 31

2009 2008
Secured indebtedness(1)
7.77% mortgage loan due 20 $ — $ 78,01¢
7.87% mortgage loan due 20 — 30,68t
7.05% mortgage loan due 20 188,08t 190,00(
6.03% mortgage loan due 20 130,73¢ 133,24:
5.68% mortgage loan due 20 115,95¢ 118,53!
6.88% mortgage loans due 2C 114,61( —
7.5% mortgage loan due 20 47,10¢ —
5.74% to 9.00% mortgage loans due between 2002@16(2), (3) 82,48: 83,84(
Variable rate construction loans due between 20@9281C(4) 41,74: 20,86¢
720,72° 655,18t
Unsecured indebtedness

8.125% notes due 20( — 50,00(
5.85% notes due 20:(5) 390,92¢ 398,99¢
7.50% notes due 20: 200,00t 200,00
Variable rate term loans due between 2011 and (6) 157,50( 137,50(
Revolving credit facility due 2013 and 2010, resjwety — 163,00(
748,42 949,49¢

Total $ 1,469,15 $ 1,604,68!

1) The mortgage loans payable are secured by reaé essets with an aggregate undepreciated book wélapproximately $1.2 billion at December 31, 200ul
fixed rate mortgage loans generally are eitherddciut to prepayment for all or a portion of thteirm or are prepayable subject to certain conditioaluding
prepayment penaltie

2) Includes mortgage debt related to I9WY Harborview Plaza, LP., a consolidated 20.0% ewrjoint venture, of $21.9 million and $22.3 mitlica
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. See N

?3) Includes mortgage debt related to Markel, a codatéd 50.0% owned joint venture, of $35.8 milliond&$36.6 million at December 31, 2009 and 2
respectively. See Note

4) Stated maturity date does not reflect two-year extension options related to amounts outstgnal our $70.0 million secured construction fagil
5) This amount is net of amortized original issuaniseaunt of $0.9 million and $1.0 million at Decemi34, 2009 and 2008, respective

(6) The effective interest rates are 3.90% and 1.33%un1$20.0 million and $137.5 million term loansspectively, as of December 31, 20
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5. MoRTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE - Continued

The following table sets forth the future principalyments, including amortization, due on our megis and notes payable at December 31, 2009:

Principal
Years Ending December 31, Amount
2010(2) $ 52,86(
2011 149,34«
2012 240,21
2013 242,78
2014 34,66¢
Thereafte 749,29:
@) This amount does not reflect two year extension options related to amounts outstgnaiider our $70.0 million secured constructiorilitsc

In 2009, we obtained a new $400.0 million unsecuexdlving credit facility, which replaced our preusly existing revolving credit facility. Our nesevolving credi
facility is scheduled to mature on February 21,28fd includes an accordion feature that allowsfoadditional $50.0 million of borrowing capacitybject to addition
lender commitments. Assuming we continue to haveetipublicly announced ratings from the creditngtagencies, the interest rate and facility feeeurdir revolvin
credit facility are based on the lower of the twghest publicly announced ratings. Based on ourectircredit ratings, the interest rate is LIBORspR90 basis points a
the annual facility fee is 60 basis points. We expe use our new revolving credit facility for vikamg capital purposes and for the shiatm funding of our developme
and acquisition activity and, in certain instandbs, repayment of other debt. Continuing abilityotarow under the revolving credit facility allows to quickly capitaliz
on strategic opportunities at sheerm interest rates. There were no amounts outistanohder our revolving credit facility at Deceml3dr, 2009 and February 3, 2010
December 31, 2009 and February 3, 2010, we hadriillidn and $1.6 million, respectively, of outstiing letters of credit, which reduces the avaiigbibn our revolvin
credit facility. As a result, the unused capacitpar revolving credit facility at December 31, 208nd February 3, 2010 was $398.3 and $398.4 mijltiespectively.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility,which $41.7 million was outstanding at December2D9, is initially scheduled to mature on Decenfii 201C
Assuming no defaults have occurred, we have optiomxtend the maturity date for two successiveywa periods. The interest rate is LIBOR plus 88idpoints. Ot
secured construction facility had $28.3 millionaeilability at December 31, 2009 and February0d,02

In 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 million ofl25% unsecured notes and retired the remaining.3Xfillion principal amount of a twoanched secured loan.
also obtained a $20.0 million, three-year unsecteedh loan, a $115.0 million, six and a half-yeaciged loan and a $47.3 million, seysar secured loan. We a
repurchased $8.2 million principal amount of unsedwunotes due 2017.

Debt Covenants
We are currently in compliance with all debt covetisaand requirements. Although we expect to rermagompliance with these covenants and ratios fdeast th

next year, depending upon our future operatinggoerénce, property and financing transactions antbigé economic conditions, we cannot assure youvileawill
continue to be in compliance.
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5. MoRTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE - Continued

Our revolving credit facility, $137.5 million bartkrm loan due in February 2011 and $20.0 millionkogerm loan due in March 2012 also require usotmly with
customary operating covenants and various finame@irements, including a requirement that we ma@ina ratio of total liabilities to total assetwe, as defined in ti
respective agreements, of no more than 60%. Tetstavalue depends upon the effective economidatiaption rate (after deducting capital expendig)rused 1
determine the value of our buildings. Dependingrugeneral economic conditions, the lenders havediod faith right to unilaterally increase the ¢alization rate by u
to 25 basis points once in any twelventh period. The lenders have not previously @gedcthis right. Any such increase in capitalizatiates, without a correspond
reduction in total liabilities, could make it modéficult for us to maintain a ratio of total lidhies to total asset value of no more than 60%ictvltould have an advel
effect on our ability to borrow additional fundsdan the revolving credit facility. If we were toilféo make a payment when due with respect to drguoother obligatior
with aggregate unpaid principal of $10.0 milliondasuch failure remains uncured for more than 18@dthe lenders under our credit facility couldyide notice of the
intent to accelerate all amounts due thereundeonlm event of default on the revolving credit ffacithe lenders having at least 66.7% of theltotanmitments und
the revolving credit facility can accelerate allrtmavings then outstanding, and we could be prodibfrom borrowing any further amounts under oumhéwng credi
facility, which would adversely affect our ability fund our operations.

The Operating Partnership has $390.9 million ppatiamount of 2017 bonds outstanding and $200.0Gomiprincipal amount of 2018 bonds outstandinge
indenture that governs these outstanding notesresqus to comply with customary operating covesartd various financial ratios, including a requieat that w
maintain unencumbered assets of at least 200% ofimtanding unsecured debt. The trustee or tldehoof at least 25% in principal amount of eitkeries of bonds c
accelerate the principal amount of such series wrdten notice of a default that remains uncuridreé60 days.

We may not be able to repay, refinance or extenydaarall of our debt at maturity or upon any accatien. If any refinancing is done at higher intreates, th
increased interest expense could adversely afiactash flow and ability to pay distributions. Aeyich refinancing could also impose tighter finahméios and othe
covenants that restrict our ability to take actitimst could otherwise be in our best interest, agfunding new development activity, making oppoigtic acquisition:
repurchasing our securities or paying distributions
Other Information

Total interest capitalized to development projecas $4.6 million, $8.3 million and $9.7 million fthve years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and B&kctively.
6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We terminated our last open interest rate swapeiceihber 2009. We have no outstanding interestieateatives at December 31, 2009.

The following table sets forth the fair value of quior derivative instruments:

Fair Value as of December 31

2009 2008
Liability Derivatives:
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges in othabilities:
Interest rate sway $ — $ 1,37¢
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6. DERIVATIVE  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
The following table sets forth the effect of ouioprcash flow hedges on AOCL and interest expense:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow Hedge
Amount of unrealized gain/(loss) recognized in AOClon derivatives (effective portion):
Interest rate swaps $ 937 $ (1,37¢) $ —
Amount of (gain)/loss reclassified out of AOCL into interesexpense (effective portion:
Interest rate sway $ (24 8 181 $ 571

The following table sets forth the effect of ouiopderivatives not designated as hedging instrusen interest expense:

Years Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Amount of gain/(loss) recognized in interest expeason derivative:

Interest rate sway $ — $ 18t $ (183

7. ANANCING ARRANGEMENTS
Our financing obligations consist of the following:

December 31

2009 2008
SF-HIW Harborview, LP financing obligatio $ 16,957 $ 16,60«
Tax increment financing bor 15,37 16,41¢
Repurchase obligatic 4,18¢ —
Capitalized ground lease obligati 1,191 1,152
Total $ 37,70¢ $ 34,17¢

Harborview

Our joint venture partner in Harborview has thentigp put its 80.0% equity interest in the joinntre to us in exchange for cash at any time dutiegoneyeal
period commencing September 11, 2014. The valuken80.0% equity interest will be determined attthee that our partner elects to exercise its ity if ever, base
upon the then fair market value of Harborview $R5sets and liabilities, less 3.0%, which amowat intended to cover the normal costs of a safsaetion. Because
the put option, this transaction is accounted foa &inancing transaction. Accordingly, the asd&tbilities and operations related to HarborvielaZa, the property own
by Harborview LP remain in our Consolidated Finah8tatements.
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7. FNANCING ARRANGEMENTS - Continued

As a result, we have established a financing obligaequal to the net equity contributed by theeotbartner. At the end of each reporting period,lihlance of tt
gross financing obligation is adjusted to equaldheater of the original financing obligation of25Z million or the current fair value of the puttiop discussed abo\
This financing obligation, net of payments madeto joint venture partner, is adjusted by a relateldiation allowance account, which is being araediprospective
through September 2014 as interest expense oncfiraobligation. The fair value of the put optiomsv$12.2 million and $13.9 million at December 3109 and 200
respectively. Additionally, the net income from tbperations before depreciation of Harborview Plaltacable to the 80.0% partner is recorded agesteexpense (
financing obligation. We continue to depreciate theperty and record all of the depreciation on baoks. At such time as the put option expiressootherwis
terminated, we will record the transaction as a aald recognize gain on sale.

Tax Increment Financing Bond

In connection with tax increment financing for ctostion of a public garage related to a wholly ednoffice building, we are obligated to pay fixeuoesia
assessments over a $8ar period ending in 2019. The net present vafubese assessments, discounted at 6.93% at thptime of the obligation, which represents
interest rate on the underlying bond financingeisorded as a financing obligation in our ConsaédaBalance Sheets. We receive special tax reveaneproperty te
rebates recorded in interest and other income,wdie intended, but not guaranteed, to providesuagay the special assessments. We acquirechtieglying bond in
privately negotiated transaction in the fourth gelaof 2007.

Repurchase Obligation

In connection with the disposition in the fourthaguer of 2009 of a building located in Raleigh, Ni&& buyer had a limited right to put the buildiogus in exchang
for the sales price plus certain costs if we hashhénable to satisfy a certain pakising requirement by March 1, 2010. Accordinghg assets, liabilities and operati
of the building remain in our Consolidated Finah&gatements during this contingency period. WésBadl this postlosing requirement in the first quarter of 201@
accordingly, have met the requirements to recardnapleted sale in the first quarter of 2010.

Capitalized Ground Lease Obligation

The capitalized ground lease obligation represantebligation to the lessor of land on which westarcted a building. We are obligated to make fipagments t
the lessor through October 2022 and the leasegeevor fixed price purchase options in the nimttl tenth years of the lease. We intend to exethis@urchase option
order to prevent an economic penalty related toreping the building to the lessor at the expiratifrthe lease. The net present value of the fieedal payments ai
purchase option through the ninth year was caledlat the inception of the lease using a discoat® of 7.1%. The assets and liabilities under tygtal lease a
recorded at the lower of the present value of mimmease payments or the fair value. The liabditgretes into interest expense each month foritfezehce between tl
interest rate on the financing obligation and tlked payments. The accretion will continue unt# trability equals the purchase option of the lamthe ninth year of tt
lease.

8. GOMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Ground Leases
Certain Wholly Owned Properties are subject to afieg ground leases. Rental payments on thesesleaseadjusted periodically based on either thswoer pric

index or on a preletermined schedule. Total rental property expeeserded for operating ground leases was $1.6anjli$1.4 million and $1.4 million for the ye
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respsctivel
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8. @MMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - Continued

The following table sets forth our obligations fature minimum payments on operating ground leas&ecember 31, 2009:

2010 $ 1,11C
2011 1,12¢
2012 1,15(
2013 1,171
2014 1,19¢
Thereafter 31,11«

Other Capitalized Lease Obligations

We have other capitalized lease obligations of $dilBon and $0.1 million related to office equipmewhich is included in accounts payable, accrexggenses ai
other liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Ske#tDecember 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Completion Contracts

We have approximately$6.7 million of completion contracts at December 3109. Completion contracts are defined as paysiterive made under current contr
for various construction projects, which we exgegbay in 2010.

Environmental Matters

Substantially all of our iservice and development properties have been gabjgo Phase | environmental assessments and, riaircénstances, Phase
environmental assessments. Such assessments apdaies have not revealed, nor are we aware ofeawyonmental liability that we believe would haaematerie
adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Staresa We have $0.2 million and $0.1 million reserf@ environmental matters, which is included aca@unts payabl
accrued expenses and other liabilities in our Cliststed Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 arti 286pectively.

DLF | Obligation

At the formation of DLF I, the amount our partnentributed in cash to the venture and subsequelgtyibuted to us was determined to be $7.2 millioexcess ¢
the amount required based on its ownership intamredthe agreedpon value of the real estate assets. We are eghtdgrrepay this amount over 14 years, beginnirtbe
first quarter of 1999. The $7.2 million was discmhto net present value of $3.8 million using scdunt rate of 9.62% specified in the agreementmieats of $0.
million were made in each of the years ended Deeerdb, 2009, 2008 and 2007, of which $0.2 milli@presented imputed interest expense. The balai
December 31, 2009 and 2008 is $1.6 million and $#lllon, respectively, which is included in accdsipayable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.
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8. @MMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - Continued
Guarantees and Other Obligations

All of our joint venture debt is norecourse to us except (1) in the case of custoesergptions pertaining to such matters as misufenaf, environmental conditio
and material misrepresentations and (2) those gtewsa set forth in the following table:

Maximum Accrual at
Potential December 31,
Guarantee Type Entity Location Maturity Date Obligation 2009
Indirect debi Three Fountain Des Moines 8/2019 $ 1,71¢ $ 38t
Debt RRHWoods/ DCF Des Moines 7/2014 $ 1,33¢ $ 49
Debt RRHWoods Des Moines 11/2011 $ 2,79 $ 15
Indirect debr RRHWoods Des Moines 9/2015 $ 3,112 $ 24t

At the formation of the KC Orlando joint venturee wommitted to fund certain future leasing costge Temaining commitment at December 31, 2009 af@ 2¢a:
$0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, whighincluded in accounts payable, accrued expengdsther liabilities.

Litigation, Claims and Assessments

We are from time to time a party to a variety ajdeproceedings, claims and assessments arisitigeinrdinary course of our business. We regulasbess th
liabilities and contingencies in connection witlegle matters based on the latest information aveil&or those matters where it is probable thatesee incurred or wi
incur a loss and the loss or range of loss carasonably estimated, the estimated loss is acemgdharged to income in our Consolidated Finar8t@lements. In oth
instances, because of the uncertainties relatbdttothe probable outcome and amount or rangessf Bpreasonable estimate of liability, if any,rm@trbe made. Based
the current expected outcome of such matters, nbtleese proceedings, claims or assessments istexpto have a material adverse effect on our kssinfinancic
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

9. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Beginning in the first quarter of 2009, we have ified the measurement and presentation of noncllinggonterests for all periods presented, as dbedrin Note 1.
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership

Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngrsh the accompanying Consolidated Financial $tetets relate to the ownership of Common Units brjoua
individuals and entities other than the Companyt iNeome attributable to noncontrolling intereststiie Operating Partnership is computed by applytregweighte
average percentage of Common Units not owned byCtrapany during the period, as a percent of thal tmimber of outstanding Common Units, to the Oy
Partnerships net income for the period after deducting distitns on Preferred Units. When a noncontrollinghaider redeems a Common Unit for a share of Con

Stock or cash, the noncontrolling interests in@perating Partnership are reduced and the Comgpagre in the Operating Partnership is increagdtiebfair value ¢
each redeemed security.
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9. NDNCONTROLLING INTERESTS - Continued

The following table sets forth noncontrolling irgsts in the Operating Partnership:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008

Beginning noncontrolling interests in the Operat®aytnershij $ 111,27¢ $ 119,19}
Mark-to-market adjustment to noncontrolling interests i @perating Partnersh 27,717 (3,826
Units issued to noncontrolling interests in the @giag Partnershi — 6,32¢
Conversion of Common Units to Common St (5,597 (2,029
Repurchase of Common Units from noncontrollingriesés — (3,299
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interastthe Operating Partnerst 3,197 1,577
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in the&ating Partnershi (6,835 (6.67¢

$ 129,76¢ $ 111,27¢

Total noncontrolling interests in the OperatingtRarship
The following table sets forth net income availafolecommon stockholders and transfers from nonodittg interests in the Operating Partnership:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Net income available for common stockhold $ 51,77¢ $ 22,080 $ 74,98:
Increase in additional paid in capital from conia@nsof Common Units to Common Sto 5,58¢ 2,021 2,16¢
Change from net income available for common stottiérs and transfers from noncontrolling inters $ 57,361 $ 24,100 $ 77,14¢

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Affiliates

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiligtescomponent of equity, relates to our respegtirg venture partners$30.0% interest in Markel and estimated :
economic interest in Plaza Residential. Each ofi@ut venture partners is an unrelated third party

10. DscLOSURE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inphtst we use to measure fair value, as well asfisets, noncontrolling interests in the Operatiagrership ar
liabilities that we recognize at fair value usihgse levels of inputs.

Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identicabéssr liabilities.

Our Level 1 assets are investments in marketabderisies which we use to pay benefits under our-goalified deferred compensation plan. Our Le\
noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigrsine comprised of Common Units not owned by tenBany. Our Level 1 liabilities are our obligatidospay benefit

under our deferred compensation plan.

Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sschumted prices for similar assets or liabilitiggpted prices in markets that are not active; beoinput:
that are observable or can be corroborated by walsler market data for substantially the full terhthe related assets or liabilities.
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10. DscLosURE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

Our Level 2 liability are interest rate swaps theatre outstanding at December 31, 2008 whose féirevis determined using the market standard metbggloof
netting the discounted future fixed cash receipis the discounted expected variable cash paymdiits.variable cash payments are based on the etjecof futur
interest rates (forward curves) derived from obsémnarket interest rate curves. In addition, ¢realuation adjustments are incorporated in thevalues to account f
potential nonperformance risk.

Level 3.Unobservable inputs that are supported by littla@market activity and that are significant to taie value of the assets or liabilities.

Our Level 3 assets are our tax increment finanbiwrgd that we acquired in the fourth quarter of 2@ Note 7), which is not routinely traded bubséfair value
determined using an estimate of projected redemptidue based on quoted bid/ask prices for siniteated municipal bonds, and real estate asseisdeat at fair valu
on a non-recurring basis as a result of our Dece®be2009 impairment analysis, which were valusidg independent appraisals.

Our Level 3 liability is our SFHIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation thatnot traded but whose fair value is estimatecedam a number of assumpti
that are subject to economic and market unceréainticluding, among others, demand for space, ctitiopefor tenants, changes in market rental rates costs to opere
each property.

The following tables set forth the assets and liizds that we measure at fair value on a recurbiagis by level within the fair value hierarchy. \d&termine the lev
based on the lowest level of substantive input tisetktermine fair value.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices in  Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
December 31 for Identical Observable  Unobservable
2009 Assets Inputs Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities (in prepaid and otassets $ 6,13t $ 6,13t $ — $ —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesaher asset: 16,87: — — 16,87:
Impaired real estate assets (see No 32,00( — — 32,00(
Total Assets $ 55,00¢ $ 6,13t $ — $ 48,87:
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnerstip $ 129,76¢ $ 129,76¢ $ — 3 =
Liabilities:
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, aca@xpenses and other liabilitie $ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢ $ — $ —
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligati 12,23( — — 12,23(
Total Liabilities $ 19,12¢ $ 6,89¢ $ — $ 12,23(
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10. DscLosurE ABouT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices in  Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
December 31 for Identical Observable  Unobservable
2008 Assets Inputs Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities (in prepaid and otassets $ 542: $ 542: $ — 3 —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensebsaiher asset: 17,46¢ = = 17,46¢
Total Assets $ 22,89( $ 5,422 $ — $ 17,462
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnerstip $ 111,27¢ $ 111,27¢ $ — $ —
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accxjgehses and other liabilitie $ 1,37¢ $ — 3 1,37¢ $ —
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, aca@xpenses and other liabilitie 6,52 6,52 — —
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligati 13,87¢ = = 13,87¢
Total Liabilities $ 21,777 $ 6,52: $ 1,37¢ $ 13,87¢
The following table sets forth our Level 3 asset hability:
December 31
2009 2008
Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond
Beginning balanc $ 17,46¢ $ —
Transfer into Level — 20,54:
Principal repaymer (890) (790
Unrealized gain/(loss) (in AOCL 292 (2,289
Ending balanc: $ 16,87: $ 17,46¢
Liability:
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP Financing Obligation
Beginning balanc- gross financing obligatio $ 13,87¢ $ 14,15t
Principal repayment (487) (1,579
Interest expense on financing obligat 1,807 1,757
Unrealized gair (2,48]) (459
Ending balanc- gross financing obligatio 12,71¢ 13,87¢
Valuation allowance, ne¢ 4,23¢ 2,72¢
$ 16,957 $ 16,60

Net financing obligatioi

The tax increment financing bond is carried atnested fair value in prepaid and other assets wittealized gains or losses reported in accumulatbdi
comprehensive loss. The estimated fair value aeBer 31, 2009 was $2.4 million below the outstaggiirincipal due on the bond. We currently intemtiold this bonc
which amortizes to maturity in 2020, and do notéwa that we will be required to sell this bonddyefrecovery of the bond principal. Payment ofghacipal and intere
for the bond is guaranteed by us and, thereforehawe recorded no credit losses related to the .bbhere is no legal right of offset with the liatyilrecorded as
financing obligation related to this tax increménancing bond.
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10. DscLosurE ABouT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

The SFHarborview Plaza, LP financing obligation is cadriat the greater of estimated fair value or origfirancing obligation of $12.7 million, net of thelatec
valuation allowance as described in Note 7. Theviaiue was $12.2 million and $13.9 million at Dexteer 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The following table sets forth the carrying amouentsl fair values of our financial instruments:

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

December 31, 200!

Cash and cash equivalents $ 23,69¢ $ 23,69¢
Restricted cash $ 6,841 $ 6,841
Accounts and notes receivable $ 24,21: $ 24,21
Marketable securities (in prepaid expenses and atsets $ 6,13t $ 6,13¢
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesaher asset: $ 16,87: $ 16,87
Mortgages and notes payable $ 1,469,15 $ 1,440,31
Financing obligations $ 37,70¢ $ 31,66«
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, aca@xpenses and other liabilitie $ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr: $ 129,76¢ $ 129,76
December 31, 200:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,757 $ 13,757
Restricted cash $ 2,25¢ $ 2,25¢
Accounts and notes receivable $ 27,28¢ $ 27,28¢
Marketable securities (in prepaid expenses and atsets $ 542 $ 5,42z
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesaher asset: $ 17,46¢ $ 17,46¢
Mortgages and notes payable $ 1,604,68 $ 1,330,89
Financing obligations $ 34,17: $ 32,21¢
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accjgehees and other liabilitie $ 1,37¢ $ 1,37¢
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, aca@xpenses and other liabilitie $ 6,522 $ 6,527
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr: $ 111,27¢ $ 111,27¢

The fair values of our mortgages and notes payait:financing obligations were estimated usingititeme and market approaches to approximate tle fina
would be paid in an orderly transaction betweenketgparticipants on the measurement date. Theiogrialues of our cash and cash equivalents anouate and nott
receivable are equal to or approximate fair value.

11. Buity
Common Stock Offerings

In 2009, the Company sold 7.0 million shares of @wmn Stock for net proceeds of $144.1 million. Wedua portion of the net proceeds of the offeringetire the
remaining $107.2 million principal amount of a tiwranched secured loan. The remaining net proceeds the offering were used to reduce the amouritoofowing:
outstanding under our revolving credit facility.

In 2008, the Company sold 5.5 million shares of @mm Stock for net proceeds of $195.0 million. Wedua portion of the net proceeds of the offeringefmurchas

53,845 outstanding 8.625% Series A Cumulative Redddée Preferred Shares for an aggregate purchase qfr $52.5 million. The remaining net proceedsnfrthe
offering were used to reduce the amount of borrgwioutstanding under our revolving credit facility.
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11. EuiTy - Continued

Common Stock Dividends

Dividends declared and paid per share of CommockSiggregated $1.70 for each of the years endedrblger 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

The following table sets forth the estimated takighio the common stockholders of dividends pearstfor federal income tax purposes:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Ordinary income $ 1.0¢ $ 097 $ 0.7€
Capital gains 0.6 0.2C 0.8:
Return of capita 0.01 0.5¢ 0.11
Total $ 1.7C $ 1.7C $ 1.7¢
Our tax returns have not been examined by the IRIStherefore, the taxability of dividends is subj® change.
Preferred Stock
The following table sets forth our Preferred Stock:
Annual
Number Liquidation Optional Dividends
of Shares Carrying Preference Redemption Payable
Preferred Stock Issuances Issue Date Outstanding Value Per Share Date Per Share
(in thousands)
December 31, 2009 and 200
8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeeme 2/12/1997 29 $ 29,09 $ 1,00( 2/12/2027  $ 86.2¢
8.000% Series B Cumulative Redeeme 9/25/1997 2,10 $ 52,500 $ 25 9/25/2002 $ 2.0C

The following table sets forth the estimated tabgttio the preferred stockholders of dividends gleare for federal income tax purposes:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable
Ordinary income $ 55.8¢ $ 71.2C $ 41.25
Capital gains 30.3¢ 15.0¢ 44.9¢
Total $ 86.2F $ 86.2F $ 86.2¢

8.000% Series B Cumulative Redeemabilt
Ordinary income $ 1.3C $ 165 $ 0.9¢
Capital gains 0.7C 0.3 1.04
Total $ 2.0C $ 2.0C $ 2.0C

In 2008, we repurchased 53,845 outstanding 8.628f6&<SA Preferred Shares for an aggregate purgraseof $52.5 million. In connection with this eghase, tt
$0.1 million excess of the purchase cost over tbecarrying amount of the repurchased shares wawded as a reduction to net income available tommor
stockholders in 2008.
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11. EuiTy - Continued

In 2007, we redeemed 1.6 million of our outstand®@00% Series B Preferred Shares, for an aggrgmathase price of $40.0 million. In connectionhihis
redemption, the $1.4 million excess of the redeomptiost over the net carrying amount of the redeestares was recorded as a reduction to net inemaiéable fo
common stockholders in 2007. In 2007, we also mmsed 22,008 of our outstanding 8.625% SeriesefeRed Shares for an aggregate purchase pric22o8 $nillion
In connection with this repurchase, the $0.8 millexcess of the purchase cost over the net cargyimgunt of the repurchased shares was recordedeshiction to ne
income available for common stockholders in 2007.

Warrants

Warrants to acquire Common Stock were issued ir7 B9@ 1999 in connection with property acquisitidns2009, there were no warrants exercised. [r8200,00I
warrants with an exercise price of $32.50 were@sed. In 2007, 10,000 warrants with an exerciseepof $34.13 were exercised. At December 31, 26@9¢ are 15,0(
warrants outstanding with an exercise price of $32These warrants have no expiration date.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

We have a Dividend Reinvestment and Stock PurcRése under which holders of Common Stock may efe@utomatically reinvest their dividends in adafita
shares of Common Stock and make optional cash pagrfer additional shares of Common Stock. We niagteo satisfy such obligations by issuing addigibshares «
Common Stock or instructing the plan administréopurchase Common Stock in the open market.

12. EvPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Officer, Management and Director Compensation Progams

Our officers participate in an annual nequity incentive program whereby they are eligifoleincentive cash payments based on a percenfatheio annual bas
salary. In addition to considering the pay practiog our peer group in determining each officerisentive payment percentage, the offiseability to influence ot
performance is also considered. Each officer h@sget annual noequity incentive payment percentage that ranges 26% to 130% of base salary depending o
officer’s position. The officer’'s actual incentipayment for the year is the product of the targeiual incentive payment percentage times a “perdoia factor, which
can range from zero to 200%. This performance fa¢pends upon the relationship between how vapenformance criteria compare with predeterminealgd-or a
officer who has division responsibilities, goals &®rtain performance criteria are based partlyhendivision’s actual performance relative to tatision’s establishe
goals and partly on actual total performance. Itigerpayments are accrued and expensed in theegeiaed and are generally paid in the first quarfi¢ine following year

Certain other members of management participaé® iannual norquity incentive program whereby a target annusi ¢acentive payment is established based
the job responsibilities of their position. Incertipayment eligibility ranges from 10% to 30% ohaal base salary. The actual incentive paymeneterthined by ot
overall performance and the individuaperformance during each year. These incentivepats are also accrued and expensed in the yewdeand are generally paic
the first quarter of the following year.

The following table sets forth the number of shale€ommon Stock reserved for future issuance:

December 31

2009 2008
Outstanding stock options and warrants 1,482,77. 1,504,25!
Possible future issuance under equity incentivag 3,000,001 773,53.

4,482,717 2,277,78:
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12. BPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued
At December 31, 2009, we had 128.7 million remajrshares of Common Stock authorized to be issuddrwur charter.

Our officers generally receive annual grants oflstoptions and restricted stock on or about Marcii dach year. Grants made prior to May 13, 200@weade und
the Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plaamt&subsequent to that date will be made unde2@bé LongTerm Equity Incentive Plan. Restricted stock gr
are also made annually to directors and certairaifficer employees. At December 31, 2009, there vemsaining availability of 3.0 million shares of Coron Stoc
reserved for future issuance under the 2009 LommEeuity Incentive Plan, of which no more than thillion can be in the form of restricted stock.

Additional total return-based restricted stock edformance-based restricted stock may be issudttand of the thregear periods if actual performance exce
certain levels of performance. Such additional ebaif any, would be fully vested when issued. Wik also accrue and record expense for additiomafggmancebase:
shares during the thrgear period to the extent issuance of the additishares is expected based on our current andgpedj@ctual performance. No expense is rect
for additional shares of total return-based rettdctock that may be issued at the end of the#ear period since that possibility is already retiéel in the grant date f
value.

Dividends received on restricted stock are fanfeitable and are paid at the same rate and @sdame date as on shares of Common Stock. Divigeidn forfeite
shares are expensed.

During the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008268Ad@, we recognized $6.6 million, $6.7 million a$8.2 million, respectively, of shateased compensati
expense. Because we generally do not pay incones tae do not realize tax benefits on sHzased payments. At December 31, 2009, there wésrfillion of tota
unrecognized share-based compensation costs, willdie recognized over vesting periods that haveegghted average remaining term of 1.5 years.

- Stock Options

Stock options issued prior to 2005 vest ratablyr doer years and remain outstanding for 10 yeaisckSoptions issued beginning in 2005 vest ratablyr a fouryeal
period and remain outstanding for seven years.vBhge of all options as of the date of grant icakted using the Black-Scholes optiprieing model and is amortiz
over the respective vesting or service period. fHirevalues of options granted during 2009, 2008 2607 were $1.82, $3.18 and $6.30, respectivelypption. The fa
values of the options granted were determinedeagthnt dates using the following assumptions:

2009 2008 2007
Risk free interest rai(1) 2.31% 2.61% 4.51%
Common stock dividend yiel2) 8.96% 5.71% 4.07%
Expected volatility(3) 29.9% 22.6% 18.95%
Average expected option life (yea(4) 5.7t 5.7¢ 5.7¢
Options granted 394,04 319,09: 146,34
1) Represents the interest rate on US treasury bandkthe grant date having the same life as thimattd life of the option grant
2) The dividend yield is calculated utilizing the diends paid for the previous -year period and the per share price of Common Sindke date of grar

3) Based on the historical volatility of Common Stanler a period relevant to the related stock opgiamt.

4) The average expected option life for the 2009, 20082007 grants is based on an analysis of otarttial data
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12. BPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued
The following table sets forth stock option grants:

Options Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Number of Exercise
Shares Price

Balances at December 31, 2006 2,975,07. $ 24.67
Options granted 146,34 41.8:
Options cancelled (115,22% 30.1¢
Options exercised (1,096,36 23.2¢
Balances at December 31, 2007 1,909,82. 26.4¢
Options granted 319,09: 29.4¢
Options cancelled (16,33)) 31.6¢
Options exercised (723,33) 22.9¢
Balances at December 31, 2008 1,489,25! 28.7¢
Options granted 394,04« 19.0C
Options cancelled (111,590 27.6¢
Options exercised (303,93) 24.1¢
Balances at December 31, 2((1) (2) 1467.77. $ 27.1¢
Q) The outstanding options at December 31, 2009 haeighted average remaining life of 4.4 years amdhisic value of $10.3 million
2) We have 727,243 options exercisable at Decembe2@®B with weighted average exercise price of $9%leighted average remaining life of 4.3 years

intrinsic value of $3.7 million. At December 31,08 70,577 options exercisable at December 31, P@@exercise prices higher than the market priceut
Common Stock

Cash received or receivable from options exercisad $7.4 million, $15.9 million and $12.9 milliorfthe years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optiomsercised during the years ended December 31, ZWIB and 2007 was $2.0 million, $9.6 million arzBH million
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optiooststanding at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007$48s3 million, $1.7 million and $8.0 million, resgtively. We
generally do not permit the net cash settlemeetxefcised stock options, but do permit net shatkesent so long as the shares received are helt feast one year. V
have a policy of issuing new shares to satisfykstption exercises.

- Time-Based Restricted Stock

Shares of timésased restricted stock issued to our directorsces and other employees prior to 2005 generalst 0% three years from the date of grant an
remaining 50% five years from date of grant. Shafdsne-based restricted stock that were issueaffioers and employees in 2005 vest dhied on the third anniversa
one-third on the fourth anniversary and one-thirdtoe fifth anniversary of the date of grant. Skaoé timebased restricted stock that were issued to offiesi
employees beginning in 2006 generally vest 25%henfirst, second, third and fourth anniversary slatespectively. Shares of tinbased restricted stock issuec
directors generally vest 25% on January 1 of eacessive year after the grant date. The valugaftg of timebased restricted stock is based on the market \&d
Common Stock as of the date of grant and is ansattia expense over the respective vesting or sepedods.
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12. EPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued

The following table sets forth time-based restdctéock grants:

Weighted
Average

Grant
Number of Date Fair

Shares Value
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2006 255,12( $ 27.1%
Awarded and issue(1) 205,28: 40.7¢
Vested(2) (73,947 27.3¢
Forfeited (29,959 27.6:
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2007 356,49 34.8¢
Awarded and issue(1) 92,15( 30.1:
Vested(2) (113,82) 33.1:
Forfeited (5,029 32.11
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2008 329,79! 34.21
Awarded and issue(1) 128,38 19.3¢
Vested(2) (132,779 33.3¢
Forfeited (9,326 31.2¢
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2009 316,07: $ 28.6(

1) The fair value at grant date of tirhesed restricted stock issued during the yearsdebdeember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $2.5 mil#iar8 million and $8.
million, respectively

2) The vesting date fair value of tinbased restricted stock that vested during the ymated December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $8i@m$4.8 million ant
$3.2 million, respectively

- Total Return-Based and Performance-Based Restiied Stock

During 2007, we also issued shares of restrictecksto officers that vest from zero to 200% baseduor total shareholder return in comparison taltotturns of
selected group of peer companies over a tiiese-period. The grants also contained a provialmwing for partial vesting if our annual totakwen in any given year
the three-year period exceeded 9% on an absolsie. ba

During 2009 and 2008, we issued shares of totaimdtased restricted stock to officers that will vesni zero to 250% based on (1) our absolute totatms for thi
threeyear periods ended December 31, 2010 and 2011veetatdefined target returns and (2) whether otaltreturn exceeds the average total returnsselected grot
of peer companies. The grant date fair value ol sinares of total returipased restricted stock was determined to be 53r&%4.80%, respectively, of the market valu
a share of Common Stock as of the grant date aaohdstized over the respective three-year period.

During 2008 and 2007, we also issued shares obpesahce-based restricted stock to officers thak vabt pursuant to certain performarussed criteria. Tt
performance-based criteria are based on whetheotowe meet or exceed at the end of threar performance periods certain operating anchéia goals establish
under our Strategic Plan. To the extent actualoperénce equals or exceeds threshold performands, gba portion of shares of performariz@sed restricted stock t
vest can range from 50% to 100%. If actual perforoeadoes not meet such threshold goals, none gidtfermancedased restricted stock will vest. The fair valu
performancebased restricted share grants is based on the madke of Common Stock as of the date of grantthedestimated performance to be achieved at el
the threeyear period. Such fair value is being amortizedxpense during the period from grant date to tistinvg dates, adjusting for the expected level sting that wil
occur at those dates.
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12. EPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued

The following table sets forth total return-based performance-based restricted stock grants:

Weighted
Average

Grant
Number of Date Fair

Shares Value
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2006 106,64t $ 28.5¢
Awarded and issue(1) 41,48( 41.81
Vested(2) (3,77¢) 26.8:2
Forfeited (8,876 30.97
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2007 135,47. 32.52
Awarded and issue(1) 77,87¢ 29.7¢
Vested(2) (59,89)) 26.82
Forfeited (2,116 29.2¢
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2008 151,34: 33.3¢
Awarded and issue(1) 127,59: 15.01
Vested(2) (68,929 32.6¢
Forfeited (7,232) 34.1¢
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2009 202,770 $ 22.0¢

1) The fair value at grant date of performancselaand total returbased restricted stock issued during the yearsdeDdeember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was
million, $2.3 million and $1.7 million, respectiye!

2) The vesting date fair value of performanceeldaand total returbased restricted stock that vested during the yeradled December 31, 2009, 2008 and 200"
$2.6 million, $2.4 million and $0.2 million, respaely.

Retirement Plan

In 2006, we adopted a retirement plan applicablalt@mployees, including officers, who, at the dimf retirement, have at least 30 years of contisugualifiec
service or are at least 55 years old and havest ¥ years of continuous qualified service. Sutlipadvance retirement notice and executionmafracompete agreeme
with us, eligible retirees are entitled to recedvpro rata amount of the annual incentive paymameal during the year of retirement. Stock optiand restricted sto
granted by us to such eligible retiree during hisver employment would be ndarfeitable and vest according to the terms ofrtioeiginal grants. The benefits of t
retirement plan apply only to restricted stock atack option grants beginning in 2006 and have hgsed in 25% on March 1, 2006 and 25% on eaciveasan
thereof. For employees who meet the age and seeligibility requirements, 50% of their 2007 grgnt$% of their 2008 grants and 100% of their 20€&nts wer
deemed fully vested at the grant date, which irsmdacompensation expense by approximately $0.G6omili$0.6 million and $0.3 million in the years en
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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Deferred Compensation

We have a non-qualified deferred compensation plasuant to which each officer and director cod&teto defer a portion of their base salary andfomual non
equity incentive payment (or director fees) which mvested by us in various mutual funds. We hdeeided to indefinitely suspend this option to defempensatic
earned after January 1, 2010. These investmentseeoeded at fair value which aggregated $6.1 amiliat December 31, 2009 and are included in prepginses ai
other assets, with an offsetting deferred compe@rsé#bility recorded in other liabilities. Sucleférred compensation is expensed in the periocedamy the officers ar
directors. Deferred amounts ultimately payablentdfficers and directors are based on the valukeofelated mutual fund investments. Accordinghanges in the val
of the marketable mutual fund investments are dsmbiin interest and other income and the correspgraffsetting changes in the deferred compensdiadility are
recorded in general and administration expense wesult, there is no effect on our net income sgbsnt to the time the compensation is deferredutydfunded.

The following table sets forth our deferred comios liability:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Beginning deferred compensation liability $ 6,52: $ 7,867 $ 8,682
Contributions to deferred compensation pl — 1,57« 711
Mark-to-market adjustment to deferred compensation (geaedhbdministrative expens 1,497 (2,177 (22¢)
Distributions from deferred compensation pl (1,127 (742 (1,399

Total deferred compensation liabill $ 6,89¢ $ 6,52 $ 7,861

401(k) Savings Plan

We have a 401(k) savings plan covering substaptillemployees who meet certain age and employeréetia. We contribute amounts for each partiotpat a rat
of 75% of the employee’s contribution (up to 6% exch employee’s hieekly salary and cash incentives subject to stgtulimits). During the years end
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we contribute@ idillion, $1.1 million and $1.2 million, respeatly, to the 401(k) savings plan. The assets ofdhialified plan al
not included in our Consolidated Balance Sheetsesiine assets are not owned by us. Administratipereses of the plan are paid by us.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan pursuawhitth employees generally may contribute up ta0%5.0of their base and annual nequity incentivi
compensation for the purchase of Common Stockhétend of each thramenth offering period, the contributions in eachtiggpant's account balance, which inclu
accrued dividends, is applied to acquire shareSashmon Stock at a cost that is calculated at 8500%e lower of the average closing price on thevNéork Stocl
Exchange on the five consecutive days precedindir$teday of the quarter or the five days precgdine last day of the quarter. In the years endeceBber 31, 200
2008 and 2007, the Company issued 37,287, 29,3@4.&937 shares, respectively, of Common Stock utideEmployee Stock Purchase Plan. The discoumieary
issued shares is expensed by us as additional ewaten and aggregated $0.3 million, $0.2 milliewl 0.2 million in the years ended December 3192@008 an
2007, respectively.
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13. (OMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSs

Comprehensive income represents net income plushifieges in certain amounts deferred in accumulattest comprehensive loss related to hedging siesvan
changes in fair market value of an available ale security not reflected in our Consolidatede®t@nts of Income. The components of comprehenso@ne are ¢
follows:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Net income $ 61,69. $ 35,61( $ 97,09t
Other comprehensive incorr

Unrealized gain/(loss) on tax increment financiogd 292 (2,659 —

Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hec 937 (1,376 —

Amortization of past cash flow hedg (249 181 571

Total other comprehensive income/(lo 981 (3,859 571

Total comprehensive incon $ 62,67 $ 31,75¢ $ 97,67:

Accumulated other comprehensive loss representsiceamounts deferred related to hedging activites an available fosale security. The components
accumulated other comprehensive loss are as fallows

December 31

2009 2008
Tax increment financing bond $ 2,36¢ $ 2,65¢
Cash flow hedges 1,44¢ 2,13:¢
$ 3,811 $ 4,792
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14. RENTAL AND OTHER REVENUES; RENTAL PROPERTY AND OTHER EXPENSES

Our real estate assets are leased to customers qelating leases. The minimum rental amounts withdeleases are generally subject to scheduledl fixcrease
Generally, the leases also require that the customemburse us for increases in certain costs aflog baseear costs. Rental and other revenues from comig

operations consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31

Contractual rents, net $
Straigh-line rental income, net

Amortization of lease incentives

Property operating expense recoveries, net

Lease termination fees

Fee income

Other miscellaneous operating income

2009 2008 2007
397,90 $ 38725 $  359,29°
3,54t 6,147 7,13¢
(1,100 (1,020 (939)
45,00 46,54¢ 41,26
1,81¢ 2,561 1,70
5,15¢ 5,14¢ 6,49+
1,701 3,651 3,45¢
$ 454,02 $ 450,290 $ 418,40

The following table sets forth future minimum basats to be received from customers over the nestyfears and thereafter for leases in effect atebder 31, 20(

for the Wholly Owned Properties:

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Thereafter

The following table sets forth rental property arider expenses from continuing operations:

$ 390,39:
349,92
286,33¢
228,89¢
194,19(
598,32¢

Years Ended December 31

Maintenance, cleaning and general building $
Utilities, insurance and real estate taxes
Property management and administrative expe
Other miscellaneous operating expenses

2009 2008 2007
56,87( $ 58,50¢ $ 53,05
92,46( 87,50 80,69:
11,93( 11,608 11,24
2,99t 4,23¢ 4,53(
$ 164,25 $ 161,85; $ 149,51
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15. DSCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As part of our business strategy, we from timeinetselectively dispose of namore properties. The table below sets forth theoperating results of those as:
classified as discontinued operations in our Cadatéd Financial Statements. These assets clasasigliscontinued operations comprise 2.5 milliguase feet of offict
industrial and retail properties and 13 rentaldestial units sold during 2009, 2008 and 2007. ®perations of these assets have been reclassified dur ongoin
operations to discontinued operations, and wenwillhave any significant continuing involvementhie operations after the disposal transactions.

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Rental and other revenues $ 5,28¢ $ 1557 $ 25,73¢
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen 2,031 6,01f 11,16:
Depreciation and amortizatic 83¢ 2,94; 5,528
Total operating expens 2,86¢ 8,96: 16,68¢
Interest expense — — 17
Interest and other income = 31 59
Income before gains on disposition of discontinuedperations 2,41¢ 6,63¢ 9,09(
Net gains on disposition of discontinued operations 21,46¢ 18,48t 34,477
Net income from discontinued operations before rebese of uncertaintax liability 23,88¢ 25,12« 43,56
Release of uncertain tax liabili — — 1,47¢
Total discontinued operations $ 23,88 $ 2512 $ 45,04(
Carrying value of assets held for sale and asséigisat qualified for discontinued operations dgrthe yea $ 54,68¢ $ 9259: $ 164,10t

The following table sets forth the major classeassfets and liabilities of the properties heldsle:

December 31

2009 2008
Assets:

Land $ 867 $ 867
Buildings and tenant improvemer 3,87¢ 3,87¢
Land held for developme! 1,197 1,197
Accumulated depreciatic (1,484 (1.387)
Net real estate ass¢ 4,45¢ 4,55
Deferred leasing costs, r 20¢ 22t
Accrued straight line rents receival 28¢ 27z
Prepaid expenses and other assets 77 45
Real estate and other assets, net, held for s: $ 5,031 $ 5,09¢
$ 12 $ 9

Tenant security deposits, deferred rents and adaosts(1)

(1) Included in accounts payable, accrued expensesthed liabilities.
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Beginning in the first quarter of 2009, we have ified our calculation of weighted average sharesidand diluted, to include the total number stnieted share
outstanding, as described in Note 1. The followtadge sets forth the computation of basic and edwarnings per share:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Earnings per common share- basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 37,81( $ 10,48¢ $ 52,05t
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingterests in the Operating Partnership from comtigui
operations (1,809 8 (2,563
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling interestconsolidated affiliates from continuing operasi 1y (2,047 (679
Dividends on preferred sto(1) (6,708 (9,809 (13,477
Excess of preferred stock redemption/repurchasteoves carrying valu() — (108 (2,28¢
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon stockholdel 29,28: (1,459 33,05
Income from discontinued operatic 23,88¢ 25,12« 45,04(
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intaeein the Operating Partnership from discontinuperations (1,38¢ (1,585 (3,108
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholder 22,49¢ 23,53¢ 41,93:
Net income available for common stockhold $ 5177¢ $ 22,08 $ 74,98
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common S- weighted average shar(2) 67,97 59,3 56,92¢
Earnings per common she- basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availablecommon stockholdel $ 04: $ (0.09 $ 0.5¢
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholder 0.3t 0.4C 0.74
Net income available for common stockhold $ 0.7¢ $ 037 % 13z
Earnings per common share- diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 37,81 $ 10,48¢ $ 52,05¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteéssim consolidated affiliates from continuing ogéras 1y (2,039 (679
Dividends on preferred sto(1) (6,708 (9,809 (13,47
Excess of preferred stock redemption/repurchasteoves carrying valu(i) — (108 (2,285
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availallecommon stockholders before net (income)
attributable to noncontrolling interests in the @img Partnershi 31,09: (2,459 35,61+«
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholderg) 23,88 23,53¢ 45,04(
Net income available for common stockholders befmie(income) attributable to noncontrolling intetee
in the Operating Partnerst 54,97t $ 22,08( $ 80,65¢
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common S—-weighted average shar(2) 67,97: 59,32( 56,92¢
Add:
Stock options using the treasury metl 79 — 663
Noncontrolling interests partnership ur 4,02¢ — 4,19(
Denominator for diluted earnings per Common Sheadjusted weighted average shares and assumed
conversions2) 72,07¢ 59,32( 61,78:
Earnings per common she- diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdllecommon stockholdel $ 04: $ (0.09 $ 0.5¢

Income from discontinued operations available finmon stockholder 0.3¢ 0.4C 0.7¢
Net income available for common stockhold 0.7¢ $ 0.37 $ 1.31

*

1) For additional disclosures regarding outstandirefé?red Stock, see Note 11 included her
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE - Continued

2) Options and warrants aggregating approximatelymilon, 1.4 million and 0.1 million shares weretstanding during the years ended December 31,
and 2007, respectively, but were not included endbmputation of diluted earnings per share bectngsenpact of including such shares would be dittitive tc
the earnings per share calculat.

3) Balance at December 31, 2008 includes $1.6 milibross attributable to noncontrolling intereststie Operating Partnership because we had a loss
continuing operations available for common stocéba.

17. NCOME TAXES

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include fegations of our taxable REIT subsidiary, whickugject to corporate, state and local income takes REIT, w
may also be subject to certain federal excise téxes engage in certain types of transactions.

The minimum dividend per share of Common Stock iregufor us to maintain our REIT status was $080,76 and $0.54 per share in 2009, 2008 and
respectively. Continued qualification as a REIT elegis on our ability to satisfy the dividend disttibn tests, stock ownership requirements and uarather qualificatic
tests prescribed in the Code. The tax basis ofasaets (net of accumulated tax depreciation andteaion) and liabilities was approximately $2.dlibn and $1.¢
billion, respectively, at December 31, 2009 and a@sroximately $2.4 billion and $1.7 billion, resfieely, at December 31, 2008.

Other than the liability for an uncertain tax pmsitand related accrued interest discussed belowraovision has been made for federal income tdxeisng the yeal
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 becauS»thpany qualified as a REIT, distributed the nemgsamount of taxable income and, therefore, iremino feder:
income tax expense during the periods. We recostie income tax expense in rental property aneratkpenses of $0.6 million, $0.2 million and $tilion for the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,ctasghe. The taxable REIT subsidiary has operated @umulative taxable loss through December 309261
approximately $10.8 million. In addition to the $4million deferred tax asset for these cumulataseloss carryforwards, the taxable REIT subsidasp had net deferr
tax liabilities of approximately $2.9 million comped primarily of tax versus book basis differenitesertain investments and depreciable assetshiyelde taxable REI
subsidiary. Because the future tax benefit of thaulative losses is not assured, the approximat i@ilion net deferred tax asset position of theable REIT subsidia
has been fully reserved as management does neveehat it is more likely than not that the nefeded tax asset will be realized. The tax beradfthe cumulative loss
could be recognized for financial reporting purposefuture periods to the extent the taxable R&lbsidiary generates sufficient taxable income.

On January 1, 2007, we recorded a $1.4 millionilitgbwhich included $0.2 million of accrued intest, for an uncertain tax position, with the rede¢@pense reflect:
as a reduction to the beginning balance of distidng in excess of net earnings. This liability wiasluded in accounts payable, accrued expense®ied liabilities
During the third quarter of 2007, the liability fire uncertain tax position was released, and ilecaoognized, upon the expiration of the applicabdéute of limitations.

We are subject to federal, state and local incarexaminations by tax authorities for 2006 throaga9.
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18. SGMENT INFORMATION

Our principal business is the operation, acquisigmd development of rental real estate properés.evaluate our business by product type and logra@hi
location. Each product type has different custonaers economic characteristics as to rental ratestemms, cost per square foot of buildings, theppses for whic
customers use the space, the degree of mainteaadceustomer support required and customer depeypdendifferent economic drivers, among others. dperatin
results by geographic grouping are also regulaWewed by our chief operating decision maker &messing performance and other purposes. Thermarmaterial inter
segment transactions.

The accounting policies of the segments are theesasrthose described in Note 1. All operationswatiein the United States and, at December 31, 2609%ingl¢
customer of the Wholly Owned Properties generatecerthan 10% of our consolidated revenues durif@®20

The following table summarizes the rental income ather revenues and net operating income, theapyinmdustry propertyevel performance metric which
defined as rental and other revenues less rerdpeply and other expenses, for each reportable exggm

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Rental and Other Revenues(1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 48,707 $ 47,06¢ $ 43,54¢
Greenville, SC 14,01 13,98: 13,54
Kansas City, MO 14,84( 15,35( 14,33
Memphis, TN 30,64« 25,85 24,21
Nashville, TN 60,55¢ 60,19¢ 50,24¢
Orlando, FL 11,81( 11,40: 8,787
Piedmont Triad, NC 25,357 25,77: 26,81t
Raleigh, NC 73,08( 70,26¢ 63,87(
Richmond, VA 46,62( 47,97+ 45,12«
Tampa, FL 67,29¢ 65,857 61,51¢
Total Office Segment 392,92: 383,71 351,99:
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 15,61: 15,72: 15,95(
Piedmont Triad, NC 14,10: 14,76 13,68¢
Total Industrial Segment 29,71« 30,48 29,63¢
Retail:
Kansas City, MO 29,99¢ 34,63¢ 35,38¢
Piedmont Triad, NC 18t 221 21¢
Raleigh, NC 12C 36 —
Total Retail Segment 30,30¢ 34,89! 35,60¢
Residential
Kansas City, MO 1,08¢ 1,20z 1,17¢
Total Residential Segment 1,08¢ 1,20z 1,174
Total Rental and Other Revenues $ 45402t $  450,29: $§ 418,40
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18. BGMENT INFORMATION - Continued

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Net Operating Income: (1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 30,74¢ $ 28,827 $ 28,39¢
Greenville, SC 8,70 8,80¢ 8,36:
Kansas City, MO 9,06¢ 9,24t 8,37¢
Memphis, TN 17,69: 15,14: 13,63(
Nashville, TN 39,05¢ 39,63¢ 32,14¢
Orlando, FL 6,26¢ 6,30: 4,44¢
Piedmont Triad, NC 16,45¢ 16,06¢ 17,09¢
Raleigh, NC 49,18¢ 46,15( 41,23¢
Richmond, VA 32,01« 32,21« 30,83
Tampa, FL 40,07¢ 39,33t 36,63
Total Office Segment 249,26! 241,72( 221,15¢
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 11,60¢ 11,91« 12,46
Piedmont Triad, NC 10,67¢ 11,46t 10,67¢
Total Industrial Segment 22,28: 23,37¢ 23,141
Retail:
Atlanta, GA(2) (212) (26) 39
Kansas City, MO 18,17( 22,56¢ 23,95(
Piedmont Triad, NC 12 177 191
Raleigh, NC2) 9 (60) (88)
Total Retail Segment 18,17( 22,65¢ 24,01¢
Residential
Kansas City, MO 581 71t 65¢
Raleigh, NC(2) (527 (34 (85
Total Residential Segment 54 681 574
Total Net Operating Income 289,77: 288,43¢ 268,89.
Reconciliation to income from continuing operationsbefore disposition of property and condominiums,risurance
settlement and equity in earnings of unconsolidatedffiliates:
Depreciation and amortization (131,049 (124,67 (118,34)
Impairment of assets held for use (13,519 (32,84¢) (789)
General and administrative expel (36,687) (38,049 (41,570
Interest expense (86,872) (98,497 (100,32()
Interest and other income 9,55( 3,82¢ 6,38¢
Income/(loss) from continuing operations beforgdsition of property and condominiums, insuranddesaent and equit )
in earnings of unconsolidated affiliai $ 31,200 $ (1,799 $ 14,25
1) Net of discontinued operatior
) Negative NOI with no corresponding revenues repissexpensed real estate taxes and other carrgistg associated with land held for development it

currently zoned for the respective product ty
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18. SBGMENT INFORMATION - Continued

December 31

2009 2008 2007
Total Assets:
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 275,46: $ 277,47: $ 276,28:
Baltimore, MD 1,781 1,79¢ 10,15¢
Greenville, SC 78,56 83,55¢ 87,66:
Kansas City, MO 85,68: 87,95¢ 104,07¢
Memphis, TN 220,72: 187,31¢ 134,96:
Nashville, TN 338,12: 348,06¢ 349,35:
Orlando, FL 48,82 50,85z 51,36:
Piedmont Triad, NC 141,97: 148,51: 182,47(
Raleigh, NC 464,72 469,44 442,43:
Richmond, VA 249,88: 257,22: 259,70
Tampa, FL 393,81. 379,14t 389,40°
Total Office Segment 2,299,55! 2,291,33! 2,287,86!
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 136,57( 137,51( 124,75¢
Kansas City, MO — 12z 152
Piedmont Triad, NC 92,30( 100,42¢ 108,23
Total Industrial Segment 228,87( 238,06: 233,14t
Retail:
Atlanta, GA 1,044 1,07( 97¢
Kansas City, MO 175,75 224,60: 230,55t
Piedmont Triad, NC 1,08z 10,42 7,96(
Raleigh, NC 6,04¢ 4,452 3,22%
Total Retail Segment 183,93: 240,54¢ 242,71¢
Residential
Kansas City, MO 6,12¢ 6,471 6,834
Orlando, FL 2,143 2,143 2,145
Raleigh, NC 16,29 28,69¢ 18,03:
Total Residential Segment 24,56 37,31¢ 27,01¢
Corporate 150,17 138,90¢ 136,20¢
Total Assets $ 2,887,10 $ 2,946,17' $ 2,926,95‘
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19. QARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA ( Unaudited )

The following tables set forth quarterly financiaformation for the years ended December 31, 200@ 2008 and have been adjusted to reflect disaoed
operations:

Year Ended December 31, 200

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Rental and other revenu() $ 113,35¢ $ 112,85 $ 114,14 $ 113,66¢ $ 454,02t
Income/(loss) from continuing operatio(1) (3) 12,08¢ 15,13¢ 12,71 (2,125 37,81(
Income/(loss) from discontinued operati(3) 1,112 21,93¢ (13g 97z 23,88¢
Net income/(loss 13,20( 37,074 12,57 (1,159 61,69
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in the Operatil
Partnershif (694) (2,054 (591) 142 (3,197
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in consolidate
affiliates (18) (11€) (249) 147 (12)
Dividends on preferred stock (1,677 (1,677) (1,677) (1,677) (6,70¢)
Net income/(loss) available for common stockholt $ 1081 $ 33,227 $ 10,287 $ (2,541 $ 51,77¢
Earnings per share-basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon
stockholder: $ 0.1t $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1t $ (0.0%) $ 0.4
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholder 0.0z 0.31 = 0.01 0.3¢
Net income/(loss) available for common stockholt $ 017 $ 05C $ 0.1 § (0.04 $ 0.7¢
Earnings per share-diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon
stockholder: $ 0.1t $ 0.1¢ $ 014 $ (0.0%) $ 0.4
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholder 0.0z 0.31 = 0.01 0.3¢
Net income/(loss) available for common stockholt $ 017 $ 05C $ 0.14 $ (0.04 $ 0.7¢
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19. QARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA ( Unaudited )
Year Ended December 31, 200
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Rental and other revenu() $ 110,83 $ 112,37. $ 112,70¢ $ 114,37 $ 450,29:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatia(2) (3) 11,22¢ 9,061 11,027 (20,82%) 10,48¢
Income from discontinued operatia(3) 5,50¢ 6,952 4,697 7,96 25,12
Net income/(loss 16,73 16,01 15,72« (12,86)) 35,61(
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in the Operati
Partnershiy (897 (839) (812) 967 (1,577)
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intéeeis consolidated
affiliates (29¢) (197) (207) (1,45)) (2,04))
Dividends on preferred stot (2,83¢) (2,83¢) (2,457) (1,677) (9,809
Excess of preferred stock redemption/ repurchaseasr carrying
value — — (108 = (109
Net income/(loss) available for common stockholc $ 12.80¢ $ 12,14 $ 12,15: $ (15,024 $ 22,08(
Earnings per share-basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon
stockholder $ 0.1 $ 0.1C $ 0.1: $ (0.3¢) $ (0.09)
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholder 0.0¢ 0.11 0.0¢ 0.17 0.4C
Net income/(loss) available for common stockholt $ 0.2z $ 021 $ 021 $ (0.24 $ 0.37
Earnings per share-diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon
stockholder $ 0.1 $ 0.1C $ 0.1: $ (0.3¢) $ (0.09)
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholder 0.0¢ 0.11 0.0¢ 0.1Z 0.4C
Net income/(loss) available for common stockholt $ 0.2z $ 021 $ 021 $ (0.24 $ 0.37
1) Loss from continuing operations for the fourth deaof 2009 includes a $13.5 million impairmentassets held for use as described in No
2) Loss from continuing operations for the fourth deaof 2008 includes a $32.8 million impairmentassets held for use as described in No
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19. QARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA ( Unaudited ) — Continued

3) The amounts presented for the first three tgusiare not equal to the same amounts previoagigrted in Form 1@ for each period as a result of discontir
operations (see Note 15). Below is the reconaiiatd the amounts previously reported in Forr-Q:

Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30
2009 2009 2009

Rental and other revenues, as repa $ 115,96¢ $ 113,31( $ 114,22¢
Discontinued operatior (2,607 (45€) (85)

Rental and other revenues, as adju $ 113,35¢ $ 112,85: $ 114,14
Income from continuing operations, as repo $ 13,127 $ 15,35 $ 12,71¢
Discontinued operatior (1,039 (214 (7

Income from continuing operations, as adjus $ 12,08¢ $ 15,13¢ $ 12,71:
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, as meypk $ 73 % 21,72¢ $ (14%)
Additional discontinued operations from propersietd subsequent to the respective reporting pe 1,03¢ 214 7

Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, asstdjl 111 3 2193t $ (13§

Quarter Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30 December 31
2008 2008 2008 2008

Rental and other revenues, as repo $ 113,42¢ $ 112,82¢ $ 112,75 $ 117,10:
Discontinued operatior (2,595 (455 (49 (2,72¢)

Rental and other revenues, as adju $ 110,83 $ 112,370 $ 112,70t $ 114,37¢
Income/(loss) from continuing operations, as rem(a) $ 12,33¢ $ 9,241 $ 10,98t $ (19,737)
Discontinued operatior (1,115 (180 42 (1,099

Income/(loss) from continuing operations, as adjt $ 11.22¢ $ 9,061 $ 11,027 $ (20,82¢
Income from discontinued operations, as repc(a) $ 4,39 $ 6,77: $ 4,73¢ $ 6,392
Additional discontinued operations from propersesd subsequent to the

respective reporting peric 1,11Z 18C (42 1,57¢

Income from discontinued operations, as adju $ 5,50¢ $ 6,95: $ 4691 $ 7,96i

() Income from continuing and discontinued operatiass reported, for the quarter ended December 3B 2@&re net of income attributable to noncontrg

interests of $0.1 million and $0.4 million, respeely.
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20. QHER EVENTS
Property Insurance Settlement

In 2005, one of our office properties located intbeastern Florida sustained damage in a hurridameng the first quarter of 2007, we recorded al$aillion gair
for the non-monetary conversion upon finalizatiéthe insurance claim.

Subsequent Events

We have evaluated events subsequent to Decemb2039,through February 11, 2010 (date of filing) purposes of our measurement and disclosure ige
Consolidated Financial Statements.

On February 3, 2010, the Board of Directors dedlaeash dividend of $0.425 per share of CommonkSpayable on March 9, 2010 to stockholders of @y
February 15, 2010, a cash dividend of $21.5625spare of 8.625% Series A Preferred Shares payabMasch 1, 2010 to stockholders of record on Felyrd&, 201/
and a cash dividend of $0.50 per share of 8.0008€<SB Preferred Shares payable on March 15, 20%€btkholders of record on March 1, 2010.

The buyers right to put a building to us that was dispos&thdhe fourth quarter of 2009 expired in Janua@10. This property was accounted for as a finag
arrangement at December 31, 2009 (see Note 7).rdicgy, we recognized a completed sale of the erigpin the first quarter of 2010.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of the General Partner of
Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnershig subsidiaries (the "Operating Partnership") ¢
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related coasedi statements of income, capital, and cash flomsach of the three years in the period endeceBer 31, 200¢
Our audits also included the financial statemehedales listed in the Index at Item 15. Thesenfie statements and financial statement scheduteshe responsibili
of the Operating Partnership's management. Oporesbility is to express an opinion on the finahsitatements and financial statement schedulesitmasour audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafiogUnited States). Those standards requirentbgilar
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout whether the financial statements are freeaterial misstatement. The Operating Partnershipt required 1
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audtsofiernal control over financial reporting. Qaudits included consideration of internal contre¢iofinancial reportin
as a basis for designing audit procedures thagjpeopriate in the circumstances, but not for theppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveréshe Operatir
Partnership's internal control over financial remg. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. dmit also includes examining, on a test basisleee supporting tl
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemestsessing the accounting principles used andfisatt estimates made by management, as well akiaing th:
overall financial statement presentation. We belignat our audits provide a reasonable basisupppinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetegresent fairly, in all material respects, thmuficial position of Highwoods Realty Limited Patship an
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008thencksults of their operations and their cash dléov each of the three years in the period endezkbber 31, 2009,
conformity with accounting principles generally epted in the United States of America. Also, im opinion, such financial statement schedules, wtwrsidered i
relation to the basic consolidated financial staets taken as a whole, present fairly in all mategspects the information set forth therein.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 11, 2010
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
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(in thousands, except unit and per unit data)

December 31

2009 2008
Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land $ 350,53 $ 352,00!
Buildings and tenant improvemet 2,880,63: 2,815,96'
Development in proce: — 61,93¢
Land held for developme 104,14t 98,94¢
3,335,31 3,328,85!
Les=accumulated depreciatic (781,07 (712,83)
Net real estate asse 2,554,24. 2,616,01!
For-sale residential condominiur 12,93¢ 24,28¢
Real estate and other assets, net, held fol 5,031 5,09¢
Cash and cash equivalel 23,51¢ 13,64¢
Restricted cas 6,841 2,25¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,810 $h@81, respectivel 21,06¢ 23,681
Notes receivable, net of allowance of $698 and $aA&pectively 3,14: 3,60z
Accrued straigl-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $2,448 $2,082, respective 82,60( 79,70¢
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 64,89¢ 66,517
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdatad amortization of $52,129 and $52,494, respelst 73,517 72,99:
Prepaid expenses and other as 37,941 37,04¢
Total Assets $ 2,885,733 $ 2,944,85
Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnership Unitsand Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,469,15' $ 1,604,68!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritied 117,33: 135,60t
Financing obligation 37,70¢ 34,174
Total Liabilities 1,624,19: 1,774,46!
Commitments and Contingenci
Redeemable Operating Partnership Ut
Common Units, 3,891,121 and 4,067,163 outstandaspectively 129,76¢ 111,27¢
Series A Preferred Units (liquidation preferenced®0 per unit), 29,092 shares issued and outstgl 29,09: 29,09:
Series B Preferred Units (liquidation preferencs $2r unit), 2,100,000 shares issued and outstai 52,50( 52,50(
Total Redeemable Operating Partnership L 211,36: 192,87(
Equity:
Common Units
General partner Common Units, 747,676 and 672,8@dtanding, respective 10,48¢ 9,75¢
Limited partner Common Units, 70,128,818 and 62,396 outstanding, respective 1,038,32 966,37¢
Accumulated other comprehensive Ii (3,81)) (4,799
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia 5,18: 6,17¢
Total Equity 1,050,18! 977,52:
Total Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnerdlmits and Equity $ 2,885,731 $ 2,944,85

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Consolidated Statements of Income

(in thousands, except per unit amounts)

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of assets held for L
General and administratiy
Total operating expens
Interest expense
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligation

Other income:
Interest and other incon

Gains on debt extinguishmer

Income/(loss) from continuing operations before digosition of property and condominiums and

equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Gains on disposition of proper
Gains on fo-sale residential condominiur
Gain from property insurance settlem
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operatic
Net gains on disposition of discontinued operations

Net income
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteees consolidated affiliate
Distributions on preferred uni
Excess of preferred unit redemption/repurchasemgest carrying valu
Net income available for common unitholders
Earnings per common unit- basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdiolecommon unitholder

Income from discontinued operations available fanmon unitholder
Net income available for common unithold
Weighted average common units outstan« basic

Earnings per common unit- diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdlolecommon unitholder
Income from discontinued operations available finmon unitholder
Net income available for common unithold
Weighted average common units outstan« diluted

Distributions declared and paid per common

Net income available for common unitholders
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdlolecommon unitholder
Income from discontinued operations available finmon unitholder

Net income available for common unithold

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.

109

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
454,02¢ $ 450,29 $ 418,40
163,72 161,70: 149,03
131,04 124,67 118,34:
13,51 32,84¢ 78¢
37,20¢ 38,18: 41,93(
345,50: 357,40t 310,00t
81,08: 92,85¢ 93,89

2,76( 2,71¢ 2,41F
2,13( 2,91¢ 3,93(
86,87 98,49. 100,23
8,26¢ 3,75¢ 6,372
1,281 — —
9,55( 3,75¢ 6,37:
31,20: (1,850) 14,44¢
26€ 781 20,41¢
922 5,611 —
— — 4,12¢
5,367 5,811 12,32
37,75¢ 10,35¢ 51,31«
2,41¢ 6,63¢ 9,10¢
21,46¢ 18,48t 34,47
23,88¢ 25,12 43,58:
61,64( 35,48 94,89t
11) (2,049 (679)
(6,709) (9,809 (13,479
— (108) (2,285)
5402. $ 23,53( $ 78,45¢
0.4z $ 0.09 $ 0.57
0.34 0.4¢ 0.72
0.71 $ 037 $ 1.2¢
71,59: 62,88: 60,71(
04z $ 0.09 $ 0.57
0.34 0.4¢ 0.71
0.71 $ 0.37 $ 1.2¢
71,67( 62,88. 61,37¢
1.7C $ 1.7¢C $ 1.7¢
31,037 $ (1,599 $ 34,87:
23,88¢ 25,12 43,58:
54,92. $ 2353( $ 78,45¢




HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

Consolidated Statements of Capital

(in thousands, except unit amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 200

Balance at December 31, 2006, as previously repodt
Cumulative change from adoption of new accountinggiple (see Note 1)
Balance at December 31, 2006, as adjust
Issuances of Common Un
Redemptions of Common Uni
Distributions paid on Common Uni
Distributions paid on Preferred Un
Shar-based compensation expel
Contributions from noncontrolling interests in colidated affiliates
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in condated affiliates
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair vaoe
contributions/distributions from/to the General tRar
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteseim consolidated affiliate
Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensive incor
Total comprehensive income
Balance at December 31, 2007, as adjust
Issuances of Common Un
Redemptions of Common Uni
Distributions paid on Common Uni
Distributions paid on Preferred Un
Shar-based compensation expel
Contributions from noncontrolling interests in colidated affiliates
Distribution to noncontrolling interests in conslalied affiliates
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair vaoe
contributions/distributions from/to the General tRar
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteseim consolidated affiliate
Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensive lo
Total comprehensive income
Balance at December 31, 2008, as adjust
Issuances of Common Un
Distributions paid on Common Uni
Distributions paid on Preferred Un
Shar-based compensation expel
Distribution to noncontrolling interests in conslalted affiliates
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair vaoe
contributions/distributions from/to the General tRar
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteseim consolidated affiliate
Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensive incor
Total comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 20C

Common Units Accum )
Other Noncontrolling
General Limited Compre- Interests in Total
Partners’ Partners’ hensive Consolidated Partners’
Capital Capital Loss Affiliates Capital
$ 7,89 $ 781,45! $ (1,515 $ — $ 787,83:
— — — 2,87 2,87
7,89: 781,45! (1,515 2,871 790,71(
71 6,99¢ — — 7,067
(275) (27,199 = — (27,46%)
(1,030) (101,997 — — (103,02Y)
(139 (13,349 = — (13,477
50 4,981 — — 5,031
— — — 5,651 5,651
— — — (2,409 (2,409
78¢ 78,04( — — 78,82¢
(7) (672) — 67¢ —
94¢ 93,94¢ — — 94,89¢
_ — 577 — 577
95,47:
8,30¢ 822,21 (93¢) 6,80% 836,38
2,167 214,14 — — 216,30¢
(33) (3,260 = — (3,299
(1,06%) (105,199 — — (106,267
(98) (9,70¢) — — (9,809
67 6,65( — — 6,71
— — — 62F 62F
— — — (3,299 (3,299
84 8,42: — — 8,501
(20 (2,02)) — 2,041 —
354 35,12¢ — — 35,48:
— = (3,859 — 3,854
31,62¢
9,75¢ 966,37¢ (4,792) 6,17¢€ 977,52:
1,50¢ 149,43 — — 150,94:
(1,206 (119,36() = — (120,56)
(67) (6,641 — — (6,708
66 6,501 — 6,567
— — — (1,002 (1,004
(192) (18,995 — — (19,18)
— (11) — 11 —
61€ 61,02: — — 61,64(
_ — 981 — 981
62,62
$ 10,48t $ 1,038,321 $ (3,811 $ 518 $ 1,050,18!

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Operating activities:
Net income $ 61,64( $ 35,48: $ 94,89¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation 116,81¢ 112,29¢ 109,53¢
Amortization of lease commissions 15,06¢ 15,32: 14,31¢
Amortization of lease incentives 1,11C 1,041 962
Shar-based compensation expense 6,561 6,717 5,031
Amortization of deferred financing costs 2,76( 2,71¢ 2,41¢
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive/l@scome) (249) 181 577
Impairment of assets held for L 13,51¢ 32,84¢ 78¢
Gains on debt extinguishme (2,287 — —
Gains on disposition of property (21,739 (19,26¢€) (54,89
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur (922) (5,617 —
Gain from property insurance settlement — — (4,128
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia (5,367 (5,817 (12,327
Changes in financing obligations 392 80 454
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &fés 4,10t 5,97¢ 4,271
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 33€ (1,876 481
Prepaid expenses and other as (2,629 (352) (2,14%)
Accrued straigl-line rents receivabl (4,039 (5,969) (7,41¢)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and othesiitiied 2,96: (15,999 8,70¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 189,04t 157,78: 161,52¢
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists (151,48) (231,42} (287,49)
Net proceeds from disposition of real estate a: 77,28t 64,85¢ 143,58t¢
Net proceeds from property insurance settler — — 4,94(
Net proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur 12,19¢ 27,14 —
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated aties 3,95¢ 3,21« 19,16¢
Net repayments of notes receivable 45¢ 1,62¢ 2,91¢
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliates (952) (12,747 (4,716
Changes in restricted cash and other investingitie (3,289 12,98¢ (30,259
Net cash used in investing activiti (61,829 (134,34) (151,85%
Financing activities:
Distributions on Common Uni (120,56¢) (106,26:) (103,02))
Redemptions/repurchases of Preferred S — (52,499 (62,25€)
Dividends on Preferred Units (6,70¢) (9,809 (23,477
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in condated affiliates (1,009 (3,299 (2,404
Net proceeds from the issuance of Common L 150,94: 209,98« 7,067
Redemptions of Common Units — (3,299 (27,469
Borrowings on revolving credit facility 128,00( 462,18 393,80(
Repayments on revolving credit facility (291,000 (526,98)) (527,50()
Borrowings on mortgages and notes pay:. 217,21! 192,30( 429,78t
Repayments of mortgages and notes pay (188,507 (173,259 (118,46
Borrowings on financing obligations 4,18¢ — —
Payments on financing obligations (1,044 977 (919
Contributions from noncontrolling interests in colidated affiliates — 62& 5,651
Additions to deferred financing costs and otheariicing activities (8,87 (1,656 (3,169
Net cash used in financing activiti (117,359 (12,939 (22,36
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis. 9,87( 10,50¢ (12,69¢)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the g 13,64¢ 3,144 15,83¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $ 2351¢ $ 1364¢ $ 3,14/

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Continued
(in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitaligedludes cash distributions to owners of sold prtes accounted for
financing arrangements of $486, $1,579 and $2,a448309, 2008 and 2007, respective

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges

Conversion of Common Units to Common St

Changes in accrued capital expenditures

Write-off of fully depreciated real estate assets

Write-off of fully amortized deferred financing and leagicosts

Unrealized gains/(losses) on marketable secutitds in our no-qualified deferred compensation pl
Assumption of mortgages payable to acquire reatestsset

Issuance of Common Units to acquire real estaiets

Unrealized gains/(losses) on tax increment finajpéiond

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

85,42: $ 97,51¢ $ 88,86

Years Ended December 31

R R R ]

2009 2008 2007
937 $ (1370 $ —
5591 $ 2,02: $ 2,16¢

(19,099 $ (783) $ (11,869
33,006 $  34,63. $ 18,34

19,19 $ 14,70t $ 9,70¢
1,497 $ (2177 $ (128)
— 3 8,34¢ $ —
— 3 6,32t $ —

29t $ (2,659 $ —




HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uih data)
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership, together withconsolidated subsidiaries (the “Operating fRagthip”),is managed by its sole general partner, Highw
Properties, Inc. (the “Company”), a fully-integrateself-administered and self-managed equity retdte investment trust (“REITthat operates in the Southeastern
Midwestern United States. The Company conductsalist all of its activities through the Operatingrihership.

At December 31, 2009, the Company owned all of Rheferred Units and 70.9 million, or 94.8%, of Bemmon Units in the Operating Partnership. Lim
partners, including one officer and two directofshe Company, own the remaining 3.9 million Comntdmits. In the event the Company issues shareoofrion Stoct
the proceeds of the issuance are contributed t@gerating Partnership in exchange for additionam@on Units. Generally, the Operating Partnersiipeguired t
redeem each Common Unit at the request of the htideeof for cash equal to the value of one siarie Companys Common Stock, $.01 par value, based o
average of the market price for the 10 trading daysediately preceding the notice date of suchmgat®n, provided that the Company at its option rabsct to acquit
any such Common Units presented for redemptiorcdsh or one share of Common Stock. The Common Wniteed by the Company are not redeemable. Duri@g,
the Company redeemed 176,042 Common Units forearlikmber of shares of Common Stock. In June 20@9Cbmpany issued in a public offering approxinyatel
million shares of Common Stock for net proceed$f4.1 million. The net impact of this offering atie redemptions discussed above was to increageeticentage
Common Units owned by the Company from 94.0% atebézer 31, 2008 to 94.8% at December 31, 2009.

At December 31, 2009, the Company and/or the Oipegr&tartnership wholly owned: 307 gervice office, industrial and retail propertieemprising 27.8 milliol
square feet; 96 rental residential units; 581 aofamdeveloped land suitable for future developtehwhich 490 acres are considered core holdiagd; an addition
three office and industrial properties that arsenvice but not yet stabilized and 40 for-sale comdiums (which are owned through a consolidategipnity-owned join
venture). In addition, we owned interests (50.0%ess) in 70 irservice office and industrial properties, one affiroperty under development, 53 acres of undeee
land suitable for future development and 418 rergaldential units, which includes a 12.5% inteliest 261,000 square foot office property direasbyned by th
Company and thus is included in the Company’s Clafeted Financial Statements, but not includechin®perating PartnershgpConsolidated Financial Statements.
of the 50.0% or less owned in-service office prtipsrare consolidated as more fully described belod/in Notes 3, 7 and 9 to our Consolidated FihStatements.

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preparetdnformity with accounting principles generaligcepted in the United States (“GAAPQur Consolidate
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2008 was revisedgdrewmously reported amounts to reflect in reahstand other assets, net, held for sale thosegiieg held for sale
December 31, 2009 and the retroactive accountingjfioations described below. The Consolidated Btetets of Income for the years ended December 318 a6d 200
were also revised from previously reported amotmteflect in discontinued operations the operatifur those properties sold or held for sale dugi@9 which qualifie
for discontinued operations presentation and threaetive accounting modifications described below.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued

Beginning in the first quarter of 2009, we wereuiegd to present noncontrolling interests, defiasdhe portion of equity in a subsidiary not atttéble directly c
indirectly to the parent, as a separate componeatuity in the Consolidated Balance Sheets sulieeixisting requirements for the classificatiord aneasurement
redeemable securities. Additionally, we were rezplito modify the presentation of net income byilaiting earnings and other comprehensive incometdrolling ant
noncontrolling interests. These accounting change® required to be retroactively applied for atipds presented. Below are the steps we have t&enresult
retroactively applying these changes to previousported amounts:

« We have reclassified the noncontrolling interestsconsolidated affiliates from the mezzanine sectd our Consolidated Balance Sheet to equity.
reclassification totaled $6.2 million, $6.8 milliamd $2.9 million at December 31, 2008, 2007 ar@b2€espectively

« We no longer deduct net income attributable to patrolling interests in consolidated affiliates whdetermining net income. As a result, net incooretie year
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 increased $2ldrmédnd $0.7 million, respectively, from the prewsly reported amounts. The adoption of t
requirements had no effect on our net income aviailtor common stockholders or our earnings perrmomshare

Beginning in the first quarter of 2009, we also eveequired to include our total number of restdc€@ommon Shares outstanding in the calculation eifjlatec
average Common Shares outstanding, basic and dlilfde all periods presented. As a result, for year ended December 31, 2008, weighted average @Ganumits
outstanding, basic and diluted, are 516,725 and7253shares higher than previously reported, res@be. For the year ended December 31, 2007, wetjlaverag
Common Units outstanding, basic and diluted, afg@® and 234,511 shares higher than previoushyrteg, respectively. Basic earnings per commonfoniéach of th
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $0a@t than previously reported. Diluted earnings @ammon unit for the year ended December 31, 2008 $020:
lower than previously reported and diluted earnipgscommon unit for the year ended December 317 2¢as unchanged from the previously reported amoun

The Consolidated Financial Statements include whmlned subsidiaries and those subsidiaries intwhie own a majority voting interest with the alyilib contro
operations of the subsidiaries and where no sutdetaparticipating rights or substantive kick oights have been granted to the noncontrolling @sst We consolide
partnerships, joint ventures and limited liabildgmpanies when we control the major operating am&htial policies of the entity through majority oership or in ot
capacity as general partner or managing membeaddiition, we consolidate those entities deemedetedriable interest entities in which we are deteeth to be th
primary beneficiary. At December 31, 2009, we hagbivement with no entities that we deemed to béabée interest entities. All significant intercoanpy transactior
and accounts have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statem@ntaccordance with GAAP requires us to make egémand assumptions that affect the amounts ezportthe
consolidated financial statements and accompanyaes. Actual results could differ from those esties.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued
Real Estate and Related Assets

Real estate and related assets are recorded arubstated at cost less accumulated depreci&®iemovations, replacements and other expendituegsrtiprove ¢
extend the life of assets are capitalized and dégiesl over their estimated useful lives. Expendgufor ordinary maintenance and repairs are chargesxpense .
incurred. Depreciation is computed using the shialige method over the estimated useful life of 4@rgefor buildings and depreciable land infrastreettosts, 15 yee
for building improvements and five to seven yearsféirniture, fixtures and equipment. Tenant imgnments are amortized using the straigig-method over initial fixe
terms of the respective leases, which generallyrare three to 10 years.

Expenditures directly related to the developmerd aanstruction of real estate assets are includedet real estate assets and are stated at ddépdecias!
Development expenditures include menstruction costs essential to the developmemtraerties, development and construction costerést costs, real estate ta
salaries and related costs and other costs inculuedg the period of development. Interest anceottarrying costs are capitalized until the buiidis ready for it
intended use, but not later than one year fromatiess of major construction activity. We consideca@nstruction project as substantially completed ezady for it
intended use upon the completion of tenant imprarem We cease capitalization on the portion thatubstantially completed and occupied or heldlaviai foi
occupancy, and capitalize only those costs assabtisith the portion under construction.

Expenditures directly related to the leasing ofperties are included in deferred leasing costsaardstated at amortized cost. All leasing commissieaid to thir
parties for new leases or lease renewals are tapdalnternal leasing costs include primarily qguemsation, benefits and other costs, such as fegslrelated to leasi
activities, which are incurred in connection withceessfully securing leases of properties. Capédlieasing costs are amortized on a strdightbasis over the initi
fixed terms of the respective leases, which gelyeaa¢ from three to 10 years. Estimated costga@ls unsuccessful activities are expensed asreatu

We record liabilities for the performance of assdirement activities when the obligation to pemfiosuch activities is unconditional, whether or tieg timing o
method of settlement of the obligation may be comdal on a future event.

Upon the acquisition of real estate assets, wesadhe fair value of acquired tangible assets agdand, buildings and tenant improvements, intaagissets such
above and below market leases, acquireglace leases and other identified intangible assedsassumed liabilities. We assess and consigerdlae based on estima
cash flow projections that utilize discount andtapitalization rates as well as available mark&irmation. The fair value of the tangible assetswfacquired proper
considers the value of the property as if it weseant.

The above and below market rate portions of leasgsired in connection with property acquisitions gecorded in prepaid expenses and other assetsaocount
payable, accrued expenses and other liabilitiéisedt fair value. Fair value is calculated as thespnt value of the difference between (1) therectual amounts to be pi
pursuant to each in-place lease and (2) our estiiatair market lease rates for each corresponifisglace lease, using a discount rate that refleegittks associati
with the leases acquired and measured over a pegodal to the remaining term of the lease for abunaeket leases and the initial term plus the tefmny belowmarke
fixed rate renewal options for below-market lea3é® capitalized aboverarket lease values are amortized as a reductibas# rental revenue over the remaining tel
the respective leases and the accrued betanket lease values are amortized as an incredsestorental revenue over the remaining term ofdbpective leases and
below market option periods.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued

In-place leases acquired are recorded at their fhievia net real estate assets and are amortizddpgeciation and amortization expense over the irengaterm o
the respective lease. The value of in-place lesskased on our evaluation of the specific charmties of each customey’lease. Factors considered include estima
carrying costs during hypothetical expected lagseeriods, current market conditions and costsxecute similar leases. In estimating carrying ssose include re
estate taxes, insurance and other operating expanseestimates of lost rentals at market rataéagltine expected leasg periods, depending on local market conditi
In estimating costs to execute similar leases, evisider tenant improvements, leasing commissioddeal and other related expenses.

The value of a customer relationship is based anowarall relationship with the respective custonfeactors considered include the customeredit quality an
expectations of lease renewals. The value of aomest relationship is amortized to depreciation antbrtization expense over the initial term and eemewal perioc
defined in the respective leases.

Real estate and other assets are classified adil@ugassets held for use and as ldinge assets held for sale. Real estate is claskis held for sale when we beli
a sale is probable. We believe a sale is probabEnwe execute a legally enforceable contract mnst¢hat have been approved by the CompaByard, or a committ:
thereof, and the probable buyemue diligence investigation period, if any, hapieed. This determination requires us to makengsiés and assumptions, incluc
assessing the probability that potential salestations may or may not occur. Actual results califfér from those assumptions.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Investments irUnconsolidated Affiliates

With respect to assets classified as held for ifi®¥ents or changes in circumstances, such agnifisant decline in occupancy, change in our design of an ass
as a core or nooere holding or market value less than cost, intditaat the carrying value may be impaired, an impent analysis is performed. Such analysis consi
determining whether the assetarrying amount will be recovered from its undistted estimated future operating and residual flagls. These cash flows are estim:
based on a number of assumptions that are subjeconomic and market uncertainties including, agnathers, demand for space, competition for custsjmhanges
market rental rates, costs to operate each propertyexpected ownership periods. If the carryimguant of a held for use asset exceeds the surs ahdiscounted futu
operating and residual cash flows, an impairmesg le recorded for the difference between estimi@iedalue of the asset and the carrying amourd.g&herally estima
the fair value of assets held for use by usingalisted cash flow analysis. In some instances, &granformation may be available and is used idit@h to the
discounted cash flow analysis. As the factors usagknerating these cash flows are difficult todiceand are subject to future events that may alte assumptions, t
discounted and/or undiscounted future operatingrasiiual cash flows estimated by us in our impairtranalyses or those established by appraisalnoiaye achieve
and we may be required to recognize future impaitrfesses on our properties held for use.

We record assets held for sale at the lower ot#reying amount or estimated fair value. Fair vadfi@ssets held for sale is equal to the estimatemntracted sal
price with a potential buyer, less costs to selle Tnpairment loss, if any, is the amount by whiwh carrying amount exceeds the estimated fairevalu
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued

We analyze our investments in unconsolidated afé for impairment. Such analysis consists ofradetéeng whether an expected loss in market valuen
investment is other than a temporary by evaluatiegength of time and the extent to which the maualue has been less than cost, the financialiton and neaterm
prospects of the investee, and our intent andtyahdi retain our investment for a period of timdfisient to allow for any anticipated recovery inarket value. As tt
factors used in this analysis are difficult to pcé@énd are subject to future events that may alterassumptions, we may be required to recoguized impairment loss
on our investments in unconsolidated affiliates.

Sales of Real Estate

For sales transactions meeting the requirementiligorofit recognition, the related assets arabilities are removed from the balance sheet aeddbultant gain
loss is recorded in the period the transactionedo&or sales transactions with continuing involeetrafter the sale, if the continuing involvemerithwthe property i
limited by the terms of the sales contract, prigfitecognized at the time of sale and is reducethbymaximum exposure to loss related to the naifithe continuin
involvement. Sales to entities in which we haveeaeive an interest are accounted for using pasdi@l accounting.

For transactions that do not meet the criterisafsale, we evaluate the nature of the continuimgltement, including put and call provisions, iepent, and accot
for the transaction as a financing arrangemenfjtpsharing arrangement, leasing arrangement or otteenate method of accounting, rather than ase &alsed on tl
nature and extent of the continuing involvemenm8dransactions may have numerous forms of comtinuivolvement. In those cases, we determine wiriethod i:
most appropriate based on the substance of theairdon.

If we have an obligation to repurchase the propatts higher price or at a future indeterminablei@dsuch as fair market value), or we guaranteeré¢turn of th
buyer’s investment or a return on that investment foextended period, we account for such transactiam fasancing arrangement. For transactions treasefinancini
arrangements, we record the amounts received fnerbuyer as a financing obligation and continuketep the property and related accounts recordedri€onsolidate
Financial Statements. The results of operatiornth@fproperty, net of expenses other than depreniadire reflected as interest expense on the fingrobligation. If th
transaction includes an obligation or option tourepase the asset at a higher price, additionatest is recorded to accrete the liability to tyeurchase price. For optic
or obligations to repurchase the asset at fair staréllue at the end of each reporting period, #larize of the liability is adjusted to equal thertlturrent fair value to t
extent fair value exceeds the original financindjgattion. The corresponding debit or credit is meleal to a related discount account and the revdgsmbunt is amortize
over the expected term until termination of thei@mpbr obligation. If it is unlikely such option ivbe exercised, the transaction is accounted foleu the deposit meth
or profit-sharing method. If we have an obligation or optiorrepurchase at a lower price, the transacticcedunted for as a leasing arrangement. At such dsn
repurchase obligation expires, a sale is recordddjain recognized.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued

If we retain an interest in the buyer and providgain rent guarantees or other forms of suppodrevithe maximum exposure to loss exceeds the weiaccount fc
such transaction as a profit-sharing arrangement.ti@gnsactions treated as profit-sharing arrangeseve record a profgharing obligation for the amount of eqt
contributed by the other partner and continue &pkiie property and related accounts recordedrirtConsolidated Financial Statements. The resultgpefations of tr
property, net of expenses other than depreciaiom allocated to the other partner for its pergmtaterest and reflected as “co-venture expeiseur Consolidate
Financial Statements. In future periods, a saledéerded and profit is recognized when the remgimraximum exposure to loss is reduced below theuainof gair
deferred.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowancaifeounts that may become uncollectible in the &t@ur total receivables balance related to outooosrs i
comprised primarily of rents and operating cosbvecies as well as accrued straifihe rents receivable. We regularly evaluate theqa@cy of our allowance for doubt
accounts. The evaluation primarily consists of@exng past due account balances and considerifgfaotors as the credit quality of our customestdrical trends of tt
customer and changes in customer payment termstidwhlly, with respect to customers in bankruptesg, estimate the expected recovery through bangyugaims an
increase the allowance for amounts deemed uncibliectf our assumptions regarding the collectapitif accounts receivable and accrued straligletrents receivab
prove incorrect, we could experience write-off@o€ounts receivable or accrued straight-line nexdsivable in excess of our allowance for doutdftdounts.

Rental and Other Revenues

Rental revenue is recognized on a stralgig-basis over the terms of the respective leaRegis. means that, with respect to a particulardeastual amounts billed
accordance with the lease during any given periag e higher or lower than the amount of rentaenere recognized for the period. Straifhe rental revenue
commenced when the customer assumes control dédlsed premises. Accrued straight-line rents retdévrepresents the amount by which straligtetrental revent
exceeds rents currently billed in accordance vasé agreements. Termination fees are recognizedersue when the following four conditions are :naefully execute
lease termination agreement has been delivered¢ustemer has vacated the space; the amount &éetie determinable; and collectability of the ieeeasonably assurt

Property operating cost recoveries from customerglatermined on a calendar year and leaskedse basis. The most common types of cost reiratnests in ot
leases are CAM and real estate taxes, for whicledlséomer pays its pnata share of operating and administrative expeasdseal estate taxes in excess of a base
The computation of property operating cost recowecpme from customers is complex and involves mone judgments, including the interpretation ofrterand othe
customer lease provisions. Leases are not unifarmiealing with such cost reimbursements and thexerany variations in the computation. Many custamaaki
monthly fixed payments of CAM, real estate taxed ather cost reimbursement items. We accrue inaeta¢ed to these payments each month. We makeeglyaaitcrue
adjustments, positive or negative, to cost recowecpme to adjust the recorded amounts to our é&tinate of the final annual amounts to be billed eollected wit
respect to the cost reimbursements. After the éntleocalendar year, we compute each custarferal cost reimbursements and, after considesimgunts paid by ti
customer during the year, issue a bill or creditlfie appropriate amount to the customer. The rdiffees between the amounts billed less previoeslgived payments a
the accrual adjustment are recorded as increas@scogases to cost recovery income when the fifialdve prepared, which occurs during the firdf bathe subseque
year.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued
Discontinued Operations

Properties that are sold or classified as heldsébe are classified as discontinued operationsigiedvthat (1) the operations and cash flows ofptiaperty will be
eliminated from our ongoing operations and (2) v ot have any significant continuing involvementthe operations of the property after it is sdiderest expense
included in discontinued operations if the reldtsh securing the sold property is to be paid ofissumed by the buyer in connection with the satbe property is sol
to a joint venture in which we retain an interéise property will not be accounted for as a disicwmd operation due to our significant ongoing ries¢ in the operatio
through our joint venture interest. If we are ne¢al to provide property management, leasing amatteer services for the property owner after the,stile proper
generally will be accounted for as a discontinupdration because the expected cash flows relatedrtmanagement and leasing activities generallynat be significar
in comparison to the cash flows from the propertgrgo sale.

Lease Incentives

Lease incentive costs, which are payments madeda behalf of a customer as an incentive to digri¢ase, are capitalized in deferred leasing @stsamortized c
a straight-line basis over the respective leasages a reduction of rental revenues.

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

We account for our investments in less than majanitned joint ventures, partnerships and limitedbility companies using the equity method of actimgnwhen ou
interests represent a general partnership intbrgssubstantive participating rights or substantiigk out rights have been granted to the limitedtpers or when o
interests do not represent a general partnerstépest and we do not control the major operatirdyfarancial policies of the entity. These investiiseare initially recorde
at cost, as investments in unconsolidated affsiagend are subsequently adjusted for our shararafrgs and cash contributions and distributiortsthie extent our cc
basis at formation of the joint venture is differéman the basis reflected at the joint venturelethe basis difference is amortized over the difehe related assets ¢
included in our share of equity in earnings of ursmidated affiliates.

From time to time, we may contribute real estage®sto a joint venture in exchange for a comhomatif cash and an equity interest in the venturesukch instance
we assess whether we have continuing involvemetiterjoint venture and account for the transacéiocording to the nature and extent of such invokmmif the sale
price is reasonably assured and we are not reqtdredpport the operations of the property orétated obligations to an extent greater than oapgrtionate interest,
gain is recognized to the extent of the third pamtyestors interest and we account for our interest in et jventure using the equity method. If theseecidt have nc
been met, the transaction is accounted for asanding or profitsharing arrangement, leasing arrangement or ofkernate method of accounting other than
completed sale.

Additionally, our joint ventures will frequently bmw funds on their own behalf to finance the asiign of, and/or leverage the return upon, thepprtes bein
acquired by the joint ventures or to build or acguadditional buildings. Such borrowings are tyfljjcan a nonrecourse or limited recourse basis. We generatiynal
liable for the debts of our joint ventures, excipthe extent of our equity investment, unless waeehdirectly guaranteed any of that debt (see Bptén most cases, \
and/or our joint venture partners are requiredgt@e to customary limited exceptions on non-reeioans.

Cash Equivalents

We consider highly liquid investments with an ongji maturity of three months or less when purchasdx cash equivalents.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued
Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash deposits thaegadlyl restricted or held by third parties on oehdlf. It includes security deposits from salestiamts on forsale
residential condominiums, construction-related @ss; property disposition proceeds set aside arsijuated or intended to fund future tdeferred exchanges
qualifying real estate investments, escrows andrves for debt service, real estate taxes and gyopesurance established pursuant to certain ragegfinancin
arrangements, and deposits given to lenders tocunglver secured properties, if any.

Redeemable Common Units and Preferred Units

Limited partners holding Common Units other thae Bompany (“Redeemable Common Unitegve the right to put any and all of the Commont&o the
Operating Partnership and the Company has the toghtit any and all of the Preferred Units to th@ef@ting Partnership in exchange for their ligumapreference plt
accrued and unpaid distributions in the event cbmesponding redemption by the Company of the tyidg Preferred Stock. Consequently, these RedbEr@ommo
Units and Preferred Units are classified outsidpeymanent partnersapital in the accompanying balance sheet. Thadedovalue of the Redeemable Common Un
based on fair value at the balance sheet date asumeg by the closing price of Common Stock on diaé multiplied by the total number of Redeema&denmon Unit
outstanding. The recorded value of the Preferreitsimbased on their redemption value.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected and expects to continupidbify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86@hef Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amende
“Code”). A corporate REIT is a legal entity that holds restiate assets and, through the payment of dividensteckholders, is generally permitted to redoicavoid th:
payment of federal and state income taxes at theocate level. To maintain qualification as a RBfle Company is required to pay dividends to iskdtolders equal
at least 90.0% of its annual REIT taxable inconxeugling capital gains. Under temporary IRS redata, for 2010 and 2011, distributions can be paidially using
REIT’s freelytradable stock so long as stockholders have thieropff receiving at least 10% of the total disttibn in cash. The partnership agreement require
Operating Partnership to pay economically equivatbstributions on outstanding Common Units at $aene time that the Company pays dividends on itstanding
Common Stock.

Other than income taxes related to its taxable Ritlisidiary, the Operating Partnership does ntgaeény federal income taxes in its financialetagnts, since a:
partnership the taxable effects of its operatiaesadtributed to its partners. The Operating Pastrip does record state income tax for statestéxapartnership incon
directly.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our custesn At December 31, 2009, the wholly owned praopertdefined as iservice properties (excluding rer
residential units) to which we have title and 106.6wnership rights (“Wholly Owned Propertiesijere leased to 1,719 customers in nine primary iggdgc location:
The geographic locations that comprise greater 1% of our annualized cash rental revenue aleigka NC, Tampa, FL, Atlanta, GA, Nashville, TNdaKansas City
MO. Our customers engage in a wide variety of lesses. No single customer of the Wholly Owned Rtigsegenerated more than 10% of our consolidaggdnue
during 2009.

We maintain our cash and cash equivalents andestrigted cash at financial or other intermediastitutions. The combined account balances at iestitution ma
exceed FDIC insurance coverage and, as a reseilg iha concentration of credit risk related t@ants on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coeera
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies — Continued
Derivative Financial Instruments

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, weroav funds at a combination of fixed and variatdees. Borrowings under our revolving credit fagilitonstructio
facility and bank term loans bear interest at \@eaates. Our long-term debt, which consists ofised and unsecured lotgrm financings and the issuance of unsec
debt securities, typically bears interest at fixatbs although some loans bear interest at varrabds. Our interest rate risk management objective to limit the impa
of interest rate changes on earnings and cash #odgo lower our overall borrowing costs. To achithese objectives, from time to time, we ent& interest rate hed
contracts such as collars, swaps, caps and trekmikragreements in order to mitigate our interas risk with respect to various debt instrumewts.do not hold or iss!
these derivative contracts for trading or specuggpiurposes. The interest rate on all of our véegiadte debt is generally adjusted at one or threeth intervals, subject
settlements under these interest rate hedge ctsiti&e also enter into treasury lock agreements fiime to time in order to limit our exposure toianorease in intere
rates with respect to future debt offerings.

Our objective in using interest rate hedge corgréetto add stability to interest expense and marag exposure to interest rate fluctuations. Tooawplish thi:
objective, we sometimes use interest rate swapsuaof our interest rate risk management stratbggrest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedgelse the receij
of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty inhexge for making fixedate payments over the life of the agreements witkxchange of the underlying notio
amount. The effective portion of changes in the ¥alue of derivatives designated and that quagycash flow hedges is recorded in Accumulated rGZenprehensiy
Loss and is subsequently reclassified into inteegpense in the period that the hedged forecastaddction affects earnings. We do not hold theseative contracts fi
trading or speculative purposes and generally dohage any derivatives that are not designatedeagés. Interest rate hedge contracts typicallyatord provisio
whereby if we default on any of our indebtedness cauld also be declared in default on our hedgéracts.

We are exposed to certain losses in the event pperformance by the counterparty under any outgstgndedge contracts. We expect the counterpartych
generally is a major financial institution, to pmrh fully under any such contracts. However, if aoynterparty were to default on its obligation enen interest ra
hedge contract, we could be required to pay tHedtés on our debt, even if such rates were irgxof the rate in the contract.

Earnings Per Unit

Basic earnings per unit is computed by dividinginebme available for common unitholders by theghtéd Common Units outstandingasic. Diluted earnings [
unit is computed by dividing net income availalecommon unitholders by the weighted Common Unitistanding -basic plus the dilutive effect of options, warr:
and using the treasury stock method.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Beginning in the first quarter of 2010, we will keguired to perform an ongoing assessment to deterwhether each entity in which we have an equitgrest is

variable interest entity that should be consoliddfequalitative factors indicate we have the collitng interest. This accounting change is requitede retroactive!
applied for all periods presented. The adoptiothisf new requirement is not expected to have anmhtmpact on our financial statements.
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2. REAL ESTATE ASSETS
Acquisitions

In 2009, we acquired a 220,000 square foot offigiédding in Tampa, FL for a total investment of $24million, including approximately $2.4 million dfuilding
improvements and other costs related to this aitiuis In 2008, we acquired a 135,000 square fdfite building in Memphis, TN in exchange for 188/6Commo
Units and the assumption of $7.8 million of 8.1586wed debt, both of which were recorded at fdinevaf $6.3 million and $8.4 million, respectively. 2007, we mac
no significant acquisitions.

Dispositions

In 2009, we sold 517,000 square feet of wore retail and office properties for gross proceeid$78.2 million and recorded gains of $21.7 inill A 30,000 squa
foot office property disposition for $4.2 millionag accounted for as a financing arrangement asildeddn Note 7. In 2008, we sold 744,000 square feet of office
industrial properties for gross proceeds of appnately $56.8 million and recorded net gains of $1million. We also sold 38 acres of noare land for gross s¢
proceeds of $9.2 million and recorded a net gai®8 million. In 2007, we sold 1,240,000 squaret fef office and industrial properties for grossqeeds of $113
million and recorded gains of $34.7 million. Weaaold 133 acres of non-core land for gross salegeds of $37.4 million and recorded gains of $i6ilBon.

Impairments

We recorded impairment of assets held for use éocat WinstonSalem and Greensboro, NC of $13.5 million in 2009 $32.8 million in 2008. The 2009 impairm
related to 12 office properties, 11 of which werevously impaired in 2008, six industrial propesgtiand two retail properties. We recorded an impzit of $0.8 milliol
in 2007 related to one land parcel. Impairments @ase from a number of factors which are subjecthiange; accordingly, we may be required to takditiana
impairment charges in the future.

Development

We currently have two office properties and oneustdal property recently completed, but not yabgized, aggregating 501,000 square feet. We déBtabilized”
as the earlier of the original projected stabilmatdate or the date such project is at least 96%umied. The aggregate cost, including leasing cissions, of thes
properties currently is expected to be $69.2 nrillichen fully leased, of which $64.2 million had beacurred at December 31, 2009. The dollar wedlaecrage pre
leasing of these properties was approximately 48@eaember 31, 2009. The components of these giepere included in land, building and tenant iovements ar
deferred financing and leasing costs in our Codatdid Balance Sheet at December 31, 2009.
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We have retained equity interests ranging from %0t6 50.0% in various joint ventures with unrelabedestors. We account for these unconsolidatatiaaéfs usin
the equity method of accounting. As a result, theets and liabilities of these joint ventures fdricki we use the equity method of accounting areimzdtided in ou

Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates consistethe following at December 31, 2009:

Ownership

Joint Venture Location of Properties Interest
Board of Trade Investment Comps Kansas City, MC 49.00%
Kessinger/Hunter, LL( Kansas City, MC 26.50%
Plaza Colonnade, LL: Kansas City, MC 50.00%
Dallas County Partners I, LL Des Moines, 1A 50.00%
Dallas County Partners II, LL Des Moines, IA 50.00%
Dallas County Partners Ill, LL! Des Moines, 1A 50.00%
Fountain Thret Des Moines, IA 50.00%
RRHWoods, LLC Des Moines, 1A 50.00%
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LL(C Atlanta, GA; Charlotte, NC; Greensboro, NC; Raleiyi; Orlando, FL 22.81%
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L Atlanta, GA; Greensboro, NC; Orlando, 42.93%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, LL! Atlanta, GA 40.00%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Land, LL Atlanta, GA 40.00%
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC Orlando, FL 40.00%
Concourse Center Associates, L Greensboro, N( 50.00%
Highwoods DLF Forum, LL(C Raleigh, NC 25.00%

Charlotte, NC 10.00%

HIW Development B, LLC
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued

Combined summarized financial information for oncansolidated affiliates is as follows:

December 31

2009 2008
Balance Sheets
Assets:
Real estate assets, | $ 669,65 $ 703,89
All other assets, nt 116,09° 112,96!
Total Assets $ 785,75 $ 816,86:.
Liabilities and Partners’ or Shareholders Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal(1) $ 582,46( $ 603,52(
All other liabilities 32,44% 32,82¢
Partner’ or shareholde’ equity 170,84 180,51t
Total Liabilities and Partne’ or Shareholde’ Equity $ 785,75 $ 816,86:
Our share of historical partn’ or shareholde’ equity $ 34,13: $ 36,76¢
Net excess of cost of investments over the net atke of underlying net ass¢_2) 18,35 18,07:
Carrying value of investments in unconsolidatediafés, net of negative investment balances inetlith other liabilitie«(3) $ 5248! $ 54,83;
Our share of unconsolidated r1-recourse mortgage de(1) $ 237,10: $ 245,10t
1) Our share of future principal payments, includingpatization, due on mortgages and notes payalibdeetmber 31, 2009 is as follov
2010 $ 10,20¢
2011 6,15%
2012 40,10(
2013 23,45:
2014 61,43«
Thereafter 95,75¢

All of this joint venture debt is norecourse to us except (1) in the case of custoraacgptions pertaining to such matters as misudarafs, environment

conditions and material misrepresentations and2yantees (see Note

2) This amount represents the aggregate differenceeleet our historical cost basis and the basis fteflieat the joint venture level, which is typicatlgpreciate

over the life of the related asset. In additionfaia acquisition, transaction and other costs nm@tybe reflected in net assets at the joint veriawel.

?3) During the third quarter of 2006, three of our Dédsines joint ventures made cash distributions aggfieg $17.0 million in connection with a debt nefincing
We received 50.0% of such distributions. As a itestithese distributions, our investment accourthise joint ventures became negative. Althougméve dek
is nonfecourse, we and our partner have guaranteed désérand have contractual obligations to supperfdmt ventures, as discussed in Note 8. We rex
the distributions as a reduction of our investmastount and included the resulting negative investrbalances of $12.4 million and $11.7 millionaiccount
payable, accrued expenses and other liabilitiesiimConsolidated Balance Sheets at December 39, &) 2008, respectivel
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Income Statements
Rental and other revenues $ 145,140 $ 156,48 $ 134,90¢
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 70,197 77,22: 57,34¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 33,82 33,09¢ 28,91:
Interest expens 34,40¢ 35,20+ 33,29(
Total expense 138,42¢ 145,52: 119,54¢
Income before disposition of properties 6,72( 10,96: 15,36(
Gains on disposition of properti 2,96: — 20,62
Net income $ 9,68 $ 10,96. $ 35,98
Our share of:
Net income(1) $ 5367 $ 5811 $ 12,32.
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a $ 11870 $ 12,58 $ 13,74¢
Interest expens $ 13,96¢ $ 14,47: $ 14,29«
Net gain on disposition of depreciable proper $ 582 $ — 3 7,15¢
1) Our share of net income differs from our wegghaverage ownership percentage in the joint vestmet income due to our purchase accounting and

adjustments related primarily to management argiigeees
The following summarizes additional informationateld to certain of our unconsolidated affiliates:
- Kessinger/Hunter, LLC
Kessinger/Hunter, LLC, which is managed by ourj@i@nture partner, previously provided property agagment, leasing, brokerage and certain constructiate
services to certain of our Wholly Owned ProperireKansas City, MO. These services were reducedsty only leasingelated services in 2009. Kessinger/Hunter,
received $0.5 million, $2.6 million and $3.8 millidrom us for these services in 2009, 2008 and 2@ pectively.
- Highwoods DLF 98/29, LLC (“DLF I")

At the formation of this joint venture, our partreantributed excess cash to the venture that vaishdited to us under the joint venture agreeméMesare required
repay this excess cash to our partner over timdisasissed in Note 8.

In 2009, DLF | sold a property for gross proceeti$iatl.8 million and recorded a gain of $3.4 millisie recorded $0.8 million as our proportionaterstud this gai
through equity in earnings of unconsolidated aftéds in 2009.

In 2007, DLF | sold five properties to a third pafor gross proceeds of $34.2 million and recordeghin of $9.3 million related to this sale. Weareied $2.1 millio

as our proportionate share of this gain throughtggu earnings of unconsolidated affiliates in Z0@lso, DLF | acquired Eola Park Centre, a 167,6Q0are foot offic
building in Orlando, FL, for $39.3 million and obtad a $27.7 million loan secured by the property.
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued
- Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L.P. (“DLF 1I")

In 2009, DLF Il sold one property for gross proceefl$7.1 million and recorded an impairment charb®0.5 million. We recorded $0.2 million as ouoportionat
share of this impairment charge through equityamings of unconsolidated affiliates in 2009.

- Highwoods-DLF Forum, LLC (“DLF Forum™)

In 2008, we contributed $12.3 million to this jowenture for a 25% ownership interest. The joimtuee acquired The Forum, a 635,000 square foateoffark i
Raleigh, NC, for approximately $113 million and abed a $67.5 million loan secured by the property.

- HIW -KC Orlando, LLC (“KC Orlando”)

We made certain commitments to this joint ventisediscussed in Note 8 at the time of the formatiehich reduced our gain on the partial sale. Inehent the
unused commitments expire, we record additionaigyan disposition of property as a component obrime from continuing operations due to our signiftceontinuing
involvement with the joint venture.

- HIW Development B, LLC

In 2009, we contributed $0.3 million to this joiménture for a 10% ownership interest. Simultanewitk the formation, this joint venture acquired dafor $3.
million to be used for development. This joint wanetis constructing a build-teuit office property in Charlotte, NC for which wall receive customary development fe

- Weston Lakeside, LLC

In 2007, Weston Lakeside, LLC, an unconsolidatédiis€ in which we had a 50.0% ownership interasstid 332 rental residential units located in tredeigsh, NC
metropolitan area to a third party for gross prdseef $45.0 million and paid off all of the outstiimy debt and various development related costs. jdimt ventur
recorded a gain of $11.3 million in 2007 relatedtis sale. We recorded $5.0 million as our prdpogte share through equity in earnings of uncodatgd affiliates i
2007. Our share of the gain was less than 50.0%adoer joint venture partner’s preferred returritesdeveloper. We received aggregate net disioisiof $6.2 million.

- Other Activities

We receive development, management and leasingdessrvices provided to certain of our joint wanets. These fees are recognized as income to teatet ou

respective joint venture partnerinterest in rental and other revenues. In thesyeaded December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we mzeah$2.1 million, $2.1 million ar
$2.2 million, respectively, of development, managatrand leasing fees from our unconsolidated jentures.
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued

Consolidated Affiliates
The following summarizes our consolidated affilgate
- Highwoods-Markel Associates, LLC (“Markel”)

We have a 50.0% ownership interest in Markel. Wee the manager and leasing agent for Masketoperties located in Richmond, VA and receivet@man
management and leasing fee¥Ve consolidate Markel since we are the generahpand control the major operating and financallcies of the joint venture. Tl
organizational documents of Markel require thetgrib be liquidated through the sale of its assgisn reaching December 31, 2100. As controllindresy we have ¢
obligation to cause this propertyvning entity to distribute proceeds of liquidatitnthe noncontrolling interest partner in theseiglly owned properties only if the r
proceeds received by the entity from the sale of assets warrant a distribution as determined leyafireement. We estimate the value of noncontgoiliieres
distributions would have been approximately $12iion had the entity been liquidated at Decembkr2009. This estimated settlement value is basgti®fair value ¢
the underlying properties which is based on a numob@ssumptions that are subject to economic aarkeh uncertainties including, among others, denfandpace
competition for customers, changes in market reatals and costs to operate each property. Ifritig/'ss underlying assets are worth less than the uridgrliabilities or
the date of such liquidation, we would have nogstion to remit any consideration to the noncofitrglinterest holder.

- SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP (“Harborview”)

We have a 20.0% interest in Harborview. We arentl@ager and leasing agent for Harborvieptoperty located in Tampa, FL and receive custpnmmanageme
and leasing fees. As further described in Natewe account for this joint venture as a finanadbgjgation since our partner has the right toimuinterest back to us in t
future.

- Plaza Residential, LLC (“Plaza Residential”)

In 2007, through our taxable REIT subsidiary, wetdbuted $10.6 million for a majority owned intsten Plaza Residential, which was formed to dgvelnd se
139 forsale residential condominiums constructed aboveffice tower being developed by us in Raleigh, NOZir partner has a 7.0% ownership interest in tire
venture, performed development services for thet jeénture for a market development fee, guarand®@@o of the construction financing and will reeeB5.0% of th
net profits from the joint venture once the parsnleave received distributions equal to their egpltis a 12.0% return on their equity. We consoédais joint ventur
since we own the majority interest. We have esgchatur net economic interest through the completiothis project to be approximately 86.0% at Deben81, 200
and have recorded our partner’s noncontrollingré@geaccordingly. Our estimate of our partner’snetoic ownership, which is impacted by our partegreferred retur
decreased from 25% at December 31, 2008 to 14%eerBber 31, 2009 due to changes in our assumpgtated primarily to projected timing of sales astimated n
gains.
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3. NVESTMENTS— Continued

Forsale residential condominiums in our ConsolidatealaBce Sheets include completed, but unsold, comdem inventory owned by Plaza Residentia
December 31, 2009 and 2008. We initially recorctigts of deposits as other liabilities in our Cditeded Balance Sheets in accordance with the depeshod. We the
record completed sales when units close and thainémg net cash is received. We recognize forfeitfrearnest money deposits into income when edtith claim th
forfeited deposit upon legal default. During 2001 2008, we received $13.0 million and $28.6 miljicespectively, in gross revenues and recordedd®hilion anc
$23.0 million, respectively, of cost of goods séddm condominium sales activity. Net gains on $ate residential condominiums in our Consolidatéate®nents ¢
Income include gains on the sale of f@le residential condominiums and forfeitures ahest money deposits of $0.3 million and $0.6 wmillirespectively, for the ye
ended December 31, 2009. Gains on for-sale resdestindominiums in our Consolidated Statement mfome include gains on the sale of $ale residenti
condominiums and forfeitures of earnest money déepo$ $4.4 million and $1.2 million, respectivelfpr the year ended December 31, 2008. We had dlo gains ¢
forfeitures in 2007.

4. DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had deferreahding costs of $16.8 million and $14.7 million, pestively, with accumulated amortization of $4.3lion anc
$7.8 million, respectively. At December 31, 2009 @008, we had deferred leasing costs of $108.Bomiand $110.8 million, respectively, with relatadcumulate
amortization of $47.6 million and $44.7 million,spectively. Aggregate amortization expense (induttedepreciation and amortization and amortizatibrdeferre:
financing costs) for the years ended December @19,22008 and 2007 was $17.8 million, $18.0 millard $16.7 million, respectively. Aggregate amattin of leas
incentives (included in rental and other reven@i@sihe years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and a6 $1.1 million, $1.0 million and $1.0 milliorgspectively.

The following table sets forth scheduled future eimation for deferred financing and leasing cat®ecember 31, 2009:

Years Ending December 31, Amortization
2010 $ 17,46¢
2011 14,86¢
2012 12,22
2013 8,50¢
2014 6,051
Thereaftel 14,40¢
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5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE
Our consolidated mortgages and notes payable ¢arigise following:

December 31

2009 2008
Secured indebtedness(1)
7.77% mortgage loan due 20 $ — $ 78,01¢
7.87% mortgage loan due 20 — 30,68t
7.05% mortgage loan due 20 188,08t 190,00(
6.03% mortgage loan due 20 130,73¢ 133,24:
5.68% mortgage loan due 20 115,95¢ 118,53!
6.88% mortgage loans due 2C 114,61( —
7.5% mortgage loan due 20 47,10¢ —
5.74% to 9.00% mortgage loans due between 2002@16(2), (3) 82,48: 83,84(
Variable rate construction loans due between 20@9281C(4) 41,74: 20,86¢
720,72° 655,18¢
Unsecured indebtedness

8.125% notes due 20( — 50,00(
5.85% notes due 20:(5) 390,92¢ 398,99¢
7.50% notes due 20: 200,00t 200,00t
Variable rate term loans due between 2011 and (6) 157,50( 137,50(
Revolving credit facility due 2013 and 2010, regjpety — 163,00(
748,424 949,49¢

Total $ 1,469,15 $ 1,604,68!

1) The mortgage loans payable are secured by reaé essets with an aggregate undepreciated book wélapproximately $1.2 billion at December 31, 200ul
fixed rate mortgage loans generally are eitherddctut to prepayment for all or a portion of theirm or are prepayable subject to certain conditiosluding
prepayment penaltie

2) Includes mortgage debt related to 19V Harborview Plaza, LP., a consolidated 20.0% ewroint venture, of $21.9 million and $22.3 miflica
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. See N

?3) Includes mortgage debt related to Markel, a codat#d 50.0% owned joint venture, of $35.8 milliond&$36.6 million at December 31, 2009 and 2
respectively. See Note

(4) Stated maturity date does not reflect two-year extension options related to amounts outstgnatn our $70.0 million secured construction fagil
5) This amount is net of amortized original issuanisealint of $0.9 million and $1.0 million at Decemi34, 2009 and 2008, respective

(6) The effective interest rates are 3.90% and 1.33%up1$20.0 million and $137.5 million term loansspectively, as of December 31, 20
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5. MoRTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE - Continued

The following table sets forth the future principalyments, including amortization, due on our megis and notes payable at December 31, 2009:

Principal
Years Ending December 31, Amount
2010(2) $ 52,86(
2011 149,34«
2012 240,21
2013 242,78
2014 34,66¢
Thereafte 749,29:
@) This amount does not reflect two year extension options related to amounts outstgnaiider our $70.0 million secured constructiorilitsc

In 2009, we obtained a new $400.0 million unsecuexdlving credit facility, which replaced our preusly existing revolving credit facility. Our nesevolving credi
facility is scheduled to mature on February 21,28fd includes an accordion feature that allowsfoadditional $50.0 million of borrowing capacitybject to addition
lender commitments. Assuming we continue to haveetipublicly announced ratings from the creditngtagencies, the interest rate and facility feeeurdir revolvin
credit facility are based on the lower of the twghest publicly announced ratings. Based on ourectircredit ratings, the interest rate is LIBORspR90 basis points a
the annual facility fee is 60 basis points. We expe use our new revolving credit facility for vikamg capital purposes and for the shiatm funding of our developme
and acquisition activity and, in certain instandbs, repayment of other debt. Continuing abilityotarow under the revolving credit facility allows to quickly capitaliz
on strategic opportunities at sheerm interest rates. There were no amounts outistanohder our revolving credit facility at Deceml3dr, 2009 and February 3, 2010
December 31, 2009 and February 3, 2010, we had ®illlion and $1.6 million, respectively, of outsting letters of credit, which reduces the avaligbion oui
revolving credit facility. As a result, the unusedpacity of our revolving credit facility at Deceant81, 2009 and February 3, 2010 was $398.3 an8.434illion,
respectively.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility,which $41.7 million was outstanding at December2ID9, is initially scheduled to mature on Decenfife 201C
Assuming no defaults have occurred, we have optiomxtend the maturity date for two successiveywa periods. The interest rate is LIBOR plus 88idpoints. Ot
secured construction facility had $28.3 millioneefilability at December 31, 2009 and February0d,02

In 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 million ofl25% unsecured notes and retired the remaining.3illion principal amount of a twanched secured loan.
also obtained a $20.0 million, three-year unsectieegh loan, a $115.0 million, six and a half-yeaciged loan and a $47.3 million, seyssar secured loan. We a
repurchased $8.2 million principal amount of unsedwnotes due 2017.

Debt Covenants
We are currently in compliance with all debt covetsaand requirements. Although we expect to rermagompliance with these covenants and ratios foeast th

next year, depending upon our future operatinggoerénce, property and financing transactions antkbigé economic conditions, we cannot assure youviieawill
continue to be in compliance.
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5. MoRTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE - Continued

Our revolving credit facility, $137.5 million bartkrm loan due in February 2011 and $20.0 millionkogerm loan due in March 2012 also require usotmly with
customary operating covenants and various finame@irements, including a requirement that we ma@ina ratio of total liabilities to total assetwe, as defined in ti
respective agreements, of no more than 60%. Tetstavalue depends upon the effective economidatiaption rate (after deducting capital expendig)rused 1
determine the value of our buildings. Dependingrugeneral economic conditions, the lenders havediod faith right to unilaterally increase the ¢alization rate by u
to 25 basis points once in any twelventh period. The lenders have not previously @gedcthis right. Any such increase in capitalizatiates, without a correspond
reduction in total liabilities, could make it modéficult for us to maintain a ratio of total lidhies to total asset value of no more than 60%ictvltould have an advel
effect on our ability to borrow additional fundsdan the revolving credit facility. If we were toilféo make a payment when due with respect to drguoother obligatior
with aggregate unpaid principal of $10.0 milliondasuch failure remains uncured for more than 18@dthe lenders under our credit facility couldyide notice of the
intent to accelerate all amounts due thereundeonlm event of default on the revolving credit ffacithe lenders having at least 66.7% of theltotanmitments und
the revolving credit facility can accelerate allrtmavings then outstanding, and we could be prodibfrom borrowing any further amounts under oumhéwng credi
facility, which would adversely affect our ability fund our operations.

The Operating Partnership has $390.9 million ppatiamount of 2017 bonds outstanding and $200.0Gomiprincipal amount of 2018 bonds outstandinge
indenture that governs these outstanding notesresqus to comply with customary operating covesartd various financial ratios, including a requieat that w
maintain unencumbered assets of at least 200% ofimtanding unsecured debt. The trustee or tldehoof at least 25% in principal amount of eitkeries of bonds c
accelerate the principal amount of such series wrdten notice of a default that remains uncuridreé60 days.

We may not be able to repay, refinance or extenydaarall of our debt at maturity or upon any accatien. If any refinancing is done at higher intreates, th
increased interest expense could adversely afiactash flow and ability to pay distributions. Aeyich refinancing could also impose tighter finahcaios and othe
covenants that restrict our ability to take actitimst could otherwise be in our best interest, agfunding new development activity, making oppoigtic acquisition:
repurchasing our securities or paying distributions
Other Information

Total interest capitalized to development projecas $4.6 million, $8.3 million and $9.7 million fthve years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and B&kctively.
6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We terminated our last open interest rate swapeiceihber 2009. We have no outstanding interestieateatives at December 31, 2009.

The following table sets forth the fair value of quior derivative instruments:

Fair Value as of December 31

2009 2008
Liability Derivatives:
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges in othabilities:
Interest rate sway $ — $ 1,37¢
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6. DERIVATIVE  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
The following table sets forth the effect of ouioprcash flow hedges on AOCL and interest expense:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow Hedge
Amount of unrealized gain/(loss) recognized in AOClon derivatives (effective portion):
Interest rate swaps $ 937 $ (1,37¢) $ —
Amount of (gain)/loss reclassified out of AOCL into interesexpense (effective portion:
Interest rate sway $ (24 8 181 $ 571

The following table sets forth the effect of ouiopderivatives not designated as hedging instrusen interest expense:

Years Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Amount of gain/(loss) recognized in interest expeason derivative:

Interest rate sway $ — $ 18t $ (183

7. ANANCING ARRANGEMENTS
Our financing obligations consist of the following:

December 31

2009 2008
SF-HIW Harborview, LP financing obligatio $ 16,957 $ 16,60«
Tax increment financing bor 15,37 16,41¢
Repurchase obligatic 4,18¢ —
Capitalized ground lease obligati 1,191 1,152
Total $ 37,70¢ $ 34,17¢

Harborview

Our joint venture partner in Harborview has thentigp put its 80.0% equity interest in the joinntre to us in exchange for cash at any time dutiegoneyeal
period commencing September 11, 2014. The valuken80.0% equity interest will be determined attthee that our partner elects to exercise its ity if ever, base
upon the then fair market value of Harborview $R5sets and liabilities, less 3.0%, which amowat intended to cover the normal costs of a safsaetion. Because
the put option, this transaction is accounted foa &inancing transaction. Accordingly, the asd&tbilities and operations related to HarborvielaZa, the property own
by Harborview LP remain in our Consolidated Finah8tatements.
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7. FNANCING ARRANGEMENTS - Continued

As a result, we have established a financing obligaequal to the net equity contributed by theeotbartner. At the end of each reporting period,lihlance of tt
gross financing obligation is adjusted to equaldheater of the original financing obligation of25Z million or the current fair value of the puttiop discussed abo\
This financing obligation, net of payments madeto joint venture partner, is adjusted by a relateldiation allowance account, which is being araediprospective
through September 2014 as interest expense oncfiraobligation. The fair value of the put optiomsv$12.2 million and $13.9 million at December 3109 and 200
respectively. Additionally, the net income from tbperations before depreciation of Harborview Plaltacable to the 80.0% partner is recorded agesteexpense (
financing obligation. We continue to depreciate theperty and record all of the depreciation on baoks. At such time as the put option expiressootherwis
terminated, we will record the transaction as a aald recognize gain on sale.

Tax Increment Financing Bond

In connection with tax increment financing for ctostion of a public garage related to a wholly ednoffice building, we are obligated to pay fixeuoesia
assessments over a $8ar period ending in 2019. The net present vafubese assessments, discounted at 6.93% at thptime of the obligation, which represents
interest rate on the underlying bond financingeisorded as a financing obligation in our ConsaédaBalance Sheets. We receive special tax reveaneproperty te
rebates recorded in interest and other income,wdie intended, but not guaranteed, to providesuagay the special assessments. We acquirechtieglying bond in
privately negotiated transaction in the fourth gelaof 2007.

Repurchase Obligation

In connection with the disposition in the fourthaguer of 2009 of a building located in Raleigh, Ni&& buyer had a limited right to put the buildiogus in exchang
for the sales price plus certain costs if we hashhénable to satisfy a certain pakising requirement by March 1, 2010. Accordinghg assets, liabilities and operati
of the building remain in our Consolidated Finah&gatements during this contingency period. WésBadl this postlosing requirement in the first quarter of 201@
accordingly, have met the requirements to recardnapleted sale in the first quarter of 2010.

Capitalized Ground Lease Obligation

The capitalized ground lease obligation represantebligation to the lessor of land on which westarcted a building. We are obligated to make fipagments t
the lessor through October 2022 and the leasegeevor fixed price purchase options in the nimttl tenth years of the lease. We intend to exethis@urchase option
order to prevent an economic penalty related toreping the building to the lessor at the expiratifrthe lease. The net present value of the fieedal payments ai
purchase option through the ninth year was caledlat the inception of the lease using a discoat® of 7.1%. The assets and liabilities under tygtal lease a
recorded at the lower of the present value of mimmease payments or the fair value. The liabditgretes into interest expense each month foritfezehce between tl
interest rate on the financing obligation and tlked payments. The accretion will continue unt# trability equals the purchase option of the lamthe ninth year of tt
lease.

8. GOMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Ground Leases
Certain Wholly Owned Properties are subject to afieg ground leases. Rental payments on thesesleaseadjusted periodically based on either thswoer pric

index or on a preletermined schedule. Total rental property expeeserded for operating ground leases was $1.6anjli$1.4 million and $1.4 million for the ye
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respsctivel
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8. @MMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - Continued

The following table sets forth our obligations fature minimum payments on operating ground leas&ecember 31, 2009:

2010 $ 1,11C
2011 1,12¢
2012 1,15(
2013 1,171
2014 1,19¢
Thereafter 31,11«

Other Capitalized Lease Obligations

We have other capitalized lease obligations of $dilBon and $0.1 million related to office equipmewhich is included in accounts payable, accrexggenses ai
other liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Ske#tDecember 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Completion Contracts

We have approximately$ 6.7million of completion contracts at December 31, 200ompletion contracts are defined as paymerie tmade under current contrz
for various construction projects, which we exgegbay in 2010.

Environmental Matters

Substantially all of our iservice and development properties have been gabjgo Phase | environmental assessments and, riaircénstances, Phase
environmental assessments. Such assessments apdaies have not revealed, nor are we aware ofeawyonmental liability that we believe would haaematerie
adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Staresa We have $0.2 million and $0.1 million reserf@ environmental matters, which is included aca@unts payabl
accrued expenses and other liabilities in our Cliststed Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 arti 286pectively.

DLF | Obligation

At the formation of DLF I, the amount our partnentributed in cash to the venture and subsequelgtyibuted to us was determined to be $7.2 millioexcess ¢
the amount required based on its ownership intamredthe agreedpon value of the real estate assets. We are eghtdgrrepay this amount over 14 years, beginnirtbe
first quarter of 1999. The $7.2 million was discmhto net present value of $3.8 million using scdunt rate of 9.62% specified in the agreementmieats of $0.
million were made in each of the years ended Deeerdb, 2009, 2008 and 2007, of which $0.2 milli@presented imputed interest expense. The balai
December 31, 2009 and 2008 is $1.6 million and $#lllon, respectively, which is included in accdsipayable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.
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8. @MMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - Continued

Guarantees and Other Obligations

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

All of our joint venture debt is norecourse to us except (1) in the case of custoesergptions pertaining to such matters as misufenaf, environmental conditio
and material misrepresentations and (2) those gtewsa set forth in the following table:

Accrual at
December 31,
Guarantee Type Entity Location Maturity Date 2009
Indirect debi Three Fountain Des Moines 38t
Debt RRHWoods/ DCF Des Moines 49
Debt RRHWoods Des Moines 15
Indirect debt RRHWoods Des Moines 24t

At the formation of the KC Orlando joint venturee wommitted to fund certain future leasing costge Temaining commitment at December 31, 2009 af@ 2¢a:

$0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, whighincluded in accounts payable, accrued expengdsther liabilities.

Litigation, Claims and Assessments

We are from time to time a party to a variety ajdeproceedings, claims and assessments arisitigeinrdinary course of our business. We regulasbess th
liabilities and contingencies in connection witlegle matters based on the latest information aveil&or those matters where it is probable thatesee incurred or wi
incur a loss and the loss or range of loss carasonably estimated, the estimated loss is acemgdharged to income in our Consolidated Finar8t@lements. In oth
instances, because of the uncertainties relatbdttothe probable outcome and amount or rangessf Bpreasonable estimate of liability, if any,rm@trbe made. Based
the current expected outcome of such matters, nbtleese proceedings, claims or assessments istexpto have a material adverse effect on our kssinfinancic

condition, results of operations or cash flows.

9. NDONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Beginning in the first quarter of 2009, we have ified the measurement and presentation of noncllinggonterests for all periods presented, as dbedrin Note 1.

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Affiliates

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiligtescomponent of equity, relates to our respegtirg venture partners$30.0% interest in Markel and estimated :
economic interest in Plaza Residential. Each ofi@nt venture partners is an unrelated third party

10. DscLOSURE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inphtst we use to measure fair value, as well asfisets, noncontrolling interests in the Operatiagrership ar
liabilities that we recognize at fair value usihgse levels of inputs.

Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identicab&ssr liabilities.

Our Level 1 assets are investments in marketallériies which we use to pay benefits under our-goalified deferred compensation plan. Our Leveahilities are
our obligations to pay benefits under our defemechpensation plan.

135




HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

10. DscLosurE ABouT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sischumted prices for similar assets or liabilitiggpted prices in markets that are not active; beoinput:
that are observable or can be corroborated by walsler market data for substantially the full terhthe related assets or liabilities.

Our Level 2 liability are interest rate swaps thegre outstanding at December 31, 2008 whose fairevia determined using the market standard metbhggool
netting the discounted future fixed cash receipis the discounted expected variable cash paymdiits.variable cash payments are based on the etjecof futur
interest rates (forward curves) derived from obsémnarket interest rate curves. In addition, ¢realuation adjustments are incorporated in thevalues to account f
potential nonperformance risk.

Level 3.Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlammarket activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or liabilities.

Our Level 3 assets are our tax increment finanbirgd that we acquired in the fourth quarter of 2@ Note 7), which is not routinely traded bubséfair value
determined using an estimate of projected redemptidue based on quoted bid/ask prices for siniteated municipal bonds, and real estate asseisdeat at fair valu
on a non-recurring basis as a result of our Dece®be2009 impairment analysis, which were valusidgindependent appraisals.

Our Level 3 liability is our SFHIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation thatnot traded but whose fair value is estimatecetam a number of assumpti
that are subject to economic and market unceréainticluding, among others, demand for space, ctitiopefor tenants, changes in market rental rates costs to opere
each property.

The following tables set forth the assets and liizs that we measure at fair value on a recurkiagis by level within the fair value hierarchy. \termine the lev
based on the lowest level of substantive input tisetktermine fair value.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices in  Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
December 31 for Identical Observable  Unobservable
2009 Assets Inputs Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities (in prepaid and otassets $ 6,13t $ 6,13t $ — $ —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesaher asset: 16,87: — — 16,87:
Impaired real estate assets (see No 32,00( — — 32,00(
Total Assets $ 55,00( $ 6,1SE $ — $ 48,87:
Liabilities:
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, aca@xpenses and other liabilitie $ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢ $ — $ —
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligati 12,23( — — 12,23(
Total Liabilities $ 19,12¢ $ 6,89¢ $ — $ 12,23(
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10. DscLosurE ABouT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices in  Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
December 31 for Identical Observable  Unobservable
2008 Assets Inputs Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities (in prepaid and otassets $ 542: $ 542: $ — 3 —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensebsaiher asset: 17,46¢ = = 17,46¢
Total Assets $ 22,89( $ 5,422 $ — $ 17,462
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accxjgehees and other liabilitie $ 1,37¢ $ — 3 1,37¢ $ —
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, aca@xpenses and other liabilitie 6,52 6,52 — —
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligati 13,87¢ = = 13,87¢
$ 21,777 $ 6,52: $ 1,37¢ $ 13,87¢

Total Liabilities

The following table sets forth our Level 3 asset hability:

December 31

2009 2008
Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond
Beginning balanc $ 17,46¢ $ —
Transfer into Level — 20,54:
Principal repaymer (890) (790
Unrealized gain/(loss) (in AOCIL 292 (2,289
Ending balanci $ 16,87: $ 17,46¢
Liability:
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP Financing Obligation
Beginning balanc- gross financing obligatio $ 13,87¢ $ 14,15t
Principal repayment (487) (1,579
Interest expense on financing obligat 1,807 1,757
Unrealized gair (2,487 (459
Ending balanc- gross financing obligatio 12,71¢ 13,87¢
Valuation allowance, ne¢ 4,23¢ 2,72%
$ 16,957 $ 16,60¢

Net financing obligatioi

The tax increment financing bond is carried atnested fair value in prepaid and other assets wittealized gains or losses reported in accumulatbdi
comprehensive loss. The estimated fair value aeBer 31, 2009 was $2.4 million below the outstagdiirincipal due on the bond. We currently intemtiold this bonc
which amortizes to maturity in 2020, and do notéwa that we will be required to sell this bonddrefrecovery of the bond principal. Payment ofghacipal and intere
for the bond is guaranteed by us and, thereforehawe recorded no credit losses related to the .bbhere is no legal right of offset with the liatyil recorded as
financing obligation related to this tax increménancing bond.
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10. DscLosurE ABouT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

The SFHarborview Plaza, LP financing obligation is cadriat the greater of estimated fair value or origfirancing obligation of $12.7 million, net of thelatec
valuation allowance as described in Note 7. Theviaiue was $12.2 million and $13.9 million at Dexteer 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The following table sets forth the carrying amouentsl fair values of our financial instruments:

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

December 31, 200!

Cash and cash equivalents $ 23,51¢ $ 23,51¢
Restricted cash $ 6,841 $ 6,841
Accounts and notes receivable $ 24,21: $ 24,21
Marketable securities (in prepaid expenses and atsets $ 6,13t $ 6,13¢
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesaher asset: $ 16,87: $ 16,87
Mortgages and notes payable $ 1,469,15 $ 1,440,31
Financing obligations $ 37,70¢ $ 31,66«
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, aca@xpenses and other liabilitie $ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢
December 31, 200:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,64¢ $ 13,64¢
Restricted cash $ 2,25¢ $ 2,25¢
Accounts and notes receivable $ 27,28¢ $ 27,28¢
Marketable securities (in prepaid expenses and asets $ 542 $ 5,42z
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensekaher asset: $ 17,46¢ $ 17,46¢
Mortgages and notes payable $ 160468 $ 1,330,89
Financing obligations $ 34,17: $ 32,21¢
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrjgehees and other liabilitie $ 1,37¢ $ 1,37¢
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, aca@xpenses and other liabilitie $ 6,527 $ 6,527

The fair values of our mortgages and notes payahtefinancing obligations were estimated usingititeme and market approaches to approximate tloe fine
would be paid in an orderly transaction betweenketgparticipants on the measurement date. Theiogrialues of our cash and cash equivalents anouate and nott
receivable are equal to or approximate fair value.

11. Buity
Common Unit Distributions

Distributions declared and paid per Common Unitraggted $1.70 for each of the years ended DeceBih@009, 2008 and 2007.
Redeemable Common Units

The Operating Partnership is obligated to redeedh é&edeemable Common Unit at the request of théehdhereof for cash equal to the value of oneeslat
Common Stock based on the average of the market for the 10 trading days immediately precedirgrthtice date of such redemption, provided thaCbmpany at if
option may elect to acquire any such Redeemablen@omJnit presented for redemption for cash or dreges of Common Stock. When a holder redeems a Rext#e

Common Unit for a share of Common Stock or cash,Gbmpanys share in the Operating Partnership will be ineedaThe Common Units owned by the Compan
not redeemable.
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11. BuiTy - Continued
Preferred Units

The following table sets forth our Preferred Units:

Annual
Number Liquidation Optional Distributions
of Units Carrying Preference Redemption Payable
Preferred Unit Issuances Issue Date Outstanding Value Per Unit Date Per Unit
(in thousands)

December 31, 2009 and 200:
8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeeme 2/12/1997 29 $ 29,09 $ 1,00¢ 2/12/2027  $ 86.2¢
8.000% Series B Cumulative Redeeme 9/25/1997 2,10C $ 52,50 $ 25 9/25/2002 $ 2.0C

In 2008, the Company repurchased 53,845 outstar®l®25% Series A Preferred Units for an aggregatehase price of $52.5 million. In connection wittis
repurchase, the $0.1 million excess of the purcltase over the net carrying amount of the repuretiamits was recorded as a reduction to net incavadable fo
common unitholders in 2008.

In 2007, we redeemed 1.6 million of our outstand®@00% Series B Preferred Units, for an aggregatehase price of $40.0 million. In connection wiktis
redemption, the $1.4 million excess of the redeomptiost over the net carrying amount of the redelenméts was recorded as a reduction to net incovadable fo
common unitholders in 2007. In 2007, we also rejpased 22,008 of our outstanding 8.625% Series fefPeel Units for an aggregate purchase price of3adllion. In
connection with this repurchase, the $0.8 milli@ness of the purchase cost over the net carryirmuatrof the repurchased units was recorded asugtied to net incorr
available for common unitholders in 2007.

Warrants

Warrants to acquire Common Stock were issued iry E3fl 1999 in connection with property acquisitiddpon exercise of a warrant, the Company will dbote
the exercise price to the Operating Partnershgxahange for Common Units. Therefore, the Operd@agnership accounts for such warrants as if sbyehe Operatir
Partnership. In 2009, there were no warrants esedciln 2008, 10,000 warrants with an exerciseepfc$32.50 were exercised. In 2007, 10,000 wasraith an exercis
price of $34.13 were exercised. At December 3192@tere are 15,000 warrants outstanding with @ncése price of $32.50. These warrants have na&iqm date.

12. EvPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Officer, Management and Director Compensation Progams

The officers of the Company, which is the sole gahpartner of the Operating Partnership, partigga an annual noaguity incentive program whereby they
eligible for incentive cash payments based on @gmage of their annual base salary. In additiocdosidering the pay practices of the Comparpeer group
determining each officer’s incentive payment petaga, the officer’s ability to influence the Compaperformance is also considered. Each officerah@sget annu
non-equity incentive payment percentage that rafrges 20% to 130% of base salary depending on ffieeds position. The offices actual incentive payment for
year is the product of the target annual incenpiggment percentage times a “performance factehjth can range from zero to 200%. This performdacéor depenc
upon the relationship between how various perfogeatriteria compare with predetermined goals. Foofficer who has division responsibilities, go&ts certair
performance criteria are based partly on the dimisi actual performance relative to that diviseo®'stablished goals and partly on actual totaloperdnce. Incentiy
payments are accrued and expensed in the yeadeandeare generally paid in the first quarter effitllowing year.
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12. BPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued

Certain other members of management participaé® iannual norquity incentive program whereby a target annusi ¢acentive payment is established based
the job responsibilities of their position. Incertipayment eligibility ranges from 10% to 30% ohaal base salary. The actual incentive paymeneterthined by ot
overall performance and the individuaperformance during each year. These incentivepats are also accrued and expensed in the yewdeand are generally paic
the first quarter of the following year.

The following table sets forth the number of Comnuits reserved for future issuance:

December 31

2009 2008
Outstanding stock options and warrants 1,482,77. 1,504,25!
Possible future issuance under equity incentivag 3,000,001 773,53.
4,482,717 2,277,78:

The Companys officers generally receive annual grants of stmutions and restricted stock on or about Marchi dach year. Grants made prior to May 13, 2009
made under the Amended and Restated 1994 StockrOplan. Grants subsequent to that date will beemendler the 2009 Longerm Equity Incentive Plan. Restric
stock grants are also made annually to directots aamtain nomsfficer employees. At December 31, 2009, there veasaining availability of 3.0 million shares
Common Stock reserved for future issuance unde2@98 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, of whichmore than 1.0 million can be in the form of res&@cstock.

Additional total return-based restricted stock edformance-based restricted stock may be issudttand of the thregear periods if actual performance exce
certain levels of performance. Such additional etaif any, would be fully vested when issued. Wi also accrue and record expense for additioeafggmancebase:
shares during the thrgear period to the extent issuance of the additishares is expected based on our current andgpedj@ctual performance. No expense is rect
for additional shares of total return-based rettdctock that may be issued at the end of the#ear period since that possibility is already retiéel in the grant date f
value.

Dividends received on restricted stock are fanfeitable and are paid at the same rate and @sdme date as on shares of Common Stock. Divigeidn forfeite
shares are expensed.

During the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008280d@, we recognized $6.6 million, $6.7 million a$8.2 million, respectively, of shatesed compensati

expense. Because we generally do not pay incones tae do not realize tax benefits on sHzased payments. At December 31, 2009, there wésrfillion of tota
unrecognized share-based compensation costs, willdie recognized over vesting periods that haveegghted average remaining term of 1.5 years.
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12. EPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued
- Stock Options

Stock options issued prior to 2005 vest ratablyr doer years and remain outstanding for 10 yeaisckSoptions issued beginning in 2005 vest ratablyr a fouryeal
period and remain outstanding for seven years.vBhge of all options as of the date of grant icakted using the Black-Scholes optiprieing model and is amortiz
over the respective vesting or service period. fHirevalues of options granted during 2009, 2008 2607 were $1.82, $3.18 and $6.30, respectivelypption. The fa
values of the options granted were determinedeagthnt dates using the following assumptions:

2009 2008 2007
Risk free interest rai(1) 2.31% 2.61% 4.51%
Common stock dividend yiel2) 8.96% 5.71% 4.07%
Expected volatility(3) 29.9% 22.6% 18.95%
Average expected option life (yea(4) 5.7t 5.7¢ 5.7¢
Options granted 394,04 319,09: 146,34
1) Represents the interest rate on US treasury bandkthe grant date having the same life as thimastd life of the option grant
2) The dividend yield is calculated utilizing the diends paid for the previous «-year period and the per share price of Common Sindke date of grar

3) Based on the historical volatility of Common Staxler a period relevant to the related stock opgiamt.
4) The average expected option life for the 2009, 20082007 grants is based on an analysis of thep@oy' s historical date
The following table sets forth stock option grants:

Options Outstanding

Weighted

Average

Number of Exercise

Shares Price

Balances at December 31, 2006 2,975,07. $ 24.67
Options granted 146,34 41.8:
Options cancelled (115,22%) 30.1¢
Options exercised (1,096,36 23.2¢
Balances at December 31, 2007 1,909,82. 26.4¢
Options granted 319,09: 29.4¢
Options cancelled (16,33)) 31.6¢
Options exercised (723,33) 22.9¢
Balances at December 31, 2008 1,489,25! 28.7¢
Options granted 394,04« 19.0C
Options cancelled (111,590 27.6¢
Options exercised (303,93) 24.1¢
Balances at December 31, 2((1) (2) 1467.77. $ 27.1¢

(D) The outstanding options at December 31, 2009 haeighted average remaining life of 4.4 years amdhisic value of $10.3 million
2) The Company had 727,243 options exercisable atidleee31, 2009 with weighted average exercise @i&®29.12, weighted average remaining life of 4edry

and intrinsic value of $3.7 million. At December, 2009, 70,577 options exercisable at Decembe2®19 had exercise prices higher than the marke¢ fi ou
Common Stock
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12. EPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued

Cash received or receivable from options exercisad $7.4 million, $15.9 million and $12.9 milliolrfthe years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optioesercised during the years ended December 31, ZWIB and 2007 was $2.0 million, $9.6 million arzBH million
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optiooststanding at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007$4@s8 million, $1.7 million and $8.0 million, resgtively. The
Company generally does not permit the net castesetht of exercised stock options, but does pemgtishare settlement so long as the shares recaigdeeld for at lea
one year. The Company has a policy of issuing rfewes to satisfy stock option exercises.

- Time-Based Restricted Stock

Shares of time-based restricted stock issued t&Ctimpanys directors, officers and other employees prio2@05 generally vest 50% three years from the dt
grant and the remaining 50% five years from datgraht. Shares of time-based restricted stockwleae issued to officers and employees in 2005 eesthird on the
third anniversary, one-third on the fourth anniagysand one-third on the fifth anniversary of thaedof grant. Shares of tinfsed restricted stock that were issue
officers and employees beginning in 2006 genenadist 25% on the first, second, third and fourthiegnsary dates, respectively. Shares of timased restricted stc
issued to directors generally vest 25% on Januarf/elach successive year after the grant datev@he of grants of timbased restricted stock is based on the m
value of Common Stock as of the date of grant aradriortized to expense over the respective vestisgrvice periods.

The following table sets forth time-based restdctéock grants:

Weighted
Average

Grant
Number of Date Fair

Shares Value
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2006 255,12( $ 27.1%
Awarded and issue(1) 205,28: 40.7¢
Vested(2) (73,947 27.3¢
Forfeited (29,959 27.6:
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2007 356,49 34.8¢
Awarded and issue(1) 92,15( 30.1:
Vested(2) (113,82) 33.1:
Forfeited (5,029 32.11
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2008 329,79! 34.21
Awarded and issue(1) 128,38 19.3¢
Vested(2) (132,779 33.3¢
Forfeited (9,326 31.2¢
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2009 316,07: $ 28.6(

1) The fair value at grant date of tirhesed restricted stock issued during the yearsdebdeember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $2.5 mil#iar8 million and $8.
million, respectively

2) The vesting date fair value of tinbased restricted stock that vested during the yaated December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $2i0m$4.8 million an
$3.2 million, respectively
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12. EPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued
- Total Return-Based and Performance-Based Restiied Stock

During 2007, the Company also issued shares ofictest stock to officers that vest from zero to 2D0ased on its total shareholder return in comparte tota
returns of a selected group of peer companiesateree-year period. The grants also containedasion allowing for partial vesting if the Compasyannual total retu
in any given year of the three-year period exce@¥%dn an absolute basis.

During 2009 and 2008, the Company issued sharestalf return-based restricted stock to officerst thdl vest from zero to 250% based on (1) the Camyps
absolute total returns for the three-year periodied December 31, 2010 and 2011 relative to defimegt returns and (2) whether the Compartgtal return exceeds 1
average total returns of a selected group of peepanies. The grant date fair value of such shafréstal returnbased restricted stock was determined to be 53r&f
100%, respectively, of the market value of a slodi@ommon Stock as of the grant date and is aneattiwer the respective three-year period.

During 2008 and 2007, the Company also issued slhdrperformance-based restricted stock to offiteas will vest pursuant to certain performar@esed criterii
The performance-based criteria are based on whethest we meet or exceed at the end of tiyega-performance periods certain operating andéiigh goals establish
under our Strategic Plan. To the extent actualoperéince equals or exceeds threshold performands, gba portion of shares of performarussed restricted stock t
vest can range from 50% to 100%. If actual perforoeadoes not meet such threshold goals, none gietfermancesased restricted stock will vest. The fair valu
performancebased restricted share grants is based on the madke of Common Stock as of the date of grantthedestimated performance to be achieved at et
the threeyear period. Such fair value is being amortizedxpense during the period from grant date to tistinvg dates, adjusting for the expected level sting that wil
occur at those dates.

The following table sets forth total return-based aerformance-based restricted stock grants:

Weighted
Average

Grant
Number of Date Fair

Shares Value
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2006 106,64t $ 28.5¢
Awarded and issue(1) 41,48( 41.81
Vested(2) (3,77¢) 26.82
Forfeited (8,876 30.97
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2007 135,47: 32.52
Awarded and issue(1) 77,87¢ 29.7¢
Vested(2) (59,897 26.82
Forfeited (2,116 29.2%
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2008 151,34. 33.3¢
Awarded and issue(1) 127,59: 15.01
Vested(2) (68,929 32.6¢€
Forfeited (7,232) 34.1¢
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2009 202,770 $ 22.0¢

1) The fair value at grant date of performancsedaand total returbased restricted stock issued during the yearsdeBDdeember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was
million, $2.3 million and $1.7 million, respectiye!

2) The vesting date fair value of performanceeldaand total returbbased restricted stock that vested during the yersdted December 31, 2009, 2008 and 200"
$2.6 million, $2.4 million and $0.2 million, respaely.
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12. EPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued
Retirement Plan

In 2006, the Company adopted a retirement planiegipe to all employees, including officers, who tlee time of retirement, have at least 30 yearsowitinuou
qualified service or are at least 55 years old @k at least 10 years of continuous qualifiedisenSubject to advance retirement notice and éi@tof a noneompet
agreement with us, eligible retirees are entiteddceive a pro rata amount of the annual incerpaygment earned during the year of retirement. IStqtions an
restricted stock granted by the Company to sudibddi retiree during his or her employment wouldrnmmforfeitable and vest according to the terms ofrtlegigina
grants. The benefits of this retirement plan amplly to restricted stock and stock option granigifi@ng in 2006 and have been phased in 25% oniM&r2006 and 25
on each anniversary thereof. For employees who theeage and service eligibility requirements, 560their 2007 grants, 75% of their 2008 grants &88% of thei
2009 grants were deemed fully vested at the grat, dvhich increased compensation expense by appaely $0.6 million, $0.6 million and $0.3 million the year
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respactivel

Deferred Compensation

The Company has a nayualified deferred compensation plan pursuant tachvieach officer and director could elect to defeportion of their base salary anc
annual norequity incentive payment (or director fees) whica mvested by the Company in various mutual fufit® Company has decided to indefinitely suspers
option to defer compensation earned after Janua29@10. These investments are recorded at fairevelboich aggregated $6.1 million at December 319280d ar
included in prepaid expenses and other assets anitffsetting deferred compensation liability netel in other liabilities. Such deferred compemsais expensed in t
period earned by the officers and directors. Defitamounts ultimately payable to the officers ainelctbrs are based on the value of the related ahfitind investment
Accordingly, changes in the value of the marketablgual fund investments are recorded in interast @her income and the corresponding offsettingnges in th
deferred compensation liability are recorded inggahand administration expense. As a result, tlsene effect on our net income subsequent toithe the compensatit
is deferred and fully funded.

The following table sets forth the Company’s defdrcompensation liability:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Beginning deferred compensation liability $ 6,52: $ 7,867 $ 8,682
Contributions to deferred compensation pl — 1,57¢ 711
Mark-to-market adjustment to deferred compensation (geaedhbdministrative expens 1,497 (2,177 (22¢)
Distributions from deferred compensation pl (1,127 (742 (1,399
Total deferred compensation liabill $ 6,89¢ $ 6,52: $ 7,86i
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12. BPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS - Continued
401(k) Savings Plan

We have a 401(k) savings plan covering substaptillemployees who meet certain age and employeréetia. We contribute amounts for each partiotpat a rat
of 75% of the employee’s contribution (up to 6% edch employee’s hieekly salary and cash incentives subject to stgtulimits). During the years end
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we contribute@ idillion, $1.1 million and $1.2 million, respeatly, to the 401(k) savings plan. The assets ofdhialified plan al
not included in our Consolidated Balance Sheetsesiine assets are not owned by us. Administratipereses of the plan are paid by us.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plangnirto which employees generally may contribptéo25.0% of their cash compensation for the paseto
Common Stock. At the end of each thmenth offering period, each participant's accoualibce, which includes accrued dividends, is agpie acquire shares
Common Stock at a cost that is calculated at 850%e lower of the average closing price on thevN@ork Stock Exchange on the five consecutive dageeding th
first day of the quarter or the five days precedimglast day of the quarter. In the years endezkBxer 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Company is30287, 29,324 a1
16,937 shares, respectively, of Common Stock utideEmployee Stock Purchase Plan. The discounewafyrissued shares is expensed by us as additongbensatio
and aggregated $0.3 million, $0.2 million and $®iftion in the years ended December 31, 2009, 200682007, respectively.

13. (OMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Comprehensive income represents net income plushifieges in certain amounts deferred in accumulattest comprehensive loss related to hedging siesvan
changes in fair market value of an available dale security not reflected in our ConsolidatedeBt@nts of Income. The components of comprehenso@nme are ¢
follows:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Net income $ 61,64 $ 35,48: $ 94,89
Other comprehensive incorr

Unrealized gain/(loss) on tax increment financiogd 29z (2,659 —

Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hec 937 (1,376 —

Amortization of past cash flow hedg (249 181 577

Total other comprehensive income/(lo 981 (3,859 577

Total comprehensive incon $ 62,621 $ 31,62¢ $ 95,47

Accumulated other comprehensive loss representsiceamounts deferred related to hedging activiies an available fosale security. The components
accumulated other comprehensive loss are as fallows

December 31

2009 2008
Tax increment financing bond $ 2,36¢ $ 2,65¢
Cash flow hedges 1,44¢ 2,13:¢
$ 3,811 $ 4,792
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14. RENTAL AND OTHER REVENUES; RENTAL PROPERTY AND OTHER EXPENSES

Our real estate assets are leased to customers qelating leases. The minimum rental amounts withdeleases are generally subject to scheduledl fixcrease
Generally, the leases also require that the customemburse us for increases in certain costs aflog baseear costs. Rental and other revenues from comig
operations consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Contractual rents, net $ 397,90 $ 387,25 $ 359,29°
Straigh-line rental income, net 3,54t 6,14 7,13t
Amortization of lease incentives (1,100 (1,020 (939
Property operating expense recoveries, net 45,00¢ 46,54¢ 41,26«
Lease termination fees 1,81: 2,561 1,70C
Fee income 5,15¢ 5,14¢ 6,49¢
Other miscellaneous operating income 1,701 3,651 3,45¢

$ 454,02¢ $ 450,29. $ 418,40¢

The following table sets forth future minimum basats to be received from customers over the nestyfears and thereafter for leases in effect atebder 31, 20(
for the Wholly Owned Properties:

2010 $ 390,39:
2011 349,92
2012 286,33¢
2013 228,89t
2014 194,19(
Thereafter 598,32¢

The following table sets forth rental property arider expenses from continuing operations:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Maintenance, cleaning and general building $ 56,87 $ 58,50¢ $ 53,05!
Utilities, insurance and real estate taxes 91,93« 87,35 80,26:
Property management and administrative expe 11,93( 11,60¢ 11,24:
Other miscellaneous operating expenses 2,99¢ 4,23t 4,481

$ 163,72¢ $ 161,70: $ 149,03k
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15. DSCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As part of our business strategy, we from timeinetselectively dispose of namore properties. The table below sets forth theoperating results of those as:
classified as discontinued operations in our Cadatéd Financial Statements. These assets clasasigliscontinued operations comprise 2.5 milliguase feet of offict
industrial and retail properties and 13 rentaldestial units sold during 2009, 2008 and 2007. ®perations of these assets have been reclassified dur ongoin
operations to discontinued operations, and wenwillhave any significant continuing involvementhie operations after the disposal transactions.

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Rental and other revenues $ 5,28¢ $ 1557 $ 25,69
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen 2,031 6,01f 11,117
Depreciation and amortizatic 83¢ 2,94, 5,51¢
Total operating expens 2,86¢ 8,96: 16,63:
Interest expense — — 17
Interest and other income = 31 59
Income before gains on disposition of discontinuedperations 2,41¢ 6,63¢ 9,10¢
Net gains on disposition of discontinued operations 21,46¢ 18,48t 34,477
Total discontinued operations $ 2388 $ 2512¢ $ 43,58
Carrying value of assets held for sale and assédglisat qualified for discontinued operations dgrthe yea $ 54,68¢ $ 92,59: $ 164,10¢

The following table sets forth the major classeassfets and liabilities of the properties heldsale:

December 31

2009 2008

Assets:
Land $ 867 $ 867
Buildings and tenant improvemer 3,87¢ 3,87¢
Land held for developme! 1,197 1,197
Accumulated depreciatic (1,484 (1,387
Net real estate asst 4,45¢ 4,552
Deferred leasing costs, r 20¢ 22t
Accrued straight line rents receival 28¢ 272
Prepaid expenses and other assets 77 45
Real estate and other assets, net, held for s $ 5,031 $ 5,09¢
Tenant security deposits, deferred rents and adaosts(1) $ 12 $ 9

(1) Included in accounts payable, accrued expensesthed liabilities.
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16. EARNINGS PER UNIT

Beginning in the first quarter of 2009, we have ified our calculation of weighted average unitssibaand diluted, to include the total number oftneted unit:
outstanding, as described in Note 1. The followatge sets forth the computation of basic and €dwgarnings per unit:

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Earnings per common unit- basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 37,75¢ $ 10,35¢ $ 51,31«
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeeis consolidated affiliates from continuing ogeras (11) (2,047 (679
Distributions on preferred uni() (6,70¢) (9,809 (23,477
Excess of preferred unit redemption/repurchaseagest carrying valu (i) — (10¢) (2,28%
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdiolecommon unitholder 31,031 (1,599 34,87
Income from discontinued operations 23,88¢ 25,12¢ 43,58
Net income available for common unithold $ 54,927 $ 2353C $ 78,45¢
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common - weighted average uni 71,59 62,88: 60,71(
Earnings per common ur- basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdlecommon unitholder $ 04: $ (0.09 $ 0.57
Income from discontinued operations available fammon unitholder 0.34 0.4C 0.72
Net income available for common unithold $ 0.77 $ 037 $ 1.2¢
Earnings per common unit- diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 37,75¢ $ 10,35¢ $ 51,31«
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteees consolidated affiliates from continuing opgeras 11) (2,047) (679
Distributions on preferred uni() (6,70¢) (9,804 (13,477
Excess of preferred unit redemption/repurchaseagst carrying valu(1) — (10¢) (2,285
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdlolecommon unitholder 31,031 (1,599 34,87
Income from discontinued operations 23,88¢ 25,12« 43,58:
Net income available for common unithold $ 54,927 $ 2353 $ 78,45
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common weighted average uni 71,59: 62,88: 60,71(
Add:
Stock options using the treasury method 79 — 662
Den(c;r)mnator for diluted earnings per Common Uratjusted weighted average units and assumed camvers 71.67¢ 62.88: 61,37
Earnings per common ur- diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdlolecommon unitholder $ 04: $ (0.09 $ 0.57

Income from discontinued operations available fsnmon unitholder 0.34 0.4C 0.71
Net income available for common unithold 071 $ 0.37 $ 1.2¢

©*

(D) For additional disclosures regarding outstandirgfé?red Units, see Note 11 included her
2) Options and warrants aggregating approximatelyndildon, 1.4 million and 0.1 million units were aianding during the years ended December 31, 2%

and 2007, respectively, but were not included & d¢bmputation of diluted earnings per unit becaheempact of including such units would be aditistive tc
the earnings per unit calculati.
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17. NCOME TAXES

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include fherations of the Comparg/taxable REIT subsidiary, which is not entitledhe dividends paid deduction an
subject to corporate, state and local income taies.taxable REIT subsidiary has operated at a @atime taxable loss through December 31, 2009 pf@pmately $10.
million and has paid no income taxes since its fdfam. In addition to the $4.2 million deferred tasset for these cumulative tax loss carryforwattus taxable REI
subsidiary also had net deferred tax liabilitiegpproximately $2.9 million comprised primarily tafx versus book basis differences in certain imaests and deprecial
assets held by the taxable REIT subsidiary. Becthestuture tax benefit of the cumulative lossesdsassured, the approximate $1.3 million netmefktax asset positi
of the taxable REIT subsidiary has been fully resdras management does not believe that it is fikelg than not that the net deferred tax assek bélrealized. The t:
benefit of the cumulative losses could be recoghfpe financial reporting purposes in future pesdd the extent the taxable REIT subsidiary gersratfficient taxab
income. Other than income taxes related to itsti@xREIT subsidiary, the Operating Partnership mbed state income tax expense in rental propedyodimer expenses
$0.5 million, $0.2 million and $0.3 million for theears ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 200&atdsHy.

The minimum dividend per share of Common Stock iregufor us to maintain our REIT status was $080,76 and $0.54 per share in 2009, 2008 and
respectively. Continued qualification as a REIT elegis on our ability to satisfy the dividend disttibn tests, stock ownership requirements and uarather qualificatio
tests prescribed in the Code. The tax basis ofasaets (net of accumulated tax depreciation andtaaion) and liabilities was approximately $2.dlibn and $1.¢
billion, respectively, at December 31, 2009 and a@sroximately $2.4 billion and $1.7 billion, resfieely, at December 31, 2008.

On January 1, 2007, the Operating Partnership dedono liabilities for uncertain tax positions. Hower, the Company recorded a $1.4 million liabjliyhict
included $0.2 million of accrued interest, for arcertain tax position, with the related expenskecgéd as a reduction to the beginning balancestrfilbutions in excess
net earnings. This liability was included in acctsupayable, accrued expenses and other liabilibesing the third quarter of 2007, the liabilityrfthe uncertain te
position was released, and income recognized, tiperexpiration of the applicable statute of limdas. If this liability for the uncertain tax ptisn and any relate
interest or penalties had ever been paid by thepaos the Operating Partnership would have reinggitke Company for these costs, as provided uhéegpdrtnershi
agreement.

The Company is subject to federal, state and liocaime tax examinations by tax authorities for 2696ugh 2009.
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18. SGMENT INFORMATION

Our principal business is the operation, acquisitmd development of rental real estate propertés.evaluate our business by product type and lograehic
location. Each product type has different custonaers economic characteristics as to rental ratestemms, cost per square foot of buildings, theppses for whic
customers use the space, the degree of maintemadceustomer support required and customer depepdendifferent economic drivers, among others. @peratin
results by geographic grouping are also regulaWewed by our chief operating decision maker &messing performance and other purposes. Thermarmaterial inter
segment transactions.

The accounting policies of the segments are theesasrthose described in Note 1. All operationswatiein the United States and, at December 31, 2609%ingl¢
customer of the Wholly Owned Properties generatererthan 10% of our consolidated revenues durifi20

The following table summarizes the rental incomd ather revenues and net operating income, theapyinmdustry propertyevel performance metric which
defined as rental and other revenues less rerdpkepy and other expenses, for each reportableesgsigm

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Rental and Other Revenues(1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 48,707 $ 47,06¢ $ 43,54
Greenville, SC 14,01 13,98 13,54:
Kansas City, MO 14,84( 15,35( 14,33
Memphis, TN 30,64+ 25,85 24,21:
Nashville, TN 60,55¢ 60,19« 50,24¢
Orlando, FL 11,81( 11,40:¢ 8,787
Piedmont Triad, NC 25,35 25,77: 26,81¢
Raleigh, NC 73,08( 70,26« 63,87(
Richmond, VA 46,62( 47,97« 45,12«
Tampa, FL 67,29¢ 65,857 61,51¢
Total Office Segment 392,92: 383,71 351,99:
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 15,61: 15,722 15,95(
Piedmont Triad, NC 14,10 14,76: 13,68¢
Total Industrial Segment 29,71« 30,48¢ 29,63¢
Retail:
Kansas City, MO 29,99¢ 34,63¢ 35,38¢
Piedmont Triad, NC 18t 221 21¢
Raleigh, NC 12C 36 —
Total Retail Segment 30,30¢ 34,89! 35,60«
Residential
Kansas City, MO 1,08¢ 1,202 1,17¢
Total Residential Segment 1,08¢ 1,202 1,17¢
Total Rental and Other Revenues $ 454,02 $  450,29: $ 418,40
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18. BGMENT INFORMATION - Continued

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Net Operating Income: (1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 30,80 $ 28,84: $ 28,44¢
Greenville, SC 8,71¢ 8,81: 8,371
Kansas City, MO 9,08¢ 9,25( 8,39
Memphis, TN 17,72t 15,14¢ 13,65¢
Nashville, TN 39,12¢ 39,66! 32,20t
Orlando, FL 6,27¢ 6,30¢ 4,45
Piedmont Triad, NC 16,48¢ 16,07: 17,12t
Raleigh, NC 49,28( 46,17¢ 41,31
Richmond, VA 32,07: 32,23 30,89:
Tampa, FL 40,14¢ 39,35¢ 36,697
Total Office Segment 249,71¢ 241,85: 221,55
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 11,60¢ 11,91« 12,46
Piedmont Triad, NC 10,69¢ 11,47: 10,69¢
Total Industrial Segment 22,30! 23,38t 23,16(
Retail:
Atlanta, GA(2) — (26) 39
Kansas City, MO 18,20« 22,58( 24,01t
Piedmont Triad, NC 12 177 191
Raleigh, NC2) 9 (60) (88)
Total Retail Segment 18,22¢ 22,67 24,082
Residential
Kansas City, MO 581 71t 65¢
Raleigh, NC(2) (52¢) (34 (85
Total Residential Segment 53 681 574
Total Net Operating Income 290,29 288,58¢ 269,37:
Reconciliation to income from continuing operationsbefore disposition of property and condominiums,risurance
settlement and equity in earnings of unconsolidatedffiliates:
Depreciation and amortization (131,049 (124,67 (118,34)
Impairment of assets held for use (13,519 (32,84¢) (789)
General and administrative expel (37,209 (38,187 (41,930
Interest expense (86,872) (98,497 (100,239
Interest and other income 9,55( 3,75¢ 6,372
Income/(loss) from continuing operations beforgdsition of property and condominiums, insuranddesaent and )
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia $ 31,200 $ (1850 $ 14,44¢
1) Net of discontinued operatior
) Negative NOI with no corresponding revenues repissexpensed real estate taxes and other carrgistg associated with land held for development it

currently zoned for the respective product ty
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18. SBGMENT INFORMATION - Continued

December 31

2009 2008 2007
Total Assets:
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 275,46: $ 277,47: $ 276,28:
Baltimore, MD 1,781 1,79¢ 10,15¢
Greenville, SC 78,56 83,55¢ 87,66:
Kansas City, MO 85,68: 87,95¢ 104,07¢
Memphis, TN 220,72: 187,31¢ 134,96:
Nashville, TN 338,12: 348,06¢ 349,35:
Orlando, FL 48,82 50,85z 51,36:
Piedmont Triad, NC 141,97: 148,51: 182,47(
Raleigh, NC 464,72 469,44 442,43:
Richmond, VA 249,88: 257,22: 259,70
Tampa, FL 393,81. 379,14t 389,40°
Total Office Segment 2,299,55! 2,291,33! 2,287,86!
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 136,57( 137,51( 124,75¢
Kansas City, MO — 12z 152
Piedmont Triad, NC 92,30( 100,42¢ 108,23
Total Industrial Segment 228,87( 238,06: 233,14t
Retail:
Atlanta, GA 1,044 1,07( 97¢
Kansas City, MO 175,75 224,60: 230,55t
Piedmont Triad, NC 1,08z 10,42 7,96(
Raleigh, NC 6,04¢ 4,452 3,22%
Total Retail Segment 183,93: 240,54¢ 242,71¢
Residential
Kansas City, MO 6,12¢ 6,471 6,834
Orlando, FL 2,143 2,143 2,145
Raleigh, NC 16,29 28,69¢ 18,03:
Total Residential Segment 24,56 37,31¢ 27,01¢
Corporate 148,81: 137,59! 135,05¢
Total Assets $ 2,885,73!‘ $ 2,944,85' $ 2,925,80‘
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19. QARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA ( Unaudited )

The following tables set forth quarterly financiaformation for the years ended December 31, 200@ 2008 and have been adjusted to reflect disaoed
operations:

Year Ended December 31, 200

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Rental and other revenu() $ 113,35¢ $ 112,85 $ 114,14 $ 113,66¢ $ 454,02t
Income/(loss) from continuing operatio(1) (3) 12,05: 15,12 12,69¢ (2,119 37,75¢
Income/(loss) from discontinued operati«(3) 1,11z 21,93¢ (13¢) 972 23,88
Net income/(loss 13,16: 37,05¢ 12,56( (1,149 61,64(
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollinggirests in consolidate
affiliates (18) (11€) (24) 147 (11)
Distributions on preferred units (1,677 (1,677 (1,677 (1,677) (6,708
Net income/(loss) available for common unitholc $ 11.46¢ $ 35,26¢ $ 10,85¢ $ (2,675 $ 54,92
Earnings per unit-basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon
unitholders $ 0.1t $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1t $ (0.0%) $ 0.4
Income from discontinued operations available fammon unitholder 0.0z 0.32 — 0.01 0.34
Net income/(loss) available for common unitholc $ 017 $ 051 ¢ 0.1f $ (0.04 $ 0.77
Earnings per unit-diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availaolecommon
unitholders $ 0.1t $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1t $ (0.0%) $ 0.4
Income from discontinued operations available fammon unitholder 0.0z 0.32 — 0.01 0.34
Net income/(loss) available for common unitholc $ 017 $ 051 8 0.1t 3 0.04 $ 0.77
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19. QARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA ( Unaudited )

Year Ended December 31, 200

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Rental and other revenu(@) 110,83 $ 112,37 $ 112,70t $ 114,37¢ $ 450,29:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatio(2) (3) 11,21 9,04¢ 11,00( (20,909 10,35¢
Income from discontinued operatic(3) 5,50¢ 6,952 4,697 7,96 25,12
Net income/(loss 16,72: 16,00: 15,69 (12,93¢) 35,48:
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteseim consolidated
affiliates (19¢) (197) (207) (1,457 (2,04))
Distributions on preferred uni (2,83¢) (2,83¢) (2,45)) (1,677) (9,809
Excess of preferred unit redemption/ repurchasemas carrying valu — — (108 — (108
Net income/(loss) available for common unitholc 1368 $ 1297: $ 1293 $ (16,064 $ 23,53
Earnings per unit-basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon
unitholders 014 $ 0.1C $ 0.1 $ (0.36) $ (0.0%)
Income from discontinued operations available fammon unitholder 0.0¢ 0.11 0.0¢ 0.1Z 0.4C
Net income/(loss) available for common unitholc 0.2t $ 021 $ 021 $ 0.2 $ 0.3
Earnings per unit-diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availdolecommon
unitholders 0.1: $ 0.1C $ 0.1: $ (0.3¢) $ (0.09)
Income from discontinued operations available fammon unitholder 0.0¢ 0.11 0.0¢ 0.17 0.4C
Net income/(loss) available for common unitholc 02z $ 021 $ 021 $ 0.2 $ 0.3
1) Loss from continuing operations for the fourth deaof 2009 includes a $13.5 million impairmentassets held for use as described in No
2) Loss from continuing operations for the fourth deaof 2008 includes a $32.8 million impairmentassets held for use as described in No
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19. QARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA ( Unaudited ) — Continued

3) The amounts presented for the first three tgusiare not equal to the same amounts previoagigrted in Form 1@ for each period as a result of discontir
operations (see Note 15). Below is the reconaiiatd the amounts previously reported in Forr-Q:

Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30
2009 2009 2009

Rental and other revenues, as repa $ 115,96¢ $ 113,31( $ 114,22¢
Discontinued operatior (2,607 (45¢€) (85)

Rental and other revenues, as adju $ 113,35¢ $ 112,85: $ 114,14
Income from continuing operations, as repo $ 13,09 $ 15,33t $ 12,70¢
Discontinued operatior (1,039 (214 (7

Income from continuing operations, as adjut $ 12,05 $ 15127 $ 12,69¢
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, as meypk $ 73 % 21,72¢ $ (14%)
Additional discontinued operations from propersietd subsequent to the respective reporting pe 1,03¢ 214 7

Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, asstdjl 111 3 2193t $ (13§

Quarter Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30 December 31
2008 2008 2008 2008

Rental and other revenues, as repo $ 113,42¢ $ 112,82¢ $ 112,75 $ 117,10:
Discontinued operatior (2,595 (455) (49) (2,724

Rental and other revenues, as adju $ 110,83 $ 112,370 $ 112,70t $ 114,37¢
Income/(loss) from continuing operations, as rem(a) $ 12,32t $ 9,22¢ $ 10,95¢ $ (21,189
Discontinued operatior (1,112 (180) 42 28E

Income/(loss) from continuing operations, as adjt $ 1121t $ 9.04¢ $ 11,000 $ (20,907
Income from discontinued operations, as repc(a) $ 4,39 $ 6,77: $ 4,73¢ $ 6,801
Additional discontinued operations from propersesd subsequent to the

respective reporting peric 1,112 18C (42) 1,16¢€

Income from discontinued operations, as adju $ 5,50¢ $ 6,95: $ 4691 $ 7,96i

() Income from continuing operations, as repgrted the quarter ended December 31, 2008 was fhatcome attributable to noncontrolling interesfs$1.5
million.
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20. QHER EVENTS
Property Insurance Settlement

In 2005, one of our office properties located intbeastern Florida sustained damage in a hurridameng the first quarter of 2007, we recorded al$aillion gair
for the non-monetary conversion upon finalizatiéthe insurance claim.

Subsequent Events

We have evaluated events subsequent to Decemb2039,through February 11, 2010 (date of filing) purposes of our measurement and disclosure ige
Consolidated Financial Statements.

On February 3, 2010, the Board of Directors dedasecash distribution of $0.425 per Common Unitgidg on March 9, 2010 to unitholders of recorc
February 15, 2010, a cash distribution of $21.56@58.625% Series A Preferred Units payable on Mar@010 to unitholders of record on February28,0 and a ca:
distribution of $0.50 per 8.000% Series B Prefetdaits payable on March 15, 2010 to unitholderseacbrd on March 1, 2010.

The buyers right to put a building to us that was dispos&thdhe fourth quarter of 2009 expired in Janua@10. This property was accounted for as a finag
arrangement at December 31, 2009 (see Note 7).rdicgy, we recognized a completed sale of the erigpin the first quarter of 2010.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

SCHEDULE 1l
(in thousands)

As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

A summary of activity for Valuation and Qualifyidgccounts and Reserves

Allowance for Doubtful Account- Straight Line Ren
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Accounts Receivabl
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Notes Receivable

Totals

Allowance for Doubtful Account- Straight Line Ren
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Accounts Receivabl
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Notes Receivable

Totals

Allowance for Doubtful Account- Straight Line Ren
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Accounts Receivabl
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Notes Receivabl

Disposition Reserv
Totals

Balance at Balance at
December 31, December 31,
2008 Additions Deductions 2009
$ 2,082 2,48¢ (2,129 $ 2,44:

1,281 2,90(¢ (1,379 2,81(
45¢ 25E (16) 69¢€
$ 3,822 5,63¢ (351G 8 5,951
Balance at Balance at
December 31, December 31,
2007 Additions Deductions 2008
$ 44C 1,90t (269 $ 2,082
93t 1,091 (74%) 1,281
68 39t (4) 45¢
$ 1,447 3,391 (1,012) $ 3,822
Balance at Balance at
December 31, December 31,
2006 Additions Deductions 2007
$ 301 747 (60¢) $ 44C
1,252 422 (740) 93t
78€ — (71¢) 68
75 — (75) —
$ 2,41t 1,16¢ (2,14 8 1,44

157




HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
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NOTE TO SCHEDULE llI

(in thousands)

As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

A summary of activity for real estate and accunedadepreciation is as follows:

Real estate asse

Beginning balanc

Additions:
Acquisitions, development and improveme
Cost of real estate sold and reti

Ending balance (¢

Accumulated depreciatiol

Beginning balanc
Depreciation expens
Real estate sold and retir

Ending balance (k

CY

(b)

Reconciliation of total real estate assets to lwaneet captior

Total per Schedule 1lI
Development in progress exclusive of land inclusiefichedule Il|
Real estate assets, net, held for sale

Total real estate assets

Reconciliation of total accumulated depreciatiob&tance sheet captic

Total per Schedule IlI
Real estate assets, net, held for sale
Total accumulated depreciation
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December 31

2009 2008 2007

$ 327290 $ 318066 $  3,07233

167,62« 184,20t 247,15:

(99,279 (91,965) (138,82

$ 334125 $ 327290 $ _ 3,180,66

$ 714,22 $ 649,76! $ 595,13

115,60 110,98t 107,79

(47,270) (46,52 (53,169

$ 782,55 $ 714,22 $ 649, 76!
2009 2008 2007

$ 334125 $ 327290 $  3,180,66

— 61,93¢ 101,66

(5,94)) (1,242) (10,466

$ 333531 $ _ 333360 $ _ 327185
2009 2008 2007

$ 782,55 $ 71422 $ 649,76

(1,48 — —

$ 781,07: $ 714,22 $ 649, 76!




HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

SCHEDULE Ill - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIA TION
(in thousands)

December 31, 2009

Costs Capitalized Life on
Subsequentto  Gross Value at Close o Which
Initial Costs Acquisitions Periods Depreciation
Segment 2009 Bldg & Bldg & Bldg & Total Accumulated Date of is

Description Type City Encumbrance Land Improv Land Improv Land Improv Assets: Depreciation Construction Calculated
Atlanta, GA
1700 Century $ $
Circle Office  Atlants $ - $2,48: 2$ (11 2 $2,47.$2,47° $ 34 1983 5-40 yrs.
1800 Century
Boulevard Office  Atlants 1,44: 29,08 1 9,86: 1,44¢ 38,94¢< 40,38¢ 15,13¢ 1975 5-40 yrs.
1825 Century
Center Office  Atlants 864 - 30z  15,16¢ 1,167 15,16¢ 16,33: 3,60¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
1875 Century
Boulevard Office  Atlants - 8,92« - 2,23t - 11,15¢ 11,15¢ 3,84t 1976 5-40 yrs.
1900 Century
Boulevard Office  Atlants - 4,744 - 917 - 5,661 5,661 1,97¢ 1971 5-40 yrs.
2200 Century
Parkway Office  Atlants - 14,43: - 3,44¢ - 17,87¢ 17,87¢ 5,97¢ 1971 5-40 yrs.
2400 Century
Center Office  Atlants - - 40€  15,65¢ 40€ 15,65¢ 16,06: 6,104 1998 5-40 yrs.
2500 Century
Center Office  Atlants - - 32¢ 14,28t 32¢ 14,28f 14,61 2,25( 2005 5-40 yrs.
2500/2635
Parking Garag Office  Atlante - - - 6,24z - 6,247 6,24 63€ 2005 5-40 yrs.
2600 Century
Parkway Office  Atlants - 10,67¢ - 3,82¢ - 14,50¢ 14,50¢ 4,76¢ 1973 5-40 yrs.
2635 Century
Parkway Office  Atlants - 21,64: - 3,001 - 24,64¢ 24,64« 8,461 1980 5-40 yrs.
2800 Century
Parkway Office  Atlants - 20,44¢ - 2,92¢ - 23,37 23,37« 7,101 1983 5-40 yrs.
50 Glenlake Office  Atlants ) 2,50C 20,00¢ - 2,35¢€ 2,500 22,36 24,86 6,72¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
6348 Northeast
Expressway Industrial Atlants 275 1,65t - 18¢ 278 1,844 2,11¢ 62€ 1978 5-40 yrs.
6438 Northeast
Expressway Industrial Atlante 18C 2,21¢ Q) 45¢ 17¢ 2,675 2,85¢ 85¢ 1981 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Lakes Industrial Atlants 81€ - 33€ 2,85( 1,152 2,85( 4,00z 847 1999 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Place Industrial Atlants 491 2,061 - 321 491 2,38. 2,87: 714 1995 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Place Industrial Atlants 41z  2,58: - 63 41z 2,64€ 3,05¢ 81% 1996 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Valler Industrial Atlants 1,50¢ - 37z 3,74¢ 1,87:  3,74¢ 5,627 1,64(C 2000 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Valley
Land Industrial  Atlants 19,71 - (14,810 - 4,901 - 4,901 - N/A N/A
Century Plaza Office  Atlants 1,29C 8,561 - 3,29¢ 1,29C 11,86¢ 13,15¢ 3,35¢ 1981 5-40 yrs.
Century Plaza | Office  Atlants 1,38C 7,73¢ - 1,41C 1,38C 9,14: 10,52: 2,341 1984 5-40 yrs.
Chastain Place Industrial Atlante 451 - 341 2,96¢ 79z 2,96€¢ 3,75¢ 96& 1997 5-40 yrs.
Chastain Place Industrial Atlante 59¢ - 19z 1,41¢ 79z  1,41¢ 2,21 462 1998 5-40 yrs.
Chastain Place Il Industrial Atlants 53¢ - 173 1,30t 71z 1,30t 2,017 334 1999 5-40 yrs.
Corporate Lake Industrial Atlante 1,268 7,24: - 1,60¢ 1,268 8,852 10,117 2,68¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
DHS.ICE Office  Atlants 3,10( - 2,57¢ 15,84« 5,67¢ 15,84« 21,52( 1,222 2007 5-40 yrs.
FAA at Tradepor Office  Atlants ) 1,19¢ - 1,41¢ 15,14 2,612 15,147 17,75¢ 44¢ 2009 5-40 yrs.
Gwinnett
Distribution
Center Industrial Atlants 1,11¢  5,96( - 1,55¢ 1,11¢ 7,51 8,63¢ 2,507 1991 5-40 yrs.
Henry County
Land Industrial  Atlante 3,01( - 13 - 3,028 - 3,02t - N/A N/A
Highwoods
Center | at
Tradepori Office  Atlants 1) 307 - 13¢ 2,021 44€ 2,027 2,47: 58€ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
Center |l at
Tradepori Office  Atlants 2) 641 - 162 2,81t 80z 2,81t 3,61¢ 662 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
Center Ill at
Tradepori Office  Atlants 1) 40¢ - 13C 2,161 53¢ 2,161 2,70C 44C 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
Riverpoint IV Industrial  Atlants 1,03 - 75C 8,45¢ 1,787 8,45¢ 10,24¢ 22¢ 2009 5-40 yrs.
National Archive:
and Records
Administration Office  Atlante 1,48¢ - - 17,82¢ 1,48¢ 17,82¢ 19,31: 2,57¢ 2004 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place  Industrial Atlants 81¢ - 35€ 2,78¢ 1,178 2,788 3,96: 92z 1998 5-40 yrs.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

SCHEDULE Il - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIA TION (Continued)

(in thousands

Costs Capitalized
Subsequent to

Gross Value at Close ¢

Life on
Which

Initial Costs Acquisitions Periods Depreciation
Segmen 2009 Bldg & Bldg & Bldg & Total Accumulated Date of is

Description Type City Encumbrance Land Improv  Land Improv Land Improv Assets Depreciation Construction Calculated
Newpoint Place | Industria  Atlanta 1,49¢ - 394 3,66( 1,89: 3,66( 5,55 1,31¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place
I} Industria  Atlanta 66¢ - 25z 2,181 921 2,181 3,10: 81C 1998 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place
\Y, Industria  Atlanta 98¢ - 40€ 4540 1,398 4,54C 5,93t 1,47¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place \ Industria  Atlanta 2,15( - 81€ 9,081 2,96¢ 9,081 12,04 994 2007 5-40 yrs.
Norcross | & 11 Industria Atlanta 32z 2,00C - 69¢ 328 2,69¢ 3,021 822 1970 5-40 yrs.
Nortel Office  Atlanta 3,34: 32,11 - 35z 3,34z 32,46: 35,80: 9,57¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
River Point Lanc Industria  Atlanta 7,25( - 6,00¢ 87€ 13,25t 87€¢ 14,13 4 N/A N/A
South Park Multi-
Residential Lant  Family  Atlanta 50 - 7 - 57 - 57 - N/A N/A
South Park Site
Land Industria  Atlanta 1,204 - 754 - 1,95¢ - 1,95¢ - N/A N/A
Southside
Distribution
Center Industria  Atlanta 804 4,55:¢ - 2,13¢ 804 6,68¢ 7,49: 1,971 1988 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport | Industria Atlanta 557 - 261 2,59t B8l1& 2,59t 3,41: 86€ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport Il Industria  Atlanta 557 - 261 1,966€ 81& 1,96¢ 2,78¢ 51z 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport 111 Industria  Atlanta 672 - 37C 2,46¢ 1,04: 2,46/ 3,507 59E 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport IV Industria  Atlanta 667 - 36E 2,85¢ 1,032 2,85¢ 3,88t 56€ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport Lanc Office  Atlanta 5,24: - (387) - 4,85 - 4,85¢ - N/A N/A
Tradeport Vv Industria  Atlanta 463 - 18C 2,10z 642 2,10z 2,74t 442 2002 5-40 yrs.
Two Point Roya  Office  Atlanta 2) 1,79: 14,96« - 2,031 1,79¢ 16,99t 18,78t 4,947 1997 5-40 yrs.
Baltimore, MD
Sportsman Club
Land Office  Baltimore 24,93 - (23,147 - 1,78¢ - 1,78¢ - N/A N/A
Greenville, SC
Brookfield Plaze ~ Office  Greenville 1,50C 8,51« - 2,177 1,50C 10,69: 12,19: 3,44¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Brookfield-
Jacob-Sirrine Office  Greenwville 3,050 17,28( (23) 4,53t 3,027 21,81¢ 24,84: 7,282 1990 5-40 yrs.
MetLife @
Brookfield Office  Greenwville 1,03¢ - 35z 10,56« 1,391 10,56« 11,95t 3,72¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Patewood Office  Greenville 94z 5,113 - 1,346 94z 6,46F  7,40% 2,46¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Patewood | Office  Greenville 94z 5,17¢ - 1,34¢ 942 6,52t 7,467 2,42¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Patewood IlI Office  Greenville 841 4,77¢ 1 1,981 84z 6,757 7,59¢ 2,76¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
Patewood IV Office  Greenwville 1,21¢  6,91¢ - 2,08¢ 1,21¢ 9,00¢ 10,22t 3,48: 1989 5-40 yrs.
Patewood \ Office  Greenville 1,69C 9,58¢ - 2,50C 1,69C 12,08¢ 13,77¢ 4,25¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Patewood V! Office  Greenville 2,36( - 321 7,76C 2,681 7,76( 10,44: 2,35¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City, MO
Country Club Mixed-  Kansas
Plaza Use City 14,28¢ 146,87¢ (198) 114,93t 14,08¢ 261,81! 275,90: 75,48 192(-2002 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Shops Kansas
South Retall City 1,042 4,447 (1,043 (4,447 - - - - 1953 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Square Kansas
North Shops Retail City 2,75¢ 11,49( (2,756 (11,490 - - - - 1962 5-40 yrs.

Kansas

Fairway Shop: Retall City 68¢ 3,21t (689, (3,215 - - - - 1940 5-40 yrs.
Land -Hotel Lanc Kansas
- Valencia Office City 97€ - 111 - 1,08¢ - 1,08¢ - N/A N/A
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Neptune Multi- Kansas
Apartments Family City 5,862 1,09¢ 6,282 - 665 1,09¢ 6,947 8,04¢ 1,92 1988 5-40 yrs.
One Ward Kansas
Parkway Office City 68z 3,937 1) 1,56¢ 681 5,50t 6,18¢ 1,49: 1980 5-40 yrs.
Kansas
Park Plaz: Office City 3) 1,38/ 6,41 - 1947 1,38¢ 8,357 9,741 2,73¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Prairie Village Kansas
Rest & Bank Retail City - - - - - - - - 1948 5-40 yrs.
Prairie Village Kansas
Shops Retail City 3,36¢ 14,68¢ (3,366 (14,686 - - - - 1948 5-40 yrs.
Kansas
Somerse Industrial City 31 12¢ (31) (125 - - - - 1998 5-40 yrs.
Kansas
Two Brush Creel  Office City 984 4,40 - 1,26¢ 984 5,67C 6,654 1,50¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Valencia Place Kansas
Office Office City 3) 1,57¢ - 97C 34,12¢ 2,54¢ 34,12¢ 36,67¢ 10,55¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Memphis, TN -
3400 Players Clu
Parkway Office Memphis 1,00¢ - 20¢€ 5,21¢ 1,21 5,21¢ 6,431 1,67( 1997 5-40 yrs.
6000 Poplar Ave Office Memphis 2,34( 11,38: (849 2,857 1,491 14,24: 15,73: 3,65¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
6060 Poplar Ave  Office  Memphis 1,98C 8,677 (404 2,01¢ 1,57¢ 10,69: 12,26¢ 2,65¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Atrium | & 1l Office Memphis 1,57C 6,25: - 2,231 157C 8,48¢ 10,05« 2,861 1984 5-40 yrs.
Centrum Office Memphis 1,012 5,58( - 1,565 1,01 7,14t 8,15¢ 2,31¢ 1979 5-40 yrs.
Comcast
Corporatior Office Memphis 94¢€ - - 8,62z 94€ 8,62: 9,56¢ 57¢ 2008 5-40 yrs.
Jackson,
GSA-Jackson, M. Office MS 2 871 29¢€ 35,55( 1,167 35,55( 36,71} 274 2007 5-40 yrs.
International
Place Il Office Memphis 4) 4,88¢ 27,78 - 3,971 4,88¢ 31,75¢ 36,64 10,99t 1988 5-40 yrs.
Penn Marc Office Memphis 8,010 3,607 12,20( - 1,08: 3,607 13,28! 16,89( 1,32¢ 2008 5-40 yrs.
Shadow Creek Office  Memphis 924 - 467 6,961 1,391 6,961 8,35: 1,76¢ 2000 5-40 yrs.
Shadow Creek | Office Memphis 734 - 467 7,55C 1,201 7,55C 8,751 1,98: 2001 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office
Center A Office  Memphis 1,00¢ 5,69¢ - 1,02 1,00¢ 6,71¢ 7,71¢ 2,13( 1991 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office
Center B Office Memphis 1,36€ 7,754 - 1,16z 1,366 8,91¢ 10,28 3,03i 1990 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office
Center C Office  Memphis 1,07C - 221 4,817 1,291 4,817 6,10¢ 1,327 1998 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office
Center D Office Memphis 744 - 19¢ 4,804 937 4,804/ 5,741 1,28: 1999 5-40 yrs.
The Colonnad Office  Memphis 1,30C 6,481 267 28¢ 1,567 6,76¢ 8,33t 2,07( 1998 5-40 yrs.
ThyssenKrupy Office Memphis 1,04( - 25 8,34¢ 1,06t 8,344 9,40¢ 1,101 2007 5-40 yrs.
Triad Centel Office Memphis 1,25¢ - 29,96¢ 1,25% 29,96¢ 31,21¢ 12¢ 2009 5-40 yrs.
Nashville, TN
3322 West Eni Office Nashville 3,028 27,49( - 3,552 3,02t 31,04: 34,06 8,07: 1986 5-40 yrs.
3401 West Eni Office  Nashville 5,86¢ 22,917 2 5,38¢ 5,86: 28,30: 34,16t 10,29: 1982 5-40 yrs.
5310 Maryland
Way Office Nashville 1,86 7,201 - 24¢ 1,86: 7,45C 9,31: 2,49¢ 1994 5-40 yrs.
BNA Corporate
Center Office  Nashville - 18,50¢ - 8,28t - 26,79 26,79: 9,31¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Century City
Plaza | Office Nashville 90¢  6,91¢ - (2,436 90: 4,48: 5,38¢ 1,60¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs 1 &
2 Deck Office  Nashville (5) - - - 3,95¢ - 3,95¢ 3,95¢ 21¢F 2007 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs 3
&4 Deck Office  Nashville - - - 4,41¢ - 4,418 4,41¢ 304 2007 5-40 yrs.
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Cool Springs Office  Nashville (5) 1,58 - 15 12,60¢ 1,59¢ 12,60¢ 14,20 3,69¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Il Office  Nashville (5) 1,82¢ - 34€  18,41¢ 2,17( 18,41¢ 20,58¢ 4,80¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Il Office  Nashville 5) 1,631 - 804 18,16( 2,43t 18,16( 20,59t 2,75% 2006 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs IV Office  Nashville 1,71t - - 20,01t 1,71f 20,01f 21,73( 374 2008 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Vv Office  Nashville 3,68¢ - 294 52,40: 3,98: 52,40: 56,38¢ 3,28( 2007 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on the
Green Il Office  Nashville Q) 1,41¢ 5,67 - 1,26¢ 1,41¢ 6,94¢ 8,36¢ 2,313 1984 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on the
Green lll Office  Nashville 2) 1,66( 6,64¢ - 1,81« 1,66C 8,46: 10,12: 2,69¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on the
Green IV Office  Nashville 1) 1,71 6,84 - 1,421 1,71: 8,26: 9,97¢ 2,757 1989 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on The
Green V Office  Nashville Q) 662 - 197 4,24; 85¢ 4,24; 5,101 1,322 1998 5-40 yrs.
Hickory Trace Office  Nashville 4) 1,16¢ - 164 4,881 1,328 4,881 6,20¢ 97& 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plaze
| Office  Nashville Q) 1,552 - 30¢€ 8,34¢ 1,86( 8,34¢ 10,20¢ 2,68( 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plaze
Il Office  Nashville 1) 1,44¢ - 30€ 6,087 1,75¢ 6,087 7,841 2,101 1997 5-40 yrs.
Lakeview Ridge
Il Office  Nashville Q) 60¢ - 187 4,25( 79z 4,250 5,042 1,32 1998 5-40 yrs.
Lakeview Ridge
I} Office  Nashville 1) 1,07: - 40C 10,604 1,47: 10,60¢ 12,07: 4,02: 1999 5-40 yrs.
Seven Springs -
Land Il Office  Nashville 3,71¢ - (1,025 - 2,69 - 2,69 - N/A N/A
Seven Springs -
Land | Office  Nashville 3,122 - 1,39¢ - 4,521 - 4,521 - N/A N/A
Seven Springs Office  Nashville 2,07¢ - 592 13,45 2,66¢ 13,45¢ 16,12: 3,83¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
SouthPointe Office  Nashville 1,65¢ - 31C 6,491 1,96t 6,491 8,45¢ 1,92¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Lanc ~ Office  Nashville 3,66 - (592 - 3,07C - 3,07 - N/A N/A
Sparrow Building  Office  Nashville 1,262 5,047 (1,262 (5,047 - - - - 1982 5-40 yrs.
The Ramparts at
Brentwood Office  Nashville 2,394 12,80¢ - 1,994 2,39¢ 14,80( 17,19« 3,52t 1986 5-40 yrs.
Westwood Soutl  Office  Nashville Q) 2,10¢ - 382 8,657 2,48¢ 8,55: 11,04 2,30C 1999 5-40 yrs.
Winners Circle Office  Nashville Q) 1,497 7,25¢ - 97z 1,497 8,23( 9,72i 2,54¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Orlando, FL
Berkshire at
Metro Centel Office Orlando 1,26t - 67z 12,797 1,937 12,79: 14,73( 1,18¢ 2007 5-40 yrs.
Mixed-
Capital Plaza Il Use Orlando 2,99¢ - 18 - 3,012 - 3,01 - N/A N/A
Eola Park Lan Office Orlando 2,027 - - - 2,027 - 2,025 - N/A N/A
In Charge
Institute Office Orlando 501 - 95 2,708 59€¢ 2,70: 3,29¢ 1,28( 2000 5-40 yrs.
MetroWest 1
Land Office Orlando 1,10( - 51 - 1,151 - 1,151 - N/A N/A
Metrowest Cente Office Orlando 1,35¢ 7,681 26¢ 2,04¢ 1,62¢ 9,73% 11,35¢ 3,61 1988 5-40 yrs.
MetroWest Lanc  Office Orlando 2,03¢ - (148 - 1,88¢ - 1,88¢ - N/A N/A
Windsor at Metrc
Center Office Orlando - - 2,06C 8,841 2,06( 8,841 10,90: 2,35¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Triad,
NC
Piedmont
101 Stratforc Office Triad 1,20t  6,91¢ Q) 1,332 1,204 8,25( 9,45¢ 2,742 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
150 Stratforc Office Triad 2,78¢ 11,51 - 92z 2,78t 12,43: 15,22 4,63¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
160 Stratford - Piedmont
Land Office Triad 96€ - 1 12C 967 12C 1,087 11 N/A N/A
Piedmont
6348 Burnt Pople Industria Triad 724 2,90( - 55€ 724  3,45¢ 4,18( 1,45¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
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Piedmont
6350 Burnt Pople Industria. ~ Triad 34C 1,37 1 33 341 1,407 1,74¢ 52€ 1992 5-40 yrs.
7341 West Piedmont
Friendly Avenue Office Triad 112 841 - 26€ 11 1,107 1,22 42€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
7343 West Piedmont
Friendly Avenue  Office Triad 72 55E - 191 72 74€ 81¢ 22t 1988 5-40 yrs.
7345 West Piedmont
Friendly Avenue  Office Triad 66 492 - 15¢ 66 651 717 207 1988 5-40 yrs.
7347 West Piedmont
Friendly Avenue Office Triad 97 71¢ - 29¢ 97 1,01¢ 1,11¢ 331 1988 5-40 yrs.
7349 West Piedmont
Friendly Avenue  Office Triad 53 39z - 79 53 472 52¢ 15E 1988 5-40 yrs.
7351 West Piedmont
Friendly Avenue Office Triad 10¢€ 78¢ - 14€ 10¢€ 934  1,04( 30E 1988 5-40 yrs.
7353 West Piedmont
Friendly Avenue Office Triad 12¢ 917 - 41  12¢ 95%  1,07¢ 33€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
7355 West Piedmont
Friendly Avenue  Office Triad 72 53¢ - 177 72 71E 787 23z 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Building 1 Office Triad 37¢  1,51¢ 1 58t 37¢ 2,101 2,48( 79€ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Building 2 Office Triad 46 1,84¢ Q) 407 46z 2,25¢ 2,71¢ 732 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Building 3 Office Triad 32z  1,29¢ - 17C 32z 1,46: 1,78t 547 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Building A Office Triad 50¢ 2,921 - 1,23C 50¢ 4,151 4,66( 1,59¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Building B Office Triad 73¢  3,23i - 88C 73¢ 4,12¢ 4,86 1,60¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Building C Office Triad 4) 2,39¢  9,57¢ - 3,217 2,39¢ 12,79¢ 15,18¢ 5,391 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Building D Office Triad 4 85( - 69¢ 3,871 1,54¢ 3,871 5,42( 1,22¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-
Copier Piedmont
Consultantt Industria.  Triad 224 1,06¢ - 29¢ 224 1,36€ 1,59( 511 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
HewlettPackart Office Triad 46E - 38C 963 84t 96:  1,80¢ 354 1996 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Highland Industria.  Triad 14€ 1,081 Q) 287 145 1,36¢ 1,51: 42C 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Inacom Building Office Triad 26¢ - 27C 81 53t 81:  1,34¢ 27€ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Service Center Office Triad 237 1,10:% - 82 237 1,18t 1,42 44¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Service Center Office Triad 19¢ 94¢€ - 143 19z 1,08¢ 1,287 41¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Service Center Office Triad 308 1,21¢ - 15€ 30t 1,37¢ 1,68( 558 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Service Center Office Triad 22t 92¢ - 127 22t 1,058 1,28( 43C 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Service Cour Office Triad 171 771 - 141 171 91&¢ 1,08¢ 332 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Simplex Office Triad 271 - 23¢ 91C 50¢ 91C 1,41¢ 311 1997 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Warehouse . Industria.  Triad 358 1,61 1 356 35€ 1,971 2,327 78¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
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Airpark East- Piedmont
Warehouse : Industrial Triad 378 1,62 1 25z 374 1,77¢ 2,14¢ 62E 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Warehouse . Industrial  Triad 341  1,48¢ - 497 341 1,98 2,32¢ 824 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East- Piedmont
Warehouse : Industrial Triad 66C 2,67¢ - 745 66C 3,41¢ 4,07¢ 1,21¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark North - Piedmont
DC1 Industrial  Triad 86C 2,91¢ - 494 86C 3,41: 4,27: 1,37¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark North - Piedmont
DC2 Industrial  Triad 1,302  4,39: - 871 1,30z  5,26: 6,56¢ 2,11¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Airpark North - Piedmont
DC3 Industrial  Triad 44¢ 1,517 1 344 45C 1,861 2,311 68t 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark North - Piedmont
DC4 Industrial ~ Triad 451  1,51¢ - 148 451 1,662 2,11z 637 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Piedmont
Warehouse ! Industrial Triad 54¢€ - - 2,69 54¢ 2,59 3,13¢ 822 1998 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Piedmont
Warehouse : Industrial  Triad 74¢ - - 2,50¢ 74¢  2,50¢ 3,25¢ 661 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Piedmont
Warehouse : Industrial Triad 60< - - 2,27 60z 2,27: 2,87¢ 557 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Piedmont
Warehouse : Industrial Triad 49¢ - - 2,07t 49¢ 2,07 2,57z 49C 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Piedmont
Warehouse | Industrial  Triad 1,73¢ - - 5317 1,73 5,31 7,05( 2,194 1999 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Airpark West 1 Office Triad 944 3,831 - 100z 944 4,83: 5,771 1,55¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Airpark West 2 Office Triad 887  3,55( - 487 887 4,037 4,92¢ 1,54¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Airpark West 4 Office Triad 227 907 - 378 227 1,282 1,50¢ 48€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Airpark West £ Office Triad 24z 971 - 251 24% 1,22 1,46¢ 461 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Airpark West € Office Triad 327 1,30¢ - 81z 327 2,121 2,44¢ 607 1985 5-40 yrs.
Brigham Road - Piedmont
Land Industrial  Triad 7,05¢ - (3,720 - 3,33¢ - 3,33¢ - N/A N/A
Chimney Rock Piedmont
A/B Industrial ~ Triad 1,61: 4,048 (487, (1,064 1,12¢ 2,981 4,107 1,221 1981 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Chimney Rock C Industrial  Triad 23€ 592 (69) (86) 167 50€ 672 222 1983 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Chimney Rock L Industrial ~ Triad 60t 1,614 (233, (272} 37z 1,24 1,61« 432 1983 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Chimney Rock E Industrial  Triad 1,69¢ 4,268 (513 (1,123 1,18: 3,14: 4,32¢ 1,31: 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Chimney Rock F Industrial ~ Triad 1,43 3,60¢ (436, (1,094 99¢ 2,51« 3,51z 1,042 1987 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
Chimney Rock C Industrial  Triad 1,048 2,62 (319 (767, 72€ 1,85¢ 2,581 77C 1987 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated Piedmont
Center/ Building |  Office Triad 62 2,18: (235 30€ 39C 2,48¢ 2,87¢ 987 1983 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated
Center/ Building Piedmont
Il Office Triad 62 4,43t (203, (962, 42z 3,47: 3,89¢ 1,49¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated
Center/ Building Piedmont
i Office Triad 68C 3,572 (217, (963, 46% 2,60¢ 3,07z 1,13¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
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Consolidated
Center/ Building Piedmont
\Y, Office Triad 37€ 1,65t (123) (349 252 1,30¢ 1,55¢ 58C 1989 5-40 yrs.
Deep River Piedmont
Corporate Cente  Office Triad 1,041 5,897 - 96¢ 1,041 6,86( 7,901 2,177 1989 5-40 yrs.
Enterprise Piedmont
Warehouse Industrial  Triad 45¢ - 36C 2,83¢ 812 2,83¢ 3,647 602 2002 5-40 yrs.
Enterprise Piedmont
Warehouse | Industrial  Triad 2,73% - 881 12,10¢ 3,61¢ 12,10¢  15,72( 1,422 2006 5-40 yrs.
Enterprise Piedmont
Warehouse I Office Triad 814 - - 3597 814 3,597 4,411 18t 2007 5-40 yrs.
Forsyth Corporat Piedmont
Center Office Triad 326 1,867 1 1,037 32¢ 2,90¢ 3,23 1,13( 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
hhgregc Retail Triad 1,82t - (1,823 - - - - - 2008 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Park Piedmont
Building | Office Triad 1,47¢ - - 8,60 1,47¢ 8,60¢ 10,08¢ 2,25¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Piedmont
Square CV¢ Retail Triad 1,41¢€ - (1,416 - - - - - N/A N/A
Highwoods Piedmont
Square Shog Retall Triad 1,031 - (1,031 - - - - - 2005 5-40 yrs.
Jefferson Pilot Piedmont
Land Office Triad 11,75¢ - (4,311 - 7,44t - 7,44¢ - N/A N/A
Madison Park - Piedmont
Building 5620 Office Triad 94z 2,22( (561, (1,164 381 1,05¢ 1,437 623 1983 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park - Piedmont
Building 5630 Office Triad 1,48¢ 3,507 (873, (2,046  61F 1,461 2,07¢ 93¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park - Piedmont
Building 5635 Office Triad 894 2,10¢ (522, (1,121 37z 98t 1,357 62¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park - Piedmont
Building 5640 Office Triad 1,831 6,531 (1,044 (3,710 787 2,821 3,60¢ 1,75¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park - Piedmont
Building 5650 Office Triad 1,08: 2,551 (668, (1,437 414 1,11¢ 1,52¢ 73€ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park - Piedmont
Building 5655 Office Triad 1,947 7,12 (1,144 (4,066 802 3,057 3,86( 2,041 1987 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park - Piedmont
Building 5660 Office Triad 1,912 4,50€ (1,177 (2,615 73t 1,891 2,62¢ 1,282 1984 5-40 yrs.
Madison Parking Piedmont
Deck Office Triad 5,75¢ 8,827 (3,007 (5,503 2,74¢ 3,31¢ 6,067 2,63 1987 5-40 yrs.
Regency One- Piedmont
Piedmont Cente Industrial  Triad 51¢ - 38z 2,32¢ 897 2,32¢ 3,22¢ 71z 1996 5-40 yrs.
Regency Two- Piedmont
Piedmont Cente Industrial Triad 43t - 286 2,14:  72% 2,14z 2,86t 59C 1996 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
7023 Albert Pick  Office Triad 1) 834  3,45¢ - 38¢ 834 3,847 4,681 1,35¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
The Knollwood - Piedmont
380 Retail Office Triad - 1 - 234 - 23t 23t 12¢ 1995 5-40 yrs.
The Knollwood- Piedmont
370 Office Triad 1,82¢ 7,49t - 91€ 1,82¢ 8,41z  10,23¢ 2,97: 1994 5-40 yrs.
The Knollwood- Piedmont
380 Office Triad 2,98¢ 12,02¢ - 2,90¢ 298¢ 14,937  17,92¢ 5,674 1990 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
US Airways Office Triad 1,451 11,37t (1) 1,011 1,45C 12,38¢ 13,83¢ 3,68¢ 197(-1987 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint
Business Park- Piedmont
Luwabahnsot Office Triad 347 1,38¢ - 12¢ 347 1,51¢ 1,86¢ 557 1990 5-40 yrs.
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Description Type City Encumbrance Land Improv Land Improv Land Improv  Assets Depreciation Construction Calculated
Raleigh, NC
3600 Glenwood
Avenue Office  Raleigh - 10,99« - 2,34( - 13,33¢ 13,33« 3,60: 1986 5-40 yrs.
3737 Glenwood
Avenue Office  Raleigh - - 31€ 14,911 31€ 14,91:  15,22¢ 4,05¢€ 1999 5-40 yrs.
4101 Research
Commons Office  Raleigh 1,34¢  8,34¢ 22C (1,494 1,56¢ 6,852 8,42( 2,09¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
4201 Research
Commons Office  Raleigh 1,20¢ 11,85¢ - (3,278 1,20¢ 8,68( 9,88¢ 3,14¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
4301 Research
Commons Office  Raleigh 90C 8,23 - 1,07¢  90C 9,31¢  10,21¢ 3,46¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
4401 Research
Commons Office  Raleigh 1,24¢ 9,38i - 3,04¢€ 1,24¢ 12,43 13,68: 4,94¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
4501 Research
Commons Office  Raleigh 78t 5,85¢ - 1,78¢ 78t 7,64z 8,427 2,64( 1985 5-40 yrs.
4800 North Parl Office  Raleigh 2,67¢ 17,63( - 8,571 2,67¢ 26,20: 28,87¢ 9,24( 1985 5-40 yrs.
4900 North Parl Office  Raleigh 533 77C  1,98:¢ - 60z 77C 2,58¢ 3,35¢ 1,11¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
5000 North Parl ~ Office  Raleigh 1,01C 4,61: (49) 2,280 961 6,892 7,85: 2,95¢ 1980 5-40 yrs.
801 Corporate
Center Office  Raleigh 5) 82¢ - 272 10,27¢ 1,10 10,27¢ 11,37¢ 2,43¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Blue Ridge | Office  Raleigh Q) 722 4,60€ - 1,29: 722 5,89¢ 6,621 2,51¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Blue Ridge Il Office  Raleigh 1) 46z  1,41( - 467 46z 1,877 2,33¢ 1,07t 1988 5-40 yrs.
Cape Fea Office  Raleigh 131 1,63( - 755 131 2,38¢ 2,51¢ 1,96¢ 1979 5-40 yrs.
Catawbe Office  Raleigh 125 1,63¢ - 2,38¢ 12t 4,01¢ 4,14¢ 2,227 1980 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Fiv.  Office  Raleigh 1,28( - 69 12,32¢ 1,34¢ 12,32¢  13,67: 661 2008 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Fou Office  Raleigh 4) 1,77¢ - (398 10,57¢ 1,381 10,57¢ 11,96( 2,61( 2002 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen On
- Weston Office  Raleigh 4) 1,52¢ - (378 8,55¢ 1,151 8,55¢ 9,70¢ 1,75¢ 2000 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen
Three Land -
Weston Office  Raleigh 1,87¢ - (384 - 1,49: - 1,49 - N/A N/A
CentreGreen Twi
- Weston Office  Raleigh 4) 1,65: - (389 8,91 1,26« 8,91: 10,17 2,013 2001 5-40 yrs.
Cottonwooc Office  Raleigh 60¢ 3,24« - 1,237 60¢ 4,481 5,09( 1,887 1983 5-40 yrs.
Dogwood Office  Raleigh 76€  2,76¢ - 522  76¢€ 3,292 4,05¢ 1,32¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
EPA Office  Raleigh 2,601 - 4 1,66C 2,597 1,66( 4,257 58€ 2003 5-40 yrs.
GlenLake Lanc Office  Raleigh 13,00: - (4,900 - 8,10: - 8,10¢ - N/A N/A
GlenLake Bldg |  Office  Raleigh 4) 924 - 1,32« 21,81« 2,24t 21,81¢ 24,06 4,611 2002 5-40 yrs.
GlenLake Fou Office  Raleigh (5) 1,65¢ - 49z  22,03¢ 2,15: 22,03¢  24,19( 2,59/ 2006 5-40 yrs.
GlenLake Six Office  Raleigh 941 - 16 20,858 957 20,85¢ 21,81: 921 2008 5-40 yrs.
Healthsource Office  Raleigh 5) 1,30¢ - 54C 13,58: 1,84« 13,58t 15,42 4,891 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
CentreWeston Office  Raleigh (1) 531 - (267 7,220 264 7,22( 7,48¢ 2,07¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Office
Center North
Land Office  Raleigh 35¢E 49 2 - 357 49 40€ 27 N/A N/A
Highwoods
Tower One Office  Raleigh 20z 16,74« - 2,87¢ 20z 19,61¢ 19,82 8,97¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
Tower Two Office  Raleigh 36E - 50& 20,88¢  86¢& 20,88¢ 21,75z 4,917 2001 5-40 yrs.
Holiday Inn
Reservations
Center Office  Raleigh 867 2,72i - 1,15C 867 3,871 4,744 1,48¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Inveresk Land
Parcel 2 Office  Raleigh 657 - 197 - 854 - 854 - N/A N/A
Inveresk Land
Parcel & Office  Raleigh 54¢ - 30¢€ - 854 - 854 - N/A N/A
Maplewood Office  Raleigh 2) 14¢ - 107 3,058  25€ 3,05¢ 3,311 774 2001 5-40 yrs.
Overlook Office  Raleigh 39¢ - 29z 9,26C 691 9,26( 9,957 2,72¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Pamlico Office  Raleigh 28¢ - - 12,19: 28¢ 12,19: 12,48 8,27: 1980 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest One -
Weston Office  Raleigh 242 - - 3,351 24z 3,357 3,59¢ 72C 2001 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest Three
Land- Weston Office  Raleigh 30€ - - - 30¢€ - 30¢€ - N/A N/A
ParkWest Two -
Weston Office  Raleigh 35€ - - 4,192 35¢€ 4,192 4,54¢ 1,16¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
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Progress Center
Renovatior Office  Raleigh - - - 362 - 362 362 132 2003 5-40 yrs.
Raleigh Corp
Center Lot C Office Raleigh 1,211 - 8 - 1,21¢ - 1,21¢ - N/A N/A

Mixed-
RBC Plaze Use Raleigh 47,108 1,20¢ - - 70,62¢  1,20¢ 70,62¢ 71,83t 2,53¢ 2008 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Cente
I Office  Raleigh 87¢  3,73( - 1,252 87¢ 4,98: 5,86( 2,38¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods
Center I Office Raleigh 36z 1,81¢ - 617 362 2,438 2,79 1,03( 1993 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods
Center llI Office  Raleigh 91¢ 2,81¢ - 67¢ 91¢ 3,49 4,41: 1,50¢ 1992 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods
Center IV Office Raleigh 58€ - - 3,481 58€ 3,481 4,07¢ 1,24¢ 1995 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods
Center V Office Raleigh 1,301 - 18¢ 4,98¢  1,48¢ 4,98t 6,47¢ 1,501 1998 5-40 yrs.
Riverbirch Office Raleigh 46S  4,03¢ - 1,75(C 46¢ 5,78¢ 6,257 2,51( 1987 5-40 yrs.
Situs | Office  Raleigh 69z 4,64¢ 176 (1,185 87C 3,461 4,331 1,08¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Situs Il Office  Raleigh 71€ 6,254 181 (1,325 89¢ 4,92¢ 5,82¢ 1,46t 1998 5-40 yrs.
Situs 11l Office Raleigh 44C 4,07¢ 11¢ (1,008 55¢ 3,07C  3,62¢ 68¢€ 2000 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center  Office Raleigh 66€ 2,66 - 1,364 66€ 4,02¢ 4,69 1,621 1982 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center
1 Office Raleigh 1,08¢ 4,53 - 1,48¢ 1,08¢ 6,021 7,107 2,22¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks
Center llI Office  Raleigh 86z 4,411 - 2,11( 862 6,521 7,38t 2,391 1987 5-40 yrs.
Smoketree Towe Office Raleigh 2,35 11,74 - 2,758 2,35: 14,49¢ 16,85! 5,67¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Sycamore Office Raleigh 25E - 217 4,771 472 4,771 5,24 1,537 1997 5-40 yrs.
Mixed-

Weston Lanc Use Raleigh 22,77: - (7,169 - 15,60 - 15,60 - N/A N/A
Willow Oak Office Raleigh 45€& - 26€ 5,154 72€ 5,15¢  5,88( 1,754 1995 5-40 yrs.
Other Propert Other Raleigh 47  9,49¢ 728 4,667 773 14,16: 14,93: 6,93¢ N/A 5-40 yrs.
Richmond, VA
4900 Cox Roa Office  Richmonc 1,32¢ 5,311 - 2,79z 1,32« 8,10¢ 9,42 2,407 1991 5-40 yrs.
Colonnade
Building Office  Richmonc 4 1,36¢ 6,10t - 75¢  1,36¢ 6,85¢ 8,22 1,392 2003 5-40 yrs.
Dominion Place -
Pitts Parce Office  Richmonc 1,101 - (194 11C 907 11C 1,017 - N/A N/A
Essex Plaz Office  Richmonc 10,980 1,581 13,29¢ - (450, 1,581 12,84¢ 14,43( 4,21( 1999 5-40 yrs.
Grove Park Office  Richmonc 71% - 31¢ 5161 1,03 5,161 6,19¢ 1,562 1997 5-40 yrs.
Hamilton Beact Office  Richmonc 1,08¢ 4,34t - 1,94  1,08¢ 6,29C  7,37¢ 2,16¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
Commons Office  Richmonc 521 - 44¢€ 3,257 967 3,257  4,22¢ 982 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Five Office  Richmonc 782 - - 5,52z 782 552: 6,30¢ 1,80¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods One Office  Richmonc 1,68¢ - - 9,92C 1,68¢ 9,92C 11,60¢ 3,37¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plazi  Office Richmonc 90¢ - 17¢ 5,84z 1,08t 5,84: 6,927 1,857 2000 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Twc Office  Richmonc 4) 78€ - 218 5,96¢ 99¢ 5,96¢ 6,96 1,76¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
Innsbrooke Centi  Office  Richmonc 5,202 1,30C 6,95¢ - (414, 1,30C 6,54/ 7,84« 92t 1987 5-40 yrs.
Innslake Cente Office  Richmonc Q) 84t - 19¢€ 5,632 1,041 5,632 6,67¢ 1,33¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Liberty Mutual Office  Richmonc 1,20t 4,82¢ - 784 1,20t 5,60¢ 6,81« 1,88: 1990 5-40 yrs.
Markel Americar  Office  Richmonc 8,656 1,30C 13,25¢ (458) (4,760 84z 8,49¢ 9,341 1,29z 1998 5-40 yrs.
Markel Plaze Office  Richmonc 10,980 1,70C 17,08: - (5,480 1,70C 11,60: 13,30: 1,722 1989 5-40 yrs.
North Park Office  Richmonc 2,165 8,65¢ (14) 1,90€  2,14¢ 10,56 12,71« 3,691 1989 5-40 yrs.
North Shore
Commons A Office  Richmonc 4 951 - - 11,48( 951 11,48( 12,43: 3,041 2002 5-40 yrs.
North Shore
Commons B -
Land Office  Richmonc 4 2,067 - (103 11,45¢  1,96¢ 11,45¢ 13,42( 1,017 N/A 5-40 yrs.
North Shore
Commons C -
Land Office  Richmonc 1,497 - - - 1,497 - 1,497 - N/A N/A
North Shore
Commons D -

Land Office  Richmonc 1,261 - - - 1,261 - 1,261 - N/A N/A



167




HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

SCHEDULE Il - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIA TION (Continued)

(in thousands

Costs Capitalized
Subsequent to

Gross Value at Close o

Life on
Which

Initial Costs Acquisitions Periods Depreciation
Segmen 2009 Bldg & Bldg & Bldg & Total Accumulated Date of is

Description Type City  Encumbrance Land Improv Land Improv Land Improv Assets Depreciation Construction Calculated
Nucklos Corne
Land Office  Richmonc 1,25¢ - 1 - 1,25¢ - 1,25¢ - N/A N/A
One Shockoe
Plaza Office Richmonc - - 35€ 15,131 35€ 15,137 15,49: 5,471 1996 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Land Office Richmonc 181 46 20 (46) 201 - 201 - N/A N/A
Rhodia Building  Office Richmonc 1,60C 8,86« - 3 1,60C 8,867 10,46 1,73¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Sadler & Cox
Land Office  Richmonc 1,53¢ - - - 1,53t - 1,53t - N/A N/A
Saxon Capital
Building Office Richmonc 4) 1,91¢ - 337 13,55¢ 2,25t 13,55¢ 15,811 2,451 2005 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point F
Land Office  Richmonc 1,841 - - - 1,841 - 1,841 - N/A N/A
Stony Point | Office Richmonc 4) 1,38 11,63( 59 1,771  1,44: 13,40. 14,84« 4,05¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point Il Office Richmonc 1,24( - - 11,37 1,24C 11,37 12,611 3,07: 1999 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point Ill Office  Richmonc 4) 99t - - 9,667 99t 9,667 10,66: 2,63:¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point IV Office Richmonc 95¢ - - 11,64« 95¢& 11,64 12,59¢ 1,637 2006 5-40 yrs.
Technology Park
1 Office Richmonc 541  2,16¢€ - 192 541 2,35¢  2,89¢ 86€ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Technology Park
2 Office Richmonc 264  1,05¢ - 11€ 264 1,174 1,43¢ 41¢€ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place s Office Richmonc (4) 202 811 1) 19¢ 20z 1,01C 1,21z 397 1987 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place |  Office Richmonc 4) 23: 931 - 152 23z 1,08: 1,31¢ 40C 1988 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place (  Office Richmonc 4) 23t 94C - 251 23t 1,191 1,42¢ 412 1987 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place |  Office Richmonc 4) 21¢ 873 - 14z 21¢ 1,01€ 1,23¢ 377 1988 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Point Office Richmonc 4) 1,08¢  4,50C 1) 87 1,08¢ 537: 6,461 1,94 1990 5-40 yrs.
Virginia Mutual Office Richmonc 1,301 6,03¢ - 61t 1,301 6,651 7,952 1,78¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Waterfront Plazi  Office Richmonc 58t 2,34 - 88¢ 58t 3,23t 3,82 1,157 1988 5-40 yrs.
West Shore Office  Richmonc 2) 33z 1,431 - ik 332 1,74¢  2,07¢ 58¢ 1995 5-40 yrs.
West Shore | Office Richmonc 1) 48¢ 2,181 - 41t 48¢ 2,59¢ 3,08t 872 1995 5-40 yrs.
West Shore Il Office Richmonc Q) 961 - 141 4,02¢ 1,102 4,02¢ 5,131 1,231 1997 5-40 yrs.
South Florida
The 1800 Eller South
Drive Building Office Florida - 9,851 - 2,13¢ - 11,99 11,99( 4,14¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Tampa, FL
380 Park Plac Office Tampa 1,50z - 24C 6,73: 1,74z 6,73% 8,47% 1,517 2001 5-40 yrs.
4200 Cypres Office Tampa 2,67 18,96 - 17 2,67 18,97¢ 21,65: 27¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
Anchor Glas¢ Office Tampa 1,281 11,31¢ - 1,40C 1,281 12,71¢ 13,99¢ 4,00t 1988 5-40 yrs.
Avion Park Lanc  Office  Tampa 5,23 - 1,477 5,237 1,477 6,71« 46 N/A 5-40 yrs.
Bayshore Office Tampa 2,27¢ 11,811 - 1,37: 2,27¢ 13,19( 15,46¢ 4,18¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
FBI Field Office  Office  Tampa (5) 4,05¢ - 40¢€ 27,23C  4,46C  27,23( 31,69( 3,69¢ 2005 5-40 yrs.
Feathersound
Corporate Cente
Il Office  Tampa 80z 7,46: - 1,34¢ 802 8,812 9,61« 2,85¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Harborview Plazi Office  Tampa 21,929 3,637 29,94« 96¢ (340, 4,50€¢ 29,60: 34,11( 9,031 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
Preserve Office Tampa (5) 991 - - 26,19: 991 26,19 27,18 9,39¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
Preserve Lan Office Tampa 1,48¢ - 48t - 1,97« - 1,97« - N/A N/A
Highwoods
Preserve \ Office Tampa (5) 881 - - 27,25¢ 881 27,25t 28,137 7,04¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
HIW Bay Center  Office Tampa 3,56¢ - (64) 37,37¢ 3,501 37,37« 40,87t 2,89( 2007 5-40 yrs.
HIW Bay Center
Il Office Tampa 3,48: - - - 3,48 - 3,48 - N/A N/A
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HIW Preserve VI Office Tamps 79C - - 12,51 79C 12,51 13,30: 842 2007 5-40 yrs.
HIW Preserve VI
Garage Office Tamp: - - - 6,78¢ - 6,78¢ 6,78¢ 49t 2007 5-40 yrs.
Horizon Office Tampz - 6,257 - 2,49( - 8,747 8,741 2,90t 1980 5-40 yrs.
LakePaointe Office Tampe 2,10¢ 88 - 35,80  2,10¢ 35,89: 37,99¢ 10,84: 1986 5-40 yrs.
LakePointe I Office Tamp: 2,00( 15,84¢ 672 10,89¢ 2,672 26,74, 29,41¢ 9,67: 1999 5-40 yrs.
Lakeside Office Tampz - 7,36¢ - 1,56( - 8,92¢ 8,92¢ 2,852 1978 5-40 yrs.
Lakeside/Parksic
Garage Office Tampe - - - 3,22¢ - 3,22¢ 3,22¢ 41€ 2004 5-40 yrs.
One Harbour
Place Office Tampe 2,01¢ 25,25: - 4,482  2,01¢ 29,73« 31,75( 7,744 1985 5-40 yrs.
Parkside Office Tampe - 9,407 - 3,37: - 12,78( 12,78( 4,55¢ 1979 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Office Tamp: - 16,39¢ - 1,921 - 18,31¢ 18,31¢ 5,43¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Parking
Garage Office Tampe - - - 5,60( - 5,60( 5,60( 1,42¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Spectrunr Office Tamp: 1,454 14,50: - 3,351 1,45¢ 17,85¢ 19,31t 5,41¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Tower Place Office Tamp: 5) 3,21¢ 19,89¢ - 2,381 3,21¢ 22,27¢ 25,49: 7,98: 1988 5-40 yrs.
Westshore Squa Office Tamps 1,12¢ 5,18¢ - 44z 1,12¢ 5,62¢ 6,754 1,627 1976 5-40 yrs.

$500,47: $1,410,31 $(43,722 $1,474,19 $456,74!$2,884,50 $3,341,25 $ 782,55

2009 Encumbrance Note

1) These assets are pledged as collateral for a 38000 first mortgage loa
2) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $40J@first mortgage loal

3) These assets are pledged as collateral for a 888D first mortgage loa
4) These assets are pledged as collateral for a 882,600 first mortgage loa
5) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $10,0@0 first mortgage loa
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND

PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations before equitgamnings of
unconsolidated affiliate
Fixed charge
Capitalized interes
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &fiés

Total earnings

Fixed charges and Preferred Stock dividends
Contractual interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligations interest exper
Capitalized interes
Interest component of rental expel

Total fixed charges
Preferred Stock dividenc

Total fixed charges and Preferred Stock dividend:

Ratio of earnings to fixed charge:

Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Pferred Stock
dividends

Years Ended December 31

Exhibit 12.1

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
32,38¢ $ 4,60t $ 38,94t $ 25,82¢ $ 13,72t
93,03 108,27: 111,47¢ 106,57t 110,23t
(4,55¢) (8,312 (9,74%) (5,002) (2,900
4,18( 5,99/ 4,46 7,74¢ 8,96¢
12504¢ $ 11056. $ 14514; $ 135,15 $ 130,02t
81,98 $ 92,85¢ $ 93,97t $ 93,63 $ 97,43:
2,76( 2,71€ 2,41¢ 2,37t 3,37:
2,13( 2,91¢ 3,93( 4,16: 5,03z
4,55¢ 8,31z 9,74¢ 5,00: 2,90(
1,60¢ 1,467 1,41F 1,40% 1,50¢
93,03 108,27 111,47¢ 106,57¢ 110,23t
6,70¢ 9,80« 13,47; 17,06: 27,23¢
99,74: $ 118,07! $ 124.95! $ 123,63 $ 137,47

1.34 1.0z 1.3¢ 1.27 1.1¢
1.2t 0.94 1.1€ 1.0¢ 0.95







HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND

PREFERRED UNIT DISTRIBUTIONS

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations before equitgamnings of
unconsolidated affiliate
Fixed charge
Capitalized interes
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &fiés

Total earnings

Fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions:
Contractual interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligations interest exper
Capitalized interes
Interest component of rental expel

Total fixed charges
Preferred Unit distribution

Total fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions

Ratio of earnings to fixed charge:

Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Pferred Unit
distributions

Years Ended December 31

Exhibit 12.2

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
32,38¢ $ 454¢ $ 38,99 $ 26,04¢ $ 13,83(
93,03 108,27: 111,39° 106,54( 110,23¢
(4,55¢) (8,312 (9,74%) (5,002) (2,900
4,10: 5,97¢ 4,271 7,33t 8,51¢
12497. $ 110,48' $ 14491 $ 13491¢ $ 129,68
81,98 $ 92,85¢ $ 93,89 $ 93,59t $ 97,43:
2,76( 2,71€ 2,41¢ 2,37¢ 3,37:
2,13( 2,91¢ 3,93( 4,16: 5,03z
4,55¢ 8,31z 9,74¢ 5,00: 2,90(
1,60¢ 1,467 1,41F 1,40% 1,50¢
93,03 108,27 111,39 106,54( 110,23t
6,70¢ 9,80« 13,47; 17,06: 27,23¢
99,74: $ 118,07! $ 12487: $ 123,60. $ 137,471

1.34 1.0z 1.3¢ 1.27 1.1¢
1.2t 0.94 1.1€ 1.0¢ 0.94







Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of Highwoods Properties, Inc.

Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership, a North Ciaa@limited partnership
AP Southeast Portfolio Partners, L.P., a Delawiangdd partnership
Highwoods/Tennessee Holdings, L.P., a Tennessdtedirpartnership
Highwoods Services, Inc., a North Carolina corpgorat

HRLP NC-VA, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership

HRLP Raleigh, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership

* We have omitted the names of other direct and éatlsubsidiaries of Highwoods Properties, Inc. beeasuch other subsidiaries, considered in theeggtg as a single
subsidiary, would not constitute a significant sdiasy.

Subsidiaries of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnershp

AP Southeast Portfolio Partners, L.P., a Delawiangdd partnership
Highwoods/Tennessee Holdings, L.P., a Tennessdtedirpartnership
Highwoods Services, Inc., a North Carolina corporat

HRLP NC-VA, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership

HRLP Raleigh, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership

* We have omitted the names of other direct and éctlsubsidiaries of Highwoods Realty Limited Parshgp because such other subsidiaries, consideréiaggregate
as a single subsidiary, would not constitute aiigant subsidiary







Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statements No. 333-38878, 333-12117, 2889, 333-55901 and 333-160521 on Form S-8, agdRation
Statements No. 333-149733, 333-149736 and 333-B84F-orm S-3, of our reports dated February 11026elating to the consolidated financial statetnemd

financial statement schedules of Highwoods Proggrtnc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”), andetifectiveness of the Company'’s internal controlrdireancial
reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on FAi0K of the Company for the year ended Decembe3Q9.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 11, 2010







Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRedion Statement No. 333-149733-01 on Form $&uoreport dated February 11, 2010, relatindye®donsolidated

financial statements and financial statement sdieedyf Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership andssdilaries (the “Operating Partnership”) appearimghis Annual
Report on Form 10-K of the Operating Partnershighe year ended December 31, 2009.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 11, 2010







Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Highwoods Properties, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtate a material fact necessary to make the statisrmad
in light of the circumstances under which suchestegnts were made, not misleading with respecte@émniod covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, @her financial information included in this repdfairly present in all material respects theaficia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefRegistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéhis report

The Registrarg’ other certifying officers and | are responsitde dstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesld procedures (as defined in Exchange
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal comtver financial reporting (as defined in Exchangg Rules 13a-15(f) and 15tb(f)) for the Registrant al
have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the Registrangliming its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmdovus by others within those entities, partidylaiuring
the period in which this report is being prepai

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our supervisiomprovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirgfntial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordande
generally accepted accounting princip!

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtitis report our conclusions about the effectagnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &tttegperiod covered by this report based on swekuation; anc

(d) disclosed in this report any change inRegistrant’s internal control over financial repagtthat occurred during the Registranthost recent fiscal quar
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the caé@an annual report) that has materially affectads reasonably likely to materially affect, tRegistrant
internal control over financial reporting; a

The Registrant’s other certifying officersdal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial reportirtg, the Registrang’
auditors and the Audit Committee of the Regis’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the\egant functions)

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controkofinancial reporting which are reasonably likéd
adversely affect the Registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmncial information; ani

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, thatiwes management or other employees who haven#isant role in the Registrargt’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: February 11, 2010

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Offic







Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Highwoods Properties, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtate a material fact necessary to make the statisrmad
in light of the circumstances under which suchestegnts were made, not misleading with respecte@émniod covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, @her financial information included in this repdfairly present in all material respects theaficia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefRegistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéhis report

The Registrarg’ other certifying officers and | are responsitde dstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesld procedures (as defined in Exchange
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal comtver financial reporting (as defined in Exchangg Rules 13a-15(f) and 15tb(f)) for the Registrant al
have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and proceduré® tdesigned under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the Registrangliming its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmdovus by others within those entities, partidylaiuring
the period in which this report is being prepai

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed under our supervisiomprovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirgfntial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordande
generally accepted accounting princip!

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtétis report our conclusions about the effectagnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &tttegperiod covered by this report based on swekuation; anc

(d) disclosed in this report any change inRegistrant’s internal control over financial repagtthat occurred during the Registranthost recent fiscal quar
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the caé@an annual report) that has materially affectads reasonably likely to materially affect, tRegistrant
internal control over financial reporting; a

The Registrant’s other certifying officersdal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial reportirtg, the Registrang’
auditors and the Audit Committee of the Regis’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the\egant functions)

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknssgethe design or operation of internal controkmfinancial reporting which are reasonably likéd
adversely affect the Registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmncial information; ani

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, thatives management or other employees who haven#isant role in the Registrargt’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: February 11, 2010

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Off







Exhibit 31.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtate a material fact necessary to make the statisrmad
in light of the circumstances under which suchestegnts were made, not misleading with respecte@émniod covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, @her financial information included in this repdfairly present in all material respects theaficia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefRegistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéhis report

The Registrarg’ other certifying officers and | are responsitde dstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesld procedures (as defined in Exchange
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal comtver financial reporting (as defined in Exchangg Rules 13a-15(f) and 15tb(f)) for the Registrant al
have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under our supervision, to ensure

(b)

(©

(d)

material information relating to the Registrangliming its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmdovus by others within those entities, partidylaiuring
the period in which this report is being prepai

designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our supervisiomprovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirgfntial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordande
generally accepted accounting princip!

evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdds report our conclusions about the effectasmnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &tttegperiod covered by this report based on swekuation; anc

disclosed in this report any change inRegistrant’s internal control over financial repogt that occurred during the Registranthost recent fiscal quar
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the caé@an annual report) that has materially affectads reasonably likely to materially affect, tRegistrant
internal control over financial reporting; a

The Registrant’s other certifying officersdal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial reportirtg, the Registrang’
auditors and the Audit Committee of the Regis’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the\egant functions)

@)

(b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controkfinancial reporting which are reasonably likeéd
adversely affect the Registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmncial information; ani

any fraud, whether or not material, thatoires management or other employees who havenifisant role in the Registrargt’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: February 11, 2010

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Gehera

Partner







Exhibit 31.¢

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtate a material fact necessary to make the statisrmadt
in light of the circumstances under which suchestsnts were made, not misleading with respecte@émniod covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, @her financial information included in this repdfairly present in all material respects theaficia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefRegistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéhis report

The Registrarg’ other certifying officers and | are responsitie dstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesld procedures (as defined in Exchange
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal comtver financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules 13a-15(f) and 15tb(f)) for the Registrant al
have:

@)

(b)

©

(d)

designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurdée tdesigned under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the Registrangliming its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmésvus by others within those entities, partidylaiuring
the period in which this report is being prepal

designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our supervisiomprovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirgfntial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordande
generally accepted accounting princip!

evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtddls report our conclusions about the effectasnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &tttegperiod covered by this report based on swekuation; anc

disclosed in this report any change inRegistrant’s internal control over financial refrogt that occurred during the Registranthost recent fiscal quar
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the caé@an annual report) that has materially affectads reasonably likely to materially affect, tRegistrant
internal control over financial reporting; a

The Registrant’s other certifying officersdal have disclosed, based on our most recent &tiafuof internal control over financial reportirtg, the Registrand’
auditors and the Audit Committee of the Regis’s Board of Directors (or persons performing theh\ejant functions)

@

(b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controkmfinancial reporting which are reasonably liked
adversely affect the Registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmncial information; ani

any fraud, whether or not material, thatoives management or other employees who haveniisant role in the Registrart’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: February 11, 2010

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officethe General Partn







Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodogerties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form KOfor the period ended December 31, 2009 as filéith whe

Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”),l, Edward J. Fritsch, President and Chief Execuf¥ficer of the Company, certify, pursuant tc
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 db#nbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended; a

2) The information contained in the Report fairly pmets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the Comps

/sl EDWARD J. FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Offic
February 11, 201







Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodogerties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form KOfor the period ended December 31, 2009 as filéith whe
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateohéte “Report”),l, Terry L. Stevens, Senior Vice President and €Rieancial Officer of the Company, certi
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursadn906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended; a

2) The information contained in the Report fairly pmets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the Comps

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Off
February 11, 201







Exhibit 32.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of HighwoodsaRy Limited Partnership (the “Operating Partngr§hon Form 10K for the period ended December 31, 2
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissin the date hereof (the “Reportl),Edward J. Fritsch, President and Chief Executdféicer of Highwood
Properties, Inc., general partner of the Operd®agnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1280adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-@xiegf 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended; a

2) The information contained in the Report fairly ets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the Operatingrféaship.

/sl EDWARD J. FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Officer of the Gehera
Partner

February 11, 201







Exhibit 32.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of HighwoodsaRy Limited Partnership (the “Operating Partngr§hon Form 10K for the period ended December 31, 2
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissin the date hereof (the “Reportl), Terry L. Stevens, Senior Vice President and CRieancial Officer o

Highwoods Properties, Inc., general partner of@perating Partnership, certify, pursuant to 18 0.8 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of theaBad®xley Act of
2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934, as amended; a

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the Operatingrieaship.

/s| TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officethe General
Partner

February 11, 201







